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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF

ST. JAMES’S PLACE PLC

REPORY ON THE PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

In our opinion, St. James's Place plc’s parent company financial

statements (the ‘financial statements’):

* givea trucand fair view of the state of the parent company’s atfairs as
at 31 December 2016;

* have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom
Gencrally Accepted Accounting Practice; and

*  havc been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the
Companies Act 2006.

The financial statements, included withip the Annual Report and

Accounts (the ‘Annual Report’), camprise:

* the Parent Company Statement of Financial Position as at 31
December 2016;

+ the Parent Company Statement of Changes in Equity for the ycar then
cnded; and

* the notes to the financial statements, which inciude a summary of’
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Certain requircd disclosures have been presented elsewhere in the
Annual Report, rather than in the notes to the financial statements.
Thesc are cross-refercnced from the financial statements and are
identified as audited.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the
preparation of the financial statements is United Kingdom Accounting
Standards, comprising FRS 101 ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework’, and
applicable law (United Kingdom Generally Accepted

Accounting Practice).

OTHER REQUIRED REPORTING

Companies Act 2006 reporting

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

* the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’
Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are
preparcd is consistent with the financial statements; and

< the Strategic Report and the Directars' Report have been prepared in
accordance with applicable legal requirements.

In addition, in light of the knowicdge and understanding of the parent
company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we are
required to report if we have identified any material misstatements in the
Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report, We have nothing to report
in this respect.

1SAs (UK & treland) reporting

Under Internatianal Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) {*ISAs (UK

& Ireland)’) we are reguired to report to you if, in our opinion,

information in the Annual Report is:

« materially inconsistent with the information in the audited financial
statements; or

+ apparently materially incorrect based on, or matcrially inconsistent
with, our knowledge of the parent company acquired in the course of
perlorming our audit; or

* otherwise misleading.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Under the Companics Act 2006 we are required to report to you if] in

our opinion:

*  we have not received all the information and explanations we require
for our audit; or
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* adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent
company, or returns adeguate for our audit have not been received
from branches not visited by us; or

= the financial statcments and the part of the Dircctors’ Remuneration
Report to be audited are not in agrecment with the accounting
records and rcturns.

We have no cxceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Directors’ remuneration report - Companies Act 2006 opinion
In our opinion, the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be
audited has been properly preparcd in accordance with the Campanies
Act 2006,

Other Companies Act 2006 reporting

Undcr the Companics Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in
our opinion, certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by
law are not made. We have no exceptions to report arising from

this responsibility.

RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
THE AUDIT

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilitics
set out on page 118, the dircctors are responsible lor the preparation of
the financial statcments and for being satisfied that they give a true and
fair vicw,

Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial
statements in accordance with applicable law and ISAs (UK & Ireland).
Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices
Board’s Ethical Standards {or Auditors.

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for
the parent company’s members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3 of
Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not,
in giving thesc opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other
purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into
whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior
consent in writing,

We conducted our audit in accordance with ISAs (UK & Ireland). An

audit involves obtaining evidence about the ameunts and disclosures in

the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the
financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether causcd
by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of:

«  whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the parent
company's circumstances and have been consistently applied and
adequately disclosed,

+  the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the
directors; and

* the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We primarily focus our work in these areas by assessing the directors’
judgements against available evidence, forming our own judgements,
and evaluating the disclosures in the financial statements.

We test and cxamine information, using sampling and other auditing
techniques, to the extent we consider necessary to provide a reasenable
basis for us to draw conclusions. We obtain audit evidence through
testing the effectiveness of contrals, substantive procedures or a
combination of both.

Registered No, 03183415



ST. JAMES’S PLACE

St. James’s Place is an award winning wealth management
group. A FTSE 100 company with a track record of strong
growth, we believe in the value of face-to-face advice and
l)uilding l()ng-t(‘rm l'clati(mships with our clients, delivered
through the St. James’s Place Partnership. We have a
distinctive approach to investment management and a
strong customer service ethos, underpinned by continued

investment in our pcoplc and technology.

OUR AWARDS IN 2016
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HIGHLIGHTS OF THE YEAR

CLIENTS

Growth in client numbers contributed to the
increase in gross inflows. The quality of
client outcomes, as reflected in client
retention and feedback, as well as investment
returns, continued to be strong,

Number of clients

571,800 9%

2015: 525,800

FUNDS

In another successful year, new business from
clients combined with positive growth in
underlying investments, resulting in record
funds under management.

Funds under management

£75.3bn +28%

2015: £58.6bn

Gross inflow of funds under management

£11.356n  +23%

2015:£9.24bn

Net inflow of funds under management

£6.78bn 217%

PARTNERS

Qur proposition continued to prove
attractive as we broadened our adviser base,
both in the UK and Asia, and via both
traditional recruitment channels and our own
Academy programmes.

Partnership numbers

2,378 5%

2015: 2,264

FINANCIAL

Long-term growth in clients and Partners
combined with positive investment
performance to underpin the financial results
and continued growth of the business.

Dividend (pence per share)

33.0p +18%

2015: 27,96p per share

Profit before shareholder tax

£140.6m v%

2015: £151.3m

EEV operating profit

£673.6m 2%

2015: £5.78bn

2015: £660.2m

Our website and iPad app containa full investor
relations section with news, reports, webcasts,
financial calendar and share price information.

www.sjp.co.uk

click on Shareholder Relations

Annual Report and Accounts 2016 | St. ]c’lIDCS,S Place plC
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REPORT

ST. JAMES’S PLACE ONCE AGAIN
ACHIEVED STRONG GROWTH
ACROSS ALL KEY ASPECTS OF THE
BUSINESS

David 1

Chicl xceutive

cllamy

Gross inflows

£ 1 1 . 35bﬂ 2015: £9.24bn

Funds under management

£75 . 3 DN 2015 58600

Full year dividend
33 . Op 2015: 27.96p per share

Annual Report and Accounts 2016

2016 was an extraordinary year when market participants, most
commentators and the public were surprised by how events unfolded.

First it was the votc to leave the EU in June and then it was the outcome
of the US Presidential clection. Both seemed to defly the pollsters’
predictions and both have impacted stock markets in a somewhat
unexpected way.

Il they teach us one thing {again) it's to avoid trying to predict the future!

Despite this political uncertainty St. James’s Place once again achicved
strong growth across all key aspects of the business. Gross inflows were
23% higher at a record £11.4 billion which, together with
characteristically high retention of client funds, resulted in record net
inflows in the twelve months of £6.8 billion. These net inflows, together
with the strong investment returns our clients enjoyed, gave rise to 28%
growth in funds under management to £75.3 billicn,

At the heart of our sustained growth is our commitment to achicving good
outcomes for our clients and the importance we place on building long-term
relationships and serving them well. That very nearly 90% of new
investments came {rom existing clients, referrals and introductions and 99%
ot our clients, who responded to our recent survey, feel our proposition oflers
value for moncey, is testament to the fact that we are doing this.

For most people, their finances and wealth are personal and they want
to be treated in a highly personalised way and by someone they trust,
Indeed, we see a growing demand for sound, personal financial planning
advice as individuals begin to fully comprehend, amongst other things,
the financial implication of increased life expectancy whilst being faced
with increasingly complex options in respect of their pension
arrangements, supporting their offspring and other family matters. The
scale and quality of the Company's relationship based approach te wealth
management, twinned with our distinctive investment management
proposition, which has been positioned to serve this market, is doing so.

We work to offer a consistent service to our Partners, and through them
to their clicats who do not have the time, expertise, inclination or
confidence to look after their own affairs and we recognise that, for most
of them, their main priority is to keep their money safe, ensurc it is
invested efficiently and at the very least realise a decent return. Our
portlolio approach, which gives access to a globally diversified range of
assets, the holistic advice available from cur Partners on everything from
tax to intergencrational planning, is designed with this objective in mind.

Rugistered Noo 04183413



FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

As reported within the Chief Financial Officer’s report on pages 24 and
25 the strong operating pcrfcrmancc of the business during the year is
reflected in the financial performance for the year.

As well as paying a growing dividend to shareholders we arc continuing
to invest in the business for the futurc be it the Academy, our growing
operations in Asia, our new investment into Discretionar}’ Fund
Management or our back office infrastructure. Whilst these investments
are consuming capital today we arc very pleased with how each initiative
is developing and we expect a good return for shareholders in the future.

DIVIDEND

At the half ycar, we increased the interim dividend by 15% and
reaffirmed our commitment to continue to grow the dividend in line
with the underlying performance of the business,

Consequently, and supported by the continued strong performance of
the business, the Board has proposed a final dividend of 20.67 pence
per sharc, up 20%, which brings the full year dividend to 33.0 pence
per share, up 18%,

The final dividend for 2016, subject to approval of sharcholders at cur
AGM, will be paid on 12 May to sharcholdcrs ¢n the register at the close
of business on 7 April. As usual, a Dividend Reinvestment Plan continues
to be available for shareholders.

CLIENTS

Key to our sustained success has been our core commitment to achicving
the best possible outcome for our clients and ensuring that they remain
well served by cur long-term, face-to-face approach to wealth
management. While the evolution ol the UK wealth management
landscape means that UK savers and investors have an array of options
available to them today, we know that a highly personalised, relationship
driven model is in high demand and we are confident that this will
remain so in the future.

At the heart of our sustained

orowth is our commitment to
-

achieving good outcomes for

L

our clients and the importance

we place on building long-term
L L

relation hips
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REPORT continued

However, we are not complacent and we regularly take the opportunity
to seck feedback directly from all our clients. The most recent rescarch,
carried out in early 2017 following receipt of annual Wealth Account
statements, indicates that overall client satisfaction remains very strong
with 942 of clients who responded telling us that that they are cither
satisfied or very satisfied with the overall relationship. This sentiment

is echoed by the fact that more than 97% of clicnts confirmed that they
would recomemend St. James's Place to others, indecd 56% say they have
already done so. And, as | commented carlier, when asked to indicate
whether they feel our proposition offers value for money, 99% of the
clients who responded, said reasonable, good or excellent, with 82% in
the higher categorics.

We will build upen these excellent results and seck further
improvements, to pur standards of service and proposition, to ensure
clients continue to reccive high quality, face-to-face advice they can trust
and demonstrable value creation for their wealth.

INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT

2016 was a year of strong growth for many major stock markets across the
globe. There were two great political events that dominated much of the
political and economic debate during the year, the UK’s Brexit vote and
election of Donald Trump as US President - but these surprise outcomes
ultimately did little to dent market momenturn as both the S&P 500 and
FTSE 100, for example, struck new highs in late 2016.

Mcanwhile, our funds performed strongly aver the periad, and all cight
of our portfolios delivered positive returns, ranging from 5.2% for the
Delensive portfolio t 20.7% for the Adventurous portfolio, net of all Chargcs.

For much of the year, low and negative interest rates created headwinds
for thase sccking income, and a summer interest rate cut by the Bank of
England only added to the challenge. By the end of the year, however, the
tide appearcd to be turning, as US yiclds rose following the presidential
election, and the Federal Reserve used its December meeting to raise
interest rates.

It was against this backdrop that we launched our new Worldwide
Income fund in October. The fund aims to obtain an attractive level of’
income through investing largely in global cquitics. Equitics are a proven
source of long-term income, and the new fund adds to the diversity of
income sources we can provide our investors. The fund iy managed by
Clyde Rossouw of Investec Asset Management based in Cape Town,
demanstrating once again the global nature of our investment manager
selection process.
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The political surprises of 2016 otfer a reminder of the importance of
diversification, whether by geography or asset class. We will continue
to adapt our investment approach to ENSUre we arc responding to the
evelving investment environment. In doing so, we belicve we can
continue to help our clients fulfil their long-term financial goals.

THE ST. JAMES’S PLACE PARTNERSHIP

Increasing the number of Partners and advisers, whilst at the same time
providing them with the tools and support to deliver high quality
vutcomes for clients remains one of the key drivers to achieving our
long-term growth objectives.

l'am therefore pleased to report that through the continued acquisition of
highly established adviscrs, the integration of new Partners in Asia and
the success of our extended Academy programme, our qualified Adviser
population increased by 10% to 3,415, across the 2,378 Partner
businesses. In many ways, the added momentum in growth in our
qualified adviser population reflects the evolution of Partner businesses,
as they scek to acquire more clients and continue to provide a high level
of service to their existing clients.

As our Partner practices grow and the administration of their clients’
affairs becomes increasingly complex, we will continue to look to find
ways to make it easicr for our Partners, advisers and their support staff to
serve their clients well and build even mare successful businesses, This is
the driver behind our investment in our back office development and the
cxtension of our Academy concept to the training of specialist support
stalf for our existing Partners.

Alongside the Partnership we completed the acquisition of Rowan
Dartingten in the first half of 2016 and we have seen the namber of
investment cxecutives increase by 21% from 34 co 41,

THE ST. JAMES’S PLACE FOUNDATION AND COMMUNITY
ENGAGEMENT

Raising funds for those less fortunate has always been at the heart of the
Group’s culturc, and the collective efforts of the whole of cur community,
including empioyees, Partners, supplicrs and others connected to St. James's
Place, resulted in total funds raised of £7.6 million (including company
matching). This means the total amount raised to date is now over

£54 million, henefitting the hundreds of causes it has and will continue

to support and quite literally changing people’s lives.

Registered N, 13183415



To mark our 25th Anniversary year and in keeping with cur strong desire
to further support fund raising efforts, the Board, on hehalf of
sharcholders, has agreed to double the matched funding. It is a special
incentive for 2017 only and subject to an overall cap of £10 million.

[n addition to these fund-raising efforts, the cultural driver of ‘doing the
right thing” runs through the whole organisation, underpinning all our
interactions with our local and extended communities. Our continued
membership of FTSE4GOOD recognises the positive nature of our work
in these areas,

We take a great deal of pride in the significant contribution we make
through the Foundation and other initiatives including our structured
programmes for summer interns and Apprcnticcships. We are also
committed to maintaining cur Living Wage accreditation, being one of
only 20 FTSE100 companics to achicve this status.

Further details of our CSR activities are set out on pages 54 to 59 and
an updatc on the Foundation is provided on pages 62 to 65.

QUR COMMUNITY

The strcngth and continucd growth of the business is due to the hard
work and dedication of aur Partners, their stafl, our management teams
and all our employees and administration support tcams.

On behalfl of the Board and shareholders 1 thank everyone connected
with St. James’s Place for their contribution to thesc results and for their
continued enthusiasm, dedication and commitment.

OUTLOOK

Looking lorward, we entered 2017 with a stronger adviser team and a
more diversified investment proposition and a greater need for advice
clients can rely on, We remain committed to relationship based advice
and believe we are better placed than cver to serve our clicnts well and
for the opportunitics that lic ahead.

David Bellamy
Chief Executive
27 February 2017

On behalf of the Board and

shareholders I thank evervone

connected with St. James’s
Place for their contribution to
these results and for their
continued enthusiasm,
dedication and commitment

Annual Report and Accounts 2016 | St. James’s Place plC



MARKET OVERVIEW

BY 2020 THERE ARE EXPECTED TO

BE 12 MILLION INDIVIDUALS IN THE UK
WITH BETWEEN £50k AND £5m

OF INVESTABLE ASSETS

MARKET TRENDS

UK INDIVIDUALS WITH BETWEEN £50k AND £5m
OF INVESTABLE WEALTH

AMOUNT HELD BY UK INDIVIDUALS WITH BETWEEN £50k
AND £5m OF INVESTABLE WEALTH

UK AGGREGATE WEALTH
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THE UKWEALTH MARKET

St. James's Place’s prime target market is UK
individuals with between £50,000 and

£5 million in investable assets. There were
estimated to be 10 million such individuals at
the end of 2016 and this number is projected to
grow by 4.1% per annum to 12 million by
2020, The investable asscts of this group are
projected to grow from £2.0 trillion to

£2 3 trillion in this time.

ADVICE LED SECTOR

Based on 2015 funds under management of
£58 .6 billion, we ranked first in the 2016
Private Asset and Wealth Managers (PAM)
Directory by Assets under Management, having
grown by £6.6 billion in the previous twelve
months (+13%). This represented the fastest
growth, both in absolute and percentage terms,
of any business in the PAM top 10 rankings,
and around half of the total growth of the top
10 wealth managers in that year.

In addition, with 3,415 qualificd advisers at the
end of 2016, we estimate that St. James's Place
represents in excess of 10% ol the UK's
financial adviser population today.

DEVELOPING COMPETITIVELANDSCAPE
Given the success of our business over time, it
is unsurprising that others are endeavouring to
build an adviser base of their own, whether
through acquisition or via recruitment. In
addition, Direct-to- Consumer platforms have
acknowledged the importance of personal
advice and so arc Tecruiting adviscrs, as arc
some retail banks secking to re-enter the
face-to-face advice market after a sell imposed,
post Retail Distribution Revicw (RDR) hiatus,

Registered No (3183415



We welcome such developments, recognising
the impertance that a growing adviser market
will play in closing the ‘advice gap’ that remains
in the UK. We note also that the US market has
double the number of advisers per capita than
in the UK, suggesting there is ample scope for
further adviser penetration in the UK market.

Meanwhile, a number of businesses, including
wealth managers, Direct-to-Consumer
businesses, fund managers and platforms are
looking to develop automated ‘advice’
propositions, typically through offering
portfolios of passive funds. While thesce
automated low cost solutions will na doubt
appeal to certain sections of the market, it is
important to recognise that they arc unable to
replicate the trusted, bespoke and
comprehensive nature of face-to-face wealth
management advice today,

WEALTH SOLUTIONS

Having witnessed unprecedented changes to
the retirement planning market in recent years,
a period of stability would help individuals plan
for their future with confidence, The advent of
the Lifetime 1SA and continued uncertainty
over government policy on the future of tax
reliel on pension contributions, risk increasing
savers’ confusion over the right course of
action, emphasising once more the importance
ol quality financial advice.

Against that backdrop, ISAs have been an
undoubted success in fostering the UK's savings
habit. The government's move to increase the
annual allowance to £20,000 frem April is a
very welcome one, and a clear statement of the
importance of ISAs in the future pcrsunal
savings landscape.

It remains to be seen whether record low savings
rates and the impact of the new Personal Savings
Allowance precipitate a greater shift towards
Stocks and Shares ISAs among consumers, but
we are supportive of any steps that encourage
individuals to take more responsibility for their
own long-term financial security.

The pensions market continues to evolve as the
number of open Defined Benefit schemes
continue to dwindle, leading increasing
numbers of individuals to take responsibility for
ensuring they have sufficient funds in
retirement, Meanwhile, the advent of Pensions
Freedoms from 2015/16 has led to greater
flexibility in the use of Defined Contribution
pensions savings, Both of these dynamics
present a very real need for holistic, long-term
financial advice in the UK.

Annual Report and Accounts 2016 | St. Jamnes’s Place ple
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present a very real
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ST. JAMES’S PLACE INVESTMENT CASE

HAVING ESTABLISHED THE MARKET LEADING POSITION
IN UK WEALTH MANAGEMENT TODAY, WE ARE UNIQUELY
WELL PLACED TO CAPITALISE ON GROWING DEMAND
FOR TRUSTED, FACE-TO-FACE FINANCIAL ADVICE

The market leader in UK

Targeting a 1arge and
wealth management advice

growing market

ST. JAMES’S PLACE

Focused on delivering trusted
wealth management advice

Offering a distinct investment
management approach

Delivered through the
Par tnership

Highly cash generative
with a strong balance sheet

Simple and scalable

business model

8 | St. James's Place plc | Annual Report and Accounts 2016 Registered No, 03183453



NET INFLOWS £BN

FUNDS UNDER MANAGEMENT £BN

2016 ACTUAL:
Net inflows

£6.78bn

UM

UNDERLYING POST-TAX CASH £M £ 75 . 3 b n

Underlying post-tax cash
- -

£199.5m

Dividends per share

33.00p

DIVIDEND PENCE PER SHARE

Annual Report and Accounts 2016 | St. James’s Place plc 9



OUR BUSINESS MODEL

OUR BUSINESS SEEKS TO ATTRACT CLIENT WEALTH THROUGH
OFFERING TRUSTED, FACE-TO-FACE FINANCIAL ADVICE TWINNED
WITH A COMPELLING INVESTMENT PROPOSITION

CLIENTS PARTNERS FUNDS
OBJECTIVES OBJECTIVES OBJECTIVES

To deliver positive To continue to grow To increase
outcomes to an and develop the funds under
increasing population Partnership management
of clients

FINANCIAL

OBJECTIVES
Deliver value
for Clients and

Shareholders

10 I St. JdlneS‘S Place pl(‘ Annual Report and Accounts 2016 Registered No, 03183 1S



DEVELOPING THE ST. JAMES’S Attracting new funds under management is A qi_l_l_ll)le Fllld
[ - [s

PLACE PARTNERSHIP core to the success of the Group, and growth

St James's Place (8]P} is a wealth management in new business arises as a result of both . 1 '[ 1 1 ) I
business; the Group's advisers, the 5t. James's increasing Partner numbers and also sCcalaple modac

Place Partnership, provide clients witha encouraging further development by existing .

financial planning service and face-to-face Partners. By providing an attractive t}]at (101 1vers \altle
advice; clients” wealth is managed through the proposition, the Group is able to recruit new

Group’s distinctive Investrnent Management members to the Partnership, and the provision

Approach (IMA). Almost uniquely within the of high quality support enables Partners to
UK wealth management market, this vertically ~ grow both their own businesscs and ours.
intcgrated model means that the Group is

directly responsible for the whale offering, CONTROLLING EXPENDITURE

including advice, management of investments Group expenditure is carcfully managed with

and any related services. clear objectives sct and with a particular focus
on managing fixed costs. Many activitics arc

The Partncrship is critical to the success of the outsourced so we can benefit from industr}r

business. Partners are able to attract clients specialists and expenses that vary with business

and, through building trust, develop long-term levels. Such expenses include the costs of client

relationships, supporting clients with their administration and investment administration,

financial needs over time, This relationship the costs of which can then be met from

based approach is grcatly valucd by the Group's margins in our products. Overall, a small

clicnts, no morc so than in periods of financial ~ proportion of expenditure is required to

wncertainty. The Group's experience is that maintain existing funds, but the majority is

there is an increasing demand for trusted advice  invested in supporting and growing the

from cxperienced advisers, backed by a strong Partnership and acquiring new funds.

brand and an organisation which takes

responsibility for all aspects of the service. Profits cmerge from the business principally as
aresult of the annual management income from

DRIVING GROWTH IN FUNDS funds under management exceeding expenses.

UNDER MANAGEMENT

As aresult, the Group is able to attract and
retain retail funds under management from
which it receives an annual management fee.
This is the principal source of income for the
Group, and it grows with additional new
business and also as a result of growth in
markets and the success of our approach to
investment management,

©)

Read more on how our
business model drives
our strategy on page 12

Annual Report and Accounts 2016 | St. jalnes's Place plC 11



OUR STRATEGY EXPLAINED

OUR KEY BUSINESS OBJECTIVE IS GROWTH
IN FUNDS UNDER MANAGEMENT (FUM)
THROUGH OFFERING A HIGH QUALITY
SERVICE TO CLIENTS

Growth in FUM (and Net Inflows) requires growth in
Gross Inflows and retention of FUM.

GROWTH STRATEGY

— Growing the sizc of the
Partnership; and
— Improving Partner productivity

Our growth strategy for
delivering increasing
Gross Inflows involves:

SUPPORT STRATEGY

CLIENTS

Deliver positive
outcomes to clients

— Delivering high quality service
to Partners and clients; and

: — Driving consistently good

of FUM involves: investment performance.

Our support strategy for
delivering sustained retention

12 | St. James's Place plC Annual Report and Accaunts 2016

PARTNERS

Grow and develop
the Partnership

FUNDS

Increase funds
under management

FINANCIAL

Achieve sustainable
growth in profits

Registerod Noo 03153415



WHAT THIS MEANS:

Through our face-te-face advice service, we aim to help

clicnts in a way which reflects their personal circumstances.

Our approach is based on development of long-term
relationships, founded on trust, By continually sceking
to enhance our processes and make improvements to the
client experience we achicve client satisfaction, leading
to strong retention and high levels of client advocacy. As
aresult, we are able to attract new clicnts through both
rcferrals and introductions.

OUR FOCUS FOR 2017:

—  Ensure the underlying administration of our client
offering meets all expectations;

= Fully roll out our Retirement Account, enhancing client
experience of pension planning and pension freedoms;

= Expand the Rowan Dartington Discretionary Fund
Management (DFM) offering as part of our holistic
client offering;

—  Continue our relationship with Metro Bank and
the services they provide for our clients; and

= Further develop our propesition for supporting
clients wanting to make 'intcr—gcncrational'
financial arrangements.

For further informaticon;

see our clients on

page 14.

WHAT THIS MEANS:

Through providing an attractive proposition we are able to
recruit new members to the Partnership and, by providing
high quality support, we can help them te grow.

Cur Partners play the leading role in delivering our wealth
management service. Expanding their number is central to
our growth aspirations. Qur support for them includes
ongoing professional development as well as support
systems and infrastructure, to ensure they are equipped o
deliver a first class service to their clients.

OUR FOCUS FOR 2017;

— Continuc to attract hig}] quality advisers to join
the Partnership;

— Support existing Partners in gaining further
qualifications, including Chartered Status;

= Continue our regional academies initiative,
including our next generation (succession) and
paraplanning acadcmics;

= Support Partrers to grow their busincsscs, as
well as to develop their back office operations,
a“owing them to spcnd morc time with clients;

— Continue to develop our Asia operations; and

— Continue to integrate Rowan Dartington inte
our Partner proposition.

For further information;

see our Partners on
page 15.

WHAT THIS MEANS:

Management of client funds is at the heart of our business.
They are managed through our distinctive Investment
Management Approach ([MA).

Overall FUM growth is driven by successful Partners
supporting satisfied clients, underpinned by consistent
delivery of the IMA.

Focus on delivering for clients has resulted in doubling of
FUM over the past five years, as well as in the five years
preceding that. Funds under management has historically
increased organically through 15 to 20% growth (over the
longer term) in gress inflows, market leading retention
cxpericnce and superior investment returns,

OUR FOCUS FOR 2017:

= Continue to focus on the IMA proposition in
support of client cutcomes, particularly ‘select,
monitor, change’ process;

= Broaden the investment proposition;

—  Further dcvclop our responsiblc investing
focus; and

= Further expand our DFM offering and continue
its integration into vur overall approach to
investment management.

For further information;

see our funds on

page 16.

WHAT THIS MEANS:

The principal source of income for the Group is
annual management income from funds under
management. Asa result, ir grows with new business
and with growth in investments,

Profits, and ultimately dividends, rcflect expense
management as well.

Sustainable growth in profits involves cffective
management of expenditure, including development
expenditure in order to achieve increasing FUM.
Current year events will incvitably impact the result
in any one ycar, but focus on building the underlying
fundamentals will lead to growth in profits.

OUR FOCUS FOR 2017:

= Manage cxpense growth to around 10% p.a;

—  Focus expenditure on salely delivering our
strategy, including achieving 15 to 20% p.a.
growth in gross inflows; and

—  Invest in the business to support long-term growth.

For further information;

see our financial KPls
on page 23.

Annual Report and Accounts 2016 i St. ]ames's Place p]C
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CLIENTS

PUTTING CLIENTS AT THE HEART
OF EVERYTHING WE DO IS CORE
TO OUR CULTURE AND ENABLES
US TO WORK TOGETHER TO RUN
A GENUINELY CLIENT FOCUSED

BUSINESS

QUR APPROACH

It is important for clients te have a clear
understanding of the level of service they can
expect from their Partner, so they can be
confident that this will meet their needs.

The level of ongoing service is agreed between
the Partner and the clicnt and, most importantly,
is tailored appropriately to the kevel of care and
attention they require. Clear and robust systems
ard controls are in place to cnable us to deliver
the agreed level of service and support the
delivery of positive clicnt outcomes,

Delivering a positive client experience is
intcgral to any successful and productive
business. It requires an effective business plan,
robust infrastructure and processes that work.
The result is satisfied clients who understand
the ongoing service that they receive and whose
expectations are mct, or exceeded.

We achieve this primarily throug}l the activity of
the St. James’s Place Partnership {see page 15).
Our Partners recognise that no one client’s
objectives or circumstances arc the same as
another’s, and so tailor the advice and service to
suit them. Clients ofien continue the working
relationship with their Partner over many years,
appreciating a source of trusted advice as their
financial necds evolve aver the years.

In order to ensure that our business continues
to be client locused, we monitor all arcas of the
business which can affect the client experience.
Monitoring covers all stages of the client life
cycle, including the suitability of advice,
administration, investment expericnce,

client feedback and client complaints.

Our annual Wealth Account survey, which we
have now been running for six years, continues
to be an invaluable opportunity ta obtain
feedback {from clients, with over 33,000
responses to the 2016 questionnaire received
to date. Highlights include:

14 ! St. James's Place plc

®  94% are either very satisfied or satisficd
with their overall rclationship with
St. James's Place;

*  82% rated the proposition as either good or
excellent value for money, with a further
17% describing it as rcasonable; and

¢ 97% of clients would recommend
St. Jamnes's Place to others, with an
increased proportion of 56% alveady having
done so.

DEVELOPING INTERGENERATIONAL
PROPOSITION

Despite receiving much positive feedback from
clignts, we are never complacent and in 2016
we continued to cvalve our client proposition.
Recognising that a key area of concern for many
clients is the ‘intergenerational’ challenge, we

CLIENT GEOGRAPHIC DISTRIBUTION
As of 31 December 2016

Overseas Clients currently account
for 2% of our husiness

launched an intergenerational mortgage range
in association with Mctro Bank, allowing
clients to use their St, James's Place
investments as the cellateral for a relative’s
mortgage application and helping them to
access lowcer rates, We also hroadened our
capabilities following the completion of our
acquisition of Rowan Dartington carly in the
year, as well as launched the initial roll out of
cur ncw retirement account proposition.

In 2017 we look forward to making [urther
improvements in both our client proposition
and the service experienced by our clients,
with a particular focus on extending our
intergcncrational initiatives and ensuring the
very highest standards in the underlying
administration of our client offering.

6%

2%
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PARTNERS

MEMBERS OF THE ST. JAMES’S
PLACE PARTNERSHIP PLAY THE
LEADING ROLE IN DELIVERING OUR
WEALTH MANAGEMENT SERVICE

OUR APPROACH

Our Partners, so called because of the way they
work in partnership with both their clients and
their colleagues, are some of the most
experienced and able professionals working in
wealth management today. St. James’s Place has
chosen to promate our services exclusively
through the Partnership, reflecting the
confidence we have in Partners’ ability to build
and maintain leng-term working rclationships
with their clients, and so be able to provide
sound financial advice, The exclusive
arrangement also providcs clients with clarit)’
of responsbility in relation to their financial
dealings. St. James’s Place works hard to
support these client Partner relationships,
placing them at the heart of all we do.

Establishing lungutcrm rc]ationships is kt:)«'.
Clients need to be able to place a high degree of
reliance on financial advice and so being able to
call upon the services of long-term advisers
who understand their individual personal
circumstances is important. Butitis also
important that clients are dealt with in the ‘way
they would choose” and not simply in a single,
prescribed way. Long-term relationships clearly
work for clients but are also good for business,
with 90% of our new business estimated to
come from existing clients and their referrals.

DEVELOPING PARTNERS

New Partners are provided with a decument
entitled *What it mcans to be a member’. This
sets out a philosophy and some principles. We
believe the shared commitment to living up to
these principles is what gives the Partnership
its competitive edge and makes it a group of
professionals that other advisers aspire to join.
QOur principles emphasise intcgrity, trust,
opcancss, partnership and teamwork and are
designed to guide individual and corporate
actions, decisions and standards across our
community.

Given the importance of our Partners, we arc
committed to providing ongoing professional
development to ensure they remain
appropriatcly qualificd, technically able and
cquipped to deliver a fivst class service. We also
encourage and provide support for Partners
wheo choose to pursue further qualifications,
with many Partners having already progressed
to Chartered Status. As a result of the
professionalism of our Partners, we are happy
to guarantec the suitability of the advice that
they give when recommending any of the
wealth management products and services
provided by companies in the Group.

GROWING THE PARTNERSHIP

Growth in the Partnership remains a crucial
long-term objective. [n addition to our existing
successful recruitment propaosition, we continuc
to develop the St. James's Place Acadery. This
provides an opportunity for suitable second
careerists to receive training and assistance to
build a Partner business with us. We now have
lour regional centres in the UK, with the
opening of our Edinburgh Acadcm)’ in
February 2016 complementing cur existing
centres in London, Manchester and Solihull.
During 2016 we enrolled nearly 150 new
students onto our Academies and expect a
similar number in 2017. Also in 2016, we
graduated around 70 Academy Partners

following the two year programme and expeet

this to rise in 2017 in line with our regional
expansion, Arcund half of our new students arc
from non financial hackgrounds and the average
age, at 38, is ten years younger than the average
Partner.

In addition, cur next generation Academy
(initially aimed at bringing sons and daughters
of cxisting Partners into their businesses) also
supports growth and builds succession for our
existing successtul businesses. So far we have
enrolled over 150 new students onto this
programme now widened to include nen

family, with an average age of 29.

A new initiative in 2016 has been our
Paraplanning Academy, aimed at training
Partners’ support staff to plan and prepare
business to our high standards across two
locations. We expect 25 students to graduate
in 2017, whilst enrolling a further 30 new
students in stages during the year.

Our presence in Asia, with St. James's Place
offices in Hong Kong, Shanghai and Singapore,
continues to grow as we invest behind the
business for the long-term, Our brand and
strong investment propaosition is proving
compelling as we make progress in attracting
advisers and clients to the business. We arc also
pleascd to have cstablished a life insurance
company in Hong Kong and launched

St, James’s Place products in all three regions.
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FUNDS

AT THE HEART OF THE PROPOSITION
TO OUR CLIENTS IS OUR INVESTMENT
MANAGEMENT APPROACH

INDEPENDENT
EXPERTISE

INVESTMENT
COMMITTEE

INVESTMENT
CONSULTANTS

OUR APPROACH

This past year has been full of surprises, from
shock referendum and election results, to
commaodity price crashes and interest rate
changes. The pound weakened, the dollar
strengthened, and US §13.4 trillion of bands in
issuc traded on negative yiclds. Despite all of
this, we have scen both the FTSE 100 and S&P
500 reaching record highs in October and
December respectively, These are
unprecedented times.

Funds

36 36

MANAGE THE
MANAGERS

Fund houses

Appoints the fund managers

Sets performance objectives

Risk management and strategy

Decisions: Change firm? Change manager? No change?

Against such a backdrop of unpredictability

it has never heen more important to have a
rcliable framework against which to make
investment decisions. At St. James’s Place, we
have a very simple but effective process that has
remained consistent throughout cur history,
and can be described in three words; Select,
Monitor and Change.

The basis of our Investment Management
Approach (IMA} is our strangly held view that

69

Lead fund managers

it is not possible for us, nor any business, to
employ best “in house’ investment managers
across multiple asset classes at any given time,
so we do nat attempt to. Qur IMA is based on a
process of selecting the best managers from
companies across the globe, in a manner that is
well structured and avoids conflicts of interests
to the benefit of our clicnts. The responsibility
of selecting the range of funds and fund
managers that arc made available to the clients
of St. James's Place at any one time falls upon

Exclusive to UK
retail investors

17
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the Investment Committee. The committee is
made up of a small group of exceutives and four
‘independent’ investment experts, and is
advised by respected independent investment
research consultancies, including Stamford
Associates, Redington and AON Consulting.

Once a manager has becn sclected, they are
then carclully monitored to ensure they
continue to apply their investment process in

a manner which is consistent with what is
cxpected of them, to ensure they retain the
best possible chance of delivering positive real
returns far our clicnts over the medium to
long-term. This is a process that involves our
consultants, our in-housc investment team, and
our Investment Committee, which provides
reassuring depth of analysis to ensure we have
\'isibi]ity on whether our managers continuc to
operate in a manner we expect.

2016 DEVELOPMENTS

However, there are always instances where
circumstances dictatc that a change is
necessary, suchasa manager leaving to join
another investment firm, or somcthing that
causes a manager’s approach to change for

the worsc. In such instances, after careful
consideration, our Investment Committee
may take the decision to change that manager.
2016 presented us with a number of these
circumstances, each one different from the
ather, but which led to six fund manager
changes. To emphasise that our approach is
truly global, the location of our appointments
ranged from Hong Kong, Cape Town,
California and Copenhagen - and many of the
managers are not otherwisc available in the
UK wealth market, unless you arc a clicat of
$t. James’s Place. All of this occurred within
the S]P funds without our clicnts being
disrupted, which is the true essence of our IMA,

As well as maintaining our existing investment
offering, we continually strive to offer
appropriate breadth of choice for clients, and in
2016 we launched a new Worldwide Income
fund (cquity income) to meet the client demand
for diversifying income solutions. This followed
the extensive development to our fixed income
proposition in 2015, which is continuing to
serve clients wcll.

Looking ta the future, the only certainty is
that there is continued uncertainty in financial
markets. Rather than be confused by the
plethora of information and cptions available,
our Investment Management Approach otfers
clients a process that has consistently
demonstrated success over the years through a
number of different market environments.

Our Investment

Management
8

Approz h offer

clients a proces
that has

.

consistently

demonstrated

over the
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OUR PEOPLE

WE ARE A RELATIONSHIP
BUSINESS WHERE PEOPLE ARE
OUR MOST IMPORTANT ASSET

EMPLOYEE GENDER BREAKDOWN

2015-2016

Key: Female

Male

OUR APPROACH

This statement is a core cultural belieland a
fundamental element of the success of

St. James’s Place. Members ol our community
tend to share core valucs that are highly
compatible with the values that arc central to the
business and established at the outset —
expertise, integrity and discrction. They are
passionate about our business and beliceve in hard
work and dedication. Age, race, colour, creed,
sexuality, disability and gender are irrclevant:
merit and experience are of greatest importance.
They treat cach other with mutual respect,
openness and fairness and are driven by a desire
to 'do the right thing” by all our stakeholders.

18
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This is our culture, which is central to our
success, We are therefore proactive in building
and reinforcing it, For this most important of
business differentiators it is the Board that
provides both ‘tone at the top” and oversight.
The Board is committed to being consistent
and clear sighted in its lcadership and suppart
of the culture, and in particular the principle
that ‘St. James’s Place will seck to do the right
thing for its clients and for all its stakeholders’.
[n a world where the reputation of the financial
services industry is constantly under pressure,
we aspire to create an authentic alternative
which clients and supphcrs can trust, and which
the communities we are part of can appreciate
and respect. However, we recognisc that we
will not always get cverything right, and so we
also belicve in acknowledging mistakes made,
rectifying them and learning from them.

Our people are a sustainable competitive
advantage, so we aim to attract the best and help
them fulfil their potential. We sceure their
commitment by previding them withan
interesting and challenging career within a first
class working environment. We reward them
competitively, as well as encourage equity
ownership, including in the Partnership. We are
aliving wage employer and have committed to
mecting the living wage for all our employees
and supplicrs. Following recent acquisitions in
the UK and overscas, we are committed to
implementing the same or, where appropriate,
similar principles across the Group.

We recognise that as our business grows we
will have to take care of and protect gur
culture. Our employee numbers within the SJP
Group are 1,671 in the UK (1,828 worldwide)
amd the number of Partners is ncarly 2,400
(over 3,400 advisers) with over 4,500 support
stafl, and these numlers will continue to grow
in future years.

Registered No 03183415



CONTINUITY

To ensure continuity of our culture, we ensure
that all employces and Partners joining the
business are selected Jor their fit with our
corporate values, as well as their competency,
and that they arc given a full induction as the
first step in their career with our business. This
is sct out in a booklet entitled ‘*Our Approach’,
which gives' guidance on the culture and values
af St. James’s Place, and the employee
handbock includes a statement about our Code
of Ethics. Whilst many of the original
principles on which cur business was founded
remain paramount, in 2016 we reviewed and
recommunicated Our Approach to ensure that
it is appropriatcly adapted for the modern
workplace, We believe it is important that

our community knows and understands our
objectives, including the cthos behind the

St. James’s Place brand and how its integrity
and values should be maintained, We also
encourage shared commitment to the

St. James’s Place Foundation.

We renew our commitment to our culture
through a variety of both formal and informal
activities, including an Annual Company
Meeting, employee and Partner Surveys,
regular Partner meetings, feedback
apportunities for cmployccs with Directors,
and a Leadership Conlerence for senior
management. They all provide epportunities to
renew our juint understanding and cocourage
comnmitment to our shared culture, as well as
cnsuring a common awareness of the
opcrational, financial and economic factors that
contribute to the Company’s performance.

Our regular employee survey, which we
conduct cvery other year, providns important
insights, crucially on employee engagement.
The mest recent survey was in 2016 and we
received a strang survey respense rate of 87%.
Our overall cngagement score was 86%, which

was significantly higher than the financial
services benchmark of 77%. We are especially
pleased with survey scores that suggest
employees are proud to work for St. James's
Place, arc committed to staying with the
business, and feel that we are an employer
that encourages them to strive for greater
achievement. This strong engagement
contributes to low levels of stalT rurnover and
underpins the quality and sustainability of our
proposition ta Partners and clients alike.

In 2016 we held a Board level review of our
People Strategy, This considered our current
approaches to resourcing and development,
including Early Careers programmes for
Apprentices and Graduates as well as
experienced hires. 1o mect the ongoing needs
of our growing business, we intend to continue
with and develop our existing programmes to
ensure we have a strong pipclinc of future
talent at all levels,

We arc especially
pleased with
SUrvey sCores

that sugocest

employees are
proud to work for
St. James’s Place
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OUR
PERFORMANCE

The strong operating performance of the business
(luring the vear is rellected in the financial pcrlbrmancc

tor the vear,
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OUR OBJECTIVES AND RELATED
KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

22

CLIENTS

TO DELIVER POSITIVE OUTCOMES TO AN
INCREASING POPULATION OF CLIENTS

PROGRESS DURING 2016

2016 was another successful year as the business continued to grow.
Client numbers grew by 9% contributing to the increase in
investment of new funds, The quality of the client outcome, as
reflected in olient retenrion and feedback, continued to be as
Strong as ever,

CLIENT NUMBERS 000’S

Qur business model is based on managing client wealth and so the number of
clients is a key measure of the health of the business. As well as reflecting past
performance, it alsoindicates future opportunity, as our experience suggests
that over 90% of new business comes from existing clients or their referrals, In
2016, we were pleased that client numbers increased from 525,800 to 571,600

CLIENT RETENTION %

Our business 1slong: term and client cetention feeds directly into the financial
result. However,itis also an indication of minimum standards having been
met. We are therefore delighted that retention was again abave 95%,
continuing the trend in recent years.

CLIENT ADVOCACY % THAT WOULD RECOMMEND S.P

Ourreputationisvitally impartant to our business model and this is best
expressed through the experience of our clients. Qur wealth Account survey
provides an excellent snap shotof client experience, In recent yearswe have
monitored the trend of responses to the question "Would you recommend
St. James'’s Place ta anyone else?

I St jalnes's Place l‘liC , Annual Report and Aceounts 2016

PARTNERS

TO CONTINUE TO GROW AND
DEVELOP THE PARTNERSHIP

PROGRESS DURING 2016

Qur proposition continued to be attractive to advisers in the year
which, alongside development of the existing community, led to
improvements in quality both in terms of business credentials and
qualifications, The Partnership alio welcomed graduates from the
Academy initiative and new recruits in Asia.

NUMBER OF PARTNERS

Without our Partners, we would have no clients. We were therefore pleased to
deliver growth ahead of our long-term aspirations, supported by Academy
Partners and recruitment in Asia. Partner numbers grew from2 264 in 2015 to
2,378thisyear.

PARTNER RETENTION %

Partner retention reflects Partners’ continuing satisfaction with our
proposition but also the maintenance of their quality against the standards.
we require. We are itherefore pleased to note that retention has remained at
the highlevel of 95%when compared with the prioryear,

GROSS INFLOWS PER PARTNER £M

Praductivity of Partners is a measure of their success as business people, but
also feeds into success forthe Company., We are pleased that in 2016
individual adviser productivity continued toincrease, leading ta an overall
Increase In gross inflows per Partner from £4.2 million to £4.7 million,

Registered No. 05183415



FUNDS

TO INCREASE FUNDS UNDER
MANAGEMENT (FUM)

PROGRESS DURING 2016

In another successful ycar, new business fram clients combined
with positive growth in underl)'ing investments resulted in an
increase in total FUM to £75.3 billion, growth of 28% over the
year. This growth feeds thruugh dil‘t‘(‘tl}' to the Anancial
performance in the year,

FUNDS UNDER MANAGEMENT £BN

The prefitability measures of the Group are ultimately driven by the income
we earn from FUM. The FUM have exhibited cormpound annual growth of 18%
over the last tenyears,

GROSS INFLOWS £BN

Grass inflows are the gross new investment and pensions business
{principally single premium) received during the year, We aim to grow Gross
Inflones by 15 10 20% per annum aver the long-term, which we surpassedin
2016,

NET INFLOWS £BN

Retention of fundsis a resdlt 0° seosfied clients and is essential ifthe FUM is ta
continue to grow. Growth of 179 in the year was higher than we had expected
and reflectad lower levels of withdrawal, parucularly due to pension chents
extending retirement and investment clients remaining invested through
volatile markezs,

FINANCIAL

TO ACHIEVE SUSTAINABLE GROWTH IN REPORTED

PROFIT ON ALL MEASURES

PROGRESS DURING 2016

Our business model is simple and is 2ligned with the needs of buth
our clients and our Partners. Strong performance in those areas
combined with positive investment performance to underpin the

financial results. We are pleased to report a continuation of the trend

of recent years.

EEV OPERATING PROFIT BEFORE TAX £M

The EEY reporting basis assesses the fullvalue of the emergence of shareholder
cashreturns over the long-term. New business (Gross Inflows) isthe most
significant underlying driver of EEV Operating Profit, which was up 23% as noted
above, however, particularly strong positive experience variances and operating
assumption changes inthe prioryear i mited growth to 2% year onyear

PROFIT BEFORE SHAREHOLDER TAX £M

Despite strong grawth in the furdamentals of the business during 2016 the
coniinuing negative contribution fram unwinding of histonc DAC/DIR/PVIF
intangibles resultedin a reductionin prafit before sharehalder tax. Further
detailis provided on page 36.

DIVIDEND PENCE PER SHARE

Growth in profit measures, particularly cash, meansthe Company is able

to increase the level of dividend We are pleased to confirm an increase of
18%in dradend i the year, bringing the to*al increase over the last fiveyears
o 312%

Annual Report and Accounts 2016 St. Jarnes’s Place plc
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CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER’S REPORT

DESPITE THE UNCERTAINTIES
CAUSED BY POLITICAL EVENTS
DURING THE YEAR, OUR BUSINESS
HAS PERFORMED STRONGLY, WITH
GROWTH IN ALL THE BUSINESS
FUNDAMENTALS

Andrew Croft
Chiel Financial
{MHlicer
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As already covered in the Chief Executive’s Report the growth in gross and
nct inflows, together with the investment return in our funds, gave risc to
a 28% growth in cur funds under management to £75.3 billien.

Sharcholders will be aware that cur [inancial model is to attract and retain
funds under management on which we will receive an annual management
fee, and consequently this strong growth in funds under management is
reflected in our financial results.

At the same time we are investing in the business for the future. The
increase in costs of these initiatives is also reflected in the results, but with
an expectation of future returns for the business.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

As shareholders will be aware from previous periods, we report our results
onboth [FRS and EEV bases, as well as providing further detail on the cash
emergence from the business. Detailed explanation and analysis of the
results on these measures is provided in the Financial Review on pages 26
to 47,

Overall, the results reflect the underlying strong busincss performance
over the year, but there arc a number of particular factors which have also
impacted the results:

i. Our required contribution to the Financial Services
Compensation Scheme (FSCS) was again at an clevated level,
negatively impacting the results by £17.2 million pre-tax
(£13.7 million post-tax) compared with a £20.1 million pre-tax
(£15.9 million post-tax) for the prior year,

ii. During the year we have continued to invest strongly in our

future with a current year impact of £34.0 million pre-tax
(2015; £17.2 million pre-tax), We are very pleased with the
success of our Academy, and both the Asia operations and our new
DFM offering, Rowan Dartington, arc developing well.

. The continuation of eur back office infrastructure investment cost
£20.9 million pre-tax for the year compared with £18.1 millian

iii

for the prior ycar.

iv. Asnoted at the hal{'year we have been voluntarily reviewing
charges on two small cohorts of business: waiving exit charges at
the minimum retirement age where they existed on some older
pension contracts (written before July 1999); and reassessing risk
charges on a reviewable protection contract. The comhined
impact uf these actions is a negative onc-off £8.2 million pre-tax
in the cash and IFRS results, which rises to £13.6 million pre-tax
in the EEV result when the reduction in future charges is also fully
capitalised,

Also, at the end of the year, we have reassessed the value of the investment
contract unit liability to better reflect recent experience and to match the
cncashment value of client investments, This reassessment reduces the
liability by £267 million, with an offsctting increase in the Deferred
Income liability in the IFRS consolidated statement of financial position,
There is no impact on IFRS net asscts or prolit, nor will there be any
irpact on the emergence of profit in future years. This change better
reflects our business and we believe it will simplity reporting in future.
Where this change has any presentation impact on cach of the reporting
metrics, it is commented on in the relevant seetions of the Financial
Review.
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IFRS Result

The IFRS profit after tax was £111.7 million (2015: £202.6 million).
The principle reason for the reduction in the current year was that the prior
year result was enhanced by recognition of £74.8 million of deferred tax
asset on historic capital losses. The 2016 result is also impacted by the
continuing unwind of intangible DAC/DIR /PVIF balanccs.

The Underlying profit before shareholder tax was £163.5 million
{2015; £163.7 million) reflecting an increase in the income from funds
under management, offset b)' the highcr cxpenses, the cost of investment
and the other items noted at the start of this statement.

The Profit before shareholder tax, which takes account of the
amortisation of intangible asscts and liabilities, was £140.6 million (2015;
£151.3 million). As previously indicated, the amortisation of the intangible
assets and liabilities will for a number of ycars exceed the establishment of
new intangibles and be a negative to both the Profit before shareholder tax
and the [FRS profit after tax results.

Cash Result (presented post-tax)

The Operating cash result for the year was £226.0 million

(2015: £195.6 million), growth of 16%, retlecting the increased annual
management fees from the higher funds under management offset by
higher expenses,

Some of this operating cash is then expensed through investment in the
Acadermy, the Asian operations, our new DFM Uffcring and other strategic
investments. The total post-tax investment during the year was

£26.5 million (2015: £13.5 million) resulting in the Underlying cash
result of £199.5 millien (2015: £182.1 million), growth of 10%.

The Cash result was £175.4 million (2015: £171.5 million) reflecting the
underlying cash result adjusted for the cost of the back office infrastructure
investment and a number of one-off items detailed in the Financial Review
on page 41.

The reassessment of the investment contract unit liability will change the
emergence of cash in future ycars {detailed in the Financial Review on page
42). Had the change been implemented at the start of 2016 then the cash
results noted above would have been somc £25 million higher.

Note that the cash, operating cash and underlying cash results should not
be confused with the IFRS consclidated statement of cash flows which is
prepared in accordance with 145 7 and disclosed on page 130.

EEV Result

In line with our previous guidance, we have reduced the level of EEV
reporting and now anly provide summarised diselosure in the Financial
Review rather than full supplementary informarion.

The EEV new business contribution for the year was £520.2 million
(2015: £440.7 million) growth of 18%. The growth was slightly lower than
the new business growth (+23%) duc to higher expenses associated with
the strong adviser growth and a change in business mix.

The EEY operating profit for the year was £673.6 miilion (2015;
£660.2 million), grow th of 2%, hawever, the prior year bencfitted from a
significantly higher experience variance and operating assumption changes.
Excluding these items in both years, together with the 2016 benefit from
the inclusion of Rowan Dartington, the growth in the operating protit
would have been 18%, in line with the growth in the new business
contriburion,

The risc in giubal stock markets (]uring the second half of the year, partly
arising out of the currency impact from the depreciation of Sterling, has
contributed to a very strong investment return for our funds. This gave risc
to a positive investment variance of £537.2 million compared to a small
negative variance of £24.4 million for the prior year.

Total EEV profit before tax for the period was therefore £1,198.4
million with the positive investment variance explaining most of the
significant increase compared with £636.7 million for the prior year. The
net asset value per share an an EEV basis at the end of the year was 900.7
pence (31 December 2015: 737.3 pence).

The EEV result is unalfected by the reassessment of the investment
contract unit liability.

DIVIDEND

At the half year we increased the interim dividend by 15% to 12.33 pence
and reiterated our intention to continue to grow the dividend in line with
the underlying performance of the business. Given the continucd strong
performance of the business during the sccond half of 2016, the Board has
recommended a final dividend of 20.67 pence per share, an increase of
20% which will consume £102 million. This will provide for a full year
dividend of 33 pence, growth of 18%,

Over the last ten ycars we have progressively grown the dividend, even
during 2008/09, with compound growth of some 25% per annum.

CAPITAL AND SOLVENCY II

We continue to manage the balance shect prudently to ensure the Group’s
solvency is maintained safcly through the economic cycle. This is important
not only for the safeguarding of our clients’ assets, but also to cnsure we
can maintain returns to shareholders.

We assess our solveney against a management solvency buffer (sec page 43)
and with management free asscts considcrably in excess of the buffer, our
solvency position remains strong. We also provide an estimate of our
Solvency Il free assets position which, at £952.2 million before the dividend
(2015; £899.7 million), provides a solvency ratio of 147% (2015: 156%)
also demonstrating the [inancial strength of the business.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

The business, financials and lead indicators are in very good shape. The
cash emergence is expcctcd to continue to grow as business matures from
the gestation period and starts to contribute to the cash carnings.

In addition to increasing the dividend to shareholders, we are continuing to
invest in the business for the futurc

Finally, as noted in the Chief Executive’s Report, the proven strength of
our business model and good momentum in our business gives us
confidence in our ability to deliver continued growth in linc with our
objectives.

Andrew Croft
Chief Financial Officer
27 Fehruar)' 2017
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

THE FINANCIAL MODEL

The Group’s strategy is to attract and retain retail Funds under Management (FUM) on which we reccive an annual management fee for as long as the
clients remain invested. Thisis the principal source of income for the Group out of which we meet the overheads of the business, invest in growing the
Partnership and invest in acquiring new FUM.

The level of income is dependent on the level of client funds and the level of assct values. In addition, since around half of our business does not
generate net income in the First six years, the level of income will increasc as a result of new business from six years ago l)ecoming cash generative.
This deferral of cash generation means the business always has six years’ warth of funds in the *gestation’ period. More information about vur fees on
Funds under Management can be found in Section 1 on page 30.

Group expenditurc is carcfully managed with clear targets sct for growth in establishment expenses in the year. Many other expenses increase with
business levels and are met from margins in the products. The Group also invests in ensuring the quality of our proposition for clicnts and Partners
through investment in new clicnt services and cxisting 1T systems. Finally, we are alse looking to the future, with investment in strategic initiatives,
including the Academy, Asia, DFM and our back office infrastructure programme, More information about our cxpenses can be found in Section 2 on
page 3Z.

A small preportion of Group cxpenditure is required to support management of existing funds, but the majerity of expenditure is investment in
growing the Partnership and acquiring new [unds. The rcsuiting new business is expected to generate income foran average of 14 years, and is
cxpected to provide a good return on the investment (see page 30).

Given the impertance of FUM to profit generation by the business, we provide an analysis of the FUM make up and development in Section 1.
Section 2 covers expenses, which is the other significant driver of profits, with Sections 3-5 reporting on the performance of the business on the IFRS,
cash and EEV result bases, and providing commentary on solvency and liquidity.

PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENT

In line with statutory reporting requirements, we report profits assessed on an International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) basis. However,

ghen the [Ong—tcrm nature ol the busincss and the high level of investment in new business generation cach ycar, we believe the [FRS result does not
provide an easy guide to the cash likely to emerge in tuture years, nor docs it reflect the total economic value of the business. Therefore, consistent

with last year, we complement IFRS reparting with additional disclosure on various alternative performance measures (APMs).

APMs are not defined by the relevant financial reporting framework (which for the Group is [FRS}), but we use them to provide greater insight to the
financial performance, financial position and cash flows of the Group and the way it is managed. Summary information about the key APMs used in
our Financial Review is provided in the following table, and we also provide a complete Glossary of Alternative Performance Measures on page 199, in
which we define each APM and cxplain why it is uscd and, i applicable, how the measure can be reconciled to the IFRS financial statements.

Reconciliation to the

APM Definition Why is this measure used? financial statements
Solveney 1l Based on IFRS Net Assets, but with the following Our ability to satisfy our liabilities to clients, and  Refer to page 39.
net asscts adjustments: consequently our selvency, is central to our

busincss. By removing the liabilities which arc

1. Reflection of the recognition requirements of the

Solvency Il regulations [or asscts and liabilities. In
particular this removes, DAC, DIR, PVIF, other
intangibles and some other small items which are

fully matched by assets, this presentation allows
the reader to focus on the business operation. It
also provides a simpler comparison with other
wealth management companies.

treated as inadmissible from a regulatory perspective;
and

2. Adjustment to remove the matching clicnt asscts and
the liabilitics as these do not represent shareholder
asscls.

No adjustment is made Lo deferred tax as this is treated as
an allowable assct in the Solvency [T rcgu]atiOnA
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APM

Definition

Why is this measure used?

Reconciliation to the
financial statements

Cash result,
Underlying
cash result and
Operating cash

result

The Cash result is defined as the movement between the
opening and closing Solvency 11 net assets adjusted for the
following items:

1. The movement in deferred tax is removed ta reflect
just the cash realisation from the deferred tax
position;

2. The movements in goodwill and other intangibles are
included; and

3. Other changes in equity, such as dividends paid in the
year and share option costs, are excluded.

The Operating cash result reflects the regular cmergence
of cash from the business opcrations.

The Underlying cash results additionally reflects the cash
impact of the strategic investments we are making.

Finally, the Cash result reflects all other cash items,
including those whose emergence is volatile, varying over
time and often influenced by markets, together with the
short term costs associated with the back office
infrastructure project,

Neither the Cash result nor the Underlying cash result
should be confused with the IFRS consolidated statement
of cash flows which is preparcd in accordance with TAS 7.

IFRS methodelogy recognises non cash items such
as deferred tax and share options, By contrast,
dividends can only be paid to sharcholders from
appropriately lungible asscts. The Board therefore
uses the cash results to monitor the level of cash
gcncratcd b}f the business.

While the Cash result gives an absolute measure of

the cash gencrated in the year, the Underlying and
Operating cash results are particularly uscful for
monitoring the expcctcd long—tcrm rate of cash
emergence, which is particularly useful in
considering the supportability of dividends and
sustainable dividend growth.

Refer to page 34
and also see Note 3
Segment Profit.

Policyholder
and
Shareholder tax

Sharcholder tax is estimated by making an assessment of
the effective rate of tax that is applicable to the
sharcholders on the profits attributable to shareholders.
This is calculated by applying the appropriate effective
corporate tax rates to the shareholder profits.

In cffect, the shareholder tax is assessed by calculating the
expected level of sharcholder tax implied by the post-rax
result, but with cxp]ici‘( adjustment in the calculation for
any significant one-off tax adjustments.

The remainder of the tax charge represents tax on
policyholder’s investment returns,

This calculation method is consistent with the legisiation
relating to the calculation of tax on shareholder profits.

The UK tax regime facilitates the collection of tax
from life insurance policyholders by making an
equivalent charge within the corperate tax of the
Company. The total tax charge for the insurance
companies therefore comprises both this element
and an clement more closely related to normal
corporation tax,

Lile insurance business impacted by this tax
typically includes policy charges which align with
the tax liability, to mitigate the impact on the
corporate. As a result when policyholder tax
increascs, the charges also increase. Given these
offsctting items can be large, and typically don't

perform in line with the business, it is beneficial to
be able to identify the two elements scparately. We

therefore refer to that part of the overall tax
charge, which is deemed attributable to
policyholders, as policyholder tax, and the rest as
sharcholder tax.,

Disclosed as scparate
linc items in the
statement of
comprchensive
income on page 127,
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FINANCIAL REVIEW continued

APM Definition

Reconciliation to the

Why is this measure used? financial statements !

Profit before A profit measure which reflects the IFRS result adjusted

shareholder tax

income the full title of this measurc is ‘Profit before tax
attributable to sharehelders’ returns’,

for policyholder tax, but before deduction of sharcholder
tax. Within the consolidated statement of comprehensive

Disclosed as a
separate linc item
in the statement of

The IFRS methodalogy requires that the tax
recognised in the linancial statcments should
include the tax incurred on behall of policyholders
in our UK lifc assurance company. Since the
policyholder tax charge is unrelated to the
performance of the business, we belicve it is useful
to separately identify the profit before shareholder
tax, which reflects the IFRS profit before tax,
adjusted for tax paid on behalf of policyholders.

cumprc]‘lensive
income on page 127.

A profit measure which reflects the IFRS result adjusted
to remove the DAC, DIR and PVIF intangibles.

Underlying
profit

The IFRS methodology promotes recognition of Refer to page 34.
profits in line with the provision of services and

s0, for long-term business, some of the initial cash
flows are spread over the life of the contract
through the use of intangible assets and liabilitics
(known as DAC  Deferred Acquisition Costs and
DIR  Deferred Income). Due to the retail
distribution review {RDR) regulation change in
2013, there was a step change in the progression of
these items in our financial statements, which
resulted in significant accounting presentation
changes despite the fundamentals of our vertically
integrated business remaining unchanged. We
therefore believe it is useful to consider the IFRS
result, having removed the impact of movements
in these intangibles, as it better reflects the
underlying performance of the business.

EEV operating

profit the long-term ceconomic value of the business.

Our ecmbedded value is determined in line with the EEV

A discounted cash flow valuation methodology, assessing

Bath the IFRS and cash results reflect only the cash See Note 3 -
flows in the year. However, our business is Segment Profit.
long-term, and activity in the year can generate

business with a long-term value. We therefore

principles, originally set out by the Chief Financial Officersbelieve it is helpful to understand the full economic

(CFO) Forum in 2004, and amended for subsequent
Chahges to the principles, including those published in

April 2016, following the implementation of Solvency I1.

impact of activity in the year, which is the aim of the
EEV methodalogy.

Within the EEV, many of the future cash flows

The EEV operating prolit reflects the total EEV result withderive from fund charges, which change with
an adjustment to strip out the impact of stock market and  maovements in stock markets, Since the impact of

other cconomic effects during the year,

these changes is typically unrelated to the
performance of the business, we believe that the
EEV operating profit (reflecting the EEV profit,
adjusted to reflect only the expected investment
performance and ne change in economic basis)
provides the most uscful measure of embedded
value performance in the year.
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SECTION 1: FUNDS UNDER MANAGEMENT
This section starts with analysis of the movement in the funds under management of the Group. This is followed by information ahout the income the

Group earns from managing these funds, togcther with the profi}c of these earnings, and finally a geographicai and segmcntal analysis of the funds
under management.

Movement in Funds Under Management

During 2016 we have seen gross new funds of £11.35 billion (2015: £9.24 billion), growth of 23% and a net inflow of funds under management of
£6.78 billion (2015: £5.78 billion), growth of 17%. The investment return contributed £8.7 hillien (2015; £0.8 billion contribution) to funds under
manzgement during the year with this centribution reflecting both the higher stock markets but also the positive impact of the deprecation of Sterling

on the overscas asscts. Given the strong net inflow, and the positive investment performance, funds under management increased to £75.31 billion
(2015: £58.6! hillion).

Analysis of the development of the funds under management is provided in the following tables;

UT/IsSA

Year Ended 31 becember 2016 Note Investment Pension & DFM Total

£'Billion £'Billion £'Billion £'Billion
Opening funds under management 22.52 20.86 1523 58.61
Rowan Dartington acquisition - - 1.26 1.26
Gross inflows 2.28 5.12 395 11.35
Net investment return 2.12 4.40 2.19 8.71
Regular income withdrawals and maturitics 1 {0.52) (0.84) {0.11) {1.47)
Surrenders and part surrenders 2 {0.90) (0.91) (1.29) 13.10)
Rowan Dartington  Ardan Internaticonal disposal - - (0.05) {0.05)
Closing funds under management 25.50 28.63 21.18 75.31
Net inflows 0.86 3.37 2.55 6,78
Implied surrender ratc as a percentage of average funds under management 3.7% 37% 6.8% 4.6%

Included within ‘UT/ISA & DFM' are gross inflows of £0.42 hillion and outflows of £0.16 billion relating to Rowan Dartington. Also included is the
£0.05 billion reduction in funds under management relating to the disposal of Rowan Dartington’s non core international platform business, Ardan
International, in December 2016.

A further £466 million of investments is managed in third party funds within our Asia business.

Year Ended 31 December 2015 Note nvestment Pensicn UT/ISA Total
£'Billion £'8illien £'Billion £'Billion
Opening funds under management 2114 18.08 12,79 52.01
Gross inflows 245 3.66 3.13 9.24
Net investment return 0.1% 0.38 0.25 Q.82
Regular income withdrawals and maturitics 1 (0.48) (0.62) - {1.10)
Surrenders and part surrenders 2 {0.78) (0.64) (0.94) (2.36)
ClOSil’lg ful’]ds undcr managcment 22.52 2086 1523 5861
Net inflows 1.1% 2.40 2.19 5.78
[mplied surrender rate as a percentage of average funds under management 3.6% 3.3% 6.7% 4.3%

A further £430 million of investments is managed in third party funds within our Asia business.

Notes
. Regular income withdrawals are those amounts, pre selected by clivnts, which arc paid out by way ol periodic income, Maturities are those sums paid out where the plan has reached the intended, pre
selected, maturity event (¢ g. retirement).

2. Surrendery and part surrenders are thuse amounts w here clieats have chosen to withdraw moacy from their plan which were not pre selected regular income withdrawals or maturities.,
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FINANCIAL REVIEW continued

Fees on Funds Under Management
As noted at the statt of this Financial Review, our financial model is to attract and retain retail funds under management (FUM) on which we receive

an annual management rﬁ.‘C.

The net annual management fee retained by the Group is ¢.0.77% post-tax. However, due to our product structure, investment and pension business
does not generate net cash in the first six years. Consequently, the level of income we are receiving today is not fully representative of the expected
carnings from the funds we arc managing, and these earnings will increase as a result of the new business from six ycars ago becoming cash gencrative.
This deferral of cash generation means there is always six years” worth of business in the ‘gestation’ period.

The table below provides an cstimated current value of the funds under management in the gestation period:

Year Total Total

£'Billion £'Billion
2010 - 2.0
2011 2.4 2.4
2012 2.9 2.7
2013 4.0 a7
2014 4.4 3.9
2015 5.3 4.5
2016 6.1 -
Total 25.1 19.2

This £25.1 billion of funds under management in the gestation period represents approximately a third of the total funds under management which, il
all the business reached the end of the gestation period, would contribute sorme £195 million to the annual post-tax cash result.

The Business Case for New Funds Under Management
The Group incurs fosts associated with attracting new funds. We believe it is useful to provide details of the economic return we expect will be
gcncratcd from the new business; in other words, the busincss case for the investment in attracting new clicnts and funds under management.

As detailed later in this revicw on page 41, a nct cost of £106.7 million (2015: £84.2 million) has been incurred to attract the £11.35 billion of gross
new funds (2015: £9.24 billion).

We regard this as an investment in new business which we expect to generate income in the future, signiticantly exceeding this cost and therefore
provide positive recurns for sharcholders. The table below provides details of the new business added during the reporting periods and different

measures of valuing the investment;

Year Ended Year Ended
3lDecember 31December

2016 2015
Gross inflows (£'Billion) 11.35 9.24
Post-tax investment in new business (£’ Million)
Operating costs (80.2} {70.7)
Investment costs [26.5) {13.5)
Tatal costs (106.7) (84.2)
Post-tax present value of expected profit from investment (£'Million) 427.8 358.9
Cost of new business (% of new money invested)* 1.0% 0.9%
New business margin (% of new money invested) A4.6% 4.8%
Cash payback pcriod (ycars) 5 5
Internal rate of return (net of tax) 21,.7% 22.1%

*The i estment as a pereentage of net inflow of tunds under management was 1.6% compared with 1.5% (or 2015.
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Geographical and Segmental Analysis
The table below provides a geographical and segmental analysis of funds under management at the end of each year:

31December 31 December
2016 2015

£’Billion %% of total £'Billion % oftotal
North American Equitics 17.5 23% 131 22%
UK Equities 17.3 23% 15.6 27%
Fixed [nterest 12.8 17% 8.8 15%
Eurcpean Equitics 8.2 11% 6.2 11%
Asia and Pacific Equities 6,2 8% 4.9 8%
Cash 6.0 8% 4.6 8%
Property 2.4 3% 2.2 4%
Alternative Investments 1.9 3% 1.3 2%
Other 3.0 A% 1.9 3%
Total 75.3 100% 58.6 100%
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FINANCIAL REVIEW continued

SECTION 2: EXPENSES
Management Expenses
The table below provides a brezkdown of the management expenditure (before tax):

Year Ended YearEnded
31December 31 December

Note 2016 2015
£'Million £Millien
Establishment casts 1 160.7 139.4
Other performance related costs 2 104.0 34.3
Operational development costs 3 17.0 17.3
Strategic development costs 4 6.6 19
Academy costs 5 1.2 5.5
Asia costs 6 13.8 7.9
DFM costs 7 12.9 1.6
Back office infrastructure development 8 20.9 18.1
Regulatr)ry fees 9 8.3 7.5
FSCS Ie\-y 9 17.2 201
368.6 313.6

Notes
1. Establishment costs are the running costs of the Group's infrastructure and ave relatively fixed 1n nature in the shert termy, although they are subject to inflationary increases. These costs will increase

w

32

s the infrastructure expands to manage the higher number of existing clients, the grow ing number of advisers and increasing husiness volumes.

The growth in the establishment expenses during the year was higher than our targeted growth due to the very strong new business result together with above target grow th in new advisers, a primary
driver to the infrastructure costs,

We expect the grow thin the establishment costs for 2017 to be more in hine with our medium term business targets.

Other performance related costs, for both Partners and employues, vary with the [evel of new business and operatiag profit perlormance of the business.

Operational development costs represent business as usual expenditure to support the business, such as the on-going development of our investment proposition and our technology, including focus on
cyber yeeurity.

We expeet costs in 2017 to be at a similar level.

As a growth business we are constaatly Iooking to new eppertunities and expect 1o 1ncur a small level of ongoing expense associated with pursuing other strategic developments.

We will continue w explore opportunities and undertake appropriate initiatives,

The Aczdemy is an important strategic investment for the luture and we are continwing to grow our investment in this programme. Costs have increased in recent years as we have increased the
pumber of students within the programme and launched mare regional academics.

Our inyestment in the Academy will continue in 2017 with expected costs of some £8.0 million.

Qur eypansion into Asia through operations in Singapore, Hong Kong and Shanghai s intended (o provide dis ersification of our grewth madel through exporting our suceessful wealth management
Proposition to new markets, starting v ith the UK expat market, Costs reflect both the ongoing operational costs, but also the development costs associated with grow ing these businesses o achieve
sustainabde seale. We have also seen these costs increase due to the depreciation of Sterling.

Qur inyestment will continue in 2017 and we expect Lhis investment cost to increase by 13-4 milhon

Cempletion of the purchase of Rowan Dartington in March 2016 facilitated 2 new DFM operation within the S propositton, We expeet this business will grow quickly, requiring iy estment wo
support these ambitions.

Qur back olfice infrastructure programme is a malti-year initiztive to upgrade our administration so it can support sur future business goals, Having achieved the migration of our 154 and Unit Trust

proposition to our new Bluedoor system in 2015, the focus in 2016 has bern the launch of a new retirement account with the eventual aim beng to migrate pension and draw down business unto the

new $ystem. The costs in 2017 will be at a similar leve) to 2016,

The tosts uf operating in a regulated sector include fees charged by the regulators and our contnbuton to the Financial Services Compensation Scheme . Gur position a3 a market leading provider of
advice, means we make a very substantiat vontribution to supporting the industry compensation scheme, the FSCS, thereby providing protection for clients ol other sector businesses that fail. In the
last couple of years, the levy has been at an elevated level and we remain hopeful that it will return to a mare normalised level in future, albeit we now expect a third year of an ¢levated contributien in
the 2017718 funding year. The FSCS levy 1s met by our s arious regulated companses and is spht £16.5 million (2015: £15.8 million) via the Distribution business and £0.7 million (2015, £0.3 nullion)

viathe Life and Unit Trust regulated business.
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Group Expenses

The table below provides a reconciliation from the management expenses above to the total Group expenses included in the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income on page 127:

Year Ended Year Ended

31December  31December

Note 2016 2015

£’Million £'Million

Expenses per table above 368.6 3136
Payments ta Partners 10 599.7 518.5
Investment cxpenses 10,11 67.9 143.5
Third party administration 10,12 74.2 56.6
Acquired [FA operating costs 3.1 3.0
Amortisation and revaluation of DAC and PVIF 63.4 76.0
Sharc option costs 23.9 157
Share option NI 1.9 3.4
Interest expense and bank Chargcs 6.2 6.0
Charitable donations 3.4 3.5
Other 12.8 10.3
856.5 836.5

Total expenses 1,225.1 1,150.1

Notes

10 Thess costs are met from corresponding marging and any varlation in them from changes i the volumes of new business er the level o the steck markets does not dirgctly impact the profitability of the Group.

11, Asnoted in the 2015 Annual Report and Accounts, in preparation for migration of business to the Bluedoor platform, we restructured our funds so that Investment expenses of all unit trusts are

charged directly to the trust rather than some being settled by the manager or lile company. As a result, the [nvestment expenses for most funds are no fonger censclidated 10 the financial statements,

bhut neither is the equal and of lsetung fee, resulting in 2 neutral profit impact overall (2nd a nentral impact o clicnts).

12. Alsoas noted in the 2015 Annual Report and Accounts, asa result of the migration of business 10 a new back oflice platform, a new admunistration tariff with our vutsourced provider now applies to

business transacted. Consequently, some administration costs which were previously charged to the trusts are now being treated as expenses, with a corresponding offsetting increase 1n fee income,

agan resulting in a neutral impact overall Asa result, the Third Party Admimstration costs reported in 2016 increased by ¢ 10% in addition to the growth in business.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW continued

SECTION 3: INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (IFRS)

As noted at the start of this review, two key measures based on [FRS arc Profit before shareholder tax, which removes the impact of policyholder
tax, and Underlying profit result, which removes the impact of changes in certain intangibles (DAC/DIR/PVIF). Of these two, we believe
Underlying profit provides the more useful measure, based on IFRS, for assessing operating performance.

As noted in the Chief Financial Officer’s report, the results reflect the underlying streng business performance, but also a number of other drivers, most
notably including the FSCS levy and the continued investment in cur business {not least our back oflice infrastructure, the Academy, and recent acquisitions).

2016 2015
Before Before
shareholder sharehelder

tax Aftertax tax After tax

£'Million £'Million £'Million £'Millfan

Undel"lying cash 221.3 199.5 197.0 182.1
Share options (23.9) {23.9) (15.7) {15.0)
Deferred tax impacts - {21.1) - 521
Insurance reserves (1.6) {1.6) 1.8) (1.8)
Back office inlrastructure {20.9) (16.7) (18.1) (14.4)
Variance {11.4) (1.7) 2.3 3.8
Underlying profit 163.5 128.5 163.7 206.8
DAC/DIR/PVIF (22.9) {16.8) 112.4) 4.8)
IFRS pl’ofit 140.6 111.7 151.3 202.0
Year Ended Year Ended

33 DPecember  3LDecember

2016 2015

Pence Pence

LFRS basic earnings per share 21.5 38.9
IFRS diluted carnings per share 213 38.5
Underlying cash basic earnings per share 38.2 34.6
Undcrl}'ing cash diluted earnings per share 37.9 34.2

Underlying Profit before Shareholder tax

The result for the year was £163.5 million, in line with the result of £163.7 million in 2015. A breakdown by segment is provided in the following table:

Year Ended Year Ended

31December  31December

2016 2015

£'Million £'Million

Life business 165.8 174.2
Unit Trust and DFM business 92.3 70.7
Funds management business 258.1 244.9
Distribution business [25.9) (21.2)
Back office infrastructure development (20.9) (18.1)
Other {47.8) (41.9)
Underlying profit before shareholder tax 163.5 163.7
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Funds management

The profit for the year to 31 December 2016 was £258.1 million (2015: £244.9 million) which was 5% higher than the prior year. Higher income
from funds under management was partially offset by higher expenses and some one-off costs from reviewing charges in two small cohorts of legacy
business. The investment in the infrastructurc of Rowan Dartington for future growth reduced profit by £5.1 million. Finally, a reallocation of
expenses between Life and Unit Trust business has impacted the respective results of each business,

Distribution business

St. James’s Place is a vertically integrated firm, allowing it to bencfit from the synergics of combining funds management with distribution. Therefore,
as well as the income generated on the funds under management, there is a further margin from the distribution activity, which depends prineipally on
the levels of new business, expenses and investment.

The 2016 result has been negatively impacted by a continued, albeit slightly reduced year-on-year, high contribution to the FSCS, which for the year
was £16.5 million (2015: £19.8 million). The Asian business also made a loss in the year of £13.2 million (2015; £7.0 million) reflecting the corparate
investment in securing this business. After adjusting for these costs in both years, there was a trading profit of £3.8 million in the current year which,
was similar to the trading profit of £5.6 million in 2015.

Back office development
As noted on page 32 our investment in our back office development project (knewn as Bluedoor} during the year was £20.9 million
{2015; £18.1 million).

Other

Other operations made a negative contribution of £47.8 million (2015: negative contribution of £41,9 million). The largest contributors to the result
were the costs of share options and the impact of strategic investmcent (other than the back office development identified separately above).

The higher share option cost of £23.9 million in the current year (2015: £15.7 million} principally reflected a full year expense of the new Partner
share scheme which was launched in the second half of 2015. Additionally, National Insurance associated with share options cost £1.9 million in the

year {2015: £3.4 million).

In 2016 investment in RD and Asia have been allocated above, but other strategic development costs, including the Academy, were £15.7 million
compared to £10.2 million in 2015 (see Section 2 on page32 for more detail on the associated expenses).

Finally, cur maturity grant and other contributions to the Foundation totalled £3.7 million in 2016 (2015: £3.8 million}.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW continued

DAC, DIR and PVIF
The net movement in the DAC, DIR and PVIF intangibles has a negative contribution to profit as summarised in the table below. Additional analysis is
included in Note 8 on pagc 147.

Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 2016 31 December 2015
Before Befare
shareholder shareholder
tax After tax tax After tax
£'Million £'Million £°Million £'Million
Amortisation {4.5) (3.4) 12.4 9.9
Tax rate change - 2.1 - 5.9
Arising on new business (18.4) (15.5) {24.8) (20.6}
Movement in year (22.9) {16.8) {12.4) {4.8)

The net impact of amortisatien of the accumulated balances of DAC and PVIF assets, and DIR liability has, as expected, reduced again during the
period, turning ncgative compared with the prior year.

The amortisation pattern of DAC and DIR is diffcrent, with the DAC balance amortising steadily over 14 years whilc a substantial proportion of the
YR balance will amortise over six ycars. Historically this has resulted in faster deferred income recognition than acquisition expense accrual, and a
positive impact overall from amortisation.

However, since the implementation of RDR in 2013 the level of new DAC and DIR has reduced significantly and the large historic balances have been
unwinding down towards the new normal. The faster amortisation of DIR means that its trend towards a new lower rate has been quicker, causing the
net amortisation level to reduce and ultimarely turn negative, which developing effect can also be seen in Note 8.

Previous guidanee stated this reducing trend would continue until the pre RDR DIR balance had unwound (over six years, say 2020), at which point
the net amortisation level would stabilise before starting to increase back towards a new long-term level as the pre RDR DAC balance unwinds (by 14
years, say 2028}. However, the reassessment of £267 million of investment contract liability at the end of 2016 has re-established a significant DIR
balance, which will amortisc over the next six years. We therefore expect a change in the overall amortisation in 2017 to a positive £30-35 million
before sharcholder tax. The equivalent in 2316 would have been ¢.£50 million before sharcholder tax and c. £40 million after tax, which reflect an
increasc of ¢.£55 million before shareholder tax and c.£45 million after tax. (For clarity, there is no change in expected pattern of DAC amortisation.)

At the same time, the revised assessment of investment contact liability results in a change in the income deferred from future new business. If the
revised approach was applied to business in 2016 the impact would have been an increase in new DIR of ¢. £90 million (c.£70 million after tax), taking
the total ncgative impact from new business to arcund £110 million before sharcholder tax and c. £90 million after tax. In future years we would
expect this negative contribution to move in line with new business growth albeit reflecting business mix impacts,

Overall, and since our business has been growing, we expect that the negative impact of deferring more income from new business will exceed the
pasitive impact of amortising the historic balances, meaning the DAC/DIR/PVIF adjustment will he more negative in future. But of course this will
simply offset the equal and vpposite positive impact we arc expecting in the Cash result (scc page 41).

Tax ratc Changcs in both years impacted the post-tax movements,

Finally, it is important to note the intangible and deferred nature of these items, meaning that they do not reflect the operating performance of the

business, This is why we belicyve the Underlying profit measure, which is adjusted from IFRS ta remove these impacts, provides a useful measure of
operating performance.
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Shareholder Tax

The actual tax rate in each of the periods may be impacted by significant one-off items and cvents such as a change in corporation tax rate. The table
below provides a high level analysis of shareholder tax, and a more detailed analysis is included in Note 7.

Year Ended Year Ended
31December  31Decermnber

2016 2015
£'Million £'Million
Expected sharcholder tax (27.2) (29.2)
Recognition of capital losses 2.2 748
Other tax adjustments {2.6) 0.6
Corpgration tax rate changc (1.3) 4.5
Actual shareholder tax (28.9) 30.7
Expected sharcholder tax rate 19.3% 19.3%
Actual shareholder tax rate 20.6% (33.5%)

The expected sharcholder tax principally reflects the current UK corporation tax and overseas rates applicable and will vary from ycar to year

depending upon the emergence of profit between the different tax regimes which apply to the St. James’s Place Group companies.

There has been a small reassessment in the recognition of capital losses adding £2.2 million to profit (negative tax impact) in the year (2015
£74.8 million negative tax impact, positive profit} and the combined impact of 2 number of other small rax adjustments was £2.6 millicn negative
impact on profit, or increase to tax (2015: £0.6 million negative impact on tax, positive on profit}.

The reducticn in the rate of corporation tax to 17% from 1 April 2020 was enacted in the Finance Act 2016. The impact of this reduction on the net
deferred tax asscts and liabilities results in a ncgative impact of £1.3 million duc to the level of deferred tax assets being greater than the level of deferred

tax lizbilities (2015: £4.5 million positive impact).

The overall impact of these effects was to increase the tax charge on an [FRS basis to £28.9 million (2015: negative impact on tax of £50.7 million).
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FINANCIAL REVIEW continued

IFRS Profit
Analysis of the IFRS profit before tax, Profit before shareholder tax and IFRS profit after tax is presented in the table below, which also shows the
impact of the tax incurred on behalf of policyholders:

Year Ended Year Ended
31 pecember  31December

2016 2015

£'Million £'Million

TFRS profit before tax 486.3 174.1
Policyholder tax (345.7) {22.8)
Profit before shareholder tax 140.6 151.3
Shareholder tax {28.9) 50.7
TFRS profit after tax 111.7 202.0

The Profit before shareholder tax for the year was £140.6 million (31 December 2015: £151.3 million). The impact of the increasingly negative
contribution from the net movement in DAC/DIR/PVIF intangibles was a major contributor to the lower Profit before shareholder tax result in the
current peried.

The IFRS profit after tax rcsult similarly reflected the impact of the negative net movement in DAC/DIR/PVIF in the current period, but the
prior period result also benefitted signiﬁcantly from recognition of £74.8 million of capital losses. These two factors more than reversed the
underlying growth in the business and resulted in a significant reduction in profit between the years.

By contrast the [FRS profit before tax incrcased significantly to £486.3 million (31 December 2015: £174.1 million). This significant increase
reflects the underlying positive investment performance in client policics, which gencrates higher policy charges intended to meet the Pelicyholder tax
clement of the corporate tax charge (as described in the definition of Policyholder tax provided on page 27). In practice, the very substantial increase
in IFRS profit before tax is offset by the cquivalent increase in Policyholder tax, and it is the Profit before shareholder tax which provides a better
indication of the underlying performance of the business.

Analysis of IFRS Assets and Net Assets per Share

Thc table below provides a summariscd breakdown of the IFRS position at the reporting dates:

2016 2015

£’Million £'Million

Purchased value of in-force* 25.0 274

Deferred acquisition costs* 587.0 627.2

Deferred income®* (607.9) 1368.3)

Other IFRS net asscts 1.5 1.7

Solvency I net assets 1,070.0 801.1

Total IFRS net assets 1,075.6 1,095.1
* net of deferred tax

2016 2015

Pence Pence

203.9 208.7

Net asset value per share
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SECTION 4: SOLVENCY, LIQUIDITY AND CASH RESULTS

This section brings together our reporting on the Solvency Il net assets and liquidity, together with our reporting of the Cash results and solvency.

Solvency H Net Assets

In addition to presenting an IFRS statement of financial position {on page 129), we believe it is beneficial to provide a balance shect reflecting our
approach to managing sclvency. Solvency Il net assets arc based on the IFRS statement of financial position, but with adjustments madle to accounting
asscts and liabilities to reflect the Solvency [1 regulations. In addition, provision for insurance liabilities is set equal to the associated unit liabilities.

The following table scts out the adjustments to move from IFRS to Solvency I net asscts.

Solvency 1
IFRS Net Assets
Balance Balance
31 December2016 Sheet Adjustment' Adjustment? Sheet 2015
£’Million £'Million £'Million £'Million £'Million
Assets
Goodwill 13.8 - {13.8) - -
Deferred acquisition costs 684.8 B {684.8) - -
Acquired value of in-force business 304 - {30.4) - -
Developments 3.0 - (3.0 - -
Property and equipment 23.1 - - 231 8.0
[nvestment property 1,462.4 {1,462.4) - - -
Equities 46,598.7 (46,598.7) - - -
Fixed income sccurities 12.445.5 12,397.9) - 477 83.1
Investment in Collective investment Schemes 3,854.8 (2,997.4) - 867.4 531.0
Derivative financial instruments 729.1 (729.1) - - -
Rcinsurance assets 80.5 - (80.5) - -
Cash and cash equivalents 7,413.1 (7,067.2) - 3459 2335
Other receivables 1,473.0 (187.2) {63.0) 12228 500.1
Deferred tax assets 199.9 - (42.2) 157.7 179.2
Total assets 15,022.1 (71,439.8) (917.7) 2,664.6 1,534.9
Liabilities
{nsurance contract liabilities 518.2 435.3) (82.9) - -
Borrowings 281.4 - - 281.4 181.8
Investment contract bencfits 53,307.1 (53,307.1) - - -
Derivative financial instruments 281.9 {281.9) - - -
Net asset value attributable to unit holders 17,032.0 {17,032.0) - - -
Other provisions 171 - - 171 15.4
Orther pa}'ablcs 1,173.6 (383.5) (1.1) 7859.0 300.7
Income tax liabilities 727 - - 2.7 29.6
Deferred tax liabilities 614.8 - (180.5) 434.3 206.2
Deferred income 647.6 - (647.6) - -
Prcference shares Q.1 - - 0.1 0.1
Total liabilities 73,946.5  (71,439.8) (912.1) 1,594.6 733.8
Net Assets 1,075.6 - (5.6) 1,070.0 801.1

Adjustments:

1. Nets out the policyholder interest in unit linked assets and lisbilities,

2. Adjustments to the IFRS statement of financial pusition in linc with Sul\cnq T requirements, mcludmg removal of DAC, DIR, PVIF, deferred tax, guud\\ ill and other imangihln
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FINANCIAL REVIEW continued

Liquidity

Included in the previous table are holdings in Fixed Interest Securities, Collective [nvestment Schemes and other cash and cash cquivalents. [t is our

policy to always hold such assets in high credit quality liquid assets. An analysis of these holdings s provided below:

Holding Name £'Million £'Million
Fixed Interest Securities

1% UK Treasury 07/09/2017 42.3

1.75% UK Treasury 22/01/2017 0.6

1.375% Singapore Government Bonds 01/10/2017 4.8 477
Collective Investment Schemes (AAA rated money market funds)

Aberdeen 54.3

Black Rock 178.0

Goldman Sachs 154.4

HSBC 28.6

Insight 153.3

JP Morgan 151.0

Legal & General 147.8 867.4
Cash and cash equivalents (bank balances)

Bank of Scotland 31.8

Barclays 93.5

HSBC 55.8

Lloyds TSB 41.0

Mctro . 23.0

NatWest 37.9

Santander 35.1

Others 21.8 3459
Total 1,261.0

In the normal course of business, the Company is expected to generate regular, positive cash lNow from annual management income exceeding
cxpenses. As noted previcusly, future growth in cash flow is driven by new business, but in the short term, growth will reflect the transition as new

business from six years ago becomes cash generative.

The key calls on liquidity will be investment to support the business and payment of the Group dividend. As noted previously, our policy is to increase

the dividend in line with the underlying performance of the business. We believe this will zlso enable us to continue to invest in the business to

support our growth aspirations.

Movement in Solvency Il Net Assets

The table below details the movement in the Solvency 11 net assets over the year which, after adjusting for changes in non cash items such as deferred
tax assets, goodwill and intangibles, as well as changes in equity such as dividends paid in the year {sec also page 128 consolidated statement of

changes in equity) provides the net cash result for the period.

Year Ended Year Ended

31December 31December

016 2015*

£°Million £'Million

Opening Solvency [ Net Asscts 801.1 T08.7
Dividend paid in period (155.2) (130.8)
Issue of share capital and exercisc of options 6.6 11.8
Consideration paid for own shares {5.5) {12.8}
Movement in other reserves 0,2 -
Change in deferred rax {17.2) 52.7
Change in goodwill and intangibles (2.49) -
Unit liability reassessment 267.0 B
Cash result 175.4 171.5
Ciosing Solvency Il Net Assets 1,070.0 801.1

* The Solvency Il net assets diselused at 31 December 2015 were adjusted for subrmission te the regulator.
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The closing Solvency IT Net Assets rellects an increase of £267 million as a result of unit liability reassessment (impacting Adjustment 2 in the table
on page 39). This increase in net asscts does not reflect a change in the underlying business and so, when considering solvency, management offsets
the positive increase in Solvency [ Net Asscts by increasing the capital requirement {the Management Solvency Buffer) by a similar amount (see also

page 43).

Cash Results

As noted above, the change in the Solvency 1T Net Asscts, after adjusting for changes in non cash items such as deferred tax assets, goodwill and
intangibles, as well as changes in equity such as dividends paid in the year (scc also page 128 consolidated statement of changes in equity) provides
the Cash result for the period. The Cash result provides an alternative view of the cash generation of the Group during a reporting period. The Cash
result should not be confused with the IFRS consolidated statement of cash flows which is prepared in accordance with IAS 7 and disclosed on

page i30.

The following tables below show: an Operating cash result - reflecting the regular emergence of cash [rom the business operations; and an Underlying
cash result which additionally reflects the cash impact of our strategic investments, The reconciliation of the Underlying cash result to the Underlying
profit measure is presented on page 34.

There arc also some cash items whose emergence is volatile, varying over time, and which are influenced by market movements. These impacts,
together with the short term costs associated with the back office infrastructure project, arc shown after the Underlying cash result,

The Cash results are presented after tax and can be analysed as a combination of the cash emerging from the business in-force at the start of the year,
less the investment made to acquire new business during the year. The following tables and commentary provide an indicative analysis of the Cash

result into these two elements,

The Cash results are the principal measures the Board considers when determining the dividend payment to sharcholders.

Year Ended 31 December 2016 Note In-force New Business Total
£'Million £'Million £'Millicn
Operational
Net annual management fee 1 468.5 40.4 508.9
Reduction in fees in gestation period 1 (165.6) (24.3) (189.9)
Net income from funds under management 1 302.9 16.1 319.0
Margin arising from ncw business 2 - 49.0 49.0
Establishment cxpenscs 3 (12.9) (115.7) {128.6)
Operational development expenses 3 - {13.9) (13.9)
Regulatory fees 3 {0.4) (3.4} (3.8)
FSCS levy 3 {1.4) {12.3) {13.7)
Shareholder interest 4 9.8 - 9.8
Tax relief from capital losses 3 12.6 - 12.6
Miscellancous G (4.4) - (4.4)
Operating cash result 306.2 (80.2) 226.0
Investment
Academy 7 - (5.8) (5.8)
Asia 7 - {12.2) {12.2)
DEM 7 - (3.2) (3.2)
Strategic development costs 7 - (5.3} (5.3)
Underlying cash result 306.2 (106.7) 199.5
Back office infrastructure development 7 {16.7)
Variance 8 (7.4)
Cash result 175.4
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FINANCIAL REVIEW continued

Year Ended 31 December2015” Note In-force  New Business Total
£'Millien £'Million £'Million

Operational

Net anpual management fee 1 406.7 335 440.2
Reduction in fees in gestation period 1 (143.1) (18.5} (161.6)
Net income from funds under management 1 263.6 15.0 278.6
Margin arising from new business 2 - 47.8 478
Establishment expenses 3 (11.1) (100.2) (111.3)
Operational development expenses 3 - (13.8} {13.8)
Regulatory {ces 3 (0.6) 5.2) 5.8)
FSCS levy 3 {1.6) (14.3) {15.9)
Sharcholder interest 4 8.6 - 8.6
Tax relief from capital losses 5 12.1 - 12,1
Miscellaneous 6 {4.7] - 4.7)
Operating cash result : 766.3 (70.7) 1956
Investment

Academy 7 - (4.4) (4.4)
Asia 7 - {6.3) 6.3}
DEM 7 - 1.3) {1.3)
Strategic development costs 7 - {1.5) {1.5)
Underlying cash result ‘ 266.3 {84.2) 182.1
Back office infrastructure development 7 {14.4)
Variance 8 3.8
Cash result 1715

*The Cash result for 2015 reflected the movement in certain Solvency | reserves as that was the regulatory regime atthe time

Notes

All numbers are expressed after tax at the prevailing tax rate for each year,

1

PO

42

The net annuzl tinagement fee is the manufacturing margin the Group retaws from funds under management after payment of the associated costs {e.g, investment advisory fees and payments 1o
Partners). Rroadly speaking the Group receives an average net annual management fee of 0.77% (post-tax) of funds under management (2015: 0.77% poat tax),

Howeter, as noted 1n Section | on page 30, due to our product strecture, investment and pension business does not generate cash tn the first six years (know nas the “gestation period”), This is
reflected inan adjustinent which 1s the reduction in fees in gestation period.

The overall rosult is the net income from funds under management which was some 15% higher than 2015, reflecting higher average funes under management during the year.

The reassessment of the level of the inveatment contract liability has resulted in anincrease in Solvency [T Net Assets of £267 million at the year end, but this amount will gradually unwind during Lhe
nextsix years through a higher reduction in fees 1n the gestation peviod. I the approach hail heen implemented at the start of the year, the impact would have been an increase in the negative amount by
some £45 milbon,

Margmn arising from new business: Thisis the cash impact of new business in the year, reflecting grow th in new business, production related cxpenses and ralx of new business.

The revised assesstuent of investment contact habilities results in an increase 1 the level of initial margin recugmsed in the Cash result through the margn arising from new business, 1f this approach
had been adopted at the start uf 2016 the margin would have been some £70 miliion higher, In future years, this additiona! margin will mose in line with new husinesses voluines, albeit adjusted for any
business nux effects

Expenses: These rellect the expenses of running the Group and more dutail is provided in the table on page 32 in Secnion 2. In line with the rest of the table they are presented after allow ance for tax.
Shareholderterest: This is the assumed tncome aceruing on the investments and cash held for regulatory purposes together with the interest reccived on the surpius capital held by the Group,

Tax relief front capal losses: In recent years, a deferred tax asset has been established for historic capital losses which are now regariled as being capable of utitiation ever the medium term.
Wtilisation during the year of £12.6 million tax value (2015: L12.1 willion) was slightly ahead of our expected rate of ¢, £8-10 million benefiin a year,

Muscellaneous: This represents the cash flow of the business not covered in any of the uther categories, including ongoing administration expensus and associated polivy charges, together with

utilisation of the deferred tax asset in respect of prior years’ unrelivved expenses (due 10 structural timing differences in the life company tax computativn).

Strategic insestinents, including back office infrastructure. These reflect significant imestments in developing our business for the future. Further analy

s of the cxpenses assocated with these
inftiatives is preseated in Section 2 on page 32, but all are expected to result in either additional funds {Academy, Ania and DFM) or expense saings (Back office infiastructure) in the luture. Advice
margin g(‘npr;l(‘li in Asiaand all feey generated by DFM are rellected in the relevant lne.,

Varance; Thiy reflects variances in the setdement of tax telated lishilities bets ven the policyholders (unit linked funds), the sharchokler and HMRC. It also reflects 3 £6_6 million negative one-oft

cost uf reviewing charges in two small cohorts of legacy business snd 2 number of other small positive and negatise one-off wtems.
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Salvency

St. James’s Place is a simple wealth management group offering mainly investment products. Qur strategy is to attract and administer retail funds
under management, from which we receive an annual management fee; we are a fee based business. Our clients can access their investments on
demand but, because we match the encashment value on the unit linked business, movements in equity markets, intercst rates, mortality, morbidity,
longevity and currency rates have little impact on our ability to meet liabilities (although they can impact emergence of profit). We also have a prudent
capital managemcnt approach and invest surplus assets in cash, AA A rated moncy market funds and UK government securities. The overall cffect is
assurance that we can meet liabilities, and a resilient solvency position that is dependable even through adverse market conditions.

We manage solvency of our business on the hasis of holding assets in excess of the client unit linked liabilities plus a Management Solvency Buffer
(MSB). This cnsures we are able not only to meet client liabilities at all times, but the prudence of the MSB acts as protection against other risks.

At 2015 year end we asscssed the MSB for our life businesses as £150 million, having taken into account a wide range of factors and information, not
least the results from stress and scenario testing carried out as part of our annual ORSA (Own Risk and Solvency Assessment). At the 2016 year end,
an the same basis, we assessed the MSB for our life busincsses as £170 million, increasing slightly as a result of economic conditions.

However, as a result of cur reassessing the unit liability in line with the encashment value the Solvency Il net assets have increased by £267 million,
with no change in our risk profile. We therefore believe it is appropriate to increase our MSB to £437 million at the year end (equal to £170 million
plus £267 million).

During H1 2017, we are undertaking an assct liability matching exercise which will reducc our corporate exposure to market risk and result in a
reduction in risk capital requirement. Following this exercise, we will review the MSB and we expect it will reduce. We will report on the outcome
of that review at half year.

We continue to hold capital within the Graup in respect of the other rcgulalcd (but non insurance) companics, based on holding excess Capita]

significantly above the rcgulatory requirement.

Other 2015

31December 2016 Life Regulated Other Total Total

£'Millien £'Million £'Million £'Million £'Milllon

Solvency Il net assets* 530.0 145.3 394.7 1,070.0 812.9

Management Solvency Buffer (MSB) 4370 90.0 - 527.0 202.3
Management solvency ratio 121% 161% '

*Alter payment of year end intragroup dividend, but before Group final dividend

Solvency Il net assets reflect the assets of the Group in excess of those matching the client’s (unit-linked} liabilities, It includes a £149.9 million
deferred tax assct which is not immediately fungible, although we expect it will be utilised over the next ten years. The actual rate of utilisation will
depend on business growth and external factors, particalarly investment market conditions,
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FINANCIAL REVIEW continued

Solvency Il Balance Sheet

Whilst we focus on Selvency Il net assets and the MSB to manage solvency, we provide additional information about the Solvency 11 free asset position
for information. The presentation starts from the same Solvency Il net assets, but includes recognition of an asset in respect of the expected Value of
In-foree cash Mows (VIF) and a Risk Margin (RM} reflecting the potential cost to secure the transfer of the business to a third party. The Solvency II
net asscts, VIF and RM comprise the ‘Own Funds’, which is assessed against a Solvency Capital Requirement (SCR), reflecting the capital required to
protect against a range of ‘1 in 200" stresscs. The SCR is calculated on the Standard Formula approach. No allowance has been made for transitional
provisions in the calculation of technical provisions or SCR.

An analysis of the Solvency II position for our Group, split by regulated and non regulated entitics at the year end is presented in the table below:

Other 2015

31 Decemnbaer 2016 Life Regulated Other Total Total
£'Million £'Millien £'Millien £'Million £'Miltion

Solveney IT net asscts 530.0 1453 3947 1,070.0 812.9
Value of in-force (VIF) . 2,701.8 - - 2,707.9 2,306.6
Risk Margin (779.2) - - (779.2) (624.0)
Own Funds (A) 2,458.7 145.3 3947 2,998.7 2,495.5
Solvency capital requirement (B) {1,991.0) (55.5) - (2,046.5) {1,595.8)
Solvency I1 free assets 467.7 89.8 354.7 952.2 899.7
Solvency ratio (A/B) 123% 262% - 147% 156%

* After payment of year and intragroup dividend but before Group final dividend.
The solvency ratio after taking account of the final dividend is 141% at the year end {2015: 151%)

As noted in our commentary on the Solvency Il result last year, the nature of our business is that much of the Gwn Funds value reflects future profits,
but the SCR similarly reflects loss of future profits. As a result, the solvency ratio is not very sensitive to changes in expericnce or assumptions, and
can move counter intuitively depending on ¢ircumstances. For example, the relative reduction in Solvency ratio from 2015 ta 2016, is partly due to
changes in cconomic assumptions, particularly lower interest rates and higher future inflation expectations. However, it has also been impacted by the
positive impact of investment performance on FUM, which has resulted in an increase in SCR by over 25%. Since Solvency Il Net Assets (typically
cash or fixed interest) have not increased in line with markets, the ratio has fallen. So despite the positive impact on our business of strong investment
performance, our solvency ratio has reduced.

More generally, since our business profile has nat changed significantly from last year end, the sensitivity analysis presented at that stage remains relevant.
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SECTION 5: EMBEDDED VALUE (EV)

Life business and wealth management business differ from most other businesses, in that the expected shareholder income from the sale of a preduct
emerges over a long period in the future. We thereforc complement the [FRS and cash results by pr()viding additional disclosure en an EV basis, which
brings into account the net present value of the expected future cash flows. We believe that a measure of total economic value of the Group's operating

performance is useful to investors.

As in previous reporting, our EV continues to be calculated on a basis determined in accordance with the EEV principles originally issued in May
2004 by the Chief Financial Officers Forum (CFO Forum) and supplemented in October 2005. Followmg the introduction of Selvency II, the CFO
Forum published an amended set of pringiples in April 2016, The key change implemented in our results for December 2016 is to reflect a reduction
in the cost of holding a revised level of solvency capital, moving from assuming 100% of Solvency I capital requirement to reflecting our new approach
to capital management for the Group based on holding a Management Solvency Buffer over the unit linked liabilitics for our Life busincsses.

The table below and accompanying notes summarise the profit before tax of the combined business:

Year Ended Year Ended

31December 31 December

2016 2015

£'Million £'Million

Life business 501.4 467.0
Unit Trust and DFM business 266.8 274.4
Funds management business 768.2 741.4
Distribution business (25.9) (21.2)
Back office infrastructure devclopmcnt (20.9) 18.1)
Other {47.8) (41.9)
EEV operating profit 673.6 660.2
Investment return variance 537.2 {24.4)
Ecenomic assumption changes {12.4) 0.9
EEY profit before tax 1,198.4 636.7
Tax (212.9) {116.5)
Corporation tax rate change 28.6 47.8
EEV profit after tax 1,014.1 568.0
Year Ended Year Ended

31 December 31 December

2016 2015

Pence Pence

EEV opcrating pmfit hasic carnings per share 105.9 1039
105.2 102.8

EEV operating profit diluted rarnings per sharc

EEV Operating Profit
Funds management business

The funds management business operating profit has increased ro £768.2 million (2015; £741.4 million) and a full analysis of the result is shown below:

Year Ended Year Ended

31December 31 December

2016 2015

£'Million E'Million

Ncw business contribution 520.2 440.7

Profit from existing business

unwind of the discount rate 199.6 172.4

experience variance 1.4 78.1

operating assumption changc 18.6 44,1
Addition of Rowan Dartington 21.0

Investment income 7.4 6.1

768.2 741.4

Fund management business EEV operating profit
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FINANCIAL REVIEW continued

The new business contribution for the year at £520.2 million (2015: £440.7 million) was some 8% higher than the prior year, reflecting the
strong gross inllows (up 23%) and the mix of business.

The unwind of the discount rate [or the year was £199.6 million (2015: £172.4 million). The unwind is calculated by multiplying the opening VIF
by the discount rate but adjusting to reflect emergence of profits into cash during the year. The result in the current year reflects both a slightly higher
discount rate than 2015 and the higher start year opening VIF balance,

The discount rate is based on the risk free rate, which is sct by reference to the yicld on a UK 10 year gilt at the start of the year. The unwind for the
current year is based on a discount rate of 5.2% comparcd with 5.0% [or the prior ycar. Had the discount rate been consistent with 2015, the unwind
and operating profit would have heen £8.0 million lower,

There was a small positive experience variance during the year of £1.4 million. The strong positive variance of £78.1 million in the prior ycar
principally reflected the value ascribed to significant capital losses within the historic Group companies identificd in the year.

As in the prior year, the positive operating assumption change in the year of £18.6 million (2015: £44.1 million) reflected improvements in the
retention assumptions on pension business {Drawdown business in 2016) and adjustment to the maintenance cxpense assumption.

The addition of Rowan Dartington within the embedded value calculation has contributed £21.0 million.
The investment income for the ycar was littic changed at £7.4 million (2015: £6.1 million).

Distribution business, back office development and other
These items have already been commented on in the IFRS section on page 35.

Investment Return Variance
The investment return variance reflects the capitalised impact on the futurc annual management fees resulting from the difference between the actual
and assumed investment returns. Given the size of our funds under management, a small difference can resultina large positive ur negative variance.

The rise in global stock markets during the sccond half of the year, together with the currency impact from the depreciation of Sterling, has significantly
contributed to a strang investment return for our funds. Average growth in our funds of 14% ta 18% funds {net of charges) compares with an assumed
investment return of 2.5% (net of charges) which gives rise te a significant positive investment variance of £537.2 million [or the ycar. For the prior ycar
there was a negative investment return of £24.4 million, reflecting the slightly lower actual investment return compared with the assumed return.,

Ecenomic Assumption Changes
The hegative variance of £12.4 million arising in the year principally reflects the increase in the implicd inflation rate {2015: £0.9 million positive).

EEV Profit before Tax
The total profit hefore tax for the year was £1,198.4 million, compared with £636.7 million, although the signiticant improvement is principally
reflecting the difference in the investment return variance between the two years,

Tax
The tax charge at £212.9 million (2015: £116.5 million) retlects the underlying result.

A further reduction in the corporation tax rate from 18% to 17% cffective | April 2020 was cnacted in the Finance Act 2016. The capitalised eflect of
this change has been included as a reduction in tax of £28.6 million. Thosc tax cuts previously announced have already been reflected in the valuation,

EEV Profit after Tax
The EEV prolit after tax was £1,014.1 million (2015: £568.0 million) reflecting the movement in EEV profit before tax, but also the positive impact of
the tax rate changl:.
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New Business Margin

The largest single element of the EEV operating profit (analysed in the previcus section) is the new business contribution, The level of new business
contribution generally moves in line with new business levels. To demonstrate this link, and aid understanding of the results, we provide additional

analysis of the new business margin ("Margin’). This is calculated as the new husiness contribution divided by the new moncy invested, and is

EXPTESSEd asa perccntagc.

The table below presents the margin before tax from our manufactured business based on gross fund flows:

Year Ended YearEnded
31December 31December
2016 2015
Investment
New husiness contribution (£ Million} 108.3 1249
New moncy invested (£ Billion) 2,28 245
Margin (%) 4.8 5.1
Pension
New business contribution (£'Million) 207.9 140.6
New money invested (£'Billion} 5.12 3.66
Margin (%o) 4.1 3.8
Unit Trust and DFM business
New business contribution (£ Million) 204.0 175.2
New mency invested (£'Billion) 3.95 313
Margin (%) 5.2 58
Total business
New business contribution (£'Million) 520.2 4407
New money invested (£’Billion) 11.35 9.24
Margin (%) 4.6 4.8
Post-tax margin (%) 3.8 3.9

The slight fall in the total margin from 4.8% to 4.6% reflects both a positive impact from an increased level of new business together with a negative

impact froma c]‘langc in business mix, witha greater proportion of pensicn business in the current year.

Analysis of the EEV Result and Net Assets per Share
The table below provides a summarised breakdown of the embedded value position at the reporting dates:

2016 2015
£*'Million £'Million

Value of in-force
Life 2,636.2 2,279.5
— Unit Trust and DFM 1,044.9 787.6
Solvency Il net assets 1,070.0 8011
Total embedded value 4,751.1 3,868.2
2016 2015
Pence Pence
Net asset value per share 900.7 7373
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RISK AND RISK MANAGEMENT

OVERVIEW AND CULTURE

The St. James’s Place Group is exposed to a wide variety of risks as a
result of its business activities and the industry in which it operates, as
well as a number of external factors and threats, Under the leadership,
direction and oversight of our Board, these risks are-carefully managed,
contributing to our competitive advantage and helping us to achicve our
business and client objectives as set out on pages 22 and 23.

We do not scek to eliminate risk entirely, rather we seek to understand
our risks fully, and to apply appropriate risk management strategies such
that all material risks arc identified, and appropriately managed or
mitigated. Risk management is a core aspect of decision making and is
cmbedded in our culture. Gur framework is specifically designed to
manage the risks that arc important to our shareholders, clients,
Partners, regulators and employces, and to provide reasonable assurance
against material financial misstatement or loss.

Risk management, salvency projections and stress and scenario testing
form a key part of the business planning process, including in relation to
decisions on strategic developments, pricing and dividend payments.

RATEGY - KEY OUTCOMES

RISK APPETITE

The Board cheoses carcfully the risks it accepts and those it sceks to limit
or avoid, These choices are sct out in detail in our Group Risk Appctite
Statement, which is owned by the Board and revicwed at least anmually.
The Risk Appetite Statement is aligned with the outcomes based
approach of the Group'’s busincss and client objectives and the
overarching Risk Management Framework. In particular, it articulates:

*  Risks that are actively sought in pursuit of return;

*  Risks that arc consciously avoided;

*  Risks that arc reduced through transter to other parties; and
* Risks that are minimised through controls.

Risk appetite can and will change over time, sometimes rapidly as
economic and business environment conditions change, and therefore the
statement isan cvolving document. A comprehensive suite of indicators is
reported regularly to enable the Board’s Risk Committee (the ‘Risk
Committce’), on behalf of the Board, to monitor that the Group remains
within its agreed appetite.

RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

The Beard, through the Risk Committee, takes an active role in
overseeing the Risk Management Framework, for which it is responsible.
This framework is the combined processes hy which the Group identifics,
assesses, measures, manages and monitors the risks that may impact on
the successful delivery of busincss objectives.

The Group’s Own Risk and Solvency Assessment {ORSA} is a central
part of this framewaork, the main elements of which arc shown in the
following diagram.

Risk Appetite

Risk

Risk

Capital

Standard
Formula

Own
Assessment

Monitor

Governance

Risk
Conmrnittee

Executive
Board
Subsidiary
Boards
Group Risk
ExCo
Other ExCos

Risk Escalation

Risk Culture and Policies
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The Risk Committee compriscs Independent Non-executive Board members, and is responsible for ensuring that a culture of effective risk
identification and management is fostered across the Group. A report of its activity during the ycar can be found on pages 88 to 90.

The Risk Committee is supported by the Executive Board, but also by the Group Risk Executive Committee and by Risk Management teams at Group
and local levels, which take the lead in ensuring an appropriate framework is in place and that there is on-going development and co ordination of risk
management within the Graup. The other executive sub committees of the Exccutive Board (the “Executive Committecs’) also provide support for

the management of risks in their arcas of responsibility.

The Risk Management Framework is grounded in the outcomes which are kc)' to our organisation. These are:

CLIENTS

That we deliver pusitive
outcomes for our increasing
population of clicnts

REGULATORS

That we are compliant, have an open
and honest relationship with our regulators
and protect our reputation

Whilst clearly a simplification of the business model, this focuses
attention on those things that are of greatest importance, and hence
indicates where risk management activity should be locused, It also
allows the identification of the individuals within the Group responsible
for managing thesc risks.

Within these cutcomes, indicators are used to monitor performance
against risk appctitc. Each indicator has an owner on the Executive Board
who is accountable for managing the associated risks within agrecd
thresholds and providing regular reports to the Exccutive Board. This
enables the Exceutive Board to maintain effective oversight of all outcomes,
and to manage any conflicts of intcrest that arise between them.

To ensurc a comprehensive risk universe, there is also a bottom up
clement to cur framework. Each division of the Group is responsible for
rthe identification, management and quartcrly reporting of its own risks,
and is suppartcd in this b}’ the Risk Management function. Each risk is
assessed by considering its potential impact and the likelihood of its
occurrence, with impact assessments being made against financial and
non financial metrics, Establishment of appropriate controls is a core part
of the risk management process.

Recognising the importance of ongaoing cffcctive risk management, the
Group maintains a comprehensive suite of governance policies to support
the Risk Management Framesvork.

Own Risk and Solvency Assessment (ORSA)

Many ol the activities of the Group, and the legal entitics in the Group,
are regu]atcd We have relat;jgnships with the UK regulamrs {PRA and
FCA) and the Irish Regulatar (Central Bank of Ireland), and with the
local rcgulators in Singapor(: and Hong KongA The nature of our activitics
and the regulatory focus results in additional risk management activity,
including, but not limited to, stress and scenario testing, loss cvent
recording, resolution planning and risk capital management activity.

PARTNERS

That we continue to grow
and develop the Partnership,
bath numbers and skills

PEOPLE

That we treat all
of our
stakeholders well

FINANCIALS AND SHAREHOLDERS

That we deliver sustainable
growth in reported profits on
all measures

The different regulated entitics in the Group are governed by a number
of specific regulations, however, as an Insurance Group we are primarily
govcrned by the Solvency II Dircctive, which came intc force on

1 January 2016. As part of these regulations, we are required to
undertake an ORSA for the Group, containing the ORSAs for cach
insurance company within the Group. We also produce a separate ORSA
Tor the Singapore Branch of St. James’s Place Internaticnal, to meet the
requirements of the local regulator. In 2016 the Group submitted its
third annual ORSA report to the regulator, relating to the period ended
31 December 2015.

The ORSA is directed by the Board, with active engagement from the
boards of St. James’s Place UK plc (*SJPUK") and St. James’s Place
International plc (‘S]PI'), and is intended to be a comprechensive risk
assessment, bringing together an understanding of the risks that the
Group faces, in the context of the strategic plan, and how these risks may
changc over our planning pcriod. It also requires quantitative analysis of
the capital required, and how it might develop over our planning period
(five years). The ORSA is a continually evolving process which has been
useful to inform management decisions during the year and is
increasingly embedded in engoing risk management processes throughout
the Group.

Capital for our insurance companies is based on the Solvency I1
rcguhtions: separate risk based capital asscssments are pcrformtd for the
other regulated entitics. As a result of these activitics we have considered
the calculation and allocation of risk capital to all the major risks in the
Group, and the insurance companics in particular, and the adequacy of
the capital position. This process ensures our continued contidence that
the rcgulatcd entities remain strongly capitalised.
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RISK AND RISK MANAGEMENT continued

Viability Statement

In accordance with provision C.2.2. of the UK Corporate Governance
Cade, the Directors have assessed the Group’s current financial position
and {uturc prospects over a five-year period. and have a reasonable
expectation that the Group will be able to continue in operation and
meet its liabilities as they fall duc over the period of this assessment,

In reaching this conclusion the Directors have taken into accounta
number of different strands of work, including:

* The Business Plan and associated strategy documents;

*  Anassessment of the cconomic, regulatory, competitive and risk
environment which was carried out as part of the Board’s strategy
review process; and

*  The latest Group ORSA, which is a new requirement under the
Salvency 11 Directive, and which scope 18 summarised in the

section above,

As a result of this work the Board has concluded that the business model
remains apprapriate, with no concerns that would fundamentally
threaten the business model or market. This is also supported by the
resilience that the Group has demonstrated over recent yearsand ina

varicty of different external conditions.

A planning period of five ycars is used both in medium term business
planning and also for the ORSA, and has therefore been used for the
Code requirement as well, reflecting the hovizon over which the Board
s5Cts mcdium term strategy,

The ORSA was particularly uscful in assessing viability as it has a simitar
purpose and includes a range of stress tests, which have been performed
at the level of the two insurance companies (5t. James's Place UK plc and
$t. James’s Place International plc) as well as at the level of the Group,
The stress tests considered include a broad range of scenarios, including
market shocks, mass lapse events, new business growth scenarios and
particularly operational risk events, These were evaluated for the impact
on the free assets of the Group of the change in key assumptions or
circumstances. In all severe but plausible adverse tests, {ree assets were
available, dcmonstrating the Group’s resilience to adverse conditions.
Reverse stress tests have also been performed on liquidity, the results of
which indicate that the Group can reasonably expect to have sufficient
liquid funds to be able to meet its lizhilitics over the planning period.

The Group monitors perfermance against a range of predefined
indicators, which will identily if cxperience over the planning period
differs from risk appetite or expectations, allowing management action
to be taken,

INTERNAL CONTROL

The internal centrol environment in St. Jamcs’s Place is built upon a
strang ventrol culture which is underpinned by our Code of Ethics and
vrganisational delegation of responsibility. The Board has adopted the
‘three lines of defence’ model for the internal control system, under
which the 1st Line is Business Operations, the 2nd Line is Oversight
Functions including Risk Management and Compliance, and the 3rd Line
is Independent Assurance. The purpose of this internal contrel systemn is
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the achievement of objectives
relating to operations, reporting, and compliance.
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Management has delegated responsibility to implement and maintain
effective controls, such that the Group operates within the risk appetite
agreed by the Board. The Audit Committee, on behalf of the Board,
monitors the effectiveness of internal controls across all business areas
primarily through the cutcomes of independent assurance assignments
undertaken by Internal Audit.

Control Self Assessment

Control Self Assessment (CSA) is a continuous activity, which has a
formal summary on an annual basis, and forms a key part of our internal
control system. This self assessment process requires business areas to
review their controls regularly, and sign off on their efficacy, againsta
standard set of control statements. Collectively thesc control statements
cmbedy the clements required for an organisation to maintain a control
framework across the five compenents of Control Environment, Risk
Assessment, Control Activitics, Information and Communication, and
Monitoring Activities, as laid down in the internationally accepted
COSO control standards.

This process is benceficial as it provides confidence that business areas can
meet their objectives, clarity to support decision making, and agility in
adapting to change and complexity. The annual summary of the control
self assessment process contributes to the year end Internal Control
Evaluation exercise undertaken by Internal Audit as part of the assurance
provision to the Audit Committee.

Financial Reporting Processes
Specifically, in relation to the financial reperting processes, the main
features of the internal control systems include:

*  Extensive documentation, operation and assessment of controls in key
risk areas;

* Monthly review and sign off of all financial accounting data submitted
by outsaurce providers and the results of all subsidiaries within the
Group; and

*  Formal review of financial statements by senior management, for both
individual companies and the consolidated Group.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The following tables summarisc the principal risks and uncertainties that are inherent within both the Group’s business medel and the market in
which we operate. These are the risks which could have a material impact on the key strategic outcomes in the five areas set out on page 49.

The Group Board and the Boards of the insurance entities have responsibility for assessing their main risks and thesc are monitored on a regular basis
by the Risk Committee, the Executive Board, the SJPUK and SJPI Boards, the SJPI Risk and Compliance Committec and the §[PI Singapore Branch
Exccutive Management Committee.

Against each of the principal risks, consideration is given to the level of exposure and the extent to which the risk can be mitigated. For cxample, the
Group believes that the Accumulation of Reputational Issues risk set out below presents a significant exposure yet is difficult to mitigate beyond the
processcs currently in place across the business, Conversely, the Investor Relations risk described below presents a more moderate exposure and can
be mitigated through the engoing development of the Investor Relations team.

In reflection of the stability and consistency of the Group’s business model, there have been no significant changes in the principal risks to the Group
over the last year. However, notable political events and economic changes during the ycar have had the effect of bringing certain risks, in particular
those in respect of market pcrformancc and rclative cxchangc ratcs, into sharpcr focus. The Changcs in government and uncertaintics created by the
vote to leave the European Union have led to an increase in the risks associated with regulatory, legislative and tax changes, although the Group
remains well positioned te accommodate and build on any such changes.

The principal risks and uncertainties, the business outcomes on which they impact, and the high level controls and processes through which we aim to
mitigate them, arc as tollows:

Non-financial Risks

Risk Description Outcome Management and Controls

Systemic Clients rely on their S]P Partners for the Clicnts There are many processes in place to mitigate this risk,

advice failure  provision of initial and ongoing advice. including detailed advice guidance with appropriate governance
Failurcs in the quality of advice or around changes and updates, appropriate incentive structurcs,
documentation of advice could lead to redress Partner training and accreditation, cumpliancc proccdurcs,
costs, reputational damage and regulatory monitoring processes and quality checking. The Group
intervention. guarantces the advice given by Partners and also has appropriate

professional indemnity insurance in place.

Cyberriskor  The Group’s business model involves the Clients, We maintain close working relationships with our outsourcing

outsourcing outsourcing of administration to third parties. Financials and partners, who are central to our business model. This enables

failure Paor service from, or failure of, one of these Shareholders us, in seeking to work effectively and efficiently together, ro
third partics, the failure of an IT systcm, or 2 deliver the best result. Service level agreements are in place and
significant cyher attack or fraud, could lead 1o performance is monitored against these. In the extreme event,
disruption of services to clients, reputaticnal all our relationships are governed by formal agreements with
damagc and profit impacts. In particular, a notice pcriods. The business continuity arrangements of cach
significant cyber attack could cause very outsourcer are alse continually tested and improved and
substantial reputational damage. scenaric analysis is carried out.

An elfective information security control framewerk is in place
and we continuc to cnhance our existing cyber security risk
management capabilities in light of the increasing threat in

this area.
Low yield Our approach to investment management may  Clients We actively manage and menitor the performance of our
environment  fail to deliver expected returns to clients of investment managers through the Investment Committee,
the Group or the range of products and which also makes use of firms of professional investment
services offered may become inappropriate for adviscrs, inCluding respected independent investment research

consultancies, Stamford Associates, Redington and AON
Consulting, to help them with this key task. We offer a broad
range of funds, which allows client diversification and mitigates
our new business, persistency and market risks. Effective
governance frameworks are in place in respect of manufactured
and third-party products.

client needs.

Key: Clients Partners Financial Regulation People
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RISK AND RISK MANAGEMENT continued

Non-financial Risks continued

Risk Description Qutcome Management and Controls

Partner Group products are distributed, and ongoing Partners The Partner proposition is an area of continual focus, with

proposition, advice is provided, exclusively through the S|P outputs from regular Partner surveys and other Partner

recruitment Partnership. Inadequacies in the Partner feedback being reflected on an oagoing basis. We employ i

and retention

proposition, range of products, technology or
services offered to the Partnership may result
in inefficiencies and frustration, with
consequent loss of Partners and clicot impact,
or inability to reeruit sufticient, high quality
new Partners or ficld management,

number of specialist managers specifically to manage the
recruitment and retention of high quality Partners, and a
dedicated senior management team oversees the S|P Academy,
which broadens our recruitment strecams. Formal retention
stratcgies are in place to ensurc that, wherever possible, we
retain good quality and experienced Partners. All recruitment
and retention activity is closely monitored.

Regulatory, The nature of the Group is such that it fallsunder  Regulators Regulator}' and legislative change is largcly a risk which cannot
legislative the influence of regulators and legislators in be mitigated, although the Group secks to engage with
and tax multiple jurisdictions, a growing number given regulators and policy makers i an open and constructive
cnivironiment the Group's expansion into Asia. Wholesale manner, with the aim that key issues impacting the Group are
changes to regulations or to the political taken into consideration in the drafting of changes. Our
environment may result in implementation costs governance structures, management comnmittees and
and disruption to business. The Group could face compliance monitering activities scek to ensure we remain
a finc or regulatory censurc from failure to compliant with regulation.
comply with applicable regulations, with
mcreased supervisory intrusion and disruption
to business.
Competition Competitor activity in the adviser based wealth  Financials This risk is mitigated through ensuring our business is run
and charge management market may result in a reduction and cfficiently, being responsive to the needs of our clients and
pressure in new business volumes, reduced retention of  sharcholders Partners and seeking continuall improvernf?nts to proccsscs:
existing business, pressure on margins for both Ch'fn-.ges.arc bc_nchrnarkcd against competitors ar{d competitor
new and existing business, and the potential activity 1% mun:.tored allowing action to b.e tak.cn in a timely
loss of Partners and key emmlovecs. manner il req.mred, The Group ochrs_a diversificd product
¥ employ range, including manufactured and third party products, We
y
) ) o have a proven track record in Partner and employec acquisition
The low yield environment places additional and retention. Our more cstablished Partners often have
pressure an client charges and advice fees. significant equity stakes in their practices and their ability to
access these is structured to aid retention, Similarly, variable
remuncration of key employces is structured to aid retention,
Availability Lack ol availability of credit may limit the Financials A debt funding palicy is in place, with committed funds
of credit Group’s ability to provide Partner loans and and available through the revolving credit facility. Credit approved
make strategic investments. sharcholders bank lending facilities are available to support Partner loans.
Furt}ler CUTPDrﬂtC bUer\\ lng quuirES approval at Boﬂrd lCVEI.
Investor Failure to communicate effectively withnew  Financials This risk is mitigated through the work of the investor relations
relations and cxisting shareholders may lead to falls in and team, whose remit is to ensure the maintenance of positive

the share price and reputational damage. sharcholders rclationships with sharcholders.

Ac¢cumulation  The suceess of the Group is closcly linked Financials Mitigants for individual rcputational cvents are described

of reputational  with the strength of the St, James’s Place and earlicr in the tahle. The Group sceks to achieve the best

issucs brand. An accumulation of reputational issucs,  sharcholders possible outcomes for its clients and the cultural driver of
for examplc, advice failures, fraud, service “doing the right thing’ runs through the whole organisation.
issucs, low clicnt investment returns, has However, it is recognised that isclated incidents will cccur and,
the potential to damage the brand, leading when this is the case, the Group seeks to rectify the issue and
to reduced retention and lower levels of achieve positive outcomes for dlients.
new business.

People and People and the distinctive culture ol the People This risk is mitigated through effective leadership, succession

culture Group play an important part in its success. planning, the implementation of executive and management
Poorly managed cxpansion, succession, development initiatives and regular surveys and eonsultation
culture and resourcing may lead to loss of groups. The latter enable us te monitor the sentiment of our .
valued individuals, increased risk ol errors, staff and Partners and identify any potential adverse impacts
and fathure to deliver on the business plan, upon, or trends within, our ceiture, and respond appropriately.
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Financial Risks

Risk Description Outcome Management and Controls

Market Risk A reduction in funds under management Financials The Group accepts the risk of reduced future profits as a result
Loss of cwing to market shocks, peor market and of market shocks, poor market perfarmance, adverse

Annual performance or currency and exchange rate sharcholders movement in credit spreads or currency movements. This risk

Management movements would reduce future AMC is mitigated to an extent by the diversified fund range.

Charge (AMC)  income, and hence future profits.

income

Insurance risk A reduction in funds under management Financials Rctention risk is managed through the long-term relationships

owing to poor retention would reduce future  and
AMC income. This may arise from factors shareholders
such as changes in the cconomic climate, poor
investment performance, competitor activity,

ar reputational damage to the Group.

Adverse mortality or disability experience, in
particular higher death claims following an
incident or widcsprcad illness, or longcrftcrm
increases in mortality rates, would reduce
future profits.

between Partners and clients. In particular, Partners keep
clicnts informed during pcriods of market vuiatility, and lower
risk funds and portfolios arc available, with no charges lor
switching, The [nvestment Management Approach involves
monitoring of fund manager performance, and changes are
made where appropriate. Some of the key sources of
reputational risk and related controls are described in the table
above.

Mortality and disability risk is substantiaily reduced through
the use of rcassurance with low retention. Mortality risk
benefit on investment products are generally limited to 1% of
invested assets, Most risk deductions are reviewable and an
increase in reassurance rates would be passed on to clients
through increases to charges and/or premiums within five
years. Experience analysis is performed.

Expcnse risk

Increased expenscs, in particular higher than  Financials

expected administration costs, would reduce  and

Expenses arc controlled through contracts with third party
administrators and expense controls at Group level, so that
growth in average per pelicy cxpenscs is no greater than the
rate of increase in the average weekly earnings index,
Administration charges are reviewable.

Clients meet investment management fees dircetly through the
product, with C})angcs, both positivc and ncgative, also passed
on,

[nterest rate
and credit
risks

Generally, sharchelder funds are invested in high credit rating
and highly liquid cash and cash equivalent investments, and only
highly rated reinsurers are used.

However, in support of the business, some shareholder funds
(outside the insurance companies}) are used to providc loans to
Partners. Thesc are secured against income streams on a
conservative multiple and with appropriate financial
monitoring.

A pre payment has been made to IFDS in anticipation of future
henctits arising from the development of the new Bluedoor
administration system. However, the contract with Bluedoor
would cnable the Group to continuc to usc the Bluedoor system
in the event of failure of [FDS,

Liquidity risk

future profits. shareholders
Changes in interest rates or the failure of'a Financials
counterparty may reduce the value of fixed and

interest assets held by the shareholder. shareholders
Key counterpartics include reassurers, banks,

money market funds, issuers of fixed interest

securities, Partners to whom loans have heen

granted, and other debtors.

Liquidity issues may arise from clicent requests  Financials
to switch or withdraw moncy from unit and

linked funds, and through events that may sharcholders

require immediate recourse to sharcholder
runds.

Client funds are invested in deep and liquid markets and, where
investments arc less liquid, contractual terms are included,
allowing the flexibility to defer withdrawals. Sizeable balances
of liquid sharcholder assets are maintained and the emergence
of cash profits is monitared. Banks' propensity to lend in
support of Partner loans is also menitored.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY REPORT

ST. JAMES’S PLACE IS COMMITTED
TO GROWING OUR BUSINESS

IN A WAY THAT CONSIDERS

THE ECONOMIC, SOCIAL AND
ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACTS OF

WHAT WE DO

We undcrstand that responsible management is
important to all our stakeholders  shareholders,
clients, Partners, cmployecs, supplicrs and the
communities in which we opcrate,

Our commitment to responsible management

was established in the tounding principles of

the Company and is expressed in both the *Our
Approach” document, which is shared with all
members of our community, and the “What it
means to be a member” brochure, which sets

out the expectations for our Partners. We

belicve responsible management continucs to

be embedded in our culture and reminders and
encouragement to live by this philosophy are
provided regularly through team meetings, and
employec and Partner newsletters.

By living up to the expectations established

within our culture, we believe we will be able

to demonstrate trustworthiness, reliability and

a commitment to the common good. In a world
where the reputation of the financial services .
industry is constantly under pressure, we aspire

to create an authentic alternative which all cur
stakcholders can trust, and which the

cormmunities we are part of can appreciate

and respect.

Managing Committee

OUR APPROACH TO CORPORATE
SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (CSR)

We arc constantly seeking to improve our
delivery, but recent public endorsements include:

We have received various awards relating to
our client effering over the years. Most
reccntly, these have included the Wealth
Adviser Award for ‘Best Private Client
Investment Manager” (fourth year running},
the Personal Finance Awards ‘Best Financial
Adviser’ {seventh year running), FI)s'
Excellence Awards “Pension Firm of the
Year’, City of London Wealth Management
Company of the Year Award (second ycar
running), What Investment Readers' Award
‘Best Wealth Manager® and Shares Magavine
Awards ‘Best Wealth Manager”.

Our business model has been recagnised
through winning the 2016717 Britain’s
Most Admired Companies Award in our
sectar for the second year running, which is
run in association with Management Today,
Our continued inclusion in the FTSE4Gaod
Index, which comprises companies that
meet globally recognised carporate social
responsibility critcria, recognised our
positive culture and ongoing commitment
to respansible management.

Remit

CSR GOVERNANCE

Rcsponsib]c management is central to our
culture, and the task of maintaining this
culture (including our CSR ambitions) is a key
focus of the Exccutive Board, with oversight by
the full Board.

The Exccutive Board is supported in this
objective (as in all of their work) by a number of
sub committees, which arc chaired by
Directors or senior management.

Our Culture

Exccutive Board

To cnsure the strength and maintenance of the unique
culture throughout our community.

CSR overview, Local
Community, Volunteering,
Suppliers and the Environment

CSR Group

To co ordinate the Group’s approach to CSR and CSR
Department with particular focus on promaoting local
community engagement and environmental matters.

Investment Managcmcnt
Approach

Investment Committee

To manage our Investment Management Approach and
oversee our fund managers.

The St. James’s Place
Foundation

Foundation Trustces

Ta manage the St. James’s Place Foundation, including
oversceing grant making and compliance with the
charity’s abjectives,
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COMMUNITY SUPPORT
2016 Highlights

The St. James'’s Place Foundation

We have always recognised our sacial
responsibility to our local communitics and,
{rom the feunding of the Group, have
encouraged our staff and Partners to use their
expertise to help local charities snd other
voluntary organisations. The desire to provide
support to the less fortunate in socicty resulted
in the establishment of the §t. James's Place
Foundation which continucs to receive support
from all parts of the St, James’s Place
Community: employces, Partners, clients,
suppliers and shareholders. This has been
another record year for fundraising by members
of our community and, as a result, the 100%
matching grant and other support from the
Company was £3.7 million. Since 1992, the
St. James’s Place Foundation has now raised
and distributed over £54 million to good
causes. Additional information from the

St. James's Place Foundation about its activitics
is provided on pages 62 to 65 or available from
its website at www.sjpfoundation.co.uk.

Community Volunteering and Support
St. James's Place has a strong tradition of
volunteer support for the work of the
Foundation, but 2016 has scen continued and
significant increases in our stall’ voluntccring
for wider CSR initiatives and in work time
community support.

In 2016 we have launched a new initiative to
partner with local charities to provide bath
financial support and the physical and skills
capital of our organisation. We arc not
supporting specific projects, but rather the core
charity to improve efficiency and sustainability.
These partnerships are aimed to last tive years
with decreasing funds but increasing stafl ties
and skills based support.

Irr this first year we have partnered with:

* The Churn Project, which works to
improve the quality of life and well being of
isolated and disadvantaged people within
Cirencester; and

* Cirencester Housing for Young People
(CHYP) which provides a home for young
people at serious risk of homelessness as
well as pastoral care and mentoring.

Staff support has included Markcting, Property
and [T cxpertise and Partners have provided
financial advice. During 2017 we aim to add
three more charitics to this initiative and
empower these charities to work together as
they all strive to help the same people.

We are also pleased to have maintained our
drive to link the professional skills of our
employees to the professional needs of lacal
charities. During 2016 we were able to offer 86
of vur stall, who alrcady volunteer with a local
community organisation, a grant of £300 as our
way of recognising and supporting the 14,800
hours of voluntcering they gave in their own
time. We also formalised our encouragement
for stalf to get involved with community
aCtivity‘ by orfcring all members of staft two
days a year for community support in work
time. This has been used to support The
Foundation, to get involved in other corporate
CSR initiatives or through giving skills directly
to a charity of their choice. In 2016, 27.4% of
staff used half'a day or more of their two days
and increasing this is a core objective of 2017. A
new CSR initiative introduced in 2016 was cur
community team: challenges. These provide an
opportunity for groups of colleagues to
undertake community and charity projects
together, which can also be beneficial in
strengthening tecamwork and motivation. 1,200
hours of team community work have heen
undertaken this year, waorking with causes local
to our offices including local charities,
conservation projects, and an NHS trust.

Rcsponsible

management is
i

central to our
culture
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY REPORT continued

of Group employees and contractors involved
in some kind of citizenship activity.

STAFF GIVING THROUGH STAFF PARTICIPATING

SALARY COVENANT IN CSR ACTIVITIES

STAFF ORGANISING STAFF PARTICIPATING IN FOUNDATION
FOUNDATION ACTIVITIES FUNDRAISING EVENTS

14 hours 8.1 hours

the nurnber of hours our employees the average number of hours our employees
recelve per year for community and contractors gave to supportour
supportinwork time. . communities in 2016, during work time.
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Employability Skills for Young People

St. James’s Place is an entrepreneurial
organisation and we have always been keen that
the next gencration should be able to contribute
successfully through employment. [n 2016 our
work with Cirencester College, including our
apprentices’ initiative, continued to be the
heart of this workstream.

Cirencester College

St. James's Place has now been providing
support to Cirencester College, a further
education college local to our head office, for
over twelve years, During that time, we have
been able to offer 82 internships to students
from Cirencester College, with 29 of them
turning into full time employment
opportunitics often in our Apprenticeship
scheme {see below). However, our main
involvement has been providing suppert for the
lour ‘Academy Programmes’, operated in
conjunction with the national charity ‘Carcer
Ready’, cach designed for students who aspire
to work in a particular market sector. The
support provided includes providing paid
summer internships, mentors, and business
coaching to many students.

Apprenticeships

Working in conjunction with Cirencester
College, which provides the training, our
apprcnticcship programmc is now a
carnerstone of our fong-term recraitment
policy. Our 2016 September intake of 14 hay
included apprenticeships in Financial Services,
Business Administration, Marketing, IT and
Accountancy. The 2016 programme has been
enriched by the addition of the Duke of
Edinburgh’s Award for all our apprentices.

A further intake of 14 apprentices is planned
for Seprember 2017,

4.4 hours

the average number of hours our employees
and contractors gave of their own time in
suppart of our CSR activities and the Foundation.

Rugistered No, (13183413



Other Employability Skills Training

This year we have maintained out support for
organisations like Young Enterprise and
Employability UK, but also started to support
The Duke of Edinburgh’s Award and the Urban
Stars programme; all helping young people
bridge the gap between education and work.
We have also maintained our support for local
schools with stafl giving their time to support
CV workshops, networking days, assemblies,
interview training and work experience,

With increased focus on careers education in
schools and colleges we believe this is an
important arca in which we can develop our
offering in 2017, moving beyond providing
grants to finding ways of werking more actively
in supporting these organisations with staff
skills and expertise,

Financial Education

As ane of the leading providers of financial
advice to individuals and busincss owners in the
UK, we recognise the importance and value

of financial education and this continued to

be a core focus in the year. During 2016 we
significantly increased the delivery of our Year
9 and Sixth Form Financial Education courses
with schools. Offering a mix of full day, hall
day and flexible modular programmes we
supported PSHE (Personal, Social and Health
Education) and Maths curriculum in 15 schools
and two charitics in Gloucestershire, Wiltshire
and London. We have developed a team of stall
to go into the schools te deliver our courscs
which brings the day to life for the students
and delivers excellent engagement and pasitive
expericnces learning about tax, budgeting and
understanding debt. In all, 27 sessions have
been delivered supporting over 2,000 students.
We have been able to both lead and support
these days thanks to the 81 individual stafl who
volunteered to be involved, in all, giving 550
hours of work time,

Following the success of 2016 we will look to
maintain the scale of our Financial Education
programme in 2017 and cxpand delivery to
schools and charitics in more locations across
the UK supported by volunteers [rom our
offices and wider Partnership.

Loughborough University Swimming
In 2016, we were pleased to continuc our
sponsorship of the Loughborough University
Swimming programme. This enables the squad
to receive additional coaching and, since our
rclationship started in 2007, the team have
medalled in all major UK and International
events including European, Commonwealth,

World Championships and the Olympic Games.

Four of the 26 strang British Swimming tcam
at the Rio Olympics were part of the
Loughborough University’s Fast Swimming
programme: Francesca Halsall, Molly
Renshaw, Georgia Davies and Tim
Shuttleworth, Adam Peaty, who also trains at
the University, won Britain’s first medal of the
games, a Gold in the men’s 100 metre
breaststroke. The 21 year old then led Team
GB to win Silver in the men's 4 x 100 metre
medley relay.

[n measuring our CSR community support
activitics, we usc the LBG measurement
mcthodology.

£495 172

the total value of all the time our
employees and contractors gave
in work time.

£4.63m

the total cashvalue we invested this year in
our communities and good causes through
our CSR programmes and the SJF Foundation.

1,773

the number of young people our staff have
worked with face to face through our Financial
Awareness programme.

Apprentices
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY REPORT continued

SUPPLIERS AND SUPPLY CHAIN

St. James's Place believes in treating all our
stakeholders fairly. We also believe in the
benefits to be gained from building long-term
rc[ationships based on mutual trust, As a vesult,
many of our key supplicrs have been associated
with the Group for a number of years and we
have been able to cultivate very strong and
mutually beneficial relationships, such as our
pro\'idcrs of cutsourced administration
services: IFDS, Capita and State Street.

Marc generally, we expect all our suppliers to
act in accordance with the standards ecmbedded
in our culture, and will undertake due
diligence on new service providers to ensure
we arc comfortable with their approach to
socially responsible management. Since 2014
we have been aceredited with the Living Wage
Foundation, which invelves us working closely
with our supply chain. We are particularly
pleased that many of our suppliers share our
desire to make a positive and lasting difference
to the lives ol those less {ortunate than
ourselves, and we are very grateful to all those
who have provided support to the St. James's
Place Foundation, both thraugh donations and
through active participation in many of the
cvents.

St. James's Place has always placed great
reliance on the support of third party supplicrs
and the continued success of our busincss
reflects, amongst other things, our success in
culti\'ating and managing successiul
relationships with suppliers. We are pleased to
remain signcd up to the Prompt Payment Code
which is encouraged by the Department of
Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS)
and demonstrates a commitment to good
practice between organisations and their
suppliers. Signatorics to the Code commit to
paying their suppliers within agreed and clearly
defined terms, and commit also to ensuring
that therc is a proper process for dealing with
any issues that may arise.
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RESPONSIBLE INVESTING

At St James’s Place we place emphasis on the
principles of responsible investing (R1) in the
managernent of our clicnts’ assets and in the
integration of environment, social and
governance (ESG) factors inte the investment
process, We see this as a tool for better
managing risk and gencrating sustainable,
Iong-tcrm returns and better financial
outcomes.

We have continued to develop our appreach

to RI during 2016, with the adoption of

the St. James’s Place Approach to Responsible
Investing Policy and its extension to cover all of
our major asset classes - equitics, [ixed income
and property. Our policy draws upon the
United Nations Principles for Responsible
Investment (UNFRI} but we also look to other
exemplars, such as the Stewardship Code and
the Investment Association’s Stewardship
Reporting Framewark, the FTSE4Good
criteria, as well as industry good practice.

We encourage the investment advisers, where
appropriate, to become signatorics of these
associations,

We have also established a dedicated RI
Governance Group with the objective of
promoting the principles of Rl across our fund
range. We continue to engage with gur
community of fund managers with a
comprchensive programme ol'prc appointment
duc diligence and ongoing oversight, This
includes a major emphasis on the incorporation
of ESG into the investment process and the
importance of stewardship activitics, including
engagement and voting, [n 2017 we plan to
publish our first Rl dedicated client report.
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THE ENVIRONMENT

5t. James's Place is committed to managing
cur environmental impact through cllective
monitoring ofcncrgy systems, travel, water
usage and waste recycling. We recognise the
cffect our business can have on dlimate change
and managc our business activitics to reduce
this impact where poe;siblc, We were pleased to
see these efforts recognised in 2016, when we
were awarded a ‘Grade B, Management’ by the
CDP (formerly Carbon Disclosure Project).

Oversight of our cnvironmental strategy is
through a Corporate Social Responsibility
Group (CSR Group) with ultimate
responsibility resting with David Bellamy
(CEO). The group meets on a monthly basis
and reviews environmental performance.

We collect and report our environmental data
from Ocrober to September, The following
tables summarise targets and progress,
expressed in terms of both ahsolute and
normalised CO,e emissions for our core
business activitics in recent years. Core
business activities are defined as those within
‘Operational Control’, Our emissions are
calculated in line with the Greenhouse Gas
Protocel using the 2016 cmission factors
provided by DEFRA. The emissions were
calculated by our external sustainability
partner, Carbon Clear.

As our business continues to grow, we have
worked to integrate the acquired entities and
our offices in Asia into the Company wide
environmental reporting. Qur new budeing in
Cirencester has not been accounted for in this
year’s carbon lootprint, as staff moved into
there after our current reporting year. We have
achieved a BREEAM rating of ‘very good’ for
the new building and will account for it within
next year’s carbon footprint.

In 2016 we exeeeded the Scope 1 and 2 targets
that were set in 2013, in buth absolute and
normalised terms. We have now conlirmed our
next sct of emission reduction targets, Asa
Company, we have committed to reducing our
Scope 1 and 2 absolute emissions by 50%
between 2016 and 2020. We plan to achieve
this rarget through a range of initiatives,
including procuring renewable electricity for
our UK offices.
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1) Targets
Absclute Emissions Targets

% of % Increase

Emissions p.a, from Base Year

1D Scope Description in Scope Base Year Base Year Emissions Target Year

Absl 1 Gas and owned vehicles 100% 5% 2013 851 2016

Abs2 2 Electricity 100% 5% 2013 2,218 2016

Abs3 3 Business travel, waste, hotel stays, Electricity T&D 100% 5% 2013 3,704 2016

Normalised Emissions Targets
% of % Increase

Emissions p.a. from Base Year

iD Scope Description in Scope Base Year Base Year Emissions Target Year

Int1 1 (Gas and owned vehicles 100% 0% 2012 3.03 2016

Int2 2 Electricity 100% 0% 2013 7.90 2016

Int3 3 Business travel, waste, hotel stays, Elcctricity T&LD 100% 0% 2013 13.18 2016

2) Progress

Absolute Emissions Progress

Actual Emissions
inYear % Variance

ID Scope (tonnes CO e} fromTarget Comment

Absl 1 683 -31%  Emissions from gas and owned vehicles have continued to decrease,
meaning that we have exceeded our Scape 1 absolute target.

Ahs2 2 2,126 -17%  Emissions from electricity increased from last year due to the
inclusion of acquisitions in the carbon foctprint, but we have still
exceeded our Scope 2 absolute target.

Abs3 3 4,847 13%  Scope 3 emissions appear to have increased due to an improvement in
the methodology used to caleulate emissions from air travel, giving us
amore accurate representation of Scope 3 emissions going forwards.

Abs3.3 3 (Property Trust 12,130 nfa  We calculated the emissions from our Property Trusts Investments

Investments and WTT) and for the Well to Tank {WTT) component of our Scope 1 and 2
emissions for the first time last year, so they were not considered
within the 2013 rarget.

Nermalised Emissions Progress

Normalised Emissions
inYear (tonnesCDe
per % Variance

1] Scope *000 sq ft) fromTarget Comment

Intl 1 1.73 -43%  Whilst our floor area has continued to increase, our Scope |

o2 5 540 379,  Umissions have .de.creased, ]e;ldmg toa szgr‘uflcant decrcase in the
intensity of emissions. The Scope 2 intensity has alsa decreased,

Int3 3 12,31 7%  in line with a reduction in the carbon intensity within the

national grid, Trends in Scope 3 emissions are more difficult to
predict because emissions [rom business travel and conferences
are variable year on year. Nonetheless, we have exceeded our
Scope 3 intensity target.

The table below illustrates the changes in our absolute emissions over the past three years, During this time, we have taken steps to improve our data
quality and calculation methodology. This has enabled us to gain a more aceurate understanding of our environmental impact and therefore to take the

appropriate steps to mitigate it.

3) Gross Emissions (excluding Property Trusts Investment and WTT)

Gross Emissions (tonnes CO,e)

1D Scope Activity 2014 2015 2016
Abst 1 Gas and owned vehicles 932 764 683
Abs? 2 Electricity 1,888 1,984 2,126
Absy 3 Business travel, waste, hotel stays, Electricity T&D 2,366 2,559 4,847

Total 5,187 5,307 7,656
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APPROVAL OF
THE STRATEGIC REPORT

As part of the Annual Report by the Dircctors it is a statutory requirement to
produce a Strategic Report.

The purpose of the report is:

‘to inform members of the company and help them assess how the Directors
have performed their duty under section 172 of the Companies Act 2006
(duty to promote the success of the Companyy’.

The objective of the report is to provide shareholders with an analysis of the
Company’s past performance, to impart insight into its business model,
strategics, objectives and principal risks and te provide context for the financial
statements in the Annual Report.

The Directors consider that the report, comprising pages 1 to 59 of this
document, meets the statutory purpese and objectives of the Strategic Report.

On behalf of the Board:
David Bellamy Andrew Croft
Chief Executive Chief Financial Officer

27 lfeb(uary 2017
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ST. JAMES’S PLACE
FOUNDATION

A grant making charity with a difference.
w [ .
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ST. JAMES’S PLACE FOUNDATION

THE FOUNDATION IS A CORE PART OF THE COMPANY’S
CULTURE AND HAS BEEN FROM THE START IN 1992

In May 2016, the Directors of 5t. James's Place were delighted to announce that our community had raised
and distributed £50 million to good causes since inception in 1992 through the grant making charity, the

St. James’s Place Foundation.

The Directors are alse particularly proud of the fact that over 80% of our staff and members of the St. James’s
Place Partnership make regular contributions to the Foundation from their earnings. To our knowledgc, we

arc unique in the UK in having such a high proportion of our own community giving regularly in this way.

At the end of 2016, 89% of St. James’s Place Partaers and employces were giving to the Foundation through
their pay or carnings on a month]y basis.

Amount raised and
distributed to good causes

Over £54m

Raised in 2016
£7.6m

Percentafge of Partners
and employees who
donate each month

899
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The Picos Mountains Challenge

Summer Swing Event
£

A GRANT MAKING CHARITY WITH

A DIFFERENCE

Rather than utilising funds received from an
endowment or an investment, funds are raised
and donated by the St. James’s Place
community and matched pound-for-pound by
the Company. The Company alse covers all
related cxpenses which ensures all donated
funds go direct to the supported charitics.

The funds for the St. James's Place Foundation

come primarily from threc sources (along with

Gift Aid and interest):

1. Regular monthly donations from St, James's
Place Partners and cmployecs;

2. Qurcommunity take part in and organisc
fundraising events or challenges; and

3. Pound-for-puund matching by the Group.

In addition, individuals and businesses such as
our fund managers, suppliers and scrvice
centres often generously support the
Foundation.

The Jurassic Coast Walk

FUNDRAISING AND EVENTS

The St. James’s Place Foundation cnjoyed
another record year for lundraising in 2016,
raising over £7.6 million for good causes in the
UK and abroad. This record was achicved
partially thanks to valuable contributicns from
a number of suceessful fundraising events
throughout the year, which represent a vital
part of the Foundation's income.

Events included:

* The Big Walk alung Dorsct’s jurassic
coastline (£85,000);

* The Picos Mountain Challenge (£55,000);

* A gruclling three-day cyele challenge in
Mallorca (£185,000);

* A 150 mile paddle along the navigable
length of the River Shannon (for which two
St. James’s Place employees raised
£10,000); and

+ £101,000 from the annual Summer Swing
event in Cheshire.

All amounts shown include Cormpany

matching,

In addition, Partners and employees showed
their gencrosity by raising £12,000 in support
of Save the Children’s emergency appeal for
those devastated by Hurricane Matthew in
Haiti.
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ST. JAMES'S PLACE FOUNDATION continued

Supporting children and
young people in 2016

£6.3m

Onside donation

£f1m

2016 Hospice UK
donation

£570k

MAJOR GRANTS INCLUDE:
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Youth Zone

‘The St. James's Place Foundation aims to make a positive and lasting
difference to people’s lives through charitable giving, to those people who

need it most.’

- Mark Longbottom, Head of the 5t. James’s Place Foundation

The main theme that guides the Foundation’s giving is a focus on helping
children and young people up te the age of 25; children or young people with
a disability, life limiting condition or illness, or those who arc socially and
economically disadvantaged.

The Foundation also funds projects aimed at disadvantaged young people not
currently in education, employment or training and living on the margins off
society. Our support is aimed at empowering young pcople to reach their
[ull potcntial.

A £500,000 donation from the Foundation to OnSide Youth Zones has helped
build a state-of-the-art youth centre called ‘The Way’ in Wolverhampton.
OnSide is a charity whose mission is to build a network of youth clubs across
the UK, giving young people and those who are socially and economically
disadvantagcd, safe and inspiring places to go in their leisure time.

Opened in 2016, ‘The Wa)«" provides a vital space for young people to engage
in sport, fitness, dance, arts, music, media, enterprise, well being and scif
improvement.

‘Only weeks afier opening, we are absolutely thrilled to bits with the way
young people in Wolverhampten are taking full advantage of the offer.
With over 1,300 visits per weck, we are already builcling strong
relationships with young people and are able to give them the support

they need.”

- Kathr.\‘n Mor\cy, Chicel Exccutive of OnSide Youth Zones

The charity was the brainchild of Bill Holroyd, Chair of the Bolton Lads and
Girls Club, which was visited by over 3,000 young people cach week. He
rcalised other towns in the UK could benefit so he set up the OnSide Youth
Zones and spearheaded the development across the country.

There are currently nine OnSide Youth Zones in the north of hngland and one
in London, each providing quality, safc and affordable facilities for young
people to engage in fun and productive activities geared towards improving
their life chances, choices and opportunities.

Currently, the OnSide Youth Zone network boasts 15,000 members and aims
to open 20 new centres by 2020, The Foundation has also commitred
£500,000 to help fund the huild of a Youth Zonc on the Wirral. To read more
about OnSide visit:www.onsiclcyouthmnes.nrg.
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TRANSFORMING CARE FOR PEOPLE REACHING END OF LIFE DOMINIC AND HIS MOTHER

The hospice movement is one of the main areas of need that the St. James’s Rttt ie a mmother ol three childrem. all ol swhom
Place Foundation supports. The Foundation works closcly with Hospice UK lrve 1t temie rereetd ccnelic onlition. et~
to help us to find suitable projects to fund, and they have done this for the last . kil T |i-‘m-' in e ot ~cvercls

twelve years. Hospice UK is the national charity for hospice care, supporting et tead ameE e Tias Dreers oxtrenmc il at G

over 200 hospices in the UK. Togcti'ler thcy are focused on transforming how o R s .
- arad vt ol hospital his swhole Tite, Daominic

people arc cared for at the end of life. mother in~pircd the Uk charivs, Roald Prahl's

Marvellous Children™ Charity, to fuad S jalist

In 2016 we donated £570,000 te Hospice UK to help a number of hospices :

improve their palliative care services and ensurc pcaple's quality of life

is enhanced.

nur-cs ssorking to teanslorn the Tises ol il Childeen,

Fhe Sty James’s Place Foundation donaied €84.500 10,
The St. James’s Place Foundation also makes donations to charities supporting Raald Dahls Marsellons Chitdren™s Charis e ad
people with cancer and, following feedback from members of our community r torhelp hund the salary cost- ol g
in August 2016, we plan to extend our support to mental health. NS P wearing lor children who arve 1l The
‘ imril_\ |1ri]'>\ tormake Hle Berter n-]'ml_|~|_'. ilt
childeen and Loung | Hpir in e LIK The o |L1|']F_'. I~
inspired by the heticl that overs child Tas the vight 1o

HOSPICES SUPPORTED INCLUDE: amanvelbous dide, noomatter hos i a child s ||I'-i3r|\\.

<hort thicie Like mas b,

‘No one scemed to be able to tell
mec why. The more thcy looked
for a cause, the more problems
they found. Twould spend davs,
that rolled into wecks, that
stretched into months, crving
myscif to .L;iccp next to his
h()sl)ital cot \\'()l'l(iering it the
next day would be the one

where they told me he was not

coino to e
b(_)il]t_‘ Oinc,

Renata

THE FUTURE

In 2017, the Company and the Foundation celebrate their 25th anniversary
and to mark this milestone, we aim to build on the £54 million raised since
inception in 1992 and a number of special events are planned for the year,
including: a gala dinner; a Foundation day with fundraising events happening
all over the country; and special versions of our Big Walk, Overseas Trek and *
Cycle Ride, We also hope to announce details of a number of exciting and
significant grants, which we belicve will make a transformative difference toa

charity and the people they help.
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MEETING THE
CHALLENGE

We will continue to focus on the fundamentals of the
business: delivering good outcomes for our clients through

the St. James's Place Partncrship.

We have alwavs lavoured identitving how developments
in the governance environment lead to more cttective
returns for our sharcholders. It is in all our interests to
make sure we continue to deliver good outcomes for our

clients and take care of our communitics.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

SARAH BATES
CHAIR
Date of Appointment:
Chair January 2014.
Nan-exccutive Director September 2004,

DAVID BELLAMY
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Date of Appointment:
Chief Executive May 2007, Joined $t. James's Flace
1991 and appointed to the Board 1997,

ANDREW CROFT
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

Date of Appointment:
Chief Financial Officer September 2004,
Joincd St. James's Place 1993.

Expericnce

Sarah brings over 30 years' experience from the
investrnent and investment management sectors,
in both senior executive and non-executive
capacities. She served as Chair of the Association
of Investment Companies from 2011 to 2013,
She retains a range of investment related
responsibilitics which support her Chairship of
St. James’s Place.

External Appuintments

Chair of JPMorgan American Investment Trust ple,
and Witan Pacilic Investment Trust ple. Non-
executive director of Worldwide Healthcare Truse
plc and Polar Capital Technology Trust ple. Member
of the investment committee of the Universities
Superannuation Fund and on 4 voluntary basis, chair
of the St. Joseph's Hospice investment panel and
trustee of the Liver Group Charity.

Experiencc

David has worked in the financial services
inclustry since 1973. Tle joingd the Founders of
the Company at the outset to establisk the back
office. Since then he has held a number of roles at
St. James's Place, including Group C(hperations
Director and Managing Director. He is a Trustee
of the St. James's Place Foundation.

External Appoimments
Deputy chair of the Financial Conduct Authority’s
Practitioner Panel.

Experience

Andrew joined the Company ir: 1993 and has been
Chief Financial Officer since 2004, Having trained
as an Accountant with Deloitte Haskins and Sells
(now part of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP) he
then worked in the Financial Services sector.
Since joining St. James's Place he has held

a nunber of roles within the Finance department,
assuming the role of Finance Director tn 2002.
He iy a Trustee of the St. James’s Place
Foundation.

External Appointments

Lay member of the Audit, Risk and Investment
Coramitzees of the Royal College of Surgeons
of England.

- . @ ]

DAVID LAMB
MANAGING DIRECTOR

IAN GASCOIGNE
MANAGING DIRECTOR

Date of Appointment:
Exccutive Director January 2003,
Joined St. James's Place 1991,

Fxperience

fan is Managing Director responsible for the
management and development of the Partnership.
Fle bas worked in the financial services industry
since 1986 and has considerable experience in the
financial advisory space. lanis a Trustee of the

St. James's Place Foundation,

External Appeintments

Member of the Strategic Advisory Board of
Loughhorough University School of Business and
Economics,

68 [ St. James's Place plc

Joined St. James’s Place 1992,

Date of Appointment: N T
Executive Director December 2007,

Experience

David is Managring Director with responsibility for
Private Client, International and the Group's
investment businesses including the fund range. fle
is a Fellow of the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries,
having worked in the financial sector since 1979 and
has signiﬁcant experience in wealth management,
together with imvestruent and portfolio management.
e isa Trustee of the St James's Place Foundation.

External Appointinents

Non-exccutive director of The Henderson
Smaller Companics Investment Trust ple.
Governor of the University of the West of
England.
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IAIN CORNISH
SENIOR INDEPENDENT (SID)
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

SIMON JEFFREYS
INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Date of Appointment:
Senior Independent Director January 2014,
Naon-executive Director October 2011,

Date of Appointment:
Non-executive Direcror January 2014.

Experience

lain brings cxperience from both the financial and
regulatory envirenments. He was a senior
consultant at KPMG, specialising in the banking
and finance sector, and then served as chief
executive of the Yorkshire Building Society. In
recent years he has been an independent directar
of the Prudential Regulation Authority.

Expericnce

Simon brings experience of the auditing world and
financial services. He was a senior audit partner
with PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP from 1986 10
2006 where he also led their Global Investment
Management practice, Between 2006 and 2014,
Simon was CF( and chief administrative officer at
Fidelity International and then CFO and chief
cperating officer at the Wellcome Trust.

External Appointments

Chair of Shawbrook Group ple, Non-executive
director of Arrow Global Group pleand Treasurer
of MacMillan Cancer Support.

External Appointments

Chair of AON UK Limited, non-executive director
and chair of the Audit Cammittees of FHenderson
International Income Trust ple and SimCorp A/S, a
listed Danish financial services software company,
and non-exccutive director of Templetan Emerging
Markets Investment Trust ple,

corpnratc wcbsite at “'\V“’.SjP.CD.\]l(

Committec key:

Member of Audit Committee
Member of Risk Committee

Mcmber of Remuncration Commiittee
Member of Nomination Committee
Member of Investment Committee

BARONESS WHEATCROFT
INDDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Date of Appointment:
Non-exceutive Director April 2012,

Denotes Chair of Committee

ROGER YATES
INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Datc of Appeintment:
Non-executive Director January 2014,

Experience

Baroness Wheatcrolt brings experience of the
media and also the legislature. Her career has
included editerial roles at both the Sunday
Telegraph and The Times, as well as being
editor-in-chief at the Wall Street Journal, Europe.
She is a member of the House of Lards. FHer
financial services exprrence includes previous
Appointments as a non-cxecutive director of
Barclays Group plc and Shaftesbury plc.

Experience

Roger brings over 30 years of investment
management experience. e started his career
with GT Management Limited in 1281 and has
subsequently held positions at Morgan Grenfell,
[nvesco and Henderson Group ple, where he was
chief executive officer. Most recently, he was chair
of Electra Private Equity plc and a non-executive
director of IG Ioldings ple.

External Appointments

Non-exccutive director of Fiat Chrysler
Automobiles. {hair of the Financial Times
Appointments and Oversight Committee,

External Appointments

Non-exccutive chair of Pioncer Global Asset
Managewent S.p.A.

Non-execntive director of ].P. Morgan Elect ple.
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CHAIR’S REPORT

Sarah Bates

AS YOU WILL ALREADY HAVE
READ IN THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
AND THE CHIEF FINANCIAL
OFFICER’S REPORTS, 2016

WAS ANOTHER STRONG YEAR
FOR ST. JAMES’S PLACE PLC

In my Statement of last year, I commented that 2015 had
scen much political, economic and social upheaval but
2016 was perhaps even more startling. Much has been
written about the potential impacts of the Brexit
referendum and the clection of President Trump, but
predicting the future is difficult and relying on such
predictions can be risky. We will therefore continue 1o
focus on the fundamentals of the business: delivering
good outcomes for our clients through the St. Jamess
Place Partnership. Naturally, we keep a watchful eye on
developments within the world around us, which will ne
doubt continue to change. However, we benefit from our
Partner-client centric model which provides a rapid and
dircet source of information about how the landscape is
developing on the ground and therefore how to respond.
In times of uncertainty, the benefits of St. James's Place’s
long-term approach to advice and investment should stand
our clients in good stead,

70 l St. James's Place ple Annual Report and 4ccounts 2016

David Bellamy has decided to step down from the Board
at the end of 2017 after 26 ycars as an cxccutive, the last
eleven of which he has scrved as Chiel Executive, Under
his leadership, St. James’s Place has gone from strength to
strength and is now the leading wealth manager in the
UK. It has demonstrably delivered for all of our
stakeholders: clients, shareholders, Partners, employces
and the charitics supported by the St. James's Place
Foundation. David has been an outstanding Chicl’
Exccutive and, althcugh he will continue to lead the
business for the remainder of the year, on hehalf of the
Board and the entire St. James's Place community, 1
would like to thank him. We are especially pleased that
he will remain with the Group in an advisory capacity and
will take on the role of Non-cxccutive Chair of our new
International operations.

L am delighted that Andrew Croft will become Chief
Executive [rom the Ist of January 2018, Andrew has
already played a key role in the success of the Group
serving as Chicf Financial Officer for the last twelve years
and is the ideal person tolcad St, James's Place. At the
sarne time, Craig Gentle, who joined the Group in 2016
as Chief Risk Officer, will be appointed as Chief Financial
Officer.

In recent years we have expanded our senior management
team such that we have an outstanding leadership group
with real strength and depth which Andrew will lead.
The management changes we have announced reflect the
continued development of the executive team as well as
our commitment to the strategy which has been so
successful over the years.

[laving come far in our first 25 years, we are excited
about the opportunities that lic ahead. We recognise that
it is incumbent on us to build on cur strong foundations
by continuing to make incremental improvernents in all
aspects of the business and by learning fast where we do
not do as well as we would like. That includes the further
development of our propesition for both clicnts and
Partners alike, maintaining our ability to deliver superior
client outcomes, expanding our usc of technology to
support Partners, and completing the translfer of our back
office administrative systems. It also means sustaining our
[ocus on our core arcas of expertise and retaining our law
strategic risk appetite.
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It is crucial that we preserve the distinct culture that
characterises $t. James's Place. Much is written about
culture these days but it is important to be focused on
good evidence ol what makes organisations behave in a
responsible, fair and sustainable way in respect ofall in
their communities. We aim to keep those principles
firmly in mind in all that we do. It would be rash to claim
that we never make mistakes, but if we do, we seek to
rectify and to learn as quickly as we can,

Onec cornerstonce of our distinct culture which hrings
together the entire St. James'’s Place community is the
commitment to the 5t. James's ’lace Foundation,
together with the charities that it supports. Therefore,
the Board is pleased to announce the doubling of matched
funding lor our 25th anniversary year. Alongside our
support for the Foundation, we remain committed to
being involved in cur local communitics by way of
voluntecring and support, as well as through providing
employability skills training for young pcople and through

dclivcring financial cducation courses for school children.

We have taken seriously our responsibilitics to develop
our people. For example, we are progressing our
Academy concept further with a new programme for
para-planners and accreditation schemes for our Partner
support teams. We arc also enjaying the successes of our
apprenticeship and graduate schemes, are working on our
management development programmes, and have made
advances on gender and diversity. The S]P community is a
broad church in many ways but we kecep working to make
sure we do not unwittingly deter good people from
joining us, nor fail te suppart their continued
development once part of the business.

We do operate ina complex world and our stakeholders
understandably make many demands of us. We participate
frcqucml)' in rcgulator)' and government consultations.
We survey our clients, Partners and employees, and we
engage very actively with aur sharcholders not only
regarding our financial results and strategy, but also
around many governance matters. We describe our
appreach to our social responsibilities on page 54, All of
these arc discussed by your Board and we think it is to all
stakcholders’ benefit that lines of communication are very
short, We have always fayourcd identifying how
developments in the governance environment lcad to
morc cffective returns for stakeholders, rather than

simply adhering to box ticking exercises. Itisin all our
interests to make sure we continue to deliver good
putcomes for our clients and take care of our
communities. By doing 50 we are much morc likcl)‘ to
deliver sale, sustainable growth for our shareholders.

2016’s results are a result of that approach and the work
done over many years as the business has evolved and
developed, Our strategic and cperational progress in
2016 should bear fruit in future years, The strength of
cur performance in 2016 and cur confidence in our
future growth prospects, means that the Board is pleased
to propose a 20% increase in the final dividend to
20.67 pence per share, giving an increase of 18% for
the full year. 1 look forward to supporting the business
in continuing to deliver to client, Partners, employees
and sharcholders in 2017.

Sarah Bates
Chair
27 Fcbruar)’ 2017
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THIS CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
REPORT EXPLAINS HOW YOUR
BOARD LEADS THE COMPANY’S
APPROACH TO CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE AND EXPLAINS
HOW THE PRINCIPLES OF THE
FINANCIAL REPORTING COUNCIL’S
UK CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
CODE (THE ‘CODE’, AVAILABLE AT:
WWW.FRC.CO.UK) HAVE BEEN
APPLIED IN PRACTICE

Detailed reporting on Remuneration,
as required by Section D of the Code,
can be found in the Directors’
Remuneration Report.

Your Board considers that the Company
has complied with all of the provisions
of the Code during 2016.

MAKE UP OF THE BOARD AND ITS COMMITTEES

Nomination

Sarah Bates (Chair}
lain Cornish
Baroness Wheatcroft

The Board

Sarah Bates (Chair}
David Bellamy (CEG)
Andrew Croft

David Lamb

lan Gascoigne

lain Cornish (SiD)
Simon Jeffreys
Baronecss Wheatcroft

Remuneration
Roger Yates (Charr)
Simon [eftreys
Baroness Wheatcroft
Roger Yates

All of the Directors were in office
Audit throughout the financial year and
Simon Jeffreys (Chair)
lain Cornish -
Roger Yates

up to the date of the report and
biographical details, including
their mermbership of Board
Committees, are set out on pages
Risk 68 and 69,

{ain Cornish (Chair)

Simon Jeffreys

Baroncss Wheatcroft

Roger Yates
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THE ROLE OF THE BOARD

Board Leadership

Your Board is collectively responsible for the long-term success of the

Company by:

. Providing entrepreneurial leadership and direction to the Company
in setting out its strategic aims, visions and values, and oversceing
delivery against these;

* Monitoring financial performance and reporting and appraving/
recommending payments of dividends;

Setting the Company’s risk appetite, assessing the principal risks
lacing the Company and ensuring that adequate controls are in place
to manage risk effectively;

+  Ensuring that appropriate and effective succession planning
arrangements and remuneration policies are in place;

* lmplementing appropriate corperate governance procedurces;

* Reviewing major transactions or initiatives proposed by the
Executives; and

*  Deciding the Company’s policy on charitable and political donations.

The powers of the Directors are sct out in the Articles of Association
(the ‘Articles’), UK company law and may be prescribed by Special
Resolutions of the Company. The Articles contain, for example, specific
provisions and restrictions concerning the Company's power to borrow
money. They also provide that Directors have the power to allot
Unissuﬁ(l Sharcs, uP to prC-dCtL‘TminCd lCVClS sct ﬂnd approvﬁd b}'
sharcholders in general meetings. Our sharchalders have also granted the
Directors authority to make charitable donations and further details on
the donatiens made <an be found on page 62.

At the 2016 AGM, sharcholders granted authority to the Directors for
the purchase by the Company of its own shares, with such authority
cxpiring at the end of the 2017 AGM, or 18 months from the date
granted, whichever is the carlier. The Directors will propesc the
renewal ol this authority at the 2017 AGM. During the year, the
Company did not purchase any of its own shares.

Further to the powers granted above, the Board maintains a full schedule
of matters reserved to it, together with a ‘Board Control Manual® which
sets out the primary policy and decision-making mechanisms within the
Group. This includes terms of reference for the various Board
Committees, the Company’s risk policies and risk appetite statement and
detailed job descriptions for cach of the Exceutive Directors and
Non-executive Directors.

BOARD ORGANISATION AND GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE
The Roles of the Chair and Chief Executive

Sarah Bates was appointed as Chair of the Board on 1 January 2014, The job
descriptions of the Chair and Chiel Executive, David Bellamy, and the
division of responsibilities between therm are clearly defined and agreed by
the Board. As Chair, Sarah takes responsibility for the leadership of your
Board, ensuring its continued effectivencess, and promoting effective
communication between the Exccutive and Non-executive Directors, as
well as with sharcholders generally, As Chief Executive, David’s primary
respensibility is to manage the Company via the executive management
team and implement the strategies adopted by the Board,
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The Senior Independent Director

lain Cornish was appointed Senior Independent Director (SID) in January 2014 and his job description has been agreed by the Board. The SID acts asa
sounding board and confidant for the Chair and the Non-executive Directors (NEDs). He also ensures he is available to meet with sharcholders and
raises any sharchalder concerns with the Board that might not be resolved through normal channels.

Committees

There are four wholly non-cxceutive Committees of the Board: Audit; Nomination; Remuneration; and Risk. The members of cach of these Committees
are al} independent Nen-executive Directors, with the exception of Sarah Bates, who chairs the Nomination Committee. The membership and terms of
reference of each of these Board Committees are reviewed annually and are available on the corporate website (www.sjp.co.uk), or on request from the

Company Secretary.

The Exccutive Board comprises the Executive Directors of the Board and other members of senior management. It is via the Exceutive Board that operational
matters arc delegated to management. The Executive Board is responsible for communicating and implementing the Group's business plan cbjectives, ensuring
that the necessary resources arc in place in order to achieve those objectives, and managing the day-to-day operational activities of the Group. The terms of
reference for the Executive Board are also regularly reviewed and are included in the Board Control Manual. In addition, there is a Disclosure Committee of
Exccutive Directors, responsible for identifying and dctcrmining matters to be disclosed to the market.

There arc also a number of Committees below the main Executive Board assisting it in ¢xecuting its responsibilities. They cach have Terms of Reference
which set out clearly their delegated authorities and a right of escalation of matters cutside that remit to the Executive Board. A table showing the current
supporting governance structure is set out below.

st. James’s Place plc

Sharecholders
Pdatters roseryed Toa Shoecholdor resolationg

St. James’s Place plc Boa

(U hair: Sarah Bates

P ateers reserved Lo Boaredy

|
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1

Audit Committee
(TOR) (NEL)s)

(Chair: Sirman Jeflreys)

Risk Committee
(TOR) (NEDs)

{Chair: lain Cormish)

Remuneration
Committee
(TOR) {NEDs)
{Chair; Roger Yates)

Executive Board
(TOR} (Execs)
{Chair: David Bellamy)

Nemination Committee
(TOR) (NEDs)
{Char: Sarah Bates)

Disclosure Committes
{TOR) (NEDs)
{Chair: Andrew Crolt)

Finance Group Risk Distribution
ExCo ExCa ExCo
(Chair: Andrew Croft) (Chair: Craig Gentle)

Rowan
Dartington
(Char: Graham Coxell)

Investment
Steering Group
{Chair: David Lamb)

Cirencester
Operations ExCo

{Chair: lan Gascoignc) (Chair: Andrew Croft)

BOARD COMPOSITION
Board Size and Composition
The Board currently comprises four Executive Directors, four independent Non-exceutive Directors and the Chair (who was independent on

appointment). There were no changes to the Board during 2016,

Appointment, replacement and re-election of Directors

The Articles permit Lirectors to appoint additional Directors and to fill casual vacancies and any Directors appointed must stand for clection at the
lirst Annual General Meeting (AGM) following their appointment. All other Directors will stand for re-clection at each AGM. Directors can be
removed from office by an ordinary resolution of sharcholders or in certain other circumstances as set out in the Articles.

Before a Director is proposed lor re-election by sharcholders, the Chair considers whether his or her performance continues to be effective and whether
they demonstrate commitment to the role. After carcful consideration, the Chair is pleased to support the re-clection of all Dircctors at the forthcoming
AGM. Each Director brings significant skill sets to the Board as a result of their varied carcers and we believe that this diversity is essential to contributing
to the appropriate mix of skills and experience needed by the Board and its Committees in order to protect the interests of the Company’s shareholders.
The Board therefore recommends to its shareholders that all the Directors retiring at the forthcoming AGM be re-clected.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT continued

Independence

When determining whether a Non-exccutive Director is independent,
your Board considers each individual against the criteria set out in the Code
and also considers how they conduct themselves in Board meetings,
including how they exercise judgement and independent thinking. Taking
these factors into account, the Board belicves that all the Non-executive
Directors continue to demonstrate their independence.

As reported last year, the Board is satisfied that Simon JefTreys' role as
Chair of Aon UK Ltd has no bearing on his independence or that of New
Bridge Street (advisers to the Remuneration Committec) both of which
are part of the Aon group of companics. When considering their
relationships to the Aon Group, the Board took into account the fact that
Aon UK Ltd and New Bridge Street operate in different divisions of a
largc group and their rcporting and ownership lines to the Aon Group
board are entirely segregated.

Conflicts of Interest

The Board has in place procedures for the management of conflicts of
interest, In the event a Director were to become aware that they have an
actual or potential conflict of interest, they must disclose this to the
Board immediately. The Board will then consider the potential con[lict
of interest based on its particular facts, and decide whether to authorisc
the existence of the potential conflict and/or impose conditions on such
authority if it believes this to be in the best intercsts of the Company,
Internal controls also exist whereby regular checks are conducted to
ensure that the Directors have disclosed material interests appropriately.

Except as stated in the Directors’ Remuneration Report, no Director
has, or hay had during the year under review, any material interest in any
contract or arrangement with the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

Duration of Appointments

The Chair and Nen-executive Directors are appointed for a specificd
term and the Exccutive Dircctors have service contracts (copies ol the
terms and conditions of appointment of all Dircetors arc available for
inspection at the registered office address). All Directors arc subject to
annual re-clection by sharchelders at the Company’s AGM.,

Executive Directors’ Service Agreements

The Executive Dircetors all have service contracts with the Company
that provide for termination on twelve months’ notice from cither the
Company or the Director (except in certain exceptional recruitment
situations where a longer notice period from the Company may be set,
provided it reduces to a maximum of twelve months with a specified
time limit). Service contracts do not contain a fixed end date, Exccutive
Dircctors’ service contracts will be available for inspection at the
Company's 2017 AGM. The Company does not have agreements with
any Director or employee that would provide compensation for loss of
oftice or employment resulting from a takeover, except that provisions in
the Company’s share schemes may, in certain circumstances, causc share
awards granted to employees under such schemes to vest on a takcover.

Time Commitments

Non-cxecutive Directors are expected ta cammit at least 15 -- 25 da)’s
per annum and in practice may commit considerably more time than
this. The Board is satisfied that cach of the Non-exccutive Directors
commits sufficient 1ime to the business of the Company and lurther
details of how the Nomination Committee assesses their contribution is
sct out on page 92
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Since her appointment in January 2014, the Chair has devoted a
significant proportion of her time to the role. In conjunction with the
51D, she regularly assesscs her various commitments and continues to
manage her portfolio of other activities to ensure that she has sufficient
time te meet the requirements of the position. She currently holds twe
other non-exceutive roles and two chairship roles in other publicly listed
companies; howcver, as announced, she will be stepping dewn as a
director (and chair) of JPMorgan Amcrican Investment Trust ple and as
chair of Witan Pacific Investrment Trust ple before the end of July 2017,
All four of these directorships are with investment trusts which generally
require less time commitment than an operational company and which
provide useful and valuable investment insight to Board discussions. She
has a full attendance record at the Compan}"s Board meetings in 2016
and has also attended 21 Board Committee mectings in addition to
spending a substantial amount of time engaging with the business outside
formal Board and Committee mectings. The Board is satisfied that she
commits sulficient time to the business of the Company.

Succession Planning and Diversity

The Board has a responsibility to ensure that appropriate succession plans
arc in place, both for the Board, the Executive Board znd senior
management. Details of progress made in the year can be found in the
Report of the Nomination Committee.

Directors’ and Officers’ Indemnity and Insurance

The Company has taken out insurance covering Directors and officers
against liabilities they may incur in their capacity as Dircctors or officers
of the Company and its subsidiarics. The Company has granted
indemnitics to all of its Directors (and Directors of subsidiary companies)
on terms consistent with the applicable statutory provisions. Qualifying
third party indemnity provisions for the purposes of section 234 of the
Companics Act 2006 were accordingly in-force during the course of the
financial year ended 31 December 2016, and remain in-force at the date
of this Reparr.

BOARD TRAINING

Induction

An appropriate induction programme is designed to cnable all new
Directors to meet senlor management, understand the business and
luture strategy, visit various office locations and speak directly to
Partners and staff around the country, as well as being introduced to
ather key stakehelders.

Continuing Professional Development

The Chair and Company Secretary also ensure the continuing prolessional
development for all your Directors, based on their individual requirements,
and a list of training carried out during the year is maintained by the
Company Secretary. Such training includes topical issues, visits to head
office and other locations to meet with staft and members of the Partnership
and attcnding seminars or other events taking piaL‘c lhroughuut the year. In
addition to this, ad hoc training is set up in the year to deal with individual
requests, external advisers arc invited to deliver presentations and the
Non-cxecutive Directors are able 1o attend seminars or conferences which
they consider will assist them in carrying out their duties. Non-executive
Directors arc bricfed on the views of major sharcholders at Board mectings
and are provided with the opportunity to mect with sharcholders, as
appropriate.
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BOARD FUNCTIONING

The Chair is responsible for setting the Board agenda together with the
Chicf Executive and the Company Sccretary. Each ycar, the Chair and
CEO discuss the forward Board agenda for the year and identify
potcntial topics for strategy sessions and Board discussions. For each
Board mecting, all Board members are supplied with an agenda and pack
containing speciﬁc papers on particular strategic issucs, as well as
reports and management information on clients, Partners, investment
matters, current trading, operational issues, compliance, risk,
accounting and f{inancial matters. The Chairs of the various Board
Committees report on the activity of their Committees at Boar<d
meetings and copics of Committec mecting minutes are included (where

appropriatc) in the Board packs.

To ensure that there is sufficient time for the Board to discuss matters of
a matcrial or more discursive nature, Beard dinners are usually held
prior to most scheduled Board meetings which allow the Directors
greater time to discuss key topics with additional internal and

external participants.

In additicn to the strategic discussion at Board meetings, the Directors
attend two separate Strategy Days cach year, More information on the
discussions held in 2016 are sct out on page 76.

Culture

The Board recognises the importance of safeguarding the Company’s
culturc and regularly considers how both employees and Parmers
demanstrate their commitment to the Group's culturce and reviews the
ways in which its promincnce is maintained. The manner in which
cmployees and Partners can adhere to the culture is set out in a series of
‘Our Approach’ documents, including *“What it means to be a member’.
The views of employees as to adherence to culture are sought in the staff’
survey and the views of Partners are sought at various Partner mectings
throughout the year and through the Partner survey.

Company Secretariat

Directors have access to the advice of the Company Secretary at all
times, as well as independent professional advice, where needed, in
order to assist them in carrying out their dutics.

Attendance at both Board and Board Committee meetings is set out below.

RELATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company maintains clese relationships with institutional
sharcholders through direct dialogue and frequent mectings, and meets
regularly with the Group’s brokers wha facilitatc meetings with investors
and their representatives.

During 2016, sharcholder interaction included giving sharcholder
roadshows, where the Chief Executive and the Chief Financial Officer
presented the Company’s full year and half year results to investors,
attending investor conferences, and holding Capital Markets days for
investors and analysts addressing a wide range of stratcgic and
operational topics, investor meetings and conference calls.

The Chiel Financial Officer provides fecdback to the Board or any
material topics raised in these mectings and Board members also receive
copics of the latest analysts’ and brokers’ reports on the Company, and
will attend shareholder and /or analyst mectings from time to time. The
Chair has also met with sharcholders from time to time.

The Chair, 51D and other Non-executive Directors are available for
consultation with sharchelders on request and will be available after the
Company's Annual General Meeting which wilt be held on Thursday 4
May 2017, further details of which are sct out in the Notice of Annual
Gencral Mecting, The Chair wrote to major shareholders in 2016, to
censurc they had contact details for her, the SID and the Chair of the
Remuneration Committee, and to cxplain the rationale for the changes
to the constitution put to shareholders at the 2016 AGM. The Chair and
Non-executive Directors also attended the Capital Markets bricfing held
in October and each year attend a number of shareholder meetings with
the Exccutive team.

BOARD MEETINGS AND FOCUS DURING 2016

Meetings

During the year, six scheduled Board mectings and one ad hoc Board
meeting (held at short notice) were held, In addition, there were two
additional Board Strategy mectings, three ad hoc Board Committee
mectings and 21 meetings (in total) of the Board’s Non-exccutive
Committees.

BOARD AND COMMITTEEATTENDANCE IN 2016

MEMBER PLCBOARD AUDIT RISK REMUNERATION NOMINATION
Sarah Bates 7(7) - - - 4 {4)
David Bellamy 6(7) - B - -
lain Cornish 7(7) 818} 7(7) - 4 (4)
Andrew Croft 7(7) - - -
lan Gascoigne 7(7) - - - -
Simon Jeflreys 7(7) 818} 77 66 -
David Larnb 6(7) _ - _ _
Baroncss Wheatcroft (N - (M (6} 4(4)
Roger Yates 7(7) 7(8) 7(7) 6(6) -

Note+ The number in hrackets denates the number of meetings that the Board members were eligible 1o attend. All absences relate to ad hoc meetings held at short notiee to deal with procedural matters,

In addition, the independent Non-exeeutive Directors met without the Executive Directors but with the Chair three times during the year, and also

met once without the Chair.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT continued

HIGHLIGHTS OF 2016 BOARD BUSINESS

As noted above, the Board agenda is sct by the Chair working in cenjunction with the Chief Executive and Company Sccretary, and is also
coordinated with its Committces. A high-level plan for the year is cstablished at outset, based on key themes from the Business Plan, but with
[Mexibility to allow fer the incvitable unexpected developments.

More infurmation ahout the work undertaken by the Board Committees is provided in reports following, but key activities for Board meetings in 2016 were;

Area of Focus Activity

Brexit Pre Brexit - Prior to the referendum, considered and discussed the potential risks and mmpacts of a vote in favour
of Brexit on our clients, our business and the wider industry. Post Brexit  Following on from a review at the
Risk Committece, discussed the implications of, and the Group’s position with regards to, the UK’s EU
Referendum, concluding that whilst the unexpected outcome might bring existing risks more sharply into focus,
the plans and approach had been appropriate and continued so to be, albeit in a period of uncerrainry.

Client Administration Received regular updates on the performance of the Group’s back-office administration systems, discussed the results
of the migration of the Unit Trust and ISA business to the Bluedoor platform and the plans for the development of the
Retirement Account and the eventual migration of the pensions and bond business to the platform.,

Considered the results of a deep dive on the Company’s arrangements with providers of key back-office
administration systems and met with representatives to discuss challenges experienced and opportunities to !
improve the quality of future service provision.

[n conjunction with the Risk and Audit Comimnittecs, assessed and monitored risks in relation to third party
outsqurcing arrangements.

Investment Management Started the year with 2 presentation on ‘rebalancing’ and a long debate about the appropriate approaches for
clients, as well as a reminder of some of the practical realities of managing significant FLIM, This was followed up
with a dctailed session at the Risk Committee. !

Then, later in the year, made usc of a Board dinner to receive a presentation from members of the Investment
Committce and to consider, with independent members of the Investment Committee, the evolution of the
Group’s [nvestment Management Approach and the opportunities and challenges facing the Group in the future.

New Retirement Account Received a presentation on the new retirement account proposition, which also linked in with activity in the
Propositicn Audit Committee which was reviewing the launch-readiness of the proposition. Updates as to progress in relation
to the launch of the Retirement Account were given at each Board meeting.

Client Proposition With the purpose of understanding the development of the propesition in the core UK market, the Board
Development received presentations on potential and planned new offerings to clients, including the extending of our
rclationship with Metra Bank and the development of support for clients’ ‘inter-generational” arrangements.

Strategic Development and Following tinal regulatory approval the Board approved completion of the acquisition of Rowan Dartington in
Planning March, securing our progression into the DFM market.

Together with both the Audit and Risk Committces, reviewed progress in Asia and considered further the
opportunitics and practicalities of entering the Middie East.

The Board also approved a number of other smaller business acquisitions during the year, not least Technical
Connection, which enhanced the technical support available to Partners and clients.

The Board focused on particular strategic topics at twa separate strategy days and, in addition to the other
strategic discusstons mentioned in this scction, the Board alse considered the current situation in the markets and
with competition and reviewed the current medium term strategy.

IT Strategy In an increasingly digitised age, the Board tock an opportunity to consider the Group’s [T strategy and also the
impact of new technologies on the Group’s propositions.

The Board considered cyber-threats with a presentation building on review activity undertaken being made to the
Risk Committee. .
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Given the importance of the Partnership to the business, the Board receives updates at cach meeting on progress and developments within the
Partnership as a standard item on the agenda. In addition, the Board received presentations from two Heads of Business at a Board dinner. The Board
also received regular updates on presentations focusing on other key groups of stakeholders, including:

Area of Focus Activity

Clients The CEQ's report provides regular updates on how the business is delivering for clients,
This was given particular focus at the start of the year when, following completicn of work analysing the Wealth
Account survey, the Board was able to review and consider the key messages emerging and the activity planned as a
rcsult_
Later in the year, the Board received an update on our work in support of our clicnts, the delivery of client
outcomes and areas for future focus, which preceded a discussion on client outcomes and the importance of ‘value
added’ to our clients,

Employces At September’s Strategy Meeting, the Board reviewed our approach te our people and the progress in relation to

our people strategy, which incorporated a specific focus on diversity. During the year, the Board considered
updates from the diversity working group cstablished in 2015, and evaluated performance against relevant KPls.

Also in September, the Board received the results of the latest employee survey and discussed the key themes
arising from the survcy.

Community

During the year the Board received a report on the progress made by the Corporate Social Responsibility team and
discussed the focus for 2017.

The Board also heard about the achicvements of the St. James's Place Foundation in 2016 and was able to discuss
with the Foundation management their processes for, and cantrols around, the assessment of, and making of
charitable donations to, applicants. During this meeting it was also proposed that the Company should, for 2017,
offer (capped) double-matching on donations by members of cur community to the Foundation, and this was
ultimately agreed as an appropriate celebration of the Company’s 25% anniversary, in the interests of maintaining
and supporting culture and hinding the organisation together.

Shareholders

The CFQ's report provides a regular updatc on Investor Relations activity, and Board members also take up
Cppertunitics to cngage with sharehelders.

[n addition, the Board welcomed a major institutional investor to mect with the Board and present their views and
cxpectations of the Group and overall views on governance and corporate performance.

Later in the year the Board was able to discuss the views and outlook of investars and the market on the Group with

Bank of America Merrill Lynch, advisers to the Company.

Regulators

Tn addition to regular updates provided by the Client Risk Officer (CRO), and the regular monitoring undertaken
by the Risk Committee, the Board reccived updates on proposed changes to financial services regulations that were
likely to impact upon the Group, the Partnership and its clients.

Opcrating in a highly regulated environment, the Board is very conscious of the regulatory responsibilities which
complement the statutory requirements, and in order to ensure effective and appropriate engagement had regular

contact with the Group’s regulators during the year.

Members of the Board also met with the Supervisory Teams at the Company's Regulators.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT continued

Finally the Board undertakes a number of important of tasks on an annual basis, including:

Area of Focus

Activity

Business Pla.nning

Undertook a review of the Company’s five year plan
At its September Strategy Day, considered in detail the Greup’s medium term capital strategy.

At the start of the year, approved the Company’s Business Plan for 2016 and during the second half of the year
started the discussion about the approach and details of the 2017 plan.

Risk Management and the ORSA

In conjunction with the work of the Risk Committee, undertook a robust assessment of the principal risks facing
the Group, including thosc that would threaten its business model, future performance, solvency or liquidity and
approved the Group’s Risk Management Framework and Risk Appetite Statement (see the Risk and Risk
Management scction of the Strategic Report and the report of the Risk Committec for more detail).

Building on the work of the Risk Committee, reviewed and approved the Own Risk and Solvency Assessment
{ORSA) required under Solvency I1.

Received regular reports during the year from the Chicl Risk Officer as ta the key risks and issues facing the
Group together with an update as tc how these were being mitigated.

Financial Reporting

Following on from the wark of the Audit Committee, revicwed the financial statermnents and considered they were
indced fair, balanced and understandable, and that they provided the necessary clarity required by sharcholders to
understand sulficiently the business.

Following recommendations from the Audis Committee, approved the Half Year and Annual Reports, approved
an interim dividend and recommended a final dividend to shareholders. The notice of Annual General Meeting
was also agreed.

Following on from the work of the Audit Committee in oversecing an audit-tender process, approved a decision
to recommend to sharcholders the reappointment of the external auditor, Pricewaterhouse Coopers LLP.

Governance

Undertook a review of the governanee acress the Group and through the business lincs and considered areas for
future enhancement.

Agreed the actions that should be taken in responsc to the results of the previous year’s Board evaluation and
recciving and discussing up(lates an progress at each Board mecting,

Worked to ensure, via its various reporting forums, that the Group complicd with all af its obligations and
responsihilities under UK company law as well as the revised UK Corporate Governance Code.

Undertook an annual review and revision of the matters reserved to the Board and the terms of reference of
Board Committecs.

Undertook an annual review of key Group polir;ics and, wherc appropriate, approved revisions.

Board EHectiveness

Led by the Chair, undertook an internal Board cffectiveness review of the Board, its Committees and the
individual Directors.
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Training

During the year all the Directors identified and undertaok relevant
training bascd on their individual requirements. They also attended
specific training sessions covering cyber security, regulatory updates,
enterprise resource planning and the support previded by key service
providers. In addition, during 2016, the Board Committees.and
individual Directors identificd a wide range of tapics upon which they
particularly wished to receive further training and development. Asa
result, individual and group sessions were held with third party advisers,
Partners and employees and Dircctors attended externally facilitated
events that were relevant to their own circumstances.

2016 BOARD EFFECTIVENESS REVIEW

The Board undertakes a review of its effectiveness cach year, organised
by the Chair. At least once every threc ycars this is facilitated by an
external party and, for 2015, it was conducted by Sean O'Hare from
Boardroom Dialoguc.

The Board is pleased to report that good progress has been made in

relation to the four main arcas on which we agreed to focus, namely:

* Enhancing Board engagement - additional informal meetings
involving Board members have been held, Non-executive Directors
are regularly updated on SJP communications events and there has
been increased engagement at sharcholder meetings. The quality of,
and focus on, in depth discussions at Board meetings has continued to
be enhanced;

* lmproving mecting administration - the format and volume of
inlormation presented to the Board has been streamlined. Also the
scheduling of certain Audit Committee meetings has been
rearranged, attendance by management at meetings has been
reviewed and the secretariat support for Board Committees and the
Executive Board has broadened significantly;

* Engaging further in Board development - Further briefing sessions
have been provided for Non-executive Directors on more complex
areas of the business and the induction process for Non-executive
Directors has been reviewed; and

* Building on existing long-term succession planning - This has
continued to be a key area of focus and there has been greater
visibility to the Board of succession plans below the Board and the
Exccutive Board,

In 2016, an internal review of the effectiveness of the Board and its
Committees was led by the Chair with the support of the Company
Secretary. Sell-assessment questionnaires covering the performance of
the Board, the Committees and cach individual Director, were sent to
the Directors. This was then followed by an open and full discussion by
the Board at the Board dinner in December 2016, reviewing what had
worked well during 2016, what had not worked so well and some areas
of focus for 2017, The Chair subsequently held individual meetings with
cach Director and the key themes from these meetings, together with
the results of the questionnaire and the output from the Board dinner,
were then summarised and circulated by the Chair to the whale Beard
prior to the Board mecting in February 2017, The Board agreed to focus
on the following arcas:

* Sctting out some clearer aspirations as to the appropriate amount of
time to be spent by the Board on supervisory matters and in depth
and major tapics, with the consensus that more time should be
devoted to in-depth discussions of both internal and external matters.
Where appropriate, these conversations should be facilitated /
pre:»t'nr.cd h)' external or internal exXperts;

* Some of the key strategic topics which should be included on the
Board Agenda for 2017 were agreed as were the forms of presentation
which would encourage the best discussions and mechanisms for
setting agendas to focus time appropriately;

* Having further dcvclopmcm sessions for NEDs prior to strategic
discussions to enable them to be bruught fu”y up to spccd on spccific
topics (particularly complex matters) before these discussions; and

* Further reviewing and focussing the NED training plan for the year.

Individual Director evaluation discussions focused on the contribution
made by the Director over the year and objectives to be set for 2017, In
addition, cach Director was given the opportunity to raisc any further
matters individually with the Chair. Training and development needs for
2017 were also discussed. The output from these reviews will be taken
inte account in drawing up the Board cffectivencss plan for 2017. The
Senior Independent Director led the Non-executive Directors in the
evaluation of the Chair.

By order of the Board

Elizabeth Kelly
Company Secretary
27 February 2017
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

Simon Jetfrevs

Chair ot the
Auedit Committee

80

[ am pleased to present the report of the Audit
Committee of St. James’s Place plc for the year ended
31 December 2016.

As sharcholders will be aware, the Audit Committee has
numerous obligations to the Board and shareholders,
including assisting the Board in its monitoring of bath the
financial reporting process, and the effectivencess of the
Company’s internal control, internal audit and risk
management systems.

The Committec is also responsible for monitoring the
statutory audit of the Annual Report and the consolidated
financial statements, and the independence of the Group's
statutory auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, In
carrying out these dutics, the Committee must maintain
an cffective relationship with the external auditors and
pay duc regard to any findings and conclusions resulting
from independent inspections of their work, as well as the
results of our internal evaluation of the eftectivencss of
prior year audits.

A further duty ol the Committee is o provide advice to
the Board that the Company's financial reports, taken asa
whole, provide 2 fair, balanced and understandablce
assessment of the Company’s financial position and
results, and that they provide the information necessary
for shareholders to assess the Company’s financial position
and performance, business model and strategy.

| -St. JalneS‘S Flace pl(‘ l Annual Report and Accounts 2016

ROLE OF THE COMMITTEE IN SUMMARY

*  To be responsible for the accuracy and integrity
of the Group's financial statements;

*  To oversce the work of the external auditor and
consider its reports;

*  To monitor the work of the Internal Audit
function and ensure its effectiveness;

*  To maonitor the ¢ffectiveness of the systems of
internal control and risk management;

*  To review, and where appropriate refer on to
the Board, any significant control weaknesses
or failures; and

* Tareport to the Board on how the Committee
has discharged its responsibilities.

AUDIT COMMITTEE MEMBERS
Simon Jeffreys (Chair)

lain Cornish

Ruoger Yates

‘These regular activities keep the Committee busy, but
cach year brings its own particular nuances and 206 was
no exception,

* An audit tender process is never undertaken lightly,
and so we were pleased to have completed it
successfully.

*+  Client assets is currently a particularly hot topic in the
industry, and the changes in regulation have increased
both the focus and pressure, Thisisa challenge which
appears to be getting ever more onerous.

*  Morc generally, the Committee set itsclf a focus on
¢nsuring good practice around systems
iraplementation, particularly on ensuring controls are
in place before gu live. This was particularly relevant
this year when there was considerable investment in
new systerns and processes.

This report scts out how the Committee has dischargcd

these, and its other dutics, through 2016.

Simon Jeffreys
On behalf of the Audit Commuzee
27 February 2017
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COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP DURING 2016
Committee membership is unchanged in the year and also as at the date of this report. The Committee comprises three independent Non-executive
Directors and the Board is satisfied that the Comumittee as a whole has the experience and qualifications necessary to successfully perform their roles,

noting in particular that the Chair of the Committee is a qualificd accountant and former auditor, and other members also have recent and rclevant
experience (being members of audit committees of other companies) and expertise in the financial services sector.

Details of attendance of Committee members at the meetings of the Audit Committee throughout the year can be found on page 75. Additional
invited attendecs to the meetings during the course of the ycar included the Chair, the Chicl Financial Officer, the Director of Internal Audit, the
Chiefl Actuary and other members of the Finance, Internal Audit and Controls teams, as well as representatives from the external auditors,

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.

COMMITTEE ACTIVITIES DURING 2016

Financial Reporting

The Committec reviewed both the Annual and Half Year Reperts and Accounts, together with the associated reports from the external auditors. The
Committee received regular updates on the preparation of the Annual Report and started discussion in September on key developments {rom the prier
year, including material assumptions, key judgements, changes in gencrally accepted accounting practise ({GAAP'), accounting policics and

disclosures, and significant events and activitics during the year. The discussion included reflection on both positive developments and challenges

during the year. The topics discussed were driven both by consideration of risk of mis-statemnent of the financial statements, and also by assessment of

the scale of risk in the business.

Given the nature of our business, there are certain subjects which are always relevant and important, particularly valuation of asscts and actuarial

rescrving assumptions. Other topics reflect the business experience in the year. During 2016 the activity included:

Area of Focus

Activity

Fraud in Revenue Recognition

During the course of its regular work, the Committee reviewed the relevant policies and received regular
reports from management and internal/external audit on the controls.

Management Over-ride of Controls

Much of the work of the Committee was directly or indircctly focused on management and controls, This
included review of systems of controls; reports on the sell-asscssment activity; and external review (which
included reviews undertaken by our ¢co-source partner to Internal Audit).

Asset Valuation (particularly
property and derivatives)

During the year the Audit Committee received presentations from scnior management on a number of
topics relevant to asset valuation, including systems and controls (with particular focus on property and
derivatives), the process of audit of Unit Trusts, and updates on the results of the statutory unit-trust audits
(‘UT Audit’) (split into two exercises in September and March). The Committee also received
presentations from the State Street business risk management team, outlining the processes and controls
supporting the custody and valuation services they provide. Asa result the Committee was able to conclude
that the processes were appropriate and would provide reliable financial information.

Actuarial Reserving Assumptions
{including persistency assumptions in
relation to EEV and Sclvency [1
reporting)

Oversight of the ‘realistic’ basis assumptions was particularly extensive in the first hall of 2016 duc to the
additional focus engendered by the implementation of Solvency 11 (see more on Salvency Il reporting
below).

As part of this work, and at the request of the Audit Committee, management developed a new Assumption
Setting Policy facused on making the most of the cbjcctive information available.

When it came to the changcs in assumptions requircd for year-end 2016, the work ol the Committee
earlicr in the year meant the process was improved and more cfficient.

Operational
Readiness Prepayment Asset

During the year the Committee noted the increase in the operational readiness prepayment as work
progressed on the back officc infrastructure project. Atboth half year and year end the Committee
reviewed the assessment of the savings which were expected to acerue from the associated changes in tarifl
costs to gain assurance over the appropriatencss of the carrying value.

Re-assessment of Fair Value of
Insurance Bond and Pension Business

reviscd treatment of part of the liability as Deferred Income. The Committee noted that the revised
approach had no overall impact on the net assets, nor on cmergenee of profit, but recognised the benefit of
aligning the liability with the client encashment valuc. Following discussion the Committee approved
adoption of the reassessment.
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE continued

Area of Focus

Activity

APMs Undcrlying Profit, EEV and
Cash Result

As part of the preparation for year end, the Committee considered the Company’s approach to APMs.
The Committee noted and supported the increasing focus on the Cash and Underlying Cash results, and
the move to present cash emergence from the business in a way that would be eonsistent with other
wealth managers.

The Committee discussed the more succinct EEV reporting, noting the impertance of EEV in rclation to
bonus schemes, but ultimately agreed a reduced level of assurance for EEV recognising developrment in
reporting practice in the industry.

The Committee specifically considered the guidance from ESMA and the FRC in relation to APMs when
Considering the analysis presented in the Report and Accounts and approved the inclusion of a Glossary
of APMs,

Launch of the Retirement Account
on the Bluedoor administration
system

The Committee reccived updates from management {and Internal Audic) through the year about project
progress, and assurance about the test strategy and go/no-go governance process for the product launch.
The Cormmittee endorsed minagement’s approach to mitigating launch risk through use of a low key pilot,
to a limited group of Partners initially, with a controlled ‘ramp-up’. The new system was successfully
launched in October with ramp-up progressing steadily and full-roll-out expected in Q1 2017.

Scgmental Reporting

During the year the Committee reviewed the approach to segmental reporting as determined by the Board.
Increasingly the business is managed as a single vertically integrated Company and it is on this basis that
information is reported to the Board. Therefore whilst the Committee acknowledged that the prior year
reporting reflected a useful analysis of the accounting information, it was agreed with the Board that the
reporting should be simplificd to reflect just a single unit in the financial statements.

Avquisition of Rowan Dartington,
Technical Connection and Other
{FAs

Following the completion of the Rowan Dartington and technical Conneetion acquisitions, and a number
of other transactions, the Committee reviewed the consolidation of the additional entities and reporting of
the transaction costs and intangibles.

Charge Reviews in Legacy Business
Cohorts

Having been informed of the intention to review charges on the portfolios, the Committee requested
updates Lo monitor that progress was satisfactory,

Capital Management

Having takcn on respensibility for oversight of Group Capital Management, the Comittee requested
a regular update on capital management in the Group should be included as part of the standing
agenda. The Committee also reviewed the systems for managing capital and considered forecasts of
capital requirements.

ERP System Implementation

In the second half of the year, the Company implemented the first clements of a new Enterprise Resource
Planning (ERP) system, principally a new general ledger. Given the significance of this project the
Committee reccived presentations on the background and purposc of the project, and also updates on
progress and governance, including insight into the project from the external auditors. The Chair of the
Committee was able to sharc his expericnce of similar processes elscwhere, and by the ¢nd of the year the
Committee had received reassurance from management, as well as internal and external audit, about the
titness of the new system (o support year-end reporting,

Year-cnd Reporting Project

As every year, the Committee engaged with management in a review of the annual reporting processes,
encouraged evolution to reflect the grow th and development of the Company.
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After numerous changes in Financial Reporting and Regulation during 2015, the most significant impact during 2016 was the implementation of
Solvency I1. During the first half of the year the Committee rigorously reviewad the new reporting being produced. More detail on this work, and
other developments considered by the Committee, are summarised in the table:

Area of Focus Activity

Solvency IT Following implementation of Solvency Ilin January 2016, the Committee undertook an extensive review of
the initial reporting stages, including, in particular, the incorperaticn of an initial assessment in the prior
year Annual Report and Accounts. This was followed by review of Day 1 and Q1 regulatory submissions in
May. The Committee considered an annual report from the Actuarial Function and noted the developments
proposed, requesting updates on progress through the year.

In the second half of the year, the Committee considered Solvency [1 as an integral part of the year-end
reporting process for the first time, including consideration of the SFCR reporting requirement.

[FRS developments As part of the standing agenda, the Committee had requested regular updates on developments in Financial
Reporting, particularly IFRS. The standards which are changing and which have the potential to impact the
Company include IFRS 9, IFRS 15 and [FRS 16, The Committce was provided with assessments of the
likely impact, which were used to support the commentary included in the Annual Report and Accounts
on page 131,

EU Audit Regulation and Directive The UK implemented the EU Audit Regulation and Directive during the ycar. The Audit Committce
discussed and reviewed compliance with the new rules with the external auditor, and also participated in
FRC initiatives to support implementation of the new guidelines.

‘Fair, Balanced and Understandable’ Opinion

The UK Corporate Governance Code requires the Board to give its opinion as to whether it considers the Company's Report and Accounts, taken asa
wholc, is fair, balanced and understandable and provides the inlormation necessary for shareholders to assess the Company's position and
performance, business model and strategy.

To aid the Board, the Audit Committee carried out a formal review of the Annual Report and Accounts in relation to this requirement, including a

consideration of the results of activities and information described above. In particular, the Committee reflected on the following questions:

*  Docs the report present the whole story, including challenges and issucs faced as well as Company achicvements?

*  Does the report achicve consistency between the financial statements and the narrative sections?

*  Arcappropriate performance measurcs included and clearly explaincd?

*  Are key judgements and estimation uncertainties in the financial statements appropriately explaincd and are they consistent with the Audit
Committee report and the risks the external auditor addresses in its report?

+  Does the overall document have a clear and cohesive structure?

* Is the report readablc and are the important messages highlighted apprepriately?

*  Arc explanations of business models, strategies and accounting policies clear?

Following this review, the Committee was able to advisc the Board that the Company’s Annual Report and Accounts for the year ended 31 December
2016 arc indeed fair, balanced and understandable.

External Auditor
The Committec has rcsponsi])ility for the work of the external auditor of the Company.

The auditor attended all Audit Committee mectings, and reperted on their work. The Committee also arranged for regular private mectings with the
external auditors. The Chair of the Committee also met regularly with the Senior Statutory Auditor both to receive updates on progress and also to
discuss any private matters.

The Audit plan was presented, discussed and agreed with the Audit Committee at the October meeting, setting out the activity planned and the major
risks identificd. Regular progress updates were presented at the November and January mecetings, with a full report presented at the conciusion of the
audit in February. The Committee discussed the findings from the work under the headings of the major risks as set out in the original audit plan and
members applicd their understanding of the seape of work, findings, judgements and conclusions of the cxternal audit in their evaluation that the
financial statements had been properly prepared.
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE continued

Particular areas that the Audit Committece requested the external auditor to consider as part of their audit work included:

Area of Focus Activity

Client Assets (CASS) audit The Caramitzee requested additional information from Pw( regarding progress with the CASS Audit, not
lcast due to concerns about the reporting timetable.

Third Party Administration Given the importance of service levels, and with the business having experienced a short term issuc early in

Qutsource Providers the year, the Committee requested the auditors focus particular attention on the outsource provider.

EEV Following the implementation of Solvency II the Carnmittec asked to be kept informed of developments in

reporting in the industr_y, particularly EEYV.

Presentations on Topical [ssues During the ycar the Committee requested support from the external auditors as part of the audit work,
including specific presentations on topical issues. In particular a number of members of the Committee
discussed presentations on
*  Developments in the Wealth Management Industry including Robe-adviee; and
* A demonstration of the HALO proprietary audit software, which was used for the first time during the

year to support both the UT audit and the Group audit, and facilitates complete voverage for verification
ol asset prices.

During the year the Commitiee again reviewed the palicy on Auditar Independence, in light of the final Ethical Standard published by the Financial
Reporting Council (FRC), ready for adoption in 2017. The new policy makes clear the types of non-audit work which are prohibited, and our robust
policy of only engaging our auditor fer limited non-audit work, where there is no risk of compromising independence, and where it is appropriate to
do so. Since there has been some ambiguity about the treatment under the new EU Audit Regulation and Directive ol audit work o the Group’s Unit
Trusts, the Comruittce was pro-active in discussing this point with industry cxperts and the FRC, Ultimately, the Committee was particularly
mindful of the engagement of PwC (o audit the Group's Unit Trusts and of the potential for contlict. Due consideration has therefore been given to
{uli disclosure of the relationship in the Report and Accounts, and to ensure appropriate saleguards are in place.

The policy also scts out $t. James's Place’s commitment to regular rotation of the auditors, taking inte account both the EU and Competition and
Markets Authority rules. In particular, the Committee is committed to reviewing the perfermance of the auditor every year, and considering whether

achange is required.

The Committee used their experience and the following additional information to assess the clfectiveness, i-ndcpendcnce and objectivity of the

Company’s external auditor:

fAreaofFocus Activity

Auditor Effectiveness and Quality * The consideration given of the annual review by the FRC of the main auditing firms;
*  The Audit Quality Review report on PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP specifically;
*  The experience and knowledge of the tean, (with due regard to the requirement for regular rotation of
audit team members); and
*  Results of an internal survey of auditor performance.

Auditor [ndcpcndcnce and *  Review of the nature and extent of ather ‘non-audit’ work undertaken to confirm compliance with our
Objectivity policy;

*  Review by SJP to confirm no links or investments with the Company by the audit team;

*  Regular rotation of audit team; and '

+  Appropriate considerations when recruiting a former audit partner.

Level of Fecs Detailed information on the break-down of fees paid to our external audit firm is provided in Note 5 ol the
financial statements on page 141, Included in the total fees paid to PwC of £1.6 million (2015: £1.5 million)
is £0.1 million (2015 £nil) of fees in relation to a cyber sccurity review, In this instance the Committee
determined PwC were best placed to provide this non-audit service.
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As a result of this work, the Committee concluded that the audit service of PwC was fit for purpose and provided a robust evaluation of the risks
undcrlying the Compan}"s financial statements.

PwC had originally been appointed as auditor in 2009, and in the best interests of shareholders, (and as anticipated when we last reported) the audit

was tendered during 2016 in respect of the 2017 year end audit. The process included the following steps:

* Aninitial review of the whole market assessed the suitability of available firms and the review was used to identify a short list of audit firms with
the expertise and capacity required;

*  The Audit Committee established an internal sub-committec to manage the process, chaired by the Chair of the Audit Committee and including
the Chicf Financial Officer. Each member of the sub-committee disclosed their interests before a formal process was established to identify and
manage potential conflicts of intercst that existed between selected audit firms and the Group;

*+ Four short-listed audit lirms were invited to cxpress an interest in tendering and objective criteria were established to ensure a thorough and
consistent process was followed when assessing the tender proposals. The criteria were weighted to take account of their relative importance to the
overall cutcome and included the audit firms understanding of the Group and its market, its technical capability and the qualit)’ of its employees. A
bread range of factors were identified under each criteria to assist with the assessment process;

* Following the withdrawal of two of the short-listed audit firms duc to their own independence and capacity issues, the remaining candidates PwC
and Deloitte were asked to submit an initial summary proposal. These proposals were assessed by reference to the criteria referred to above and
material differences in the proposals were identified,; .

¢ Following consideration of the proposals, and asscssment, the sub-committee recommended that Pw C be retained as the Auditor. Both firms
demonstrated they had the technical capabilities and people to deliver a high quality audit. However, duc to the nature of §]P’s business, achieving
independence can be challenging and in this context PwC was able to achieve (continued) independence from the Group with less disruption and
impact on the )P community and business; and

*  The Audit Committee considered a report setting out the sub-committee’s consideration of both {irms and cndorsed its sharing with the Board,
together with the recommendation that a resolution be put to sharchclders at the next AGM, proposing the reappointment of PwC as the
Company’s external auditor.

Having undertaken a tender process in 2016 (in respect of the 2017 audit), PwC’s appeintment as the Group’s external auditor meets the relevant
requirements and recommendations relating to the tenure of appointment set out in The Statutory Audit Services for Large Companies Market
Investigation (Mandatory Use of Competitive Tender Processes and Audit Committee Responsibilities) Order 2014 (the ‘Order’), Regulation (EU)
No 537/2014 and the FRC’s revised Ethical Standard June 2016.

Having confirmed the proposed reappointment of PwC we will need to change our audit firm by no later than the 2027 audit. The slightly different
rules in Dublin, which limit auditors to a maximum of ten years mean that we will have to change our auditor in Dublin for the 2019 audit, although
we will ensure appropriate arrangements for the new auditer o liaise with the Group auditor for purposes of Group reporting,

In relation to the scrvice provided by PwC, having rotated our Senior Statutory Auditor to be Jeremy Jensen in 2014, we are expecting rotation of this
key rale by 20619.

internal Audit
The Committee is responsible for monitoring the work of the Internal Audit function and its eflectiveness. The Director of Internal Audit has regular
one-ta-one meetings with the Chair of the Audit Committee and, if necessary, the Board and is accountable to the Audit Committee.

During the year the Committee reviewed and approved the Audit Charter, as required by the standards of the HA (Institutc of Internal Auditors). The
{nternal Audit function also presented periodic reviews of the skills and capabilities within the tearm. The Internal Audit function reviewed and
reported on the performance of the co-sourcing agreement with Deloitte LLP, which has been an effective relationship. Co-sourcing provides
specialist expertise and additional resources to maintain and enhance the level of assurance, provided to the Andit Committee.

The work plan for the Internal Audit function was agreed at the start of the year, and progress was monitored through the year, with particular focus
on whether the team had the necessary rescurces to implement the plan in a timely manner at each of the quarterly review points for plan coverage.
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE continued

Risk based Internal Audit work during the year has locused on key contral priorities identificd at the planning stage with the Committee, thesc being:

Area of Focus Activity
Strategic Initiatives and other Major * Administration systern  continucd caverage of the programme to upgradc the Group’s hack-office
Change Projects administration systems;

*  ERP--rcview of the implementation of the new general ledger; and
* Rowan Dartington  Assessment of the acquisition process and integration work.

Operational Integrity and * Investment Management Approach - processes and controls;
Technology ¢+ Information technology — review of data quality;

*  Client experience;

*  Clicnt money; and

*  Treasury processes and controls.

Third Party Risk Management * Management and oversight of contracts in relation to material outsourcers, particularly IFDS and
Syntel;
*  Business continuity planning and disaster recovery arrangements at key third partics, in particular IFDS
and Capita; and
+ General audit coverage of other key third parties.

Governance and Risk Management *  Executive Committee and Board management information; and
* Financial Crime,

Regulation and Compliance *  Business assurance file checking; and
* Partner supervision - structurc and controls,

In addition, all audits addressed the themes of the robustness of the operation of control self-assessments {as outlined in the i‘uliow'mg section), process
elficiency and risk and control culture.

When receiving regular updates from the Director of Internal Audit in relation to the results of completed audits, the Committee paid careful
attention to any areas where the audit led to remedtal action being recommended. The actions arising were menitored to ensure comnplction. In
practice, 92% (2015: 86%) of actions were completed in line with the original agrecd deadlines, with the rest expected to be completed by
appropriately agreed revised deadlines. No second revisions ol deadlines were permitred during the year.

System of Internal Cantrol

The Board has overall responsibility for the Company’s system of jnternal controls. In practice, management w il design and implement controls, and
the Board will cnsure management discharges this responsibility. The Audit Committec and Risk Committee work closcly together to ensure controls
mitigating major risks are appropriatcly designed and operating effectively. The Risk Committee therefore provides regular updates to the Audit
Committce on the status of risk management in the Group.

The Group adopts the ‘three lines of defence model as the design basis for its internal control framework and the process for revicwing the
clfectiveness of the framework takes account of this mode] as follows:

Area of Focus Activity

First Linc  Opcrations *  Coatrol Sclf-Assessment attestation from management;
*  Attestation by significant third party suppliers of outsourced administration scrvices; and
*  CEQ attestation to the Audit Committee on the integrity of first line upcrations.

Sccond Line - Risk Managomentand  » Control assessments:
Controls ‘Risk control’ sclf-assessments;
Compliance monitoring; and
Business assurance ‘thematic reviews”.
*  Review of the contrel selt-asscssment system led by the Controls Manager at half year and year-end;
*  CEO attestation to the Audit Committee on the second line, risk management {unctions; and
*  Reports from the Risk Committee.

Third Linc  Audit * Internal Audit ongoing assurance activity, including reviews by cxternal organisations, managed by
Internal Audit; and
* Internal Audit  Internal Control Annual Evaluation report as outlined below.
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External Audit acts as a further check on the Company’s processes.

In summary, the Chiefl Executive has ultimate rcsponsibi]ity for the first
two lines of defence and uses his knowledge of the business, and that of
his senior management team, to provide an opinion on the control
systems. Separatcly, Internal Audit prevides an independent opinion (the
Internal Centrol Evaluation report), from a third line perspective, based
on Internal Audit activity conducted throughout the year and Internal
Audit’s further analysis and appraisal of the outputs from a wide range of
other sourccs.

These sources of assurance assist the Audit Committee in completing its
annual review and enable the Audit Committee to attest on behalf of the
Board that it has been able to properly review the effectiveness of the
Company’s system of interoal control in accordance with the 2014 FRC
Guidance on risk management, internal control and related financial and
business reporting. The Audit Committee did not identify any
‘significant failings or weaknesses” and it has ensured that corrective
action is being taken on matters arising from the review,

Other Activity

The Chair of the Committec acts as a key contact for the Whistleblowing
Policy and is the whistleblowers’ champion under the Senior Insurance
Managers” Regime. The Committee reviewed whistleblowing
arrangements during the year and concluded that the arrangements were
adequate and consistently in-force across the entire Group.

The Audit Committee is responsible for carrying out the function required
under the FCA’s Disclosure and Transparency Rule DTR7.1,3R,

Committee Effectiveness

The Committee’s effectiveness and its interaction with the Board and
other Committces was cvaluated as part of the ovcrall assessment of the
effectiveness of the Board and its Committees, details of which can be
found on page 79. Having considered the output from that assessment
and reviewed the effectiveness of the work undertaken by the
Committee against its terms of reference, the Committee concluded that
it continued te perform cffectively and there were no matcrial arcas of
concern,

The terms of reference, which were revised in 2016 and which set out
the Committee's role and authority, can be found on the corporate
website at www.sjp.co.uk.
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REPORT OF THE RISK COMMITTEE

ROLE OF THE COMMITTEE IN SUMMARY

*  To foster a culture of elfective risk identification and
management throughout the Group;

*  To provide leadership, direction and ovcrsight ol the
Group's management of risk;

*  To review the principal risks affecting the Group and the
ways in which the risks are controtled and mitigated;

lain Cornish

ir ol the

olmittec

88

Fustering a culture of cffective risk management is of the
utmost importance to the Directors. The Risk Committee is
a sub commirtee of the Board, the remit of which is to assist
the Board in devcloping this culture, by providing leadership,
direction and oversight of the Group's management of risk.

in carrying out this remit, the Committee’s key activities in

2016 included:

*  Overseeing the implementation of the Solvency 11
Directive alongside the Audit Committec,

* Monitoring and reviewing the cffectiveness of risk
management in the Group and the risk
management functions;

* Reviewing the principal risks and uncertainties
affecting the Group as well as the risk appetite;

. Cnnsiflcring rcports produccd h)’ the Gmup's Risk
and Complianr:(‘ functions, to monitor the ongoing
compliance interaction with the Group's regulators;
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*  To provide oversight of the Own Risk and Solvency
Assessment process; and
¢+ Toreport any material arcas of concern to the full Board,

RISK COMMITTEE MEMBERS
Iain Cornish {Chair)

Simon Jeffreys

Baroness Wheatcroft

Raoger Yates

*  Recciving presentations from members of senior
management about their business arcas and reviewing
the management of the associated risks; and

*  Rccommending to the Board the appointrient of the
new Chief Risk Officer.

The following report sets out in morc detail the

Committec’s key activitics in 2016.

lain Cornish
On bekalf of the Risk Cotnmitece
27 Fe!)ruar)' 2017
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COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP DURING 2016

All members of the Risk Committce have considerable financial, risk
and for other relevant CXPCI"iCﬂCL’ and are indcpcndcnt Non-executive
Directors. There have been no changes to the membership of the Risk
Committee during 2016. Details of attendance at the meetings of the
Risk Committee throughout the year can be found on page 75.

Regular attendecs at Commitiee meetings during the year included the
Chief Executive, the Managing Directar, the Chief Risk Officer, the
Chief Technology Officer, the Joint Chicf Operating Officer (Client) and
the Corporate Actuary. As Chair of the Board, Sarah Bates attended all
Risk Committee meetings during 2016.

COMMITTEE ACTIVITIES DURING 2016

During 2016, the Committee has overseen further developments to the

reporting of the key risks and has worked to ensure appropriate coverage

has becn given to cach of these risks at Committee meetings. An
important clement of this work has been the consideration of reports
from senior executives and external consultants on specific topics,
including key carporate initiatives. The Committee spent time
discussing management of the associated risks, and provided challenge to
the executives responsible. Topics considered in 2016 included:

*  Cyber-sceurity threats and the Group’s defences — The Committec
considered the Group’s informaticn sccurity risk appetite statement,
developments in controls relating to people, processes and
technology, and future plans in this area of increasing risk;

*+ Brexit- - The Committee discusscd the short-term and potential
longer-term implications of the result of the EU relerendum, in
particular noting that the heightened level of uncertainty brings
existing risks more sharply into focus, but that the cutcome does not
appear to pose any fundamental threats to the business;

* The Group's financial crime prevention controls  The Committee
considered the controls in place in respect of higher risk and
politically exposed clients and received an update on training and
awareness raising activities, including inrespect of whistlcb]owing
procedures and anti-bribery and anti-corruption policies;

«  The Group's Investment Management Approach  The Committee
considered developments to the fund range, giving particular
considecration to current economic conditions, and the internal
governance processes in place to manage and mitigatc risks in this
important area. In a separate discussion, the Chief Risk Officer of the
newly acquired Discretionary Fund Management business, Rowan
Dartington, attended a mecting to present on the risks in this part of
the business, and the Committee discussed progress in aligning risk
management across the businesses;

* Partner recruitment and advice -- The Committee considered the
risky surrounding the recruitment of Partners and advisers, the
controls in place in respect of quality of recruits, and the
sustainability of continued growth, In a separate discussion, the
Committee considered the controls in place to verifly the suitability
of the advice given by Partners to clients, and received an update on
developments in the technology provided to support the
documentation of advice;

*  Operational developments  The Committee received updates on the
progression of the project underway to implement the Group’s new
administration platform and considered the internal governance
structures and management of risks associated with the launch of the
ncw Retirement Account;

* Outsourcing  The Committee discussed the nature of governance
and oversight uf third party administrators, including the resilicnce
of key outsourcing partners. The Committee also considercd the
controls in place to ensure correct handling of client money,
discussing changes in regulations and operational changes resulting
from the migration of Unit Trust and ISA busincss to the new
administration plattcrm;

* Client complaints The Committee discussed the nature of client
complaints, the way in which these are handled, resolved and
reported, and the extent of management action taken as a result of
complaints received;

* Remuncration The Committee discussed the potential risks
associated with Partner and employee remuneration and the ways in
which these are mitigated; and

= Asian subsidiaries — The Committee considered the management of
key risks within the Asian subsidiaries, the development of
relationships with regulators, and the pricrities for the Asian business
in future years.

This gavc the Committec the opportunity ta casure that risks are being
addressed and to test that the culture of risk identification and
management is embedded.

One of the key areas of focus for the Committee is the Own Risk and
Solvency Asscssment {ORSA). The Committec set the strategy for the
performance of a single, Group-wide, ORSA and had continued
involvement in this process throughcut the ycar. In particular, the
Committec discussed the underlying basis and assumptions, the nature
and results of stress and scenario tests, the assessment of operational
risks, key risk management policics and the content of the ORSA report
and viability statement.

Owersight of the risk management framework is key to delivery of the
responsibilitics of the Committee. Further information about this
framework can be found on pages 48 to 50. The risk management
framework and associated documents arc subject to annual review and,
during 2016, the Committee participated in an external review of the
framework. The Committee discussed the resulting recommendations,
which chietly related to the documentation and presentation of risks.
Consequently, the presentation of the Group’s Top Risk List has been
redeveloped, although the risks included remain largely unchanged. The
risks have been mapped to the Basel framework and to the bottem-up
risk assessment process, to provide assurance that the list provides
comprchensive coverage. This list, and the set of indicators uscd by the
Committee to regularly monitor performance against risk appetite, have
both been regularly reviewed by the Committee during the year and
both will be subject to further development during 2017 as part of an
ongoing cycle of improvement. Enhancements have also been made to
the capture, reporting and use of internal loss data.

The Committee is supported in its oversight of the risk management
framework by Risk Management teams at Group and local levels, and the
Committee spends a significant proportion of its time receiving updates
from the Chief Risk Officer and the Heads of the Group Risk Division,
who have direct access to the Chair of the Risk Committee should the
need arise. During late 2015 and carly 2016, members of the Committee
were involved in the process of recruiting a new Chicf Risk Officer and
met with Chris Gentle during this pracess, The Committee then
recommended his appointment to the Board.
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REPORT OF THE RISK COMMITTEE continued

The Committec is also able to review and provide challenge on the
implementation of risk mitigation in the business, As part of this
oversight, the Committee also continued to receive and review reports
from a number of Executive Committees and other funetions in the
Group including:

* Reports relating to relevant topies discussed at Group Risk Executive
and Finance Executive Cornmittee racetings, where ¢xecutive
oversight is given to the appropriateness and observance of the
Group’s Risk Appetite;

*  Reports produced by the Compliance Oversight and Business
Assurance functions in respect of thematic reviews carried out into
specific arcas of the Group's business;

* Reports from the Chicf Risk Officer on the effectiveness of the
Group's risk management systemns; and

* Anannual report from the Money Laundering Reporting Officer on
the anti-money laundering, bribery and fraud activities taking place
within the Group.

Since most ol the activity within the Group is regulated, the Committee
also considered regular updates on the Group's ongoing interactions with
regulators, including the Prudential Regulation Authority, Financial
Conduct Authority, Central Bank of Ireland, Monetary Authority of
Singapore and Office of the Commissioner of Insurance in Hong Kong,
and the wider regulatory intcractions with firms in the financial services
marketplace. This allowed it to monitor ongoing compliance with
regulation.

An internal review of the effectiveness of the Committee was also
carried out and no material issues were highlighted in respect of its
operation.

The terms of reference, which were revised in 2016 and which set out

the Committec’s role and authority, can be found on the corporate
website at www.sjp.co.uk,
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Sarah Bates

Chair of the
Nomination
Committee

The Namination Committee plays a crucial role in

ensuring that the structure and composition of the Beard
(including the skills, knowledge, experience and diversity)
is appropriate to continue to lead the Group and achieve its
strategic objectives. Another critical aspect of the rele of the
Nomination Committee is considering succession planning
for the Board and the Committee has devoted significant
time to this activity during the year.

The Committee must also ensure that the skills and attributes
necessary at those levels immediately below the Board are
also constantly reviewed, in order to ensure that there is

an appropriate and talented succession pipeline. This has
continued to be a key area of focus as described in this
report.
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REPORT OF THE NOMINATION COMMITTEE

ROLE OF THE COMMITTEE IN SUMMARY

To review regularly Board and committee composition and
structure;

To identify, report on and recommend for Board approval
suitable candidates for appointment to the Board;

To appropriately consider succession planning for Directors
and senior management; and

To report to the Board on the work of the Committee.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE MEMBERS
Sarah Bates {Chair)

lain Cornish

Baroness Wheatcroft

O\erseeing our approach and progress in relation to diversity

¥
is another aspect of the Committee’s work and progress in
this respect is set out below.

Sarah Bates
On behalf of the Nomination Committee
27 February 2017
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REPORT OF THE NOMINATION COMMITTEE continued

COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP DURING 2016

The members of the Committee remained unchanged during 2016 and
up to and including the date of this Report. Details of attendance at the
meetings of the Nomination Committee throughout the year can be
found in the Corporate Governance Repart.

COMMITTEE ACTIVITIES DURING 2016

As sct out in the Chair's Report, we have undertaken the appointment
processcs for our new Chicf Exceutive and Chiefl Financial Officer,
which were led by the Committee”. These appointments are the result of
careful succession planning for thesc roles over the last few years in the
context of our overall strategy and our views of the nature of those roles
as the Group devclops and the characteristics required for them. We
requested external market surveys for both roles and considered the
benclits and risks to the Group and its stakeholders of making these or
other appointments.

Assessing the appropriate composition and structure of the Board and its
various Commitices is an ongoing process and this has been reguiarly
considerced and discussed during the year. Of particular importance was
the assessment of the existing skills, knowledge, cxperience, diversity
and indcpendence of the Board to ensure that thesc remained
appropriate both now and in the luture, as well as Consil‘]cring whether
there was any requirement ta draw in additional skills and experience
rom elsewhere. It should be noted that hall of the Board (excluding the
Chair) is comprised of independent NMon-cxecutive Directors.

The Committee has not felt it necessary to make any recommendations
to change the structure of the Board or its Committees during the
current year although it bas been giving detailed consideration to its
plans for the future in order to plan for its own refreshment and
succession in the medium and long-term.

The skills revicw mentioned above formed the basts for a continued focus
this year on succession plans for the Board, Executive Board and senior
management, Excelient progress has been made In this respect and the
further refincment of the responsibilities of the Executive Board, the
devclopment of interpal talent and recruiting cxternal executives, where
appropriate, has ensured the continued development of a platform for
future succession. There has also been a focus by the Board on the
appropriate people strategy (referred to on pages 18 and 115). Succession
planning will continue to evolve (|uring 2017.

During the year, the Committee has concentrated on diversity ina
number of senses within the Group and the Partnership, receiving
regular updates as to developments in this respect. A number of
measures have been identified o make further progress in ensuring
appropriate female representation and this work will continue
during 2017. The Group is quite diverse in other senses, in terms of
regional focuses for example, and taking into account its work with
apprentices. A suite of metrics has also been developed and reviewed
to ensure that progress in relation to dz'vt‘rsity <an continue to

be monitored. These metrics include analysis of male/female
composition at all levels across the employee population and alse in
respect of promations and part-time working and in {orms of responses
to the employee survey.
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The Commmittee is still of the opinion not to adopt the 25% target
proposed by the Davies Repert for female representation for the Board in
2017, noting that the level of fermale representation on the Board is still
close to satisfying the target at the present time and that the Company
has a female Chair. We also note that a number of companies who have
achieved this level, have a rather different balance hetween executives
and non-executives on the board. As is often observed, there are fewer
women in executive ranks than might be expected, However, we are
trying hard and, as part of our current recruitment processes, we have
sought to discuss with potential and appeinted headhunters how they
identify candidates rom a diverse pool of people. We have also
consciously sought to avoid setting criteria which unwittingly and for ne
purposc exclude amy particular group. It is worth noting that the gencral
change in attitudes towards the number of board appointments held
probably reduces the experience which future candidates will have, but
perhaps increases the number of potential candidates.

The Committee has reviewed detailed analysis as ta the significant other ,
commitments of the Non-executive Dircctors and how much time they

were spending on the Company’s business and affairs. The Nomination

Committee and the Board are satisficd that the Nun-executive Directors

are able to, and do, commit sufficient time and attention to the

Company's husincss. In addition, the Committee reviewed and approved

an assessment of the independence of cach of the Non-executive

Dircctors, concluding that each of the Non-exccutive Directors

demaonstrated that they remained independent in charaeter

and judgement.

The terms of refercnce setting out the Committee’s role and authority,
and which were reviewed in 2016, can be found on the corporate website

at www.sjp.co.uk,

“These appointments are subject to regulatory approval.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT

On behalf of the Board, 1am pleased to present the Directors’
Remuneration Report [or 2016 which scts aut the new Dircctors’
Remuneration Policy for approval by sharcholders at the AGM, how the
current Dircctors’ Remuneration Policy was applied in 2016 and, subject
to shareholder approval of the new Directors” Remuncration I"olicy, how
it will be implemented in 2017.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION POLICY (‘POLICY’) AND THE
CORPORATE STRATEGY

The current Policy was approved by the sharcholders in 2014 and
continued to operate in 2015 and 2016. The Policy has been reviewed
during 2016 and it is submitted for shareholder approval at the 2017
AGM, No material changes arc proposed. The Policy for approval is set
out on pages 96 to 29, As with the current Policy, it supports the Group's
busincss strategy in that the major part of remuneration for Exccutives is
performance-dependent, including both annual and lenger-term
measures aligned to a balanced set of business objectives. Therc is
substantial deferral of variable remuneration inte shares, and
requirements for Executive Directors to hold Company shares, through
minimum sharchelding thresholds and a two year post-vesting sale
restriction on Perlormance Share Plan (PSP) awards. Further detail as to
how each element of the Policy supports the strategy is set out in the
table on pages 96 to 99,

CORPORATE PERFORMANCE AND REMUNERATION FOR 2016
Asreported in this Report, 2016 has been another year of strong
performance and our Exccutives’ remuncration for 2016 reflects this.
Based on the three-year performance to the end of 2016, 100% of the
Exccutive Dircctors” PSP awards granted in 2014 will vest in March
2017, as 2 result of relative total sharcholder return (TSR) and earnings
per share (EPS) growth being above the upper end of the performance
range set by the Remuneration Committee (‘the Committee’).

b e Y ad o
Roger Yates

Chair ol the
Remuneration
Committee

This Report includes disclosure of performance targets and the cutcome
{or the annual bonus for 2016. The Committee determined that 26.67%
of the maximum annual bonus should be payable lor 2016, reflecting the
strong financial results for 2016 and strong progress against strategic
objectives set by the Committee at the start of the year, which are fully
explained in the report. Fifty percent of the bonus is deferred into shares
for three years.

REMUNERATICON FOR 2017

The Committee considered the overall remuncration arrangements far
the Executive Dircctors in 2017 in accordance with the Policy and has
decided to award 2n increase of 3% in the base salaries of the Exccutive
Directors for 2017 which is in line with the overall increase of base
salaries for the workforce. The Committee continues to monitor the
complexity of the responsibilities undertaken, the remuneration of staft
gencrally, an element of market comparison and inflation trends from
year to year.

The maximum annual bonus opportunity for 2017 will remain at the
same levels as 2016. Performance share awards will also be granted at the
same level as 2016 for our CEO at 200% of salary and will increasc fram
190% to 200% for our three other Executive Directors, which continues
to be below our sharehclder approved Policy maximum.

In addition, to reflect the increased workload, regulatory responsibilities
and the size of the Group, the fees of the Chair for 2017 will increase to
£195,700 (3% increase), the base fees of the Non-exccutive Directors
will increase to £61,745 (3% increasc), the Committee Chair fees will
increase to £20,600 (3% increase) and the Senior Independent Director
fees will increase to £5,560 (100%0).
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DIRECTORS REMUNERATION REPORT continued

ENGAGEMENT WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND BEST PRACTICE
The Committec has consulted with its major shareholders in relation to
the proposed Policy and, in addition, the Committee ensurcs it is up to
date with the developing views of shareholders and investor
representative bodies and best practice. Any views expressed by
shareholders at general meetings of the Company or otherwise will be
considered by the Committee as part of any review of the Policy. The
Committee understands the importance and increasing [ocus on clear
and transparent disclosure of remuncration outcemes demonstrating the
alignment of remuneration and performance, and the Committee
belicves it provides compiete disclosure in this area.

ROLE OF THE COMMITTEE DURING 2016

During 2016 the Committee’s main areas of focus were on:

*  Revicwing performance and agrecing the 2015 annual bonus
payments for the Executive Directors and Code Stafl as well as the
2013 PSP awards vesting in 2016 for this population;

*  Setting the individual objcctives for the 2016 annual benus for both
the Executive team and Code Staff;

* Setting annual targets for the 2016 annual benus scheme and
performance measures for the 2016 PSP awards

* 2016 salary reviews for the Executive Directors and Code Stall;

*  Reviewing and approving the Remuneration Policy Statement in
relation to Code Staff for 2016 (and the list of the employees
classified as Code Stafl);

*  Reviewing and approving remuneration policies (including the
proposed nesw Policy);

»  Considering risks in relation to remuncration palicies and how these
are mitigated; and

* Updates on regulatory developments including the European Banking
Authority proposals on sound remuncration policies and Solvency I
rcmunc]‘ation quuirCmEntS.

REGULATORY CHANGE

The Committee is closely monitaring developments in remuncration
regulation from European and UK authorities. Should there be a need to
amend policy or practice in the future, in light of these regulatory
developments, the Committee will undertake consultation with major
sharcholders in advance of any proposed changcs.

SUMMARY

The Pelicy supports our carporate objectives and the remuncration
received by the Executive Dircetors reflects the strong performance of
the Company and management.

I hope that you will support the remuneration resolutions to he proposed
at the next AGM. I, in the meantime, you have any guestions regarding
remuncration then my colleagues and i on the Committee will be
pleased to address them.

Roger Yates
On behalf of the Remuneration Commitice
27 February 2017
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OVERVIEW OF THE DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION POLICY.
(‘POLICY?")

How the Committee Operates to Set the Remuneration Policy
The Committee, on behalf of the Board, draws up and recommends the
Policy and determines the remuneration packages of the Executive
Lircetors of the Company and the Chair of the Board. In addition, the
Committee monitors the remuncration of the senior management team
(including the Chief Risk Officer and his senior colleagues in the Group
Risk Division) and employces classified as Code Staff and Selvency I
Staff and oversces the opcration of the cxccutive long—tcrm incentive
schemes and all employee share schemes.

Approach to, and Objectives of, the Policy

Qur Policy has been reviewed during the year, and is submitted for
approval in the required triennial vote at the 2017 AGM. The overall
approach to remuneration adopted by St. James’s Place has been in place
for many years and this Policy is very little changcd trom that approved
by sharehelders in 2014,

The proposed Policy is designed to meet the following objectives:

To support the retention of individuals with the experience and skills
to drive the performance of the Company;

* To ensure remuneration is transparent and reflects the performance
of the Group in the relevant year and the longer-term. Annual bonus
and long-term incentive opportunities are thercfore linked to the
achievement of demanding performance targets; and

* Toalign pay with the stratcgic objectives of the Company and the
interests of our shareholders whilst giving due regard to principles of
best practice and relevant regulations,

In setting the Policy for the Executive Directors, the Committee also

takes into consideration a number of different factors:

*  The Committee applics the principles sct out in the UK Corporate
Governance Code and also takes into account best practice guidance
issucd by the major UK institutional investor bodies, the PRA and
FCA (including the provisions of any applicable Remuneration Codes)
and other relevant organisations;

*  The Committee has overall responsibility for the remuncration
policies and structures for employees of the Group as a whole and it
reviews remuneration policy on a firm-wide basis. When the
Committee determines and reviews the Policy it considers and
compares it against the pay, policy and employment conditions of the
Group to ensurc that there is alignmcnt between the Lwo; and

*  The Committee considers the external market in which the Group
opcrates and uses comparator remuncration data from time to time
to inform its decisions. However, the Committee recognises that
such data should be used as a guide only (rccognising that data can be
volatile and may not be dircctly relevant) and that there is often a
need to phase-in changes over a period of time.

The Committee’s overall policy, having had due regard to the factors
above, continues, for a substantial proportion of total remuncration, to
be based on variable pay. This is achieved by sctting base pay and benefits
up to mid-market levels, with annual bonus and long-term incentive
opportunities linked to the achicvement of demanding performance
targets, In this way the Committee facilitates alignment between the
intcrests of sharcholders and the total remuneration paid to the
Executive Directors. Histarically, the levels of variable pay paid to the
Exccutives have varied considerably, reflecting the performance of the
Group in the relevant year.

The overall structure and maximum opportunity under the Policy
remains unchanged. Some changes have been made to the text of the
Policy in a number of places to increase clarity,

Engagement with Shareholders

The Committee engages with, and seck the views of, its major investors
and investor representative bodies on any significant changes to the
Policy. The Committee alse engages from time to time with
sharcholders when considering important questions about the
implementation of the Policy, Views expressed by shareholders arc
considered by the Committee as part of any review of the Policy, or
sooner ifappropriate.
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DIRECTORS REMUNERATION REPORT continued

Remuneration Policy for Executive Directors

The following table summarises each element of the Policy, explaining how each element operates and links to corporate strategy, The proposcd
Policy will be formally effective following sharcholder approval at the 2017 AGM, If approved, this Policy supersedes that approved by sharcholders
in 2014.

Base $alary

Purpose and link to strategy

To provide the core reward for the role.

Sufficicnt level to recruit and retain individuals of the nccessary calibre, taking into account the required
skills, expericnce, demands and complexity of the role,

Operation

Normally reviewed annually from 1 March. Influenced by:

= Role, experience and performance of the individual;

* Company performance;

* External cconomic conditions;

*  Average changes in broader workforce salary; and

*  Periodic benchmarking for cach role against similar UK listed companics.

Maximum opportunity

Percentage increases will normally be capped at the level of increases for the Company’s workforce
generally. Increascs may be higher in exceptional circumstances, such asa change in role and/ora
signilicant change in respensibility or role size.

Where new appointees have been given a starting salary below mid-market level, increases above those
granted to the wider workforce (in percentage terms) may be awarded, subject to satisfactory individual
performance and development in the role.

The base salaries lor the Executive Dircctors from | March 2017 are set out in the Annual Report on
Remuneration,

Performance metrics

Whilst there are no targets attached to the payment of base salary, performance alongside those factors
outlined above is considered in the annual salary review process.

96

I St, James's Place plc

Annual Repart and Accounts 2016 Rx'é{i\h'!'n‘d Nov 318345



Annual Bonus

Purposc and link to strategy
including choice of performance
metrics

Rewards the achievement of annual financial and strategic business plan targets and delivery of key,
non-financial objectives.

Deferred clement aids retention, encourages long-term sharcholding, discourages excessive risk-taking and
aligns with shareholder interests.

Performance metrics reflect the key performance drivers of the annual business plan, achievement of which
will reflect performance in line with the Group’s strategy.

Opcration

Performance measurcs, targets and wcightings are reviewed annua]])' and set in line with the annual
business plan. Bonus payments are determined by the Committee after the year end, based on performance
against the targets set.

Performance below threshold results in zero payment, Payments are on a scale from 20% to 100% of the
maximum opportunity for performance between threshold and maximum.

50% of any bonus payable is paid in cash and the remaining 50% deferred into S]P shares, the vesting of
which is normally subjcct to a three-year continuous service requirement but ne further performance
targets.

Dividends that accrue on the deferred shares are paid to the Executive Directors during the three-year
deferral peried.

All bonus payments arc at the discrction of the Committee.
The Committce has the overriding discretion to scale back payments under the non-financial performance
scorecard if it deems them to be inappropriate in the context of the overall financial results of the

Company.

The Committee has the overriding discretion to adjust the bonus outcome up or down (subject to the
overall 150% maxtmum) to take account of factors such as an exceptional positive or negative event.

Withholding and recovery provisions apply to bonus awards in exceptional circumstances, such as a
material misstatement, error, or misconduct.

Maximum opportunity

150% of base salary.

Performance metrics

Performance is measurcd OYCr onc ycar.

At least half of the bonus is based on financial measures, reflecting the key prioritics of the business for the
relevant year.

Up to half of the annual bonus can be based on the achicvement of key, non-financial objectives set at the
start of the year,

Actual measures and weightings may change [rom year to year to reflect the business prioritics at that time.

Details of performance criteria and targets sct for the year under review and performance, against them are
provided in the Annual Report on Remuneration.
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DIRECTORS REMUNERATION REPORT continued

Performance Share Plan

Purpose and link to strazegy Supports long-term retention.
including choice of performance
metrics Focuses the Executives on longer-term corporate performance and performance objectives.

Aligns interests to those of shareholders.

Operation Awards are normally granted annually. Westing is usually on the third anniversary of the datc of grant, dependent
on the achicvement of stretching performance conditions measured over a period of three financial years.

Metrics, weighting and targets take account of the business plan and arc reviewed annually to ensure they
remain appropriate.

Awards granted from 2015 are made under the Performance Share Plan approved by sharcholders at the
AGM in 2014, and have a post-vesting holding period of two years on the shares vesting. During this period
the vested shares cannot normally be sold, other than to the extent necessary to settle tax on vesting or
exercise, Dividend equivalents may accrue on awards made between the date of grant and the end of the
two year post-vesting holding period. These dividend equivalents will be released only to the extent that
awards vest.

Awards arc subject to withholding and recovery provisions.

The Committee has the discretion, in certain circumstances, to grant and/or settle an award in cash. In
practice, this will only be used in exceptional circumstances for Executive Directors.

Maximum opportunity The maximum annual award under the plan rules is 250% of salary as at date of grant, although the
Committee will not make awards above 200% of base salary without prior consultation with the
Company’s major sharcholders.

Performance metrics Awards will vest to extent of achievement of performance metrics as set out below. The Committee may
choose alternative measures and weightings between them if it deems it appropriate, taking into account
the strategic objectives of the Company,

Awards in 2017 will be based on the achievement of threc cqually weighted metries below:

+ EPS gruwth based on ERV adjusted Froﬁt,—

* EPS5 growth as ahove but excluding the impact of the EEV unwind of the discount rate (cHectively
excluding the impact of stack market movements on earnings); and

*  Relative TSR performance.

For cach performance metrie, a threshold and stretch level of performance is set. At threshald, 25% of the
relevant element vests rising on a straight linc basis to 100% for attainment of levels of performance
between threshold and maximum targets.

Pension

Purpose and link to strategy Helps recruit and retain Exceutives,
Provides a discrete clement of the package to contribute to retirement income.

Operation Dclined contribution to a pension scheme or an cquivalent cash amount via non-pensionable allowance if
the Executive is affected by HMRC limits.
In response to changes in degislation or similar developments, the Company may amend the form of an
Executive Director’s pension arrangements,

Maximum opportunity 20% of base salary.

Perlormance metrics N/A

=
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Other Benefits

Purpose and link to strategy Operate competitive benefits to hc]p recruit, retain and support the wcllbcing of cmp]uyccs.
including choice of performance

metrics

Operaticn Including but not limited to: Company car (or salary supplement in lieu), private medical insurance, lile,
critical illness and death in service cover, relocation assistance where necessary and the use of a driver for

business purposes.
Executive Directors will be eligible to participate in any all-employee share plan (e.g. SIP and SAYE)
operated by the Company on the same terms as other eligible employces, The maximum level of

participation is subject to limits imposed by HMRC (or a lower cap sct by the Company).

Any reasonable business expenses (including tax thereon) may be reimbursed.

Maximum opportunity

Benefit costs are monitored and controlled and represent a small clement of total remuneration costs.

Performance metrics

N/A

Non-executive Directors’ Fees

Purpose and link to strategy

To attract high quality, experienced Non-executive Directors,

Operation

The Chair is paid an all-inclusive annual fee which is reviewed periodically by the Committee.

All Non-executive Directors receive a basic annual fee for carrying out their duties, rogether with
additional fces being paid in respect of Board Committces and other responsibilitics, with fec levels
reviewed periodically by the Board. They may also be paid additional fees (calculated at an appropriate day
rate) in the event of exceptional levels of additional time being required.

Any reasonable business expenses (including tax thereon) may be reimbursed.

Maximum opportunity There is no prescribed maximum individual fee level or annual increase, Reviews take into account market
data for similar non-cxecutive roles in other companies of a similar size and/or business to St. James’s Placc
as well as the time commitment of its Non-exccutive Directors. The policy is to pay up to the mid-market

level based on similar time commitments of chair and non-executives in comparable companies.

Performance metrics Neither the Chair nor the Non-executive Directers are eligible for any performance related remuncration.

Notes to the Policy table:
The performance measures and targets that are set for the Executive Directors’ annual bonus and Performance Share Plan (PSP) awards are carcfully
sclected to align with the Company’s stratcgic and key performance indicators.

For the annual bonus, financial and strategic measures arc reviewed and sclected by the Committee annually. The measures selected and weighting
between them may vary annually depending on the key priorities ol the business for the year ahead. Robust and demanding targets will be set annually,
taking into account the cconomic environment, market expectations and the Company’s budget and business plan for the year ahcad. EEV opcrating
profit has been used to assess [inancial pcrformance as this mecasurc reflects a number of key metrics including new busincss, retention of funds under
management and cost control. The remaining bonus is determined based on strategic measures set annually on a balanced scorecard basis.

The Company has used a relative TSR measure and EPS growth targets for the PSP for a number of years in line with the Group’s strategy of delivering
profitable growth and superior returns to its shareholders. The Committee will continue to review the cheice of performance measures and the
appropriateness of targets prior to each PSP award being made and will sct robust and stretching measures for any alternative measures used. For the
EPS growth measure, stretching targets will be set annually taking into account the econemic environment, market expectations and the Cempany’s
budget and business plan at that time. For the comparative TSR measure the Committee’s policy is to set threshold vesting for median performance,
rising to full vesting for upper quartile performance. The Committec will assess annually the appropriatencess of the TSR comparator group.

No performance targets arc sct for the SAYE and SIF awards as these form part of all employee arrangements designed to encourage employees across
the Group to purchase shares in the Company.

Annual Report and Accounts 2016 | St. JalnES’S Place PIC %9



DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT continued

Shareholding Requirements

Executives are required to build and maintain a shareholding equivalent
to 150% of base salary within five years of appointment. Until the
threshold is reached, 50% of vested shares from the PSP and other share
awards (less tax liability) must be retained. Executives arc also required
to hold a further 50% of salary in shares and/or in one or more 3JP
lunds, thus providing further alignment with sharcholders and clients.

Annual Bonus Plan and Share Plan Policy

The Committee will operate the annual bonus plan, deferred bonus

plan, PSP and zll-cmploycc share plans according to the rules of each

respective plan and consistent with normal market practice and the

Listing Rules, where relevant. The Committee will retain flexibility ina

number of areas regarding the operation and administration of these

plans, including (but not limited to} the following:

*  Who participates in the plans;

*  When to make awards and payments;

*  How to determine the sizc of an award, a payment, or when and how
much of an award should vest;

* How to deal with a change of control or restructuring of the Group;

* Inthe case of stated good leaver reasons or otherwise, whether a
Dircctor is a goud/bad leaver for incentive plan purposes and
whether and what proportion of awards vest at the time of leaving or
at the original vesting date(s) as relevant; and

*  How and whether an award may be adjusted in certain circumstances
{c.g. fora rights issuc, a corporate restructuring or for
special dividends).

The Committee also retains the discretion within the Poelicy to adjust
targets and /or set diffcrent measurcs and alter weightings for the annual
bonus plan and the PSP if events happen that cause it to determine that
the original targets or conditions are no longer appropriate and the
amendment is required so that the targers or conditions achieve their
original purpose and are not materially less difficuit to satisfy.

The use of discretion would, where relevant, be explained in the Annual
Report on Remuneration and may, as appropriate, be sabject to
consultation with the Company’s major shareholders.

Awards Made Pricr to the Effective Date

For the avoidance of doubt, in approving the Policy, authority was given
to the Company to honour any commitments entered into with current
or former Directors that have been disclosed to shareholders in previous
remuncration reports. This includes all historic awards that were granted
urklcr any current or previous share schemes operated by the Company
but remain outstanding {dctailed in the Annual Repert on
Remuneratien) and which will remain cligible to vest based on their

or iginal award terms, Details of payments to former Directors will be
set out in the Annual Remuncration Report, where required by the
relevant regulations, as they arise.

Approach to Remuneration for Recruitment and Promotions
The Committee would aim to set a new Executive Dvirector’s
remuneration package in line with the Policy in place at the time of
appointment. The Committee will take into account, in arriving at a total
package and in considering the quantum for cach element of the package,
the skills and experience of the candidate, the market rate for a candidate
of that experience as well as the importance of securing the best candidate.
For new appointments, base salary and total remuneration may be set
initiaily at below normal market rates on the basis that it may be increased
once expertise and performance has been proven and sustained.
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Annual bonus and long-term incentive maximum award sizes will
comply with the maximum opportunity set out in the Policy table {not
including any arrangements to replace forfeited deferred pay).
Participation in the annual bonus plan and PSP will normally be
pro-rated for the year of joining and different performance measurcs
may be set from these applying to the other Dircctors, if it is appropriate
to do so to reflect the individual’s responsibilitics and the point in the
year in which they joined the Board. A PSP award can be made shortly
following an appointment (assuming the Company is not in a close
period). Where it is essential for the purposes of recruitment, such as
where a new external recruit has not had any bonus deferral in their
previous role, bonus deferral may be phased in over a short period. The
standard approach will be for deferral 1o apply as stated in the Policy
table,

The Committce may make additional cash and/or share-bascd awards as
it deems apprapriate and, if the circumstances so demand, to take
account of deferred pay forfeited by an exccutive on leaving a previous
cmployer. Awards to replace deferred pay forfeited would, where
possible, reflect the naturc of awards lorfeited in terms of delivery
mechanism (cash or shares), time horizons, attributed expected value
and performance conditions, Other payments may be made in relation to
relgcation expenses and other incidental cxpenscs as appropriate.

In: the case of an internal appointment, any variable pay element awarded
in respect of the prior role would he allowed to pay out according to its
terms and any other ongoing remuneration obligations existing prior to
appointment would continue.

For an overseas appointment, the Committee will have the discretion to
offer benefits and pension provisions which reflect local market practice
and relevant legislation.

If appropriate, and in exceptional circumstances, the Committee may
agrce, on the recruitment of a new Executive, a notice period of in excess
of twelve months but reducing to twelve months over a specified period.

For the appointment of a new Chair or Non-exccutive Director, the fee
arrangement would be set in accordance with the approved Policy at
that timc.

Risk Management

Risk is managed within the Policy through the Committec:

*  Taking into consideration the recommendations contained in any
applicable Remuneration Codes and associated guidance which apply
to the Group;

*  Structuring the annual bonus plan te contain a mix of financial and
strategic performance metrics, where performance conditions are
tailored 1o the business outlook and strategy, including the
management, ol risk within the business, The Committee also retaing
the diseretion to reduce the bonus out-turn where appropriate;

* Assessing the performance metrics from arisk perspective, with
input from the Chair of the Risk Committec;

*  Requiring deferral of 50% of annual bonus payments into the
Company’s shares which arc deferred for three years;

*  Requiring the Exccutive Directors to retain shares acquired on
vesting of PSP awards granted from 1 January 2015 for a post-vesting
holding period of twe years on the shares vesting, During this period
the vested shares cannot normally be sold ather than to the extent
necessary o settle tax on vesting or exercise;
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* Ensuring that the majority of the incentive pay comes in the form of a lcng—t.crm incentive plan subject to stretching pcrformancc targets measured
over multi-year performance periods, with the performance period for subsequent awards overlapping the previous award, together with an
additional two year holding period. This ensures that there is ne particular incentive to maximise performance over a particular period;

* Incorporating withholding and recovery provisions into the Company’s honus and lang-term incentive plans; and

* Requiring the Executive Directors to build and maintain a substantial shareholding in the Company.

Remuneration Policy across the Group

The Policy is dcsigncd with rcgard to the remuneration policy for employees across the Group as a whole and the Committee aims, where appropriate,
for there to be a consistent approach applied. For instance, the suite of benefits in kind is generally consistent (other than in relation to quantum) and
all employees participate in annual bonus plans. All employecs, including the Exceutive Directors, are offered the opportunity to participate in the
Group’s SAYE Share Option Plan and Share Incentive Plan. Senior managers participate in the long-term incentive plan.

The Policy is more weighted towards variable pay than for other employees to make a greater part of their pay conditional on the successfisl delivery of business
strategy, and in line with sharcholder interests. In addition, morc of scrior level remuncration is deferred than is the case for the workforccasa whole.

Employces were not consulted in respect of the Policy, but the Committee does consider the remuncration arrangetnents for the broader employee

population when determining the Policy.

Remuneration Scenarios for Executive Directors

The chart below shows how the proportion of each Exccutive Director’s remuneration package varies at different levels of performance in accordance
with the Policy to be implemented in 2017 and using the assumptions set out below. A significant proportion of remuneration is linked to
performance, particularly at maximum performance levels.

Assumptions

Threshold = fixed pay only (salary, benefits and pension).

Target = fixed pay plus 60% vesting of the annual bonus and 50% vesting of PSP awards.

Maximum = [ixed pay plus 100% vesting of the annual bonus and PSP awards.

Salaries used are those applying on | March 2017 and taxable bencfits are those reported for the year ending 31 December 2016,
Pension is based on 2017 Policy applied to 1 March 2017 salaries.

Amounts have been rounded to the nearest £1,000. The assumptions noted for ‘on-target’ PSP performance in the graph above are provided for
illustration purposes only, Participation in all employee plans, dividends payable on PSP awards over the vesting period or on deferred share bonus
awards are not included in the above scenarios and the table assumes no increasc to the share price.
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DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION REPORT continued

Service Contracts and Loss of Office

The Company’s policy is that scrvice contracts may be rerminated with twelve months’ notice from cither the Company or from the Executive
Director {¢xcept in certain exceptional recruitment situations wherc a longer notice prriod from the Company may be set provided it reduces toa i
maximum of twelve months with a specificd timc limit). Service contracts do not contain a fixed end date.

Under their service contracts, the Executive Directors are entitled to salary, pensian contributions and bencfits for their natice period (cxcept on
termination (or events such as grass misconduct where payment will be for sums carned up to the date of termination with no natice period anly). The
Company would seek to ensure that any payment is mitigated by use of phased payments and offset against earnings elsewhere in the cvent thatan
Exccutive Director finds alternative cmployment during their notice period. There are no contractual provisions in-force other than those set out
above that impact any termination payment.

In summary, the positior: on cessation of employment is as follows:

Provision Detailed terms
Natice period Twelve months by cither party. !
Termination payment Base salary plus benefits {including pension). An express ohligation on the Executive to mitigate his loss.

Payments can be madc on a monthly basis and reduced if an Exccutive is able to secure
alternative employment.

In addition, any statutory amounts would be paid as necessary.

Remuneration entitlements on A pro-rata boruzs may also become payable for the period of active service along with the vesting of
cessation outstanding sharc awards (in certain circumstances as described belaw).
Change of control As on termination and with remuncration entitlements as described above.

“When considering the size of any proposed termination payment, the Committee would take into account a number of factors, induding the heaith,
length of service and performance of the relevant Exccutive, including the duty te mitigate their own loss, with a broad aim to avoid rewarding poor
performance while dealing fairly with cases where the departure is due to other reasons, for example illness or redundancy, |

Any unvested awards held under the PSP schernes will lapse at cessation of employment, unless the individual is leaving for certain reasons (defined
under the plan such as death, injury, ili-health, disability, redundancy, retirement, their office or employment being either 2 company which ceases to
be a Group member or relating to a business or part of a business which is transferred to a person who is not a Group member, or any other veason the
Committce so decides). In these circumstances, unvested awards wil! normally vest az the normal vesting date {unless the Committee decides they
should vest at cessation) subject to performance conditions being met and normally subject to scaling back in respect of actual service as a propertion
of the total vesting period (unless the Committee decides that scaling back is inappropriate). The same approach applies on a change of control.

Any unvested awards held under the Deferred Bonus Scheme will lapse at eessation unless the Committee determines otherwise. In these
circumstances the Committee may determine that unvested awards will vest at the cessation {unless the Committee decides they should vest at the
normal vesting date).

The Committee may agrec to the payment of dishurscments such as legal costs and outplacement services if appropriate and depending on the
circumstances of the leaving Executive.

The Committce may pay any statutoty entitlements or settle or compromise ¢laims in connection with a termination r)fcmploymcnt, where

considered in the best interests of the Company.

Non-executive Directors’ Letters of Appointment

The Non-executive Directors (including the Chair} de not have service contracts or any benefity in kind arrangements and do not participatc in any of
the Group's pension or incentive arrangements. The appointment of cach Non-executive Director can be terminated by giving three months' notice
(subject to annual reappointment at the AGM). Any period of service longer than six ycars is subject to particularly rigorous review by the Nomination
Committee of the Board. The Non-executive Directors letters of appointment do not provide for any payment on termination except for acerued fees
and expenses to the date of termination. .

The terms and conditions of Executive Directors' service contracts and the letters of appcintment of the Non-cxccutive Directors are available for
inspection at the Company’s registered office during normal business hours and at the AGM, the details of which can be found on page 116.
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External Appointments

Executive Directors are permitted to be appointed to an external hoard or committee so long as this is unlikely to interfere with the business of the

Group, Any fees received in respect of external appointments are retained by the relevant Executive Dircctor. Currently, the only Executive Director

who acts as a non-executive director on the Board of another listed company, is David Lamb, who is 2 non-executive director of The Henderson

Smaller Companics Investment Trust ple,

ANNUAL REPORT ON REMUNERATION

This Annual Report on Remuneration will be put to an advisory sharcholder vote at the 2017 AGM. The information on pages 103 tu 110 has been

audited where indicated.

How the Policy was Applied in 2016

Remuneration payable in respect of performance in 2016 (audited)
The following table sets out cach element of remuneration for the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2016 (or period thereof for appointments or

cessations during the year}.

Salary and Annual Long-term

fees Benefits® bonus™  incentives®™  Pension®™ Other™ Total
Directors £ £ £ £ £ £
David Bcllamy 2016 502,833 55,294 732,250 1,132,563 100,567 - 2,523,507
2015 492,000 59,168 688,800 1,756,266 98,400 20,596 3,115,230
Andrew Croft 2016 363,500 38,773 529,250 754,804 72,700 - 1,759,027
2015 355,000. 41,252 498,400 1,170,904 71,200 19,380 2,157,176
lan Gascoigne 20016 363,500 83,020 529,250 754,804 72,700 29,775 1,833,049
2015 356,000 69,523 498,400 1,170,204 71,200 - 2,166,027
David Lamb®” 2016 363,500 46,833 525,250 754,804 72,700 - 1,767,087
2015 356,000 48,754 498,400 1,170,804 71,200 22,544 2,167,802

Non-executive Directors
Sarah Bates (Chair) 2016 190,000 3,931 193,931
2015 175,100 3,365 178,465
Tain Cornish 2016 82,725 11,788 94,513
2015 77,460 7,829 85,289
Simaon feffreys 2016 79,945 973 80,218
2015 74,680 1,397 76,077
Baroness Wheatcroft 2016 59,945 2,100 62,045
2015 58,200 1,788 59,988
Roger Yates 2016 79,945 - 79,945
2015 74,680 - 74,680

Notes:

(i} Beneflts for the Execulive Dircetors comprise the entitlement to Company car or cash equivalent, fucl, private health care, life and critical illness cover, permanent health insurance and health

screentng and, for lan Gascoigne, 2 housing allow ance to facilitate working across the Company's two main locations, and are generally the amounts which are returned for taxation purposes. Benefits

for the Non-executive Directors are for reimbursement of taxable travel expenses grossed up for the tax payable thereen.

{iiy As eaplained on page 97, half of the annual bonus is paid in cash, with the other hall being used to purchase St. James's Flace shares which are subject to lorfeiture for three years under the terms of the

Deferred Bonus Scheme.

{ili) The value of the long-term incentives is the value of shares for the award where the pertormance period ends in the year, 1ogether w ith the value of the dividends that would have been received during

the three year performance period. The figures for 2016 have bren caleulated using the aserage of the §]P share price 1n the three month period 1o 31 December 2016, being £9.585, as the actual

vesting date of the PSP award is on 26 March 2017. The figures lor 2015 have been updated from the three month average figures used in last year's report (being 41,776,526 for David Bellamy and
£1,184,411 for Andrew Crolt, lan Gaseoigne and David Lamb) to take into account the S|P share price on the date of vesting on 21 March 2016, being £9.405. The LTI vesting figure in monetary alue
for 2016 is significantly lower than 2015. This is due to the number of shares in the 2013 anard being substantially more (approximately 60%; than in the 2014 award, because the share-price at grant
in 2013 was 40% lower than 2014, For example for the Chief Executive, the grant ol 190% of salary on 2013 ainounted to 176,178 shares at ashare price of £5.16, in 2014 an award of 190% of salary

amounted to 109,782 shares at ashare price of £8.52.

(1¥) Pension contributions, being 20% ol base salary for all Directors, were capped by legislation and so a non-pensiorable salary supplement was paid to the Executise Directors in full for David Bellamy,

Andrew Croft and lan Gascoigne and for the balance far David Lamb, who had a 120,000 contribution to the money purchase group pension scheme.

(¥

i} David Lamb was 2 hon-exceutive director of The Henderson Smaller Companies Insestment Trust ple during the year and was paid a fee of £23,000 in 2616 in connection with that role

(2015: £21,750%,

The value of the SAY E optinns exercised by lan Gascoigne en 24 March 2016 when the mud market price of St. James’s Place shares was £9.10.
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DIRECTORS” REMUNERATION REPORT continued

Details of Variable Pay Earned in the Year
Annual bonus for 20186 performarnce
The pcrformance conditions which applied to the bonus and the rcsu]ting payout were as follows:

Assessment by the Committee of the Performance of the Executive Directors

Payout Payout

Weighting (% Weighting (% Maximum (% of % of

Measure of salary} of maximum) Threshold value Actual salary) maximum)

EEV operating profit 75% 50% £586m £642m £673.6m 75% 50%

Strategic business plan objectives 75% 50% Asscssment by the Committec of the 70% 46.67%
performance of the Executive Directors

Total payout 145% 96.67%

In setting the operating profit target for the year it was assumed that the combined operating experience variance and operating assumption changes
would have a neutral impact on the outcome for the year. The actual outcome for the year included a combined positive impact to the operating profit
from these two items of £20 million. The Committee concluded that this positive outcome was as a result of management action during the year and
should thercfore be included when asscssing the bonus payout for the year.

Annual Bonus Strategic Targets Performance Assessment

As described in other parts of the Annual Report and Accounts, the Company delivered strong performance in 2016 for our clients, shareholders and
other stakcholders. The Committee considered these three groups when sctting the strategic targets for 2016, together with other objectives sct out in
the 2016 business plan. [n serving our clients well, dcvcloping our employees and the Partnership for the future and striving to improve the
cliectiveness of our organisation, we will be best placed to meet our long-term business objectives, and create additional value for our shareholders.
We also focus on the importance of safe and sustainable growth through prudent management of risk and the highest standards of

regulatory compliance.

The Committee assessed how well the Exceutive team had performed in relation to the objectives set at the start of the year, The Committee did not
place lixcd weightings on the lactors asscssed, but made a judgement bascd on the Committee’s view of the relative impertance and impact of those
factors over the course of the year. For some factors the Committee put in place quantitative metrics, and for others qualitative judgements were

made, depending on the nature of the strategic objective.

The Committee took into account the following:

Ohjectives and perfermance

Clients * The Annual Wealth Account Survey results for 201677 were very strong with results as at the datc of
this Annual Report of 97% of clicnts saying they would recommend S]P to friends or contacts and 56%
of those surveyed confirming they have done s already;

= Clients continued to benefit from above average performance across the majority of funds and pertfolios
over a range of time periods. Across all ten year periods, the equity fund managers outperformed their
benchmark, on average, 77% ol the time. Ovcr the three and five year periods, the equivalent average
outperformance rate was 72% and 84% respectively. For the range of cight Growth and Income
portfalios available to clients, cutperformance compared to the relevant Asset Risk Consultants (ARC)
Private Client Index peer group occurred in 84% of all three year periods on average,

*  The number of advice-related complaints remained very low;

* The Group won a number ol'industry awards, {urther details of which arc set out on pagc 54, many of
which were voted on by clients; and

¢ The above factors, together with strong service levels, generally contributed to excellent retention of
funds under management, with 95% of existing funds being retained {excluding regular income
withdrawals) (sce page 29 for further details).
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Objectives and performance

Long-term success * The growth in the size of the Partnership {including Partners and Advisers in the UK and Asia} of more
than 7%;
*  The success of the Academy in attracting suitable candidates to the courses run in 2016 with more than
200 active students in the Academy programme, 73 students graduated from the Academy, 42 as
Partners and 31 as Advisers;
* Completing the acquisition of Rowan Dartington and continuing its integration into the Group;
* Launch of the Retirement Account and certain intergeneraticnal products;
* Opening a new location at Canary Wharf'and a new officc in Cirencester;
= Very satisfactory rosults from the 2016 Empluycc Survey;
* High levels of retention for both employees and members of the Partnership, assisted by additional
. training and development opportunities for the senior management team, the Partnership and the
workforce generally; and
* Continuing to maintain and reinforee the Group’s distinctive culture,

Risk management * Continuing positive engagement with the Group's regulators responding effectively to key regulatory
initiatives including rhe Financial Advice Market Review and Solvency II; and
* Completing various objcctives designed to continue to enhance and strengthen the monitoring and
mitigation of key regulatory risks impacting the Group.

Other objectives * Supporting more Partners to achieve Chartered status;
* Continuing development of the Group’s range of funds, the range of fund managers available to clients
and the effective operation of the Investment Committee; and
* The ongoing success of the Group’s CSR objectives, including raising more than £7.5 million for the
Foundation and cxpanding the voluntecring opportunities available to employees.

Taking all the above strategic objectives into account, the Committee awarded a bonus of 70% of salary (93.3% of the maximum) under the team
performance element of the annual benus scheme, recognising that a high proportion of the strategic objectives were graded as ‘outstanding’ or ‘above
stretch’ and that nearly all of the major business plan objectives had been satisfactorily completed,

Notes
(i) The Committee has the discretion to scale back the annual bonus payable in respect of the strategic measures fit considers it inappropriate in the context of the overall financial results of the Group.

The Committee reviewed the Group’s performanee and agreed that no scale-back was appropriate.

(i) The Commiltee retains the discretion to amend each element of the bonus, up or down,

thin the overall cap of 150% of salary, to take into account other relevant factors such as the Group's
performance compared to competitor organisations or, for instanee, an exceptional positive or negative event which impacts the Group. The Committee review ed the Group’s performance as well as
competitors and the external market at the end of the performance period and agreed that no adjustment was required.

{iti} Hall'ol the borus is paid in cash, w ith the remzinder being invested in the Company's shares and deferred for three years, under the Group's deferred benus plan.
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DIRECTORS” REMUNERATION REPORT continued

Long-Term Incentive Awards
Vesting of Performance Share Plan (PSP} awards (audited)
On 31 December 2016, the awards madc on 26 March 2014 under the PSP reached the end of their three year performance peried. These will vest on
26 March 27, being the third anniversary of the datc of grant, The performance conditions which applied to the 2014 PSP awards, and the actual

performance achieved against these conditions, arc set out in the table below:

Performance level hurdle

TSR relative to the FTSE 51 - 150*

Average annual adjusted EPS growth
{including the unwind of the
discount rate} in excess of RPI

Average annual adjusted EPS growth
{excluding the unwind of the discount
rate) in excess of RPI

Performance required

Below threshold
Threshold

Stretch or above
Actaal Achieved

Below Median

Median

Upper Quartile or above
18 out of 88 companies
Aboave Upper (Juartile

%ofone % of one % of one
third of third of third of
award award award
vesting Performance required vesting Performance required vesting
0% Below 5% 0% Below 5% 0%
25% At least 5% 25% At least 5% 25%
100% 16% or abave 100% 16% or above 100%
100% 19.5% 100 % 17.4% 100%

*  FISESL-150 Index excluding i estinent irusts and compames in the FTSE vil, pas and ining sectors

Accordingly, the total percentage of the 2014 PSP awards vesting was 100%, which resulted in the following awards vesting to the Executive Directors:

Total Value of

berof Per E Humb shares

shares  ofawards of shares vesting

Director granted vesting vesting {£000)*
David Bellamy 108,782 100% 109,782 1,052
Andrew Croft 73,165 100% 73,165 QL
[an Gascoigne 73,165 100% 73,165 701
[avid Lamb 73,185 100% 73,165 701

Note I:
Note 2:

The deered share price used to caleulate the value of shares vesting was £9.585 betng the three month average to 31 Deceinber 2016 (as the awards will nat actually vest until 26 March 2017)
Up 1o 3,054 shares can be exercised by cach Exccutive Director viaa linked award under 2n approsed share option scheme, with an exercise price of £8.515. f such linked award 1s excreised, a

aumber of shares equivalent to the gain achiesed upon such exercise will be lapsed from the number of PSP shares noted, and the overall value shares sesting is therelore unchanged fromn the

number set ol ahove.

Performance Share Awards Granted to the Executive Directors in 2016

Director

David Bellamy
Andrew Croft
[an Gascoigne
David Lamb

Numberof % of face

5P shares value that

Average everwhich Face value would vest

share price at award was of award  atthreshold

Type of award Basis of award granted date of grant granted® {£7000) perfarmance
Nil cost gption  200% of salary of £505,009 £9.3875 107,582 £1,010 25%
Nil cost option  190% of salary of £365,000 £9.3875 73,874 £693 25%
Nil cost option  190% of salary of £365,000 £9.3875 73,874 £693 25%
Nil cost option  190% of salary of £365,000 £9.3875 73,784 £693 25%

Note 1: The pumber of shares awarded was caleulated based on the average share price over a period of three days prior 1o the date of grant on 24 March 2016, heing £9 3875 per share. The face value of

the award figure is calculated by multiplying the number of shares awarded by the average share price figure of 49.3875.

PSP awards are structured as nil cost aptions and there is therefore no exercise price payable on exercise. Dividend equivalents acerue to the Executive
Directors between the date of grant and exercise of the award {up to a maximum of five years from date of grant), but are released only to the extent
that awards vest. Further details of the performance conditions which apply to the awards are set outin Notes 1 and 2 on page 113.
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Total Shareholder Return Performance
The graph below shows a comparison of the Company’s TSR performance against the FTSE All-Sharc index over the last eight financial years. The
Company considers this to be the most appropriate comparative index, given the broad nature of the index and the companies within it.

Total shareholder return

Source: Thomson Reuters

This graph shows the value, by 31 December 2016, of £100 invested in St James's Place on 31 December 2008 compared with the value of £100
invested in the FTSE All-Share Index. The other points plotted are the values at intervening financial year ends.

Total Remuneration for the Chief Executive
The table below shows the total remuneration figure for the Chicf Exccutive over the last cight ﬁnanciald)rcars. The total remuneration figure includes
the annual bonus and long-term incentive awards which vested based on performance in those years (and ending in that year for PSP scheme awards).

Year ending 31 December

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2018 2016
Total Remuneration £1,039,723 £1,495,600 £1,998,758 £2,410,380 £3,362,651 £3,646,514 £3,115,230 £2,523,507
Annual bonus (% of maximum) 92% 96% 63% 46% 98% 95% 93.3% 96.67%
LTIP vesting (% of maximurm) 0% 57% 83% 37% 95% 96% 100% 100%

The deemed valuc of the PSP award in the table above for 2016 is £1,132,563. Of this, £117,441 is due to increascs in the S]P share price over the
vesting period, being an inerease of 13%.

The value of long-term incentive awards for 2016 has been calculated using the average of the Company’s share price in the three month period to
31 December 2016, being £2.585, as the actual vesting date of the PSP award is on 26 March 2017, The 2015 figure for total remuncration has been
updated by substituting tﬁc three month average figure used to calculate the value of long-term incentive awards in last year’s report by a revised
figurc based on the S]P share price on the date of vesting on 21 March 2016, being £5.405,

Relative Importance of Spend on Pay
The following table sets out the percentage change in profit, dividends and overall spend on pay in the year ending 31 December 2016, compared to

the year ending 31 December 2015.

2015 2016 Percentage

£'Million £’Million change

IFRS profit after tax” 202.0 111.7 (45)%
EEV operating profit after tax” 539.2 553.5 3%
Dividends 146.5 173.8 19%
Employcc remuncration costs 121.2 150.8 24%

* Buth prior year comparatives include position one-ofis see Financial Review).
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT continued

The increase in the cmployce remuncration costs in 2016 were largely due to an increase in employee headcount, an increase to the costs of share
awards dug to the headcount inerease and the increase in the Company’s share price.

Percentage increase in the Remuneration of the Chief Executive
The table below shows the pcrccnta%le mavement in the salary, benefits and annual bonus for the Chief Exccutive between the current and previous
financial year compared to that for the average Group employee.

% change
2015to
2016
Chief Executive

Salary 2.6%
Benefits (Note 1) [6.5)%
Bonus 6.3%

Average per Employee
Salary 4.7%
Benefits (8)%
Bonus 1.7%

Note 1: See Note (i} an page 103 for further details,

Share Awards
The tables below ser out details of share awards that have been granted to individuals who were Exccutive Directors during 2016 and which bad yet to
vest ar be excreised at some point during the year.

Performance Share Plan - awards held in return for qualifying services during 2016 (audited)

Balance at Balance at
1January Granted Lapsed Exercised 31December
Director 2016 inyear™ inyeart inyeart? 1016 Dates from which exercisable
David Bellamy 176,170 371 175,807 - 21March2016 21 March 2019
109,782 109,782 26 March2017 26 March 2020
100,280 100,280 26March2018 26 March 2021
- 107,589 107,589 24 March 2019 24 March 2022
Andrew Croft 117,458 345 117,113 - 21March2018 21 March2019
73,1650 73,165 26 March2017 26 March 2020
68,9320 68,932 26 March 2018 26 March 2021
- 73,874 73,874 24March 2019 24 March 2022
lan Gascoigne 117,458" 343 117,115 - 21March2016 21 March 2019
73,1659 73,165 26 March2017 26 March 2020
68,9324 68,932 26 March 2018 26 March 2021
- 73,874 73,874 24 March 2019 24 March 2022
David Lamb 117,458¢ 346 117,112 - 2iMarch2016 21 March2018
73,1650 73,165 26 March2017 24 March 2020
68,932 68,932 26March 2018 26 March 2021
- 73,874 73,874 24March 2019 24 March 2022

Notes:

{i) These awards were made on 21 March 2013 when the St James's Place share price was £5.07. The performance period is the three year periud ending on 31 December 2015. The performance
conditions, each in respect of one-third of the 2ward, relate to (1) EPS {including the impact of the unwind uf the discount rate, as described more fully on page 46} (ii) EPS excluding the impact of the
said unwind and (ifi) TSR compared to the FTSE 250 Index, excluding investment trusts anl companies in the oil, gas and imining sectars The EPS scale starts at RP1 +5% for 25% of the anard to vest
and ends at RPL+ 6% fue 100% of the award w west, with pra rata vesting botween the said points, The TSR shding scale is betweon median and wpper quartile, with 25% of the TSR part of the sward
vesting at median. Up to 774 shares (being the maximum salue under the £30k Inland Revenue cap on ‘approved” share opticns) van be exercised via a linked award uncler an approved share option
scheme with an exercise price of L5 155

(i) These awards were made on 26 March 2014 when the St James’s Place share prive wat £8.515. The perfarmance period s the three year period ending on 31 December 2016, The three performance
conditions, each in respect of one-thurd of the award, relate to (i) EPS {including the impact of the unwind of the discount rate, as described more fully on page 46} (i) EI'S Exu[udmg the impact of the
sard uaveind and (i) TSR compared ta the FTIE §1-150 Iadew, excluding rrestarent trusts and companies in the vil, gas and mining sectors, The EPS scale starts at RPT +5% for 259 of the smavd bo
vest and ends at RPI +16% for 100% of the award to vest, with pro rala vesting between the said points. The TSR shding scale is betweea median and upper quartite, with 25% of the TSR part of (he
award vedting at median. Up t0 3,054 shares {heing the maximum salye under the £30k Inland Resenue vap on ‘approved” share options) can be excreised via 2 linked award under an approve share
optioh scheme with an exercise price of £8.515,

(i} These awards were made on 26 March 2015 when the St James's Place share price was £9.45. The performance period is the three year period ending on 31 December 2017. The three preformance
conditions, cach in tespect alene-third af the award, celate to (i} EES giacluding the impact of the wiwind of the discount rate, 2s deserthed mare fully on page 46) (i) BPS excluding the impact of the
said unwind and! (i) TSR compared 1o the FTSE 51-150 Index, excluding investnient trusts and companies in the oil, gas and mining sectors. The EES scale starts 2l RPT +5% For 25% of the award to
vestand ends at RP1 +16% tor 100% of the award to veat, with pro rata vesting between the said pomts. The TSR sliding scale Is between median and upper quartile, with 25% of the TSR part of the
award sesting at median,
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{is) These awards were made on 24 March 2016 when the 5t. James's Flace share price was £9.10. The performance period is the three year period ending on 31 December 2018. The three performance
conditions, each in respect of one-third of the award, relate to (i) EPS (including the impact of the unwind of the discount rate, as deseribed more fully on page 46) i) EPS cxcluding the impact of the
said unwind and (iii) TSR compared to the FTSE 51-150 Index, excluding investment trusts and companies in the oil, gas and mining sectors. The EPS scale starts at RPI +5% for 25% ol the award to
vest and ends at RP1 +16% for 100% of the aw ard to vest, with pro rata vesting between the said points. The TSR shding scale 1s between median and upper quartile, with 25% of the TSR part of the

award v esting at median.

(v) These awards automatically lapsed in respect of a number of Vested Award Shares equal in value to the gain realised upon exercise of the Company Share Cption Plan (CSOP) share option.
ivi} All four Directors exercised their 2013 PSP awards in 2016.

Deferred Bonus Scheme - Shares held during 2016 (audited)
The table below sets out details of the awards held by the Directors under the deferred element of the annual bonus scheme during 2016:

Balance at Balance at
1lJanuary Released during Awardedduring 31 December
Directar 2016 yeart! year 201688 Vesting Date
Dravid Bellamy 24,561 24,591 - 21 March 2016
33,924 33,924 26 March 2017
37,252 37,252 26 March 2018
- 37,721 37,721 24 March 2019
Andrew Croft 17,769 17,763 - 21 March 2016
24,556 24,556 26 March 2017
26,955 26,955 26 March 2018
- 27,294 27,294 24 March 2019
lan Gascoigne 17,769 17,769 - 21 March 2016
24,556 24,556 26 March 2017
26,955 26,955 26 March 2018
- 27,294 27,294 24 March 2019
David Lamb 17,769 17,769 - 21 March 2016
24,556 24,556 26 March 2017
26,955 26,955 26 March 2018
- 27,294 27,294 24 March 2019
Notes:

(i) These deferred share awards were awarded on 21 March 2013 equal in value to the Fxecutive's 2012 annual cash bonus. The 5t. James's Place share price on the date of the award was £5.07 andl the

exercise price on 24 March 2016 was £9.2425.

(i) These deferred share awards were awarded on 24 March 20186, equal in value to the Executive’s 2015 annual cash bonus. These shares will be held for a restricted period ending on 24 March 2019.

The price used to caleulate the award was the three day average prior to the invitation (14th, 15th and 16th March 2016) which was £3.13.
(i} Cutstanding awards at the year-end relate o deferred share awards awarded in 2014, 2015 and 2016 (sec (ii) above). The share price used to calculate the 2014 award was £8.515 and the 2015

award was £9.45,

(iv} Further detasls of the deferred element of the annua! bonus scheme ate set out on page 97. Dividends acerue to the Executive Directors during the three year period while the shares are subject

to forfeitire.

SAYE Share Option Scheme - shares held during 2016 (audited)
Details of the options held by the Directors in 2016 under the SAYE scheme and any movements during the year are as follows:

Options Options
held at held at
1 January Granted Lapsed Exercised 31December Exercise
Director 2016 inyear inyear inyear 2016 price Dates from which exercisable
Andrew Croft 1,219 1,219 £7.38 1 May 2018 31 October 2018
lan Gascoigne 1,243 1,243 £7.24 1 November 2018 30 April 2019
David Lamb 1,243 1,243 £7.24 1 November 2018 30 April 2019

Note:
(i) At 31 December 2016 the mid-market price lor St

. James's Place shares was £10.14. The range of prices between 1 January 2016 and 31 December 2016 was between £7.16 and L10.14.
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DIRECTORS REMUNERATION REPORT continued

Share Incentive Plan - shares Aeld during 2016 (audited)
The table below scts out details of the awards held by the Directors under the Share Incentive Plan during 2016:

Balance at Partnership Matching Dividend Balance at

1 y shareg all d sharesallocated sharesallocated 31 December
Director 2016 during year during yeart? during yeardit 2016  Holding Period {matching shaves)
Andrew Croft 6472 542 26 Mar 2010 to 26 Mar 2013
325 325 26 Mar 2014 1o 26 Mar 2017
167 167 26 Mar 2015 to 26 Mar 2018
- 159 15 174 24 Mar 2016 to 24 Mar 2019
lan Gascoigne 502 502 26 Mar 2010 to 26 Mar 2013
210 210 26 Mar 2014 to 26 Mar 2017
167 167 26 Mar 2015 to 26 Mar 2018
- 159 15 172 24 Mar 20116 to 24 Mar 2019

Notes:

(i) Partnership shares are shares awarded in retyrn for an investment of between £10and £1,500. Partnership shares were anarded for both Directors on 24 March 2016 a1 2 price of £9,3875 per share, in
return for £1,500 being deducted from pre-tax salary.

{if) For every wn partnership shares acquired, the Company awards one matching share. Matching shares were alse avarded on 24 March 2016 10 relation 1o the parinership shares mentioned abuve,

tiif) The partnership, dividend and matching shares will be held by an employee benefit trust on behalf of the Director. The matching and dividend shares must be heid for 3 minimum period of three years

from the date of the award,
Between 2 January 2017 and 27 February 2017 therc were no excrcises or other dealings in the Company's share awards by the Directors.
Share Interests and Shareholding Guidelines (audited}
The Exceutive Divectors are required to build up a sharehelding equivalent to 150% of salary, and a further 50% of salary in shares and/or in one or

more St. James's Place fund portfolios. All of the Executive Directors have met the sharcholding guideline.

Directors’ Interests in Shares

Sharesheldat  Sharesheld at % of base salary held
1January 31 December in SJPshares as at

Directer 2016 2016 31 December 2016
David Bellamy 1,263,080 1,289,203 2,589%
Andrew Croft 850,567 935,925 2,600%
lan Gascoigne 692,520 735,773 2,055%
David Lamb 461,345 501,835 1,394%
Sarah Bates 13,500 13,500

lain Cornish - -

Simon Je{freys 18,364 18,364

Baroness Wheatcroft 2,500 2,500

Roger Yates 10,000 10,000

Notes:

(i) Caleulated using the mid market price at 31 December 2016 ol L1014,

(i) The interests of the Directors include those of their Connected Persons as delined in section 96B(2) of the Fipancial Services and Markets Act,

(i) The {nterests of the Exceutive Dirrctors set aut above include duferred bonus scheme aw ards held in wust ov the Directars, details of which are setout on page 109, The intevests of the Exvoutive
Direetors also include awards under the Share Incentive Plan, details of which are set ot on page 110,

(iv) The Company’s register of Directors’ interests contains full details of Directors” sharcheldings and any share awards under the Cumpany's various share schemes.

() Disclosure of the Directors’ interests in share awards is given on pages 108 10 110 of the Remuneration Repart and aiso in Note 24 Related Party Transactions,

Between 2 January 2017 and 27 February 2017 there were no transactions in the Company’s shares by the Diccctors.
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Executive Directors’ shareholdings and outstanding share awards

Outstanding

Outstanding

Beneficially owned PSP awards SAYE options DBS awards SIP shares

at 31 December {performance {no performance {no performance {no performance

Executive Director 2016! conditions)™ conditions)" conditions)™ conditions}*

David Bellamy 1,289,203 317,651 - 108,897 -

Andrew Croflt 935,925 215,971 1,219 78,805 1,308

lan Gascoigne 739,773 215,971 1,243 78,805 1,053

David Lamb 501,835 215,971 1,243 78,805 -
Notes:

(i) Beneficially owned shares include those DBS Awards and SIF Shares st out in columns (iv) and {+) above.

(i} Details on the PSP awards are set out on page 108,
(iii) Dietails on the SAYE options are set on page 109,
(iv} Details on DBS awards are set vut on page 103.

{+) Details on the S1P shares are set out on page 110,

Dilution

Dilution limits agreed by shareholders at the time of sharcholder approval of the various long-term incentive schemes allow for the following:
* Up to 10% of share capital in ten years to be used for grants to employees and members of the 5t. James’s Place Partnership under all share schemes

i.e. both the employee and ‘Partner’ share schemes; and

* Upto 5% of share capital in ten years to be used for grants to cmployccs under discrctiunary schemes.

The table below sets out, as at 31 December 2016, the number of new ordinary shares in the Company which have been issued, or are capable of being

issued (subject to the satisfaction of any applicable performance conditions) as a result of options or awards granted under the various long-term

incentive schemes operated by the Company in the ten years prior to 31 December 2016.

Number of new % of totalissued

ardinary shares of share capital as at

Share S5cheme 15 pence each 31 December 2016
SAYE schemes 4,246,684 C.B1%
Executive share schemes 10,721,865 2.03%
Partners’ share schemes 9,368,513 1.78%
Total 24,337,062 4.62%

Irr addition, as at 31 December 2016, the Group’s Employee Share Trust held 1,330,156 shares in the Company which were acquired to meet awards
made under the PSP, executive share option schemes and awards made under the Deferred Bonus Scheme to Irish employees. In addition a further
1,272,805 shares arc held to meet awards made in 2015 and 2016 under the Deferred Bonus Scheme and 300,948 shares are held to mect awards made

in 2016 under the Restricted Share Plan,

A further 535,448 shares, registered to employees under the terms of the Group's Deferred Bonus Scheme, have been allocated by the Greup’s
Employee Share Trust for awards made in 2014. Thesc shares are allocated to the relevant individuals on a restricted basis whereby the recipients
are not cntitled to the shares until completion of the three year restricted period, Further details of the Deferrcd Bonus Scheme are sct out ¢n

page 97.

Interests in Shares Held in Trusts

Certain Executive Directors and employces are deemed to have an interest or a potential interest as potential discretionary beneficiarics under the

St. James's Place Employcc Sharc Trust. As such, they were treated as at 31 December 2016 as bcing interested in 2,348,511 ordinary shares off
15 pence in the Company, such shares being held by § G Hambros Trust Company (Channel Islands) Limited, the trustee of that trust.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT continued

Statement of Shareholding Voting at AGM
At [ast year’s AGM held on 4 May 2016, the Dircctors” Remuneration Report received the fuilowing vates from shareholders:

R ation Report
Total number of votes % of votes cast
For 407,906,771 99.52
Apgainst 1,611,323 0.39
Discretion® 359,800 0.02
Total 409,877,900 100
Abstentions 5,199,778

*  Discretion - of which 358,347 votes were proay votes lodged in favour of the Charr,

Committee Membership and Attendance at the Committee Meetings
The membership and terms of reference of the Commitice are reviewed annually and the terms of reference are available on the Company’s website.

The members of the Committee are Simon Jeffreys, Baroness Wheatcroft and Roger Yates. Therc have been six Committee meetings during the
year and all the members (as well as the Chair of the Board) attended each of the meetings (details of attendance at those meetings can be found on page 75).

Advisers to the Committee

The Committee appointed independent remuneration consultants New Bridge Street (NBS) to advise on remuneration matters gencrally and this appointment
is revicwed annually by the Committee. NBS is a signatory to the Remuneration Consultants’ Code of Corduct, which requiresits advice to be impartial and
NBS has conﬁrmcdyto the Committee its compliance with the Code.

The total fees paid 1o NBS for the advice provided to the Committee during the year were £94,688 {cxcluding VAT), Fees are charged on a “time spent” basis.

NBS has not provided any other services te the Company during the year. However, certain subsidiaries of Aon ple, the parent company of NS, have provided
some investment advisory services to the Company during 2016 for which the fecs were £50,000 (excluding YAT). The Committee has been advised of the
basis on which NBS is organised and managed as part of the wider Aon organisation and the basis on which its stafl are remunerated and is satisficd that the
additional services provided by other Aon group cormpanies did not in any way compromisc the independencc of advice provided by NBS to the Committee.

The Committee also secks internal support from the CEQ, CFO, Chair of the Board, Chair of Risk Committce, Chief Risk Ofticer and the
Compm-g Secretary. Mo Director is present at any part of a meeting of the Committee when their individual remuneration or contractual terms are being
discussed.

Engagement with Shareholders
The Committee is updated on the latest vicws of major shareholders (and their representative bodies) throu%h mcetings with investors (and their
representative bodies) and from various written communications received, including published guidelines, The Chair of the Committee is happy to

mcet with shareholders on request to discuss any concerns regarding remuneration issues, should they arise.

How the Policy will be Applied for 2017
2017 salary review
The base salaries of the Executive Directors are being increased in 2017, The current salaries as 2t } March 2016 and from 1 March 2017 are as foliows:

Salary from Salary from Increase from
Director 1March 2016 1March 2017 1March 2017
David Bellamy £505,000 £520,000 3%
Andrew Croft £365,000 £376,000 3%
ian Gascoigne £365,000 £376,000 3%
David Lamb £365,000 £376,000 3%

Annual bonus for 2017
The Executive Directors’” maximum bonus opportunity for 2017 will be the same as for 2016 being 150% of salary. Half of the annual bonus will be
determined hy EEV operating profit and hal by key strategic targets.

50% of the annual bonus carned for performance in 2017 will be paid in vash and the remaining 50% will be deferred in $)1 shares for a three year
period and subject to continued service.

The EEV opcrating prolit target set by the Committec is based on a sliding scale to progressively reward incremental performance. The BEV resultis
calculated based of “best estimate” assumptions and any deviation or changes from these assumptions are reported as an experience variance or an
operating assumption change. In setting tfnc operdting profit target for thcjenr it is assumed the combined operating cxperience variance and
operating assumption changes will have 2 neutral impact en the outcomc for the year. In setting the 2017 EEV Operating Profit target, the Committee
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maintained the new business and expense growth objectives at the same level as in previous years. However, it was recognised that, in comparison to
the 2016 operating profit target, the 2017 contribution to DEerating profit from the unwind ol the discount rate will be impacted negatively, by the
lower discount rate, following the 0.7% reduction in the UK ten-year government gilt yicld.

The Board considers that the Fcrforrnance targets for the annual bonus are commercially sensitive and is not disclosing them at this time. The
performance metrics and performance against them will be disclosed in the 2017 Remuneration Report to the extent that they do not remain
commercially sensitive at that time.

The team element of the 2017 annual bonus will be assessed by refercnce to key strategic targets based around the 2017 business plan, includin
elements relating to clicnts, sharcholders and other key stakeholders. Specific objectives include: the delivery of excellent service to the Group's clicnts
as measured by surveys and other client feedback; continuing to enhance the range of investment funds and maintaining strong investment
performance; the successful reeruitment and retention of high quality Partners and Advisers; successfully implementing the next phase of the
administration system and transferring certain existing assets onto that system; successfully controlling and mitigating the material risks that could
impact the Group; and maintaining the Gmup's good relations with its shareholders and rcgulators.

Performance Share Plan awards for 2017
The Exccutive Directors will each receive a PSP award in 2017 of 2009 of salary.

Awards will be subject ta a relative TSR performance condition for one-third of the award and earnings per share growth targets for two-thirds of the

award as follows:.

TSR relative to the FTSE 51 to 150

Average annual adjusted EPS
growth (including the unwind of
the discount rate) in excess of RPI

Average annual adjusted EPS
growth {excluding the unwind of
the discount rate) in excess of RPI

{Note 1) {Note 2) {Note 2}
Performance % of one third of Performance % of one third of Performance % of one third of
Performance level hurdle required award vesting required award vesting required award vesting
Below threshold Below Median 0% Below 5% 0% Below 5% 0%
Threshold Median 25% Atleast 5% 25% At least 5% 25%
Stretch or above Upper Quartile or above 100%  16%orabove 100%  16% or above 100%

Note I: FTSE 51 to 150, exr]uding investment trusts and companies in the FTSE oil, gas producers and mining sectors. Straigh[ line vesting oecurs in between threshold and maxinum vesting.

Note 2: The first EPS performance condition is calculated by relerence (o adjusted consalidated profit after tax on the EEV basis of accounting for both the life and unit trust businesses {on 2 fully diluted
per share basis). The effect of the adjustment to the consolidated alter tax figures will be 1o strip out the post-tax EEV investment variance and any economic assumption change in the final yrar of
the performance period as these factors are not within the control ol management and can produce wide variations to reported earnings due to stock market fluctuarions. However, this measure of
EPS s still impacted by stock market movements in the prior year duc ta the impact ol any such movements on the unwind of the discount rate in the current year.

The secand EFS performance condition is calculated in a similar way to the first EPS condition, save that 2 further adjusument is made to strip out the impact of the unwind of the discount rate. This
adjustment eliminates any directimpact of stack market volatility and changes in the ecanomic assumptions throughout the whole three-year period of the performance condition.

Straight hne vesting occurs in between threshold and maximum vesting.

Fees for the Chair and Non-executive Directors for 2017

The fees for the Chair and Non-executive Directors from 1 January 2016 to 31 December 2016 are as set out in column 1 below, For 2017, in
recognition of their increased workload, regulatory responsibilitics and the size of the Group, the fees of the Chair have been increased by 3%, the
Non-exccutive Directors base fees have been increased by 3%, the Committee Chairs” fee has been increased by 3% and the Senior Independent
Director fees have been increased by 100%, The 2017 [ee levels are set out in column 2 of the table below,

¢} {2) (3
Fees from Fees from Percentage
1Januaryto 1January to increase
31December 31 December from
2016 2017 2016
Chair £190,000 £195,700 396
Base fee £59,945 £61,745 3%
Committee Chair £20,000 £20,600 3%
£2,780 £5,560 100%

Senior Independent Director

Note: No Committee membership fies are payable.

This report was approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf by:

Roger Yates
Chair nglhc Remuneration Commirtee

27 February 2017
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Dirccrors (as set out on pages 68 and 69) present their Reportand
the Annual Report and Accounts and the audited consolidated financial
staternents of the Greup for the year ended 31 December 2016.

The content of the ‘Management Report” required by the UK Financial
Conduct Autherity’s (FCA) Disclosure and Transparency Rule DTR4.1
can be found in the Strategic Report and Governance seclions of the
Annual Report and Accounts. An indication of likely future
developments can also be found in these sections.

Information disclosed in acvordance with the requirements of the
sections of the UK Financial Conduct Authority’s Listing Rule LR9.8
(Annual Financial Reporty that are applicable can be found in the
following scctions:

The Directors’ Remuneration
Report

Details of Long-term Incentive
Schemes

Contracts of Signilicance This Directors’ Report

Sharcholder Waivers of Dividends  This Directors’ Report

Sharcholder Waivers of Future
Dividends

This Directors’ Report

The Dircctors’ Remuneration
Report

Directors’ Interests in the
Company's Sharcs

Major Shareholders’ Interests This Directors’ Report

Authority to Purchase Own Shares Corporate Governance Statement

Status of Company
The Company is registered as a public limited company under the
Companies Act 2006,

For details of the Company’s subsidiaries and overseas branches, please
see pages 180 and 181.

Share Capital

Structure of the Company’s Capital

Asat 31 December 2016, the Company’s issued and fully paid up share
capital was 527,482,348 ordinary shares of 15 pence cach, Al ordinary
shares are quoted on the London Stock Exchange and can be held in
uncertificated form via CREST. Details of the movement in the issued
share capital during the year are provided in Note 19 to the financial
statements on page 170,

Voting Rights
Atany General Meeting, on a show ol hands, cach member who is
present in person has one vote and cvery proxy present who has been

duly appointed by a member entitled to vote on a resolution has one vote.

On a pell, every member who is present in person or by proxy shall have
one vote for every share of which he is the holder.
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Restrictions on Voting Rights

Ifany shareholder has been scnt a notice by the Cormpany under section
793 of the Companies Act 2006 and failed to supply the relevant
information for a period of 14 days, then the sharcholder may not

(for so long as the default continues) be entiticd to attend or vote
either personally or by proxy at a shareholders’” meeting, or to

exercise any other right conferred by membership in relation to
sharcholders’ meetings.

If those default shares represent at least 0.25% of their class, any dividend
payable in respect of the shares will be withheld by the Company and
(subject to certain limited exceptions) no transfer, other than an
excepted transfer, of any sharcs held by the member in certificated form
will be registered.

Articles of Association

The full rights and obligations attaching to the ordinary shares of the
Company arc set out in the Company's Articles. The Articles can be
amended by a special resolution of the members of the Company and
copies can be obtained from Companies House. Holders of ordinary
shares are entitled to reccive the Company’s Reports and Accounts;
attend, speak and excrcise voting rights; and appeint proxics fo attend
General Meetings.

The Company proposes to amend its Articles at its forthcoming Annual
General Mecting to increase the aggregate limit of non-cxecutive
remuneration, which has not increased since 2010, so as to ensure the
Board has sufficient flexibility to adhere to the Remunceration Policy and
meet the needs of succession plans in the future, [naddition, a change to
the membership and quorum requirements for the Company’s Executive
Board is proposed o that its constitution aligns with the requirements of
a growing business, Other minor clarification changes are also being
proposed and details arc contained in the Notice of Annual General
Meeting,

Restrictions on Share Transfers

‘There are restrictions on share transfers, all of which are set out in the
Articles. Restrictions include transfers made in favour of more than four
joint holders and translers held in certificated form. Dircctors may
decling to recognise a transfer, unless it is in respect of only one class of
share and lodged {and duly stamped) with the Transfer Officc. The
Directors may also refuse to register any transfer of shares held in
certificated form which are not fully paid. Directors may also choose to
decline requests for share transfers from a US Person (as defined under
Regulation § of the United States Securitics Act 1933) that would cause
the aggregate numiwer of beneficial owners of issucd shares whe are US
Persons to exceed 70.

The registration ol transfers may be suspended at such times and for such
periods (not exceeding 30 days in any year} as the Directors may from

time to time determine in respect of any class of shares.

The Company is not aware of any agreements between sharchalders that
restrict the transler of shares or voting rights attached to the shares.
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Substantial Shareholders
As at 22 February 2017, the Company had been notified of the following interests disclosed to the Company under Disclosure and Transparency
Rule 5;

Holding at % held at Holding at % held at
Shareholder 31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2016* 22 Feb 2017 22 Feb 2017
Ameriprise Financial Inc 28,184,508 5.38 28,184,506 3.38
BlackRock, Inc 26,992,901 511 26,992,901 5.11
Prudential ple N/A N/A 27,682,923 5.24
FMR LLC 26,126,505 5.03 26,126,505 5.03
The Capital Group Companics, Inc 25,481,770 4.83 25,481,770 4.83

*  Percentage provided was correct at the date of notification
The interests of the Dircctors, and any persons closely associated, in the issued share capital of the Company are shown on page 110.

Results and Dividends

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income is on page 127 and IFRS profit after tax for the financial year attributable to equity sharcholders
decreased to £112.2 million from £202.2 million in the prior year, principally due to recognition of £74.8 million of capital losses in the prior ycar.
The profit before tax increased from £174,1 million to £486.3 million in the current year, principally due to the increase in charges deducted from
Life Investment business in respect of policyholder tax, which is subsequently due to HMRC, as explained on page 38. This movemnent was mainly
driven by relative investment performance in the year, reflecting the fact that the investment return was more positive in 2016 than the prior year,
The profit before tax was also impacted negatively by the £22.9 million movement in DAC/DIR/PVIF intangibles, which is explained on page 36.

An interim dividend of 12.33 pence per share, which equates to £64.8 million, was paid on 30 September 2016 (2015: 10.72 pence per share/£56.0
million). The Dircctors recommend that shareholders approve a final dividend of 26.67 pence per share, which equates to £109 million (2015: final
dividend of 17.24 pence per share/£90.4 million) to be paid on 12 May 2017 to sharcholders on the register at the close of business on 7 April 2017.

Details of the Dividend Reinvestment Plan (ORP) are set out on page 196.

Our People
Details of the Company’s approach to maintaining an appropriately skilled and diverse workforce can be found in the Gur People sectien of the
Business Model on page 18,

The Company is committed to attracting and retaining talented people of both genders, and indeed of diverse skills and mind-sets in the widest sense.
The Company has a policy of ensuring that no discrimination takes place with regards to its job applicants and employces. Appointments and
promotions are made based on fair and considered judgements, with the individuals being assessed on their merits and skill sets, We need to make sure
we are not unwittingly excluding any particular group from the oppertunities we can offer or depriving ourselves of people who cauld bring bencfits

to our community.
We strive to give full and fair consideration to applications from and promotions of disabled people, having regard to their particular aptitudes and
abilitics, and, wherc appropriate, we will consider modifications to the working environment so they can take up epportunities or enhance their role.

We will similarly make every effort in the event of an employce becoming ill or disabled, for cxample, by arranging appropriate training.

We believe that, by adopting best practice principles, we seck to ensure that our responsibilities are met as an equal opportunity employer and that
everyone <an enjoy an environment free from discrimination ol'any sort.

The right to collective bargaining has not been exercised by any of the Company’s employees, however were they to do so, the Company would look te
comply with due process,

The Company considers it important to provide its employces with a balanced work and home life, and does not expect its empleyees to work
exocessive hours,

The Company has a calendar of regular communication with employees and this includes a bi-annual employee satisfaction survey, the most recent of
which was conducted in 2016.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT continued

The Company also offers a range of development options which reflect business priorities and offer employces the opportunity to grow their carcers
withir: the Group. Such oppertunities inelude:

*  An apprenticeship programme offering opportunitics in a range of roles across the organisation;

* A rotational graduate programme providing diverse experience across the arganisation;

+ Higher Education partnerships delivering training and relevant qualifications within the wealth management industry;

*  Membership of the Institute of Customer Service;

= Arolling programme of Knowledge Development Mcetings;

*  Support for cmployees secking externally recognised professional qualifications;

* Management development activities for those with the interest and ahility to develop their carcers as leaders in the business; and

* Specific development programmes for the more specialist roles within the Company’s Field Management Team.

As a Company, we believe that equity participation for employecs, through the use of employee share plans, allows and encourages employces to feel a
sense of gwnership and sharc in the Company's success.

Bribery Act 2010

The Board is responsible for the oversight of the Company’s anti-bribery, corruption and whistleblowing policies and procedures. During 2016, the
Company carried out its annual review of the adequacy of the policics established with the aim to prevent bribery and corruption by person associated
with the Group. This included reviewing the Anti-Bribery and Corruption Palicy Statement, along with other related policies and procedures, and
providing training to employces and Partners with regards to moncy laundering, financial crime, fraud, bribery and corruption via online training
programmes, the completion of which is compulsory,

The Company also has a Whistleblowing palicy, and encourages employces, Partners and other interested parties to report any instances of
wrungdﬂing, anonymousl_y, to cither the Chair of the Audit Committce or the Meney Laundcring Reporting Officer.

During 2016, no employees or Partners were disciplined or dismissed due to non-compliance with the Anti-Bribery and Corruption policics and ne
fines were levied against the Company in relation to bribery or corruption.

The Anti-Bribery and Corruption Policy Statement and the Whistleblowing Policy and procedures are available to all employces and Partners via the
Company’s intranet.

Significant Contracts and Change of Control
The Company has a number of contractual arrangements which it considers essential to the business of the Company. Specifically, these are
committed loan facilitics from a number of banks and arrangements with third party providers of administrative services.

A change of contre! of the Company may cavse some agreements to which the Company is a party to alter or terminate. These inclade bank facility
agrcemcnls and employcc Share Pians.

The Group had committed facilities tatalling £307 million as at 22 February 2017 which contain clauses which require lender consent for any change
of control. In addition, the Group guarantees the obligations of loans madc to Partners in connection with facilities agrecd with various lenders
totalling £137 million in aggregate. Should consent not be given, a change of control would trigger m:mdatory repayment of the said facilities.

All the Company’s employce sharce plans contain provisions relating to a change of control. Outstanding awards and options may vest and become
exercisable on a change of control, subject where appropriate to the satisfaction of any performance conditions at that time and pro-rating of awards.

Financial Instruments
Ar indication of the Group’s ust of {inancial instraments can be foand in the notes to the financial statements on pages 157 1o 167,

Directors’ Indemnity
Details of the indemnity provisions in place for the Directors, including qualifying third party indemmity provisions, van be found on page 74

Political Donations
It is the Group's policy not to make any donations to political parties within the meaniag of the definitions set out in the Political Parties, Elections
and Referendums Act 2000 and sections 362 to 379 of the Companies Act 2006.

Annual General Meeting

The Company’s Annual General Meeting will be held on Wednesday, 4 May 2017 at The Royal Aeronantical Society, 4 Hamilton Place, London W1J
7BQ at 11.00am.
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Going Concern

In conjunction with its assessment of longer term viability as set out on
page 50, the Board concluded that it remained appropriate to adapt the
going concern basis OfilCCOunting in preparing the consolidated financial
statements as it believes the Group will continue to be in business, with
neither the intention nor the necessity of liquidation, ceasing trading or
secking protection from creditors pursuant to laws or regulations for a
period of at least twelve months from the date of approval of the Group
[inancial statements.

Disclosure of Information to Auditors

Each of the Directors, at the date of approval of this report,

confirms that:

* o far as cach Dircctor is aware, there is no relevant audit information
of which the auditors are unaware; and

* each Director has taken all steps that thcy ought to have takenas a
Director to make themsclves aware of any relevant audit information
and to establish that the Company’s anditors is aware of such
information.

This confirmation is given and should be intcrpreted in accordance with
the provisions of section 418 of the Companies Act 2006,

Independent Auditors

As indicated by the Chair of the Audit Committee in the Annual Report
last year, it was expected that, in the best interests of shareholders, the
external andit contract would be tendered during 2016 in respect of the
2017 ycar-cnd audit. A competitive tender process was undertaken by the
Audit Committee (further details of which can be found in the Audit
Committee’s Report) and the Board subsequently agreed to recommend to
sharcholders the reappointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP {(PwC)
at the Annual General Meeting on 4 May 2017.

On behalf of the Board
David Bellamy Andrew Croft
Chief Executive Chigf Financial Qfficer

27 February 2017
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS” RESPONSIBILITIES

The Directors are responsibie for preparing the Annual Report, the
Directors’ Remuneration Report and the financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for
cach finangial year. Under that law the Directors have prepared the
Group financial statements in accordance with International Financial
Reparting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, and the
Parent Company (inancial statements in accordance with United
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice {United Kingdom
Accounting Standards and applicable law). Under company law the
Directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are
satisficd that they give a true and fair view of the staie of affairs of the
Group and the Parent Company and of the protit or loss of the Group for
that period. In preparing these financial statements, the Directors are
required to:

*  select suitable zccounting policies and then apply them consistently;

* make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and
prudent;

*  state whether IFRSs as adopted by the European Union and applicable
UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained in the Group and Parent
Company financial statcments respectively; and

+ prepare the financial statements on the going concern hasis unless it is
inappropriate ta presuzme that the Company will continue in business,

The Dircetors are responsible for keeping adequate 2ccounting records
that are sufficient to show and explain the Group and Parent Company’s
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the
{inancial position of the Company and the Group and enable them o
ensure that the financial statements and the Directors’ Remuneration
Report comply with the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the Group
financial statcments, Article 4 of the 1AS Regolation. They are also
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and the Group
and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of
fraud and other irregularitics.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the
Group's website. Legistation in the United Kingdom governing the
preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from
]cgislation in other jurisdictions.

118 [ St. James's Place ple ( Annual Repart and Accounts 2016

Each of the Dircctors, whose names and functions are listed in the Board
of Directors scction of the Annual Report confirm that, to the best of
their knowledge:

*  the Group financial statcrnents, which have been prepared in
accordance with IERSs as adopted by the EU, give a true and fair
view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit of
the Group;

*  the Parent Company financial statements, which have been prepared
in zccordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice give a true and fair view of the assets, liahilities, financial
position and profit of the Parent Company; and

*  the Strategic Report inchudes a fair review of the development and
performance of the business and the position of the Company and
Group, mgether witha description of the principa‘ risks and
uncertainties that it faces.

By order of the Board

Elizabeth Kelly
Company Secretary
27 February 2017
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
ST. JAMES’S PLACE PLC

REPORT ON THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our opinion

In our opinivn, St. James's Place plc’s group financial statements (the ‘financial statements’):

* givcatrue and fair view of the state of the group’s affairs as at 31 December 2016 and of its profit and cash flows for the year then ended;

*  have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards ('1FRSs’) as adopted by the European Union; and
*  have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

What we have audited

The financial statements, included within the Annual Report and Accounts (the ‘Annual Report’), comprise:

* the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2016;

*  the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year then ended;

+ the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended;

+ the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the year then ended; and

*  the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Certain required disclosures have been presented clsewhere in the Annual Report, rather than in the notes to the financial statements. Thesc are
cross-referenced from the financial statements and arc identified as audited.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the financial statements is IFRS as adopted by the European Union, and
applicable law.

Our audit approach

Context

This year’s audit focused on the core aspects of the business such as the valuation of financial investments, the recoverability of the prepayment assct
linked to the new administration system developed at an outsourced provider and the risk of fraud in revenue recognition. Developments during the
year included the completion of the acquisition of the Rowan Dartington Group, as well as the acquisition of two smaller entities.

Overview
Materiality
*  Overall group materiality: £24.25 miltion which represents 5% of profit before tax.

Auditscope

*  The Group financial statements comprise the consolidation of approximately 60 individuzl components, each of which represents an individual
cntity within the Group or consolidation adjustments,

*  We assessed each component and considered the contribution it made to the Group’s profit before tax, whether it displayed any significant risk
characteristics or whether it contributed a significant amount to any individual financial statement line item.

*  Theabove asscssment resulted in us identifying ten components that required audit procedures for the purpose of the audit of the Group
financial statements.

*  Ninc of the compenents are based in the UK and werc audited by the PwC UK Group audit team. The remaining component is based in the
Republic of Ircland and was audited by PwC Dublin,

* By performing audit procedures on these ten components we achieved greater than 90% coverage of each material financial staternent line item
within the Group financial statcments.

Areas of focus

* Risk of fraud in revenuc recognition.

*  Valuation of the prepayment asset in respect of the development of an administration platform at an outsourced provider.
*  Recognition and disclosure of new acquisitions.

»  Valuation of investments with a judgemental valuation, being investment property and derivatives,

The scope of our gudit and our areas of focus
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) (‘ISAs (UK & Irclandy’).

We designed our audit by determining materiality and asscssing the risks of material misstatermnent in the nancial statements. In particular, we looked
at where the Directors made subjective judgements, for example in respect of significant accounting estimates that involved making assumptions and
considering future cvents that arc inherently uncertain. As in all of eur audits we also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls,
including evaluating whether there was evidence of bias by the directors that represented a risk of material misstatement duc to fraud.

The risks of material misstatement that had the greatest effect on our audit, including the allocation of our resources and effort, are identified as ‘arcas
of focus’ in the table below. We have also set out how we tailored our audit to address these specific arcas in order to provide an opinion on the
linancial statements as a whale, and any comments we make on the results of our procedures should be read in this context. This is not a complete bist
of all risks identificd by our audit,

126 l St., Jalnes’s Place p]C Annual Repart and Accounts 2016 Registered Noo 03193415



Area of focus

How our audit addressed the area of focus

Veluation of the prepayment asset in respect of the development of an
administration platform at an outsourced provider

The Group is charged costs b}' [FDS in respect of ensuring operational
readiness of a new polic:)' administration platform. These costs are
recoghised as a prepayment to be unwound over the duration of the
related service agreement with IFDS. The balance of the prepayment at
31 December 2016 was £121m, The maximum prepayment that can be
rccugniscd is capped at the net present value of future cost savings.

Duc to the naturc and magnitude of the amounts arising from the
contractual terms the valuation of the prepayment asset was an area of’
audit focus.

In testing whether the asset was valued appropriatcly and whether an

impairment was necessary we:

* agreed amounts capitalised in the year back to the service
agreement and cash payments to IFDS,

* assessed the reasonableness of the assumptions underlying
management’s discounted cash flow calculating the anticipated cost
savings that support the valuation of the prepaid cost asset in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

We also agreed the cost savings for 2016 to the new service tariffs
against the legacy platform rariff. We psrlbrmcd a sensitivity analysis
on the inflation and discount rate assumptions as well as business flow
to determinc the potential impact of changes in these variables on the
present value of future savings to check whether they would affect the
carrying value of the assct this year.

We noted no material exceptions in our procedurcs and we determined
that the disclesure of the transactions in the financial staternents
was appropriate.

Recognition and disclosure gfnew acquisitions

During 2016 the Group completed three acquisitions. [FRS 3 requires
that, when businesses are acquired, management calculate the fair value
of the assets and liabilities acquired, as well as the total consideration
paid (including deferred or contingent consideration). The excess of the
considcration over the net fair value ol assets and liabilities is then
recorded as goodwill. Calculating fair values of assets and liabilities and
the potential valuc of Contingcnt consideration often requires
judgements and estimates, as such, this was an area of focus for

our audit,

The most significant of the acquisitions, that of the Rowan Dartington
Group (‘RD’), was agreed in principle prior to the 2015 accounts being
signed and was disclosed asa subscqucnt cvent fa]lowing lcgal
completion. We performed audit work over this disclosure, including
the initial calculation of fair value adjustments as part of the 2015 audit.

In 2016 we have audited the adjustments made to the RD calculation
compared to that used at the 2015 year end. The key change was in
respect to the subsequent sale of a subsidiary within the RD group, which
achieved a value in excess of that included in the 2015 calculation of *fair
value of assets acquired’. We agreed adjustments back to supporting
documentation such as the sale and purchase agreement.

For the other acquisitions in 2016, we obtained and reviewed the sale
and purchasc agreement and agreed that the accounting entries postcd
by management were in line with the details in the agrecment.

For all three acquisitions we tested the disclosures made within the
notes to the financial statements te cnsure they were in line with the
requircments of IFRS 3. We also reviewed the goodwill recogniscd on
the acquisitions and considered whether there was any indication

of impairment,

We noted no material exceptions in cur procedurcs and wc determined
that the disclosure of the transactions in the financial statements
was appropriate.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
ST. JAMES’S PLACE PLC continued

Area of focus

How our audit addressed the area of focus

Risk gf fraud in revenue recognition

[SAs (UK & Ireland) presume there is a risk of fraud in revenue
recognition because of the pressure management may feel to achieve
market expectations. In this regard we focuscd on transactions which
included a ]'udgemental clement in their calculation, typical within the
life insurance industry, as set out in note 2 to the linancial statements.
For the Group, revenue includes fecs and commission income on
investment contracts and investment advice, premiums on insurance
business, and investment return.

We focused specifically on the following:

* Estimates/assumptions made by management that have a direct
impact on revenue, as extended by Auditing Practices Board
Practice Note 20 — “The audit of insurers in the United Kingdom'
(‘PN207), for example the amortisation profile of Deferred
Acquisition Costs ('DAC’") and Deferred [ncome {‘DIR’).

*  Journals posted impacting revenue in addition to the source system
determined balance.

We also considered the recognition of income or costs which may have
a close relationship to carned insurance premiums and fees, in
accordance with PN20, such as reinsurance costs. The Group fully
reinsures the UK insurance risk of'its closed book of protection
business and therefore we locused on whether the £31.5m of premium
income associated with this business that was passed on to the reinsurer

was Cornplr:tc.

Investment return relates largely to investment contract policyholders
and third party holdings in consolidated unit trusts and so has not been
included as an area of focus,

We assessed the critical accounting estimates and judgements as set out
in note 2 to the {inancial statements that had a dircct impact on
revenuc.

Specifically we:

*  substantively tested the deferred income and acquisition costs and
the amortisation of DIR and DAC, including assessing the future
profitability of the products to which the income and acquisition
costs related to ensure that profitability was suflicient to support
the carrying valuc of the deferred balances; and

* confirmed substantively the classification of the Group’s products
between insurance and investment business to check that insurance
product revenue was appropriately included in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income and investment business {except
for fces related to investment contract management) was excluded.

We confirmed that there were no new reinsurance arrangements
during the year and agreed a sample of premiums ceded to the cash
payment to the reinsurer.

Our work on the above areas of judgement was supported by controls

testing and substantive procedures over all material revenue

streams including:

* reconciling fees on investment business to confirmatory
documentation provided by the assct custodian, State Street;

* testing internal controls over the accuracy and oceurrence of
revenue recognised in the financial statements;

* obraining and reading the two International Standard on Assurance
Engagements (‘ISAE") 3402 ‘Assurance Reports on Controls ata
Service Organisation’ reports issued by International Financial Data
Services ('1FDS™) relevant to the Group, in particular focus'mg on
the controls designed to prevent and detect fraud operating over the
Group administration systems owned and operated by IFDS;

* testing a sample of journal entrics posted throughout the year o
revenue accounts that met specific criteria to identify unuswal or
irregular items.

There were no issues in the ISAE 3402 reports that impacted our audit
scope. Wealso performed testing of controls and substantive
procedures on the IFDS policy administration system ‘Salas’ and at
Capita in Ir¢land, where ISAE 3402 reports were not available.

Overali, we noted no material exceptinns in our resting and found the
judgements taken by the Directors to be reasonable.
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Area of focus

How our audit addressed the area of focus

Faluation of investments with g judgemental valuation, being investment
property and derivatives

The Group financial statements include ¢, £70bn of investments, A
large number of these arc straight forward, vanilla instruments and as
such do not require judgement in calculating the valuation of the
investments.

However ¢, £2bn of the investments are in derivatives and investment
properties, which require management to use estimates and judgements
in order to calculate the year end valuation. Due to the magnitude of
the halances and the level of judgement involved, this was an arca of
focus for our audir,

Financial assets incfuding derivatives

§]P outsources investment custodian and valuation activities for
financial assets, including derivatives, to State Street, Our audit
procedures therefore focused on the evidence available over these
outsourced processes.

‘We obtained and read the International Standard on Assurance
Engagements ('ISAE’) 3402 ‘Assurance Reports on Controls at 2
Service Organisation’ for State Street’s Global Fund Accounting and
Custody operations, which provided a description of the systems and
controls in place and the results of testing of the operational
effectivencss of those controls.

Where appropriate we placed reliance on the controls described in the
ISAE 3402 rcport over the valuation and existence of the financial
investrments within the portfolio.

We independently re-priced a sample of derivative investments as at
year end. We agreed our independent prices to those provided by State
Street,

f:nvcstmenz Prﬂpertiej

The investment property portfolio is managed by Orchard Strect, with
title deeds held by DLA Piper and regular valuations performed

by CBRE.

We reconciled the listing of properties valued by CBRE to details
provided by Orchard Strect and also agreed the total valuation to that
recorded in the general ledger.

We cngagcd our in house real estate valuation cxperts to review the
methodology and key assumptions used by CBRE in valuing the
portfolio. We also agreed factual inputs to the calculations (cg. rental
income) to tenancy agreements.

We noted no material cxceptions in our proccdurcs.

How we tailored the audit scope

We tailored the scope of cur audit to ensure that we performed encugh work to be able to give an opinion on the financial statements as a whole,
taking into account the operational and geographic structure of the Group, the accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which the

Group operates.

The Group is structured to reflect its vertically integrated wealth management business and operates predominantly within the United Kingdom.

Four of the companents within the Group required an audit of their complete financial information. Of these two (St. James’s Place UK ple and

St. James’s Place Unit Trust Group limited) were considered financially significant as they contributed greater than 15% of the Group's profit before
tax, The remaining two (8. James’s Place International Plc and the St. James's Place Unit Trusts) had specitic risk characteristics which meant we
considered them to require an audit of their complete financial information. St. James’s Place International Plc, isa rcgulatcd insurance company
giving risc to complex accounting cntrics, such as the calculation of insurance rescrves and XAC and DIR balances. The 5t. James’s Place Unit Trusts
contribute materially to investments, some of which require judgemental valuations (derivatives and investment property).

All components aside from St. James’s Place International Ple were audited by the Group audit team, PwC UK. 5t, James’s Place International Ple is
incorporated and regulated in the Republic of Ireland and was audited by PwC Dublin,
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
ST. JAMES’S PLACE PLC continued

At the planning stage of the audit we provided written instructions to PwC Dublin te cenfirm the work we required them to complete and the
materiality level they should work to. We held regular phone calls with the PwC Dublin engagement leader and senior manager through the planning,
execution and completion phases of the audit te inform them of developments at a Group level and to understand from them any local developments
that were relevant for our audit of the Group. During the execution phase we obtained access to their electronic working papers and reviewed selected
elements of their work, focusing on their work to address the significant and elevated risks identificd.

In addition to the full scope audit of the four components noted abave, we also performed specific audit procedures on certain financial statement line
items within six other components, These financial statement lines items were sclected for testing to ensure we had sufficient coverage of each
financial statcment line item within the Group financial statements,

Together with additional procedures performed at a Group level on the consolidation, the result of the above scoping was that we achieved greater
than 90% coverage of each material financial statement line item within the Group financial statements, giving us the evidence we nceded for our

audit opinion.

Materiality

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. We set certain quantitative thresholds for materiality, These, together with
qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the naturc, timing and extent of our audit procedures on the individual
financial statement line items and disclosures and in evaluating the effect of misstatements, both individually and on the financial statcments as

a whole,

Based on our prolessional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows:

Overall group materiality £24 million (2015: £9 million).

How we determined it 5% of profit beforc tax.

Raticnale for benchmark applied Profit before tax is a generally accepted auditing benchmark.
Cumponent materiality For cach component in our audit scope, we allocated a materiality that is

less than our overall group materiality. The range of materiality allocated
across components was between £17 million and £4 million. Certain
components were audited to a local statutory cntity audit materiality that
was also less than our overall group materiality.

We agreed with the Audit Committce that we would report to them misstatements identified during our audit above £1 million (2015: £0.4 million)
as well as misstatements below that amount that, in our view, warranted rcporting for qualitativc reasons.

Going concern
Under the Listing Rules we are required to review the Dircctors’ Statement, sct out on page 117, in relation to going concern, We have nor.l'ling to

report having performed our review.

Under ISAs (UK & Ireland) we are required to report to you if we have anything material to add or to draw attentien to in relation to the Directors’
Statement about whether they considered it appropriate te adopt the going concern basis in preparing the [inancial statements, We have nothing
matcrial to add or to draw attention to.

As noted in the Directors’ Statement, the Directors have concluded that it is appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial
statements. The going concern basis presumes that the Group has adequate resources to remain in operation, and that the Directors intend it to do so,
for at least one year from the date the financial statcments were signed. As part of our audit we have concluded that the Dircctors’ use of the going
cancern basis is appropriate. However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, these statements are not a guarantee as to the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

OTHER REQUIRED REPORTING

Consistency of other information and compliance with applicable requirements

Companies Act 2006 reporting

In our opinion, bascd on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

* the information given in the Strategic Report and the Dircctors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is
consistent with the financial statements; and

¢ the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

In addition, in light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we are required to
report if we have identified any matcrial misstatements in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report, We have nothing to report in this respect.
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In our opiniun, based on the work undertaken in the coursc of the audit:

¢ the information given in the Corporate Governance Statement set out on page 86 with respect to internal centrol and risk management systems
and about share capital structures is consistent with the financial statements and has been prepared in accordance with applicable legal
requirements; and

+ the information given in the Corporate Governance Staternent set out on pages 72 and 73 with respect to the company’s corporate governance
code and practices and about its administrative, management and supervisory bodies complies with rules 7.2.2, 7.2.3 and 7.2.7 of the Disclosur
Guidance and Transparency Rules sourcebook of the Financial Conduct Authority.

In addition, in light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we arc required to

e

report if we have identified any material misstatements in the information referred to abave in the Corporate Governance Statement. We have nothing

to report in this respect,

1SAs (UK & Ireland) reporting

Under ISAs (UK & Ireland) we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

information in the Annual Report is: We have no exceptions to report,
* materially inconsistent with the information in the audited financial
statcments; or
= apparently materially incorrect based en, or materially inconsistent
with, our knawledge of the group acquired in the course of
performing our audit; or
* otherwise misleading.

the statement given by the directers on page 83, in accordance with We have no cxceptions to report.
provision C.1.1 of the UK Corporate Governance Code (the ‘Codc’},

that they consider the Annual Report taken as a2 whole to be fair, balanced

and understandable and provides the information necessary for members

to assess the group’s position and performance, business model and

strategy is matcrially inconsistent with our knowledge of the group

acquired ir the course of performing our audit.

the section of the Annual Report on page 81, as required by provision ‘We have no exceptions to report.
C.3.8 of the Code, describing the work of the Audit Committee does not

appropriately address matters communicated by us to the Audit

Committee.

The directors’ assessment of the prospects of the group and of the principal risks that would threaten the solvency or liquidity

of the group

Under ISAs {UK & Ireland) we are required to report to you if we have anything material to add or to draw attention to in refation to:

* the directors’ confirmation on page 78 of the Annual Report, in We have nothing matcrial to add or to draw attention to,
accordance with provision C.2.1 of the Code, that they have carried
out a robust assessment of the principal risks facing the group,
including those that would threaten its business model, futare
performance, solvency or liquidity,

* the disclosures in the Annual Report that describe those risks and We have nothing material to add or to draw attention to,
explain how they arc bcing managcd or mitigated

* the directors’ explanation on page 50 of the Annual Report, in We have nothing matcrial to add or to draw attention ta,
accordance with provision C.2.2 of the Code, as to how they have
assessed the prospects of the group, over what period they have done
so and why they consider that period to be appropriate, and their
statement as to whether they have a reasonable expectation that the
group will be able to continue in operation and meet its liabilities as
they fall due over the period of their assessment, including any related
disclosures drawing attention to any necessary qualifications
or assumpticns.

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review the directors’ statement that they have carried out a robust assessment of the principal risks facing
the group and the directors’ statement in relation to the longer-term viability of the group. Qur review was substantially less in scope than an audit

and only consisted of making inquirics and considering the dircetors’ process supperting their statements; checking that the statements are in

alignment with the relevant provisions of the Code; and considering whether the statements are consistent with the knowledge acquired by us in the

course of performing our audit. We have nothing to report having performed our review.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
ST. JAMES’S PLACE PLC continued

Adequacy of information and explanations received
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, we have not received all the information and cxplanations we
require for our audit. We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Directors’ remuneration
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law arc
not made. We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Corporate governance statement
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, a corporate governance statement has not been prepared hy the
parcnt company. We have ne exceptions ta report arising from this responsibility.

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review the part of the Corporate Governance Statement relating to ten further provisions of the Code. We
have nothing to repert having performed our review.

RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND THE AUDIT

Our responsibilities and those of the directors

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities set out on page 118, the dircetors are responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view.

Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and ISAs {UK & Ireland). Those
standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the parent company’s members as a bedy in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part
16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume rcsponsibilit}' for any other purposc or
to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

What an audit of financial statements involves

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reaschable assurance that the
financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an asscssment of:

* whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the group’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed;

*  the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors; and

¢ the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We primarily focus our work in these arcas by assessing the dircctors’ judgements against available evidence, forming our own judgements, and

cvaluating the disclosures in the financial statements.

We test and examine information, using sampling and other auditing techniques, to the extent we consider necessary to provide a reasonable basis for
us to draw conclusions, We obtain audit evidence through testing the effectivencss of controls, substantive procedures or a combination of both.

In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Annual Report o identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial
statements and to identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by
us in the course ofpcrforming the audit. If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications
for our report. With respect to the Strategic Report, Directors’ Report and Corporate Governance Statement, we consider whether those reperts

include the disclosures required by applicable legal requirements.

Other matter
We have reported scparately on the parent company financial statements of St. James’s Place plc for the year ended 31 December 2016 and on the
information in the Directors’ Remuneration Report that is deseribed as having been audited.

Jeremy Jensen {Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behall of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors

London

27 February 2017

126 | St. James’s Place plc | Annual Report and Accounts 2016 Registered No. 03183415



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 31December
Note 2016 2015
£Million £'Million
[nsurance premium income 52.2 54.7
Less premiums ceded to reinsurers (31.5) (32.6)
Net insurance premium income 20.7 221
Fee and comimission income 4 1,703.9 1,333.5
Investment refurn 6 9,630.1 1,755.8
Other operating income - 1.5
Net income 11,354.7 3,112.9
Policy claims and benetits
-- Gross amount {62.7) {65.0}
- Reinsurers' share 21,7 28.5
Net policyholder claims and benefits incurred {41.0} {36.5)
Change in insurance contract liabilities
(ross amount {64.6) 10.8
- Reinsurers’ share 4.1 {0.5)
Net change in insurance contract liabilities (60.5) 10.3
Investment contract benefits 11 (9,541.8) {1,762.5)
Expenses 5 (1,225.1) (1,150.1)
Profit before tax 3 486.3 I74.1
Tax attributable ta policyholders’ returns 7 (345.7) {22.8)
Profit before tax attributable to shareholders’ returns 140.6 151.3
Total tax (expense)/credit 7 (374.6) 27.9
Less: tax attributable ta policyholders’ returns 7 345.7 22.8
Tax attributable to shareholders’ returns 7 (28.9) 50.7
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year 111.7 202.0
Loss attributable to non-controlling interests {0.5) 0.2)
Profit attributable to equity sharcholders 112.2 202.2
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year 111.7 202.0
Pence Pence
Basic earnings per share 19 21.5 389
19 21.3 38.5

Diluted earnings per share

The results relate to continuing operations.

The notes and information below and on pages 131 to 183 form part of these financial statements.

As permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, no statement of comprehensive income is presented for the Company.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Equity attributable to owners of the Parent

Sharesin Non-
Share Share Trust Retained Misc cantrolling Total
Note Capital Fremium Reserve Earnings Reserves Total Interests Equity
£'Million £'Million £'Million £'Million £'Million £’Million £'Million  £7Million
At 1 January 2015 775 147.4 (10.5) 793.1 2.3 1,002 (0.1) 1,010.1
Profit/(loss) and total comprehensive income/

{(expense) for the year 202.2 202.2 0.2) 202.0
Dividends 19 (130.8) (130.8) (130.8)
Issuc of share capital 0.3 1.9 2.2 2.2
Exercisc of options 0.5 9.0 3.5 8.5
Consideration paid for own sharcs {12.8) {12.8) {12.8)
Shares sold during the year 47 (4.7} - -
Retained earnings eredit in respect of proceeds from

exercise of share options of shares held in trust 0.1 0.1 01
Retained earnings credit in respect of share option

charges i1.8 14.8 14.8
At 31 December 2015 787 1583  (18.5) 8746 2.3 1,095.4 (0.3) 1,095.1
Profit/{loss) and total comprehensive income/

{expensc} for the year 112.2 112.2 (0.5} 1117
Dividends 19 {155.2) {155.2) {155.2)
Issue of share capital 19 0.9 0.9 6.9
Exercise of options 15 0.4 5.3 5.7 5.7
Considcration paid for own shares (5.5) (5.5) (5.5)
Shares sold during the ycar 3.1 (3.1) - -
Misc reserves on acquisition 0.2 0.2 0.2
Retained carnings credit in respect of share option

charges 227 227 22.7
At 31 December 2016 791 1645  {20.8) 8512 2.5 1,076.4 {0.8) 1,075.6

The number of shares held in the Trcasury Share Reserve is given in Note 19 Share Capital on page 170,
Miscellaneous reserves represent other non-distributable reserves.

The notes and information on pages 131 to 183 form part of these financial statcments.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Asat Asat
31 December 31 December
Note 2016 2015
£'Million £'Million
Assets
Goodwill 8 13.8 101
Intangible assets
— Deferred acquisition costs 8 684.8 745.0
- Acquircd value of in-force business 8 30.4 336
- Computer software 8 3.0 4.3
732.0 793.0
Property and cquipment 9 23.1 8.0
Deferred tax assets 7 199.9 225.9
Reinsurance assets 14 80.5 85.0
Other receivables 12 1,473.0 967.2*
Investments
Investment property 10 1,462.4 1,344.9
— Equities 46,598.7 37,560.8
— Fixed income securitics 12,445.5 8,934.0
- investment in Collective Investment Schemes 3,864.8 3,269.6
— Derivative financial instruments 729.1 3584.1
Cash and cash equivalents 10 7,413.1 5,325.1
Total assets 75,022.1 59,277.6
Liabilities
Borrowings 16 281.4 181.8
Deferred tax liabilities T 614.8 434.6
Insurance contract liabilitics 14 518.2 463.5
Deferred income 8 647.6 413.5
Other provisions 15 17.1 15.4
Other payables 13 1,173.6 T06.7*
Investment contract benefits 11 53,307.1 . 43,159.8
Derivative financial instruments 281.9 221.1
Net asset value attributable to unit holders 10 17,032.0 12,556.4
Income tax liabilities 72.7 29.6
Preference shares 0.1 01
Total liabilities 73,946.5 58,182.5
Net assets 1,075.6 1,095.1
Sharcholders® equity
Share capital 19 79.1 787
Share premium 164.5 158.3
Shares in trust reserve (20.9) (18.5)
Miscellaneous reserves 2.5 2.3
Retained earnings a851.2 8746
Equity attributable to owners of the Parent 1,076.4 1,095.4
Non-controlling interests {0.8) 0.3)
Total equity 1,075.6 1,095.1
Pence Pence
Net assets per share 203.9 208.7

*  Some lines have been aggregated in the comparative to simplily the presentation. See Note 12 Other Reeeivables and Note 13 Other Payables for further infermation,

The financial statements on pages 127 to 183 were approved by the Board of Directors on 27 February 2017 and signed on its behalf by:

A\ co

David Bellamy Andrew Croft The notes and information on pages 131 to 183
Chigf Executive Chigf Financial Qfficer form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended Year Ended
31December 3lDecember

Note 2016 2015
£'Million £ Million

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before tax for the year 486.3 174.1
Adjustments for:
Depreciation ] 4.4 25
Amortisation of acquired value of in-force business 8 312 3.2
Amertisation of computer software 8 34 34
Sharc-based payment charge 20 23.9 157
Interest income (26.6) (23.9)
Interest expensc 4.9 4.4
Increase in provisions 1.7 4.0
Exchange rate gains (3.3) -
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Deccercase in deflerred acquisition costs 8 60.2 68.0
Increase in investment property (117.5) {313.5)
Increase in other investments {13,109.6) (5,826.7)
Dccrease in reinsurance assets 4.5 .5
Increase in other receivables {464.4) {451.8)"
Increase/(decrease) in insurance contract liabilities 54.6 (10.9)
Inerease in financial liabilities (cxcluding borrowings) 10,207.8 4,450.4
Increase/(dccrease) in deferred income 8 234.1 (49.7)
Increase in other payables 407.8 282.1*
Increase in net asscts attributable to unit holders 4,475.6 1,938.6
Cash generated from operaling activities 2,251.0 270.4
Interest received 26.6 23.5
Interest paid {4.9) {4.4)
Income taxes paid (87.7) (61.7)
Net cash generated from operating activities 2,135.0 228.2
Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of property and equipment g {19.6) (4.0}
Acquisition of intangible assets 8 (2.1) -
Acquisition of subsidiaries and other business combinations, net of cash acquired (23.1) (0.8)
Net cash used in investing activities (44.8) 4.8)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from the issuc of share capital 5.7 9.5
Consideration paid for own shares {5.5) (12.8)
Proceeds from exercise of options over shares held in trust - 0.1
Additional borrowings 16 100.0 5.0
Repayment of borrowings {0.9) {79.1)
Dividends paid 15 (155.2) {130.8)
Net cash used in financing activities (55.9) (38.1)
Net increase In cash and cash equivalents 2,084.3 185.3
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 10 5,325.1 5,139.4
Exchange gains on cash and cash equivalents 3.7 0.4
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 10 7,413.1 5,325.1

*  Somwe hines have been aggregated i the comparative to simplify the presentation. See Note 12 Other Receivables and Note 13 Other Payables for further information.

The nates and information on pages 131 1o 183 form part of these financial statements,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
UNDER INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
St, James's Place ple {‘the Company’) is a Company incorporated and
domiciled in England and Wales.

Statement of Compliance
The Group financial statements consolidate those of the Company and its
subsidiaries (together referred te as the ‘Group’).

The Group financial statements have been prepared and approved by the
Directors in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards as adoptcd by the EU (‘adoptcd IFRSs") and interpretations
issucd by the IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRS IC) and those parts
of the Companies Act 2006 that are applicable when reporting under
IFRS.

Asat 31 December 2016, the following amended standards, which the

Group has adopted as of | January 2016, have not had any material

impact on the Group's reported results:

— TAS 1 Amendment — Disclosure Initiative

— 1AS 16 and IAS 38 Amcendments
Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation

— IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 Amendments - Investment Entities;
Applying the Consolidation Exception

— Annual Improvements to [FRSs 2012 - 2014 Cycle

Clarfication of Acceptable

As at 31 December 2016, the follqwing new and amended standards,

which are relevant to the Group but have not been applied in the

financial statements, were in issue but not yct effective:

— 1AS7 Amendment — Disclosure [nitiative

— 1AS 12 Amendment — Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for
Unrealiscd Losscs

— IFRS 2 Amendment — Classification and Measurement of Share-based
Payment Transactions

— IFRS$ 9 Financial Instruments

-~ IFRS 10 and 1AS 28 Amendments — Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

— IFRS8 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (including
subsequent IFRS 15 clarification)

— IFRS5 16 Leases

The Group is currently assessing the impact that the adoption of the
above standards, amendments and clarifications will have on the Group’s
results reported within the financial statements. Further detail regarding
the standards that are expected to have the most significant impact on
the financial statements is given below:

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

{FRS 9 incorporates new classiflication and measurements requirements
for financial assets and liabilities, the introduction of an expected credit
loss impairment model which will replace the incurred loss madel of
1AS 32, new hedge accounting requirements and enhanced disclosurcs in
the financial statements, On adoption of this standard, which is
mandatory for financial years commencing on or after 1 January 2018,
following endorsement by the EU on 22 November 2016, certain
financial assets will be reclassified but there will be no material on the
statement of financial position or the statement of comprehensive
income. The Group docs not use hedge accounting and so this clement of
the new standard is not applicable,

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The new standard establishes a principle based five step madel to be
applied to all contracts with customers, cxcept for insurance contracts,
financial instruments and case contracts. The Group is assessing the
impact that IFRS 15 will have on the financial statements, where is it
likely to impact DAC and DIR. IFRS 15 is mandatory for financial years
commencing on or after 1 January 2018, following endorsement by the

EU on 22 Scptember 2016.

IFRS 16 Leases

[FRS 16 was issued in January 2016. It will result in almost all leases
being recognised on the statement of financial position, as the distinction
between operating and finance leascs is removed. Under the new
standard, an asset (the right to use the leased item) and a financial
liahility to pay rentals are recognised, The only exceptions are for short
term or low valuc leases. The accounting for lessors will not significantly
change.

The standard will affect the accounting for the Group’s operating leases.
Asat the Teporting date, the Group has non-cancellable operating leasc
commitments of £134.4 million, see Note 16, On adoption of the
standard, the right-of-use asset and liability for future payments arc
cxpected to be material to the statement of financial position, and there
is expected to be a negative impact on the statement of comprehensive
income initial]y which will reverse over time. The ncgative impact arises
as the leasc liability is accounted for using the effective interest method,
which means that the interest expense on the lease liability reduces ycar
on year, whereas under the current lease accounting standard the
operating lease rentals are constant throughout the lease term.

The Group is assessing the quantum of the adjustments that will be
required upon transition to [FRS 16, which is mandatory for financial
years commencing on or after 1 January 2019, subject to EU
endorsement.

The Group financial statements also comply with the revised Statement
of Recommended Practice issued by the Association of British Insurers in
December 2005 (as amended in December 2006), to the extent that it is
consistent with IFRS standards,

Basis of Preparation
The going concern basis has been adopted in preparing these financial
statcments.

The financial statements are presented in pounds Sterling, rounded to
the nearest 100,000 pounds. They are prepared on a historical cost
basis, except for assets classified as investment property, available-for-
sale financial assets and assets and liahilitics at fair value through profit
and 1055.

The preparation of financial statements in conlormity with IFRSs
requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of policics and reported amounts of assets and
liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and agsociated
assumptions arc based on historical experience and various other factors
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of
which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that arc not readily apparent from other sources.
Actual results may differ from these estimatcs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
UNDER INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

continued

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

The estimates and underlying assuruptions are reviewed on an engoing
basis. Revisions te accounting estimates are recognised in the year in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that year, orin
the year of the revision and future years, if the revision affects both
current and future years.

Judgements made by management in the application of IFRSs that have
significant effect on the financial statcments and cstimates with a significant
risk of material adjustment in the next year are discussed in Note 2.

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the Companies
Act 2006 as applicable to companies reporting under IFRS and the
accounting policies sct out below have been applied consistently to all
years presented in these consolidated financial statements.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

{a) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated firancia! information incorporates the assets, liabilities
and the results of the Company and of its subsidiaries. Subsidiaries arc
those entities in which the Group controls. Control cxists if the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, varizble returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity (including unit trusts in which the Group holds more
than 30% of the units). Associates arc all entitics over which the Group
has significant influence but not control and are accounted for at fair
valuc through the profit or loss. The Group uscs the acquisition method
of accounting to account for business combinations and expenses all
acquisition costs as they are incurred. The financial statements of
subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from
the date that control commences until the date that control ceases,
Accounting policies of subsidiarics have been changed where necessary
to ensure consistency with policies adepted by the Group.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Groupis
vecognised at fair value at the acquisition date, Subsequent changes wo the
fair value of the contingent consideration that is deemed to be an asset or
liability is recognised in accordance with IAS 39 in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

The treatment of transactions with non-controlling interests depends on
whether, as a result of the transaction, the Group alters control of the
subsidiary. Changes in the Parent’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that
docs not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions;
any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests
arc adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is
recognised directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the Parent
entity, Where the Group loses control of the subsidiary, at the date when
control is lost the amount of any non-controlling interest in that former
subsidiary is derecognised and any investment retained in the former
subsidiary is remeasured to its fair value; the gain or loss that is recognised
in profit or loss on the partial disposal of the subsidiary includes the gain or
loss on the remeasurement of the retained interest.

Intragroup balances, and any income and expenses or unrcalised gains
and losses arising from intragroup transactions, are eliminated in
preparing the consolidated financial statements.

The St. James'’s Place Foundation is not consclidated within the financial
information. This is because the Company does not control the
Foundation in accordance with [FRS 10,
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{b} Fee and commission income

Fece and commission income comprises:

(i) Advice charges paid by clients who wish to reccive advice with
their investment in a St. James's Place cr third party retail
investment product;

(i) Commission, due in respect of products sold en behalf of third
parties; and

(iii) Fees charged on investment contracts (including fees charged to
clicnts to match the policyhelder tax element of the insurance
Company’s tax liability).

Advice charges and commission are recognised in full on aceeptance and
inception of the associated policy by the relevant product provider.
Where the product provider retains the right to clawback of commission
on an indemnity basis, turnover on sale of these products is recognised
nct of a provision for the estimated clawback.

Investment contract management fees are generally recognised as
revenue as the services are provided. Initial fecs, including dealing
margins from anit trusts, which exceed the level of recurring fees and
relate to the future provision of services, are deferred, and amortised
over the anticipated period in which services will be provided.

{c) Insurance and reinsurance premiums

Unit linked insurance contract premiums are rccognised as revenue
when the liabilitics arising from them arc recognised. All other
premiums arc accounted for when due for payment.

(d} Insurance claims and reinsurance recoveries

Insurance contracts death claims are accounted for on notification of
death. Critical illness claims are accounted for when admitted. All other
claims and surrenders arc accounted for when payment is due,
Reinsurance recoveries, in respect of insurance claims, are accounted for
in the samc period as the related claim.

{e} investment return

Investment return comprises investment income and investment gains and
losses. Investment income includes dividends, interest and rental income
from investment properties under operating leases. Dividends are accrued
on an ex-dividend basis, and rental income is recognised in the statement
of comprehensive income on a straight line basis over the term of the lease.
Interest, which is generated on assets classified as fair value through profit
or loss, is accounted for using the cffective interest method.

(f) Expenses

(i) Payments to Partners

Payments to Partners comprises initial commission and initial advice fees
(IAF) (paid for initial advice, at policy outset and within an ‘initial peried'),
renewal commission and rencwal advice fees (payable on regular
contributions} and fund fee commission or ongoing advice fee (QAF)
(based on funds under management). [nitial and renewal commission and
advice fees are recognised in line with the associated premium income, but
initial commission on insurance and investment contracts may be deferred
as sct ot in accounting policy (1) (i), Fund fee commission and ongoing
aclvice fee are recognised on an accruals basis.

Commission and advice fees in respect of some insurance and investment
business may be paid in advance on renewal premiums and aceelerated hy
up to five years. The uncarned element of this accelerated remuncration is
recognised as an asset within other receivables, Should the contributions
reduce or stop within the initial periad, any unearncd amount is recovered,
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{ii} Operating lease payments

Leases where a significant proportion of the risks and rewards of
ancrship is retained b)‘ the lessor arc classificd as opcrating]cases.
Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income on a straight line basis over the term of the lease.
Lease incentives received arc recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income as an integral part of the total lcase expense and
are spread over the life of the lease.

(iii) Acquisition costs

For insurance contracts, acquisition costs comprise direct costs such as
initial commission and the indirect costs of cbtaining and processing new
business. Acquisition costs which are incurred during a financial year, net of
any impairment losses, are deferred and then amortised on a straight line
basis over the period during which the costs are expected to be recoverable
and in accordance with the incidence of future related margins.

For invcstment contracts, only directly attributable acquisition costs,
which vary with, and are rclated to, securing new contracts and
renewing existing contracts, are deferred, and only to the extent that
they are recoverable out of future revenue. These deferred acquisition
costs, which represent the contractual right to benefit from providing
investment management services, net of any impairment losses, are
amortised on a straight line basis over the expected lifetime of the
Group’s investment contracts. All other costs are recognised as expénses
when incurred. Note, following the implementation of the Retail
Distribution Review (RDR) on 31 December 2012, the initial advice
costs are no longer an acquisition cost linked to the contractual right to
benefit from providing investment management services and so they are
no longer deferred.

The period over which costs are cxpcctcd to be recoverable are as follows:
[nsurance contracts: 6 years
Investment contracts: 12 14 years

(g) Income taxes

Income tax on the pmﬁt or loss for the year cnmpriscs current and
deferred tax payable by the Group in respect of policyholders and
sharchelders. Income tax is recognised in the statement of
comprchensive income except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.
Tax liabilities are recognised when it is considered probable that there
will be a future outflow of funds to a taxing authority and arc measured
using a best estimate approach.

(i} Current tax

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the
year, using tax ratcs cnacted or substantively cnacted at the reporting
date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

(i) Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method, providing for
temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilitics for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for
taxation purposes. The following differences are not provided for: the
initial recognition of asscts or liabilitics that affect neither accounting nor
taxable profit, and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to
the extent that they will probably not reverse in the foreseeable future.
The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of
rcalisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities,
using tax rates enacted or substantivc]y cnacted at the reporting date.

A deferred tax assct is recognised only to the extent that it is probable
that future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can be

utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longcr
probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable
right to offsct current tax asscts against current tax liabilitics and when the
deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied hy the same
taxation authority on either the taxable entity or different taxable entities
wherc there is an intention to scttle the balances on a net basis,

(i) Policyholder and shareholder tax

The total incame tax charge is a separate adjustment within the
statcment of Comprchcnsivc income based on the movement in current
and deferred income taxes in respect of income, gains and expenses. The
total charge reflects tax incurred on behalf of policyholders as well as
sharcholders, and so it is useful to be able to identify these separately.
Shareholder tax is estimated by making an assessment of the effective
rate of tax that is applicable to the sharchalders on the prafits attributable
to sharcholders. This is calculated by applying the appropriate effective
corporate tax rates to the shareholder profits. The remainder of the tax
charge represents tax on policyholder’s investment returns. This
calculation method is consistent with the legislation relating to the
calculation of tax on shareholder profits,

(h) Dividends paid

Dividend distributions to the Company’s shareholders are recognised in
the pcriod in which the dividends are paid. The final dividend for the
financial year is disclosed but unpaid and awaiting approval by the
Company's sharcholders at the Annual Gencral Meeting.

(i} Investment contract deposits and withdrawals

[nvestment contract payments in and out are not included in the
statement of comprehensive incorme but are reported as deposits to or
deductions from investment contract benefits in the statement of
financial position. The movement in investment contract benefits within
the statement of comprehensive income principally represents the
investment return credited to policyholders.

Explicit advice charges are payable to St, James’s Place distribution
Company by most clients who wish to receive advice with their investment
ina St. James’s Place retail investment product. 5t. James’s Place facilitates
the payment of these charges for the client, by arranging withdrawals
from the client’s policy, which are then recognised as income to

St, James’s Place distribution company. A proportion of the charge is
then paid to.the St. James’s Place adviser (*Partner’) who provides the
advice (see (F)(i) Expenses).

(i) Intangible assets

(i) Acquired value of in-force business

The acquired value of in-force busincss in respect ol insurance business
represents the present value of profits that are expected to emerge from
insurance business acquired on business combinations. It is calculated at
the time of acquisition using best cstimate actuarial assumptions for
interest, mortality, pcrsistcncy and expenses, net of any impairmcnt
losses, and it is amortiscd on a straight linc basis as profits cmerge over
the anticipated lives of the related contracts in the portlelio. An
intangib]e asset is also rccogniscd in respect of acquircd investment
management contracts representing the fair value of contractual rights
acquired under those contracts. The acquired value of in-force business
is cxpressed as a gross figure in the statement ef financial position with
the associated tax included within deferred tax liabilities. It is assessed
for impairment at each rcporting date and any movement is Charged to
the statement of cemprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
UNDER INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

continued

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
(i) Deferred acquisition costs
Refer to accounting policy (f) (iii).

(i} Computer software

Computer software is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and
any recognised impairment loss. The carrying valuc is reviewed for
impairment when events or Changes in circumstances indicate that the

carrying value may not be recoverable,

Computer software is recognised as an intangible assct during
dcvclopment with amortisation commencing when the software is
operational. Amartisation is charged to the statement of coraprehensive
income to expenses on a straight line basis over four years, being the
estimated useful life of the intangible asset.

(k) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair
value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net asscts of the acquired
entity at the date of acquisition. Where the fair value of the Group's
share of the identifiable net assets of the acquired entity is greater than
the cost of acquisition, the excess is recognised immediately in the
statement of comprchensive income.

Goodwill is recognised as an assct at cost and is reviewed at least
annually for impairment or when circumstances or events indicate there
may be uncertainty over this value, If an impairment is identified, the
carrying value of the goodwill is written down immediatcly through the
statement of comprehensive income and is not subscquently reversed. At
the datc of disposal of a subsidiary, the carrying value of attributable
goodwill is included in the calculation of the profit or loss on disposal
except where it has been written off directly to rescrves in the past.

(i} Property and equipment

Items of property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation. Cost includes the original purchasc price of the asset and the
costs attributable to bringing the assct to its working condition for its
intended use. Land is shown at fair value, based on valuations by external
independent valuers. The carrying value is reviewed for impairment when
cvents or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not
be recoverable and any assets that may have suftered impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at cach reporting date.

Depreciation is charged to the statement ol‘ccmprehcnsi‘.'c income to
expensces on a straight linc basis over the estimated useful lives of the
property and cquipment.

{m)} Investment property

Investment propertics, whick are all held within the unit linked funds,
arc propertics which are held to carn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation, They are stated at fair value,

An external, independent valuer, having an appropriate recognised
professional qualification and recent cxperience in the location and
category of property being valued, values the portfolio every month.

The fair values are based on open market valucs, being the estimated
amount for which a property could be exchanged on the date of valuation
between a willing buyer and a willing scller in an arm's length
transaction alter proper marketing wherein the partics had cach acted
knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion,
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Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair value is recognised jn the
statement of comprehensive income within investment income. Rental
return from investment property is accounted for as described in
accounting policy (e).

{n} investments

The Group’s investments are initially and subsequently recognised at fair
value threugh profit or loss, with all gains and losses recognised within
tnvestment income n the statement of comprehensive income. The fair
values of quoted financial investments, which represent the vast majority of
the Group's investments, arc based on the value within the bid-ask spread
that is most representative of fair value. If the market for a financial
investment is not active, the Group establishes fair value by using valuation
techniques such as recent arm’s length transactions, reference to similar
listed investments, discounted cash flow models or option pricing models.

The decision by the Group to designate its investments at fair value
through the prefit and loss reflects the fact that the investment portfolio
is managed, and its petformance evaluated, on a fair value basis.

The Group recognises purchases and sales of investments on trade date,
The costs associated with investment transactions are included within
expenscs in the statement of comprehensive income,

(o} Derivative financial instruments

The Group uses derivative financial instruments within some unit linked
funds, with cach contract initially and subsequently recognised at fair value,
based on observable market prices. All changes in value are recognised
within investment incomne in the statement of comprchensive income.

{p} Other receivables

Orther receivables are initially recogniscd at fair valuc and subsequently
held at amortised cost less impairment losses, except for renewal income
which is held at fair valuc. The value of any impairment recognised is the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
the estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective
interest rate. Scc accounting policy (ab) for information relating to the
treatment of impaired amounts.

{q) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with
banks, other short-term highly liquid investments, and bank overdralts to
the extent that they are an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

Cash and cash equivalents held within unit linked and unit trust funds
are classified at fair value through the profit and loss. All other cash and

cash equivalents arc classificd as loans and reccivables.

{r} insurance contract liabilities

Insurance contract liability provisions are determined following an
annual actuarial investigation of the long-term fund in accordance with
regulatory requirements. The provisions are caleulated on the basis of
current information and using the gross premium valuation method. The
Group's accounting policies for insurance contracts mect the minimum
specified requirements for liability adequacy testing under IFRS 4, as
they consider current estimates of all contractual cash flows, and of
related cash flow such as clajms handling costs.

Insurance contract liabilitics can never be definitive as to their timing
nor the amount of claims and arc therefore subject to subsequent

reassessment on a regular basis.
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(s} Investment contract benefits

All of the Group's investment contracts are unit linked, Unit linked
liabilities are measured at fair value by reference to the value of the
underlying net asset value of the Group's unitised investment funds,
determined on a bid value, at the reporting date. An allowance for
deductions due to (or {rom} the Company in respect of policyholder tax on
capital gains (and losses) in the life assurance funds is also reflected in the
measurement of unit linked liabilities. Investment contract benefits are
rccogniscd when units are first allocated to the pulicyholdcr; thcy are
derecagnised when units allocated to the policyholder have been cancelled.

The decision by the Group to designate its unit linked liabilities as fair
value through the profit and loss statement reficcts the fact that the
matching investment portlolio, that underpins the unit-linked liabilities,
is managed, and its performance evaluated, on a fair vafue basis.

{t) Deferred income

The initial margin on financial instruments (including dealing margins
{rom unit trusts} is deferred and recognized over the expected lifetime
of the financial instrument.

{u) Net asset value attributable to unit holders

The Group consalidates unit trusts in which it holds morc than 30% of
the units and exercises control. The third party interests in these unit
trusts are measured at fair value, since the underlying investment
portfolios are managed on a fair value basis, and they arc presented in the
statement of financial position as net assct value attributable to unit
holders. Income attributable to the third party interests is accounted for
within investment inceme, offset by a corresponding change in
investment contract benefits,

(v) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past cvents such that it is probable
that an cutflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be
made. Provisions arc measured as the discounted expected future cash
Mows taking account of the risks and uncertainties associated with the
specific liability where appropriate.

{w) Borrowings

Borrowings arc measured initially at fair value, net of direetly
attributable transaction costs, and subsequently stated at amortised cost.
The difference between the proceeds and the redemption valucis
TCCOgniSCd in thC statemcnt Df COmPrChCnSiVE .Income over the
borrowing period on an effective interest rate basis. Borrowings are
recognised on drawdewn and derecognised on repayment.

{x) Other payables
Other payables are rccogniscd initi:l“y at fair value and subsequently
mcasurcd at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

{v) Employee benefits

(i) Pension obligations

The Group operates a defined contribution perscnal pension plan for its
employees, Contributions to this plan are recognised as an expense in
the statement of comprehensive income as incurred. The Group has no
lcgal ar constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund
does not hold sufficicnt assets to pay all employees the benefits relating
to employce service in the current and prior periods.

(i) Share-based payments

The Group operates a number of share-based payment plans for
employees, Partners and Advisers, The fair value of share-bascd payment
awards granted is recognised as an expensc spread over the vesting
period of the instrument which accords with the period for which
related services are provided, with a corresponding increase in equity in
the case of equity settled plans and the recognition of a liability for cash
settled plans.

The total amount to be expenscd is determined by reference to the fair
value of the awards, measured using standard option pricing models as
the fair value of the services provided by employees, Partners and
Advisers cannct be reliably measured. For equity settled plans, the fair
value is determined at grant datc and not subscqucntly remeasured. For
cash scttled plans, the fair value is remeasured at each reporting date and
the date of settlement, with any changes in fair value recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income for the period.

At each reporting date, the Group revises its estimate of the number of
awards that arc cxpcctcd to vest and it rccogniscs the impa::t of the
revision of original estimates, if any, in the statement of comprehensive
income, such that the amount recognised for employee, Partner and
Adviser services are based on the number of awards that actually vest.
The charge to the statement of comprehensive income is not revised for
any changes in market vesting conditions.

(z) Share capital

Ordinary shares arc classificd as cquity. Where any Group entity
purchases the Company’s equity share capital (shares held in trust), the
consideration paid is deducted from cquity attributable to sharcholders,
as disclosed in the Shares in Trust reserve. Where such shares are
subsequently sold, reissued or otherwise disposed of, any considcration
received is included in equity attributable to sharcholders, net of any
directly attributable incremental transaction costs and the related
income tax effects.

{aa} Product classification
The Group's products are classificd for accounting purposes as cither
insurance contracts or investment contracts.

(i} Insurance contracts

Insurance contracts are contracts that transfer significant insurance risk.
The Group's product range includes a varicty of term assurance and whole
of life protection contracts involving significant insurance risk transter.

(i) Investment contracts

Contracts that do not transfer significant insurance risk are treated as
investment contracts. The majority of the business written b)' the Group is
unit linked investment business and is classified as investment contracts.

{ab) impairment

(i) Non-financial assets

Asscts that arc subject to amortisation are reviewed lor impairment when
circumstances or events indicate therc may be uncertainty over this value.
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount
is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. Refer
to accounting policy (k) for the Group’s impairment policy for goodwill,
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continued

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

(i) Financial assets

Formal reviews to assess the recoverability of financial assets are carried
out at each reporting date. The recoverability of such assets is measured
and the asset is deemed impaired if there is objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more loss events that have an impact an
the Cxpected future cash flows associated with the financial assct. When
a loss is incurred the impairment loss recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income is calculated as the carrying value of the asset less
the projected future cash {lows arising from the asset discounted at the
original effective interest rate. The impaired assets are presented net of
the impairment provision in the statement of financial position.

In relation to financial assets classified as loans and receivables, impairment
losses are reversed - through the statement of comprehensive income —if
there is a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount. Such losses are reversed only to the cxtent that the asset’s
carrying amount does not cxceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation where applicable, if
no impairment loss had been recognised.

{ac) Foreign currency transiation
The Group’s presentation and the Company’s functional currency is
pounds Sterling.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into Sterling using the
cxchange rate prevailing at the date of the transactions. Monctary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies arc translated using the
rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date and the gain or losses on
translation arc rccogniscd in the statcment of comprehensive income.

Non-monctary assets and liabilitics which are held at historical cost are
translated using exchange rates prevailing at the date of transacticn;
those held at fair value are translated using exchange rates ruling at the
datc on which the fair value was determined.

fad} Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the chicf aperating decision maker. The
Chicfupcrating decision maker, which is rcsponsiblc for allotating
resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been
identificd as the Exccutive Board.

{ae) Current and non-current disclosure

Assets which are expected to be recovered or settled ne more than
twelve months after the reporting date are disclosed as current within
the notes to the financial statements. Those expected to be recovered or
settled more than twelve months after the reporting date are disclosed as
non-current.

Liabilities which are expected or due to be scttled no morc than twelve
maonths after the reporting date are disclosed as current within the notes
to the financial statements, Those liabilities which arc expected or due
to be settled more than twelve months after the reporting date are
disclosed as non-current.
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(af} Alternative performance measures

Within the financial statements, a number of alternative performance
measures (APMs) are disclosed. An APM is a measure of financial
performance, financial position or cash flows which is not defiacd by the
relevant financial reporting framework, which for the Group is
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the
European Union. APMs arc used to Provide greater insight to the
performance of the Group and the way it is managed by the Directors.
The Glossary of Alternative Performance Measures on page 199 defines
each APM, cxplains why it is used and, where applicable, how the
measure can be reconciled to the [FRS financial statements.
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2, CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS IN
APPLYING ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Judgements

The primary areas in which the Group has applied judgement in applying
accounting policies arc in the classification of contracts between
insurance and investment business and when applying the concept of
contrel to determine which cntitics arc subsidiarics.

Classification of Contracts between Insurance and
Investment business

Contracts with a signiflicant degree of insurance risk are treated as
insurance. All other contracts arc treated as investment contracts. It is
this classification that management considers to be a critical judgement;
however, duc to the carrying value of the insurance contract liabilities
within the statement of {inancial position, management dacs not
consider insurance business to be significant to the Group.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiarics are those entities which the Group controls. Contral exists
if the Group is cxposcd to, or has rights to, variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity (including unit trusts in which the
Group holds more than 30% of the units).

Deciding the Amount of Management Expensesthat are
Treated as Acquisition Expenses

Certain management expenses vary with the level of new business and
have been treated as acquisition costs, Each line of costs has been
reviewed and its variahility to new business volumes estimated on the
basis of the level of costs that would be incurred if new business ceased.

Estimates

The principal arcas in which the Group applies accounting estimates are:

* Determining the value of insurance contract liabilitics;

* Dctermining the fair value of investment contract benefits;

*  Dectermining the fair value of investment property;

* Determining the fair valuc liability to policyholders for capital losses
in unit funds;

* Amertisation and recoverability of deflerred acquisition costs and
deferred income;

* Determining the fair value, amortisation and recoverability of
acquired in-force business;

*  Fair valuc estimation of asscts acquircd;

¢ Dectermining the value of deferred tax assets;

* Recoverability of 8t. James’s Place Partnership loans;

* Mecasurcment of prepaid operational readiness costs; and

* Determining the fair value of sharc-based payments.

Estimates arc also applicd in determining the amount of deferred tax asset
recognised on unrelicved expenses and the value of other provisions.

Measurement of insurance contract liabilities

The assumptions used in the calculation of insurance contract liabilities

that have an cflect on the statement of comprehensive income of the

Group are:

* The lapse assumption, which is sct prudently based on an
investigation of experience during the year;

* The level of expenses, which is based on actual expenses in 2016 and
expected rates in 2017 and the long-term;

*  The mortality and morbidity rates, which are based on the results of
an investigation of experience during the year; and

* The assumed rate of investment return, which is based on current

gilt yiclds,

Greater detail on the assumptions applied is shown in Note 14.

Determining the fair value of investment contract benefits

In accordance with [FRS 13, the Group categorises unit-linked insurance
contracts as financial liabilities, carried on the statement of financial
position at fair value, The fair value of unit linked liabilitics is assessed by
reference to the value of the underlying net asset value of the Group’s
unitised investment funds, determined on a bid value, at the reporting
date. As the underlying net asset value is determined using inputs other
than quoted prices but which are observable, cither directly (that is, as
prices) or indircctly (that is, derived from prices), the liability is
categorised as a level 2 financial instrument. Further details of these
valuations are described in Note 17.

Determining the fair value of financial instruments and
investment property

In accordance with IFRS 13, the Group categoriscs financial instruments
carried on the statement of financial position at fair value using a three
level hierarchy. Financial instruments categorised as level 1 are valued
using quoted market prices and therefore there is minimal judgement
applied in determining fair value. Howevcr, the fair value of financial
instruments categorised as level 2 and, in particular, level 3 is
determined using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques
involve management judgement and estimates, the extent of which
depends on the complexity of the instrument and the availability of
market observable information, Further details of these valuations are
described in Note 17,

Valuing capital losses in the unit funds

In line with [AS 12, the Group has recognised a deferred tax asset in
relation to capital losses in the unit funds at the reporting date, This asset
has been tested for impairment against the level of capital gains
realistically expected to arisc in future.

Much of the benefit of the deferred tax assct on capital losscs in the unit

funds will be shared with policyholders. The policyholder investment

contract liability has therefore been increased to reflect the fair valuc of

this additional benefit. The assumptions that have a significant effect on

the fair value of the liability are as follows:

* The assumed rate of investment return, which is based on current
gilt yields;

*  The lapsc assumption, which is set prudently based on experience
during the year; and

*  The assumed period for development of capital gains, which is
estimated [rom recent experience.

Amortisation and recoverability of Deferred Acquisition Costs
{DAC) and Deferred Iincome {DIR)

Deferred acquisition costs on investment contracts are amortised on a
straight line basis over the expected lifetime of the underlying
contracts. The expected lifetime of the contracts has been estimated
from the experienced termination rates and the age of <lients at
inception and maturity.

Deferred income on investment contracts is amortiscd on a straight line
basis over the expected lifetime of the underlying contracts, although on
certain contracts, the impact of early withdrawal charges mcans the
income is cHectively recognised over ashorter period.
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2. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS IN
APPLYING ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

Deferred acquisition costs on insurance contracts are amortised over the
period during which the costs are expected to be recoverable in
accordance with the projected emergence of future margins.

Deferred avquisition costs rclating to insurance and investment contracts
are tested annually for recoverability by reference to expected future
income levels. Future income levels are projected using assumptions
consistent with those underlying our embedded value caleulation.

Acquired in-force business

There have bren no new business cormbinations gencrating acquired
in-force busingss during the year. The acquired value of the in-force
business is amortised on a basis that reflects the expected profit stream
arising from the business acquired at the datc of acquisition, This profit
strearmn is estimated from the experienced termination rates, expenses of
management amd age of the clients under the individual contracts as well
as global estimates of investment growth, based on recent experience at
the date of acquisition.

The acquired value of in-force business relating to insurance and
investment contracts is tested annually for recoverability by reference to
cxpected future income levels.

Fair value estimation of assets acquired

In accordance with IFRS 3 Business Combinations, as of the acquisition
date, the Group recognises, scparately from goodwill, the identifiable
assets acquired, the liabilities assumed and any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree and classifies the identifiable assets acquired and labilities
assumed on the basis of the contractual terms, economic conditions, its
operating or accounting policies and other pertinent conditions as they
exist at the acquisition: date. The Group measures the identifiable assets
acquired and the liahilities assumed at their acquisition-date fair values.

Determining the value of deferred tax assets

In line with TAS 12, the Group has recognised deferred tax asscts for
futurc tax benefits that will aceruc. The asset value has taken into
consideration the likelihood of appropriate futurc income or gains
against which the rax asset can be utilised. [n particular, future
investment income from the existing asscts and new business will be
sufficient to utilise the unrelicved expenses, and capital gains
crystallising in the unit linked funds will utilisc the capital losses. Tax
assets in relation to deferred income will be utilised as the underlying
incormc is recognised.

Recoverability of $t. James’s Place Partnership loans

Luring the normal course of business the Group provides loans to

St. Jamey's Place Partners in order to support the development and
growth of the St. James’s Place Partnership. The St. James’s Place
Partnership loans arc initially rccogniscd at fair value and subsequently
held at amortised cost less impairment losses. The recoverability of loans
is measured and the asset is deemed impaired if the projected future
margins arc less than the carrying value of the asset, The allowance
for impairment losses on St. fames’s Place Partnership loans is
maragement’s best estimate of losses incarred in the portfolio at the
statement of financial position date.
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Measurement of prepaid operational readiness costs

Included within prepayments are operational readiness costs relating to
the new administration service agreement which are initia]]y recngnised
at the amounts advanced. The prepayment is expensed in line with the
provision of services under the scrvice agreement. At each statement of
financial position date, the value of the prepayment is assessed for
impairment rccagniscd against the present value of the estimated future
contract benefits. In determining the present value of the estimated
future contract henefits, the critical judgements are the levels of future
business that will be serviced, the anticipated future service tariffs,
termination fees payable and reccivable under the contract and the rate
used to discount amounts to present value,

Determining the fair value of share-based payments

In determining the fair value of share-based payments and the related
charge to the statement of comprehensive income, the Group makes
assumptions about the future events and market conditions. In
particular, judgement must be formed as to the likely numbcr of share
awards that will vest, and the fair value of each award granted. Further
details of these assumptions used are described in Note 20.
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3. SEGMENT REPORTING
IFRS 8 Operating Segments requires operating segments to be identificd, on the basis of internal reports about components of the Group that are
regularly reviewed by the Board, in order to allocate resources to cach segment and assess its performance.

The composition of the segments has changed and comparatives have been restated on the new basis. The Group’s only reportable segment under IFRS
8isa ‘wealth management” busincss — which is a vertically-integrated business providing support to our clients through the provision of financial
advice and assistance threugh our Partner network, and financial solutions including (but not limited to) wealth management products manufactured
in the Group, such as insurance bonds, pensions, unit trust and ISA investments, and a DFM service.

Separate geographical segmental information is not presented since the Group does not segment its business geographically. Most of its customers are
based in the United Kingdom, as is management of the assets. In particular, the operation based in south-east Asia is not yet sufficicntly material for

scparate consideration.

Segment Revenue
Revenue received from fee and commission income is set out in Note 4 which sets out the different types of revenue received from our wealth

managcment business.

Segment Profit

Two separate measures of profit are monitored on a monthly basis by the Board. These are the post-tax underlying cash result and pre-tax European
Embedded Valuc (EEV).

Underlying cash result

The measure of cash profit monitored on a monthly basis by the Board is the post-tax underlying cash result. This reflects emergence of cash available
for paying a dividend during the year. Underlying cash is based on the cash flows within the IFRS results, but with no allowance for intangibles,
principally DAC, DIR, PVIF, goodwill and deferred tax. As the cost associated with share options is reflected in changes in sharcholder equity, they
are also not included in the underlying cash result.

More detail is provided in the Financial Review section of the Annual Report and Accounts,

The cash result should not be confused with the IFRS consolidated statement of cash flows which is prepared in accordance with IAS 7.

Year Ended Year Ended
31December  31December

2016 2015

£'Million £'Million

Underlying cash result after tax 199.5 1821
Share option expense (23.9) {15.0)
IFRS deferred tax adjustments (21.1) 52.1
Insurance rcscrves {1.6) (1.8)
Back office infrastructure (16.7) {14.4)
Variance {7.7) 3.8
DAC/DIR/PVIF (16.8) (4.8}
IFRS profit after tax uL7 2020
Sharcholder tax 28.9 (50.7}
Profit before tax attributable to shareholders’ returns 140.6 151.3
Tax attributable to policyholder returns 345.7 228
IFRS profit before tax 486.3 174.1
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continued

3. SEGMENT REPORTING continued
EEV operating profit

EEV operating profit is monitored on a monthly basis by the Board. The components of the EEV operating profit are included in more detail in the

Financial Review section of the Annual Repart and Accounts.

Year Ended Year Ended

31 December  31December

2016 2015

£'Million £'Million

EEY operating profit before tax 673.6 660.2

[nvestment return variance 537.2 {24.4}

Economic assumption changes (12.4) 0.9

EEV profit before tax 1,198.4 636.7
Adjustments to IFRS basis

Deduct: amortisation of acquired value of in-force (3.2 3.2)

Movement in lifc value of in-force (net of tax) (642.7) (187.6)

Movement in unit trust value of in-force {net of tax) (257.6) (176.4)

Tax of movement in value of in-force {154.3) {118.2)

Profit before tax attributable to shareholders’ returns 140.6 151.3

Tax attributable to policyholder returns 345.7 22.8

IFRS profit before tax 486.3 174.1

Segment Assets
Funds under Management {FUM)

FLIM, as reported in Section | of the Financial Review on page 29 is the measure of segment asscts which is monitored on a monthly basis by the Board.

31December 31 December
2016 2015
£'Million £°Million
Investment 25,500.0 22,5200
Pension 28,630.0 20,860.¢
UT/ISA and DFM 21,180.0 15,2300
Total FUM 75,310.0 58,610.0
Exclude client and third party holdings in non-consclidated unit trusts and DFM (4,153.9) (2,497.1)
Other 283.7 562.8
Gross assets beld to cover unit liabilities 71,439.8 56,675.7
IFRS intangible assets {see page 39 Adjustment 2}
including goodwill, DAC, PVIF, reassurance and deferred tax 917.7 1,067.0
Sharcholder gross asscts {scc page 39) 2,664.6 1,534.9
Total assets 75,022.1 59,277.6
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4. FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME

Year Ended Year Ended
31December  31December
2016 2015
£'Million £'Million

Advice chargcs 510.7 420.7

Third party fee and commission income 103.5 97.8

Wealth management fees 590.7 544.2

Investment management fees 52.6 137.5

Fund tax deductions 352.2 27.8

Discretionary fund management (DFM) fees 5.3 -

Fec and commission income before DIR amortisation 1,615.0 1,228.0

Amortisation of DIR 88.9 105.5

Total fee and commission income 1,703.9 1,333.5

5. EXPENSES

The following items are included within the expenses disclosed in the statement of comprehensive income:

Year Ended Year Ended
31 December  31December
2016 2015
£’Million £'Million

Employee costs 150.8 121.2

Depreciation 4.4 2.5

Amortisation of acquired value of in-force business 3.2 3.2

Amortisation of DAC 98.8 1001

Amortisation of computer software 3.4 34

Payments to Partners 599.T 518.5

Payment under operating leases 11.8 10.4

Fees payable to the Company's auditors and its associates for the audit of the Company and consolidated financial statements 0.1 0.2

Fees payable to the Company’s auditors and its associates for other services:

— The audit of the Company’s subsidiarics {excluding Unit Trusts) 0.6 0.5
Audit of the Company’s Unit Trusts 0.3 0.3
Audit-related assurance services 0.5 0.5

— Other non-audit services 0.1 -

Employee Costs

Year Ended Year Enaed
31December  31December
2016 2015
£'Million E'Millfon

Wages and salaries 113.7 92.0

Social security costs 12.8 10.3

Other pension costs in relation to defined contribution schemes 8.0 6.8

Cost of cmploycc share awards and options 16.3 12.1

Total employee costs 150.8 121.2

Average monthly number of persons employed by the Group during the year 1,735 1,430

The above information includes Directors’ remuneration. The aggregate emoluments of the highest paid Dircctor were £0.9 million (2015: £0.9 million),
cash supplement in lieu of their defined contribution pension scheme was £0.1 million (2015: £0.1 million), they exercised 175,807 share options during
2016 (2015: 490,435) and 24,591 shares were released to them in respect of the deferred bonus scheme (2015: 49,563). Full details of the Directors’
remuneration, share options, pension entitlements and interests in shares are disclosed in the Remuneration Report on pages 93 to 113.
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6. INVESTMENT RETURN
Year Ended Year Ended
31Decemnber 31 December
2016 2015
£'Millfon £'Million
Investment return on net assets held to cover unit liabilities:
Rental income 12.4 60.4
{Loss)/gain on revaluation of investment properties (23.4) 74.0
Net investment return on financial instruments classified as fair valuc through profis and loss 1,456.8 1,386.0
7,505.8 1,530.4
Income attributable to third party holdings in unit trusts 2,094.5 216.8
9,600.3 1,747.2
Investment return on shareholder assets:
Net investment return on financial instruments classified as fair value through profit and loss 22.9 2.7
Interest income on financial instruments held at amortised cost 6.9 5.9
Total investment return 9,630.1 1,755.8

Included in the net investment return on financial instruments classified as fair valuc through profit and loss within investment return on net asscts

held to cover unit liabilities is dividend income of £756.2 million (2015; £586.4 million).
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7. INCOME AND DEFERRED TAXES
Tax for the year

Year Ended Year Ended
31December  31December

2016 2015
Current tax £’Million £'Million
UK corporation tax
- Current year charge 171.8 86.0
- Adjustment in respect of prior year {0.6) 0.7
Overseas taxes
— Current year charge 4.2 37
— Adjustment in respect of prior year (0.1) -
175.3 90.4
Deferred tax
Unrealised capital gains and iosses in unit linked funds 196.3 (50.00
Unrelieved expenses
- Additional expenses recognised in the year (12.5) (11.6)
- Urilisation in the year 18.7 19.7
Capital losses
Additional losses recognised in the year {2.2) (74.8)
— Utilisation in the year 12.6 12.1
— Adjustment in respect of prior year 0.1 {1.1)
DAC, DIR and PVIF {11.6) {4.4)
Other items (4.4) (5.8)
Change in tax rate 1.3 4.5
Overseas taxes on losses 0.3 2.1
Adjustments in respect of prior periods a.7 -
199.3 {118.3)
Total tax charge/{credit) for the year 374.6 (27.9)
Attributable to:
— policyholders 345.7 22.8
— shareholders 28,9 (50.7)
374.6 (27.9)

The prior year adjustment in current tax above includes a credit of £1.4 million in respect of policyholder tax (2015: £1.0 million charge).

Included within the deferred tax on ‘other items’ is a charge of £0.2 million (2015: £1.8 million credit) relating to share-based payments. Details of

sharc-based payments arc disclosed in Note 20 Share-based Payments.

In arriving at the profit before tax attributable to shareholders’ return, it is necessary to estimatc the analysis of the total tax charge between that

payable in respect of policyholders and that payable by sharcholders. Sharcholder tax is estimated by making an assessment of the effective rate of tax

that is applicable to the shareholders on the profits attributable to shareholders, This is calculated by applying the appropriate effective corporate tax

rates to the shareholder profits, The remainder of the tax charge represents tax on policyholders’ investment returns. This calculation method is

consistent with the legislation relating to the calculation of tax on shareholder profits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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continued

7. INCOME AND DEFERRED TAXES continued
Tax paid in the year

Year Ended Year Ended

31December 31 December

2016 2015

£'Million £'Million

Current tax chargc for the year 175.3 90.4

Payments to be made in future years in respect of current year (72.8) (28.7)

Payments made in current year in respect of prior years 30.6 32.3

Other 0.1 {0.5)

Tax paid 133.4 93.5

Tax paid can be analysed as:

Taxes paid in UK 129.0 89.3

- Taxes paid in overseas jurisdictions 1.9 1.8

Withholding taxes suffered on investment income received 2.5 24

Tax paid 133.4 93.5
Movement in net deferred tax balance

Year Ended Year Ended

31December 31 December

2016 2015

£'Million £'Million

Deferred tax asset 225.9 192.8

Deferred tax liability (434.6) {519.8)

Nect deferred tax balance at 1 January (208.7) {327.0)

(Charge)/credit through the consolidated staternent of comprehensive income (199.3) 118.3

Arising on acquisitions during the year {6.9) -

Deferred zax asset 199.9 2259

D_Eferrea' tax liability {614.8) (434.6)

Balance at 31 December (414.9) (208.7)
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Reconciliation of tax charge to expected tax

Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 31 December
2016 2015
£’Million £'Million
Profit before tax - A486.3 174.1
Tax attributable to pelicyholders’ returns* {345.7) (22.8)
Profit before tax attributable to shareholders’ return 140.6 151.3
Shareholder rax charge at corporate tax rate of 209 (2015: 20,25%} 28.1 20% 30.6 20.25%
Adjustments:
Tax regime differences
Lower rates of corporation tax in overseas subsidiaries {0.9) {0.6%) (1.4} {0.99%)
Expccted sharcholder tax 27.2 19.3% 29.2 19.3%
Other
Non-taxable income {1.0) -
Recognition and usage of capital losses arising in the Group (2.2) (74.8)
Adjustment in respect of pricr year {0.1) (1.5}
Differences in accounting and tax bases in relation to employce share schemes 0.7 (5.4
Uisallowabte expenses 1.2 3.0
Tax losses not recognised or past losses new recognised 2.0 1.8
(ther [0.2) 1.5
0.4 (0.3%) (75.4) {45.8%})
Change in tax rate 1.3 4.5)
Shareholder tax charge/(credit) 28.9 [20.6%) (50.7) (33.5%)
Policyholder tax charge 345.7 22.8
Total tax charge/(credit) for the year 374.6 (27.9)

*  Taxattributahle to policyholder returns is equal to the policyholder tax charge and reflects fund tax deductions offset by policybolder tax effects on intangibles.

Tax calculated on profit before tax at 20% (2015: 20.25%) would amount to £97.3 million (2015: £35.3 million), The difference of £277.3 million
(2015: £(63.2) million} between this number and the total tax of £374.6 million (2015: £(27.9) million) is made up of the reconciling items above
which total £0.8 million (2015: £(81.3) millien) and the effcct of the apportionment methodology on tax applicable to policyholder returns of
£276.5 million (2015: £18.1 million).

Deferred tax assets

Expected 31December 31December

utilisation 2016 2015

Years £’Million £'Millicn

Unrclieved expenses {life insurance business) 6 50.9 57.1
Deferred income (DIR) 14 39.7 45.2
Capital losses (available for future relict} 10 998.0 113.1
Employee share scheme casts 3 5.5 5.8
Futurc capital allowances 6 4.1 3.0
Other 0.7 L7
Total deferred tax assets 193.9 225.9
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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continued

7. INCOME AND DEFERRED TAXES continued

Appropriate investment income, gains or profits are cxpected to arise against which the tax assets can be utilised. Whilst the actual rates of utilisation
will depend on business growth and external factors, particularly investment market conditions, they have been tested for sensitivity to experience
and are resilient to a range of reasonably foresecable scenarios.

At the reporting date there were unrecognised deferred tax asscts of £4.1 million (2015: £1.4 miliion) in respect of losses in companies where
appropriate profits are not considered probable in the forccast period. These losses primarily relate to our Asia based busincsses and can be carried

forward indefinitely,

Deferred tax liabilities
Expected 31December 31December

utilisation 2016 2015

Years £’Million £'Million

Unrealised capital gains (and losses) un life insurance (BLAGAB) assets backing unit liabilities 6 501.1 304.8
Deterred acquisition costs (IJAC) 14 97.8 117.8
Acquired value of in-force business (PVIF} 10 5.4 6.2
Renewal income assets 20 8.6 3.5
Other 1.9 2.3
Total deferred tax liabilities 614.8 434.6

Future tax rate changes
Future tax rate changes, including the further reduction in the corperation tax rate from 18% to 17% effective from | April 2020 which was enacted

in the Finance Act 2016, have been incorporated into the deferred tax balances.

Other tax matters
We have considered the OECL) Base Erosion and Profit Shifting (BEPS) actions relevant ta the St. James’s Place Greup and believe that they willnot
have a material impact on the financial results of the Group. We have developed our processes and procedures to enable campletion of any required

reporting by the relevant deadlines.
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8. GOODWILL, INTANGIBLE ASSETS, DEFERRED ACQUISITION COSTS AND DEFERRED INCOME

Computer
Acquired software &
value of other specific

in-force software

Goodwill business developments DAC DIR

£'Million £’Million £’ Million £’Million £E’Million
Cost
At 1 January 2015 10.1 734 13.6 1,579.1 (1,149.2)
Additions - - - 32.1 (55.8)
At 31 December 2015 10.1 73.4 136 1,611.2 (1,205.0)
At 1 January 2016 10.1 73.4 13.6 1,611.2 {1,205.0)
Additions 3.7 - 21 38.6 {56.0)
Addition due to reassessment of unit liability - - - - (26T.0)
At 31 December 2016 13.8 73.4 15.7 1,649.8 (1,528.0)
Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2015 - 36.6 5.9 766.1 (686.0)
Charge for the year - 3.2 34 100.1 {105.5)
At 31 December 2015 - 39.8 8.3 866.2 {791.5)
Atl ]anuary 216 - 39.8 9.3 866.2 {791.5)
Charge for the year - 3.2 3.4 93.8 (88.9)
At 31 December 2016 - 43.0 12.7 965.0 (880.4}
Carrying value
At 31 December 2015 10.1 336 4.3 745.0 (413.5)
At 31 December 2016 13.8 30.4 3.0 684.8 (647.6)
Current - 3.2 0.9 98.7 (134.5)
Non-current 13.8 21.2 21 586.1 {513.1)

13.8 30.4 3.0 684.8 (647.6)

Outstanding amortisation period
At 31 December 2015 nfa 10 years 4 years l4years  6-14 years
At 31 December 2016 nfa 9 years 4 years 14 years 6-14 years

Goodwill

The carrying value of goodwill split by acquisition is as follows:

31 Dbecember 31December

2016 2015

£'Million £'Million

S|P Asia companies 10.1 101
Technical Connection Limited 3.7 -
Balance at 31 December 13.8 101

Goodwill is reviewed at least annually for impairment or when circumstances or cvents indicate there may be uncertainty over this value. The
recoverable amount has been based on value in usc calculations using pre-tax cash flows. Details of the assumptions madc in thesc calculations arc

provided helow:

Key assumptions based on experience: Valuc of new business

Projection period: Five ycars of detailed forecasts extrapolated inte perpetuity using a long-term growth rate
Long-term growth rate: 1.4%

Pre-tax discount rate: 3.0%

It is considercd that any reasonably possible levels of change in the key assumptions would not result in impairment of the goodwill,

Acquired value of in-force business/DAC{computer software
Amortisation is charged to expenses in the statement of comprehensive income. Amartisation profiles are reassessed annually.

DIR

Amortisation is credited within fee and commission income in the statement of comprehensive income. Amortisation profiles are reassessed annually.
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continued

9. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Fixtures and

Assets  Fittingsand
held for Sale Office Computer
-Land Equipment Equipment Total

£'Million £'Million £ Million £’Million
Cost
Atl January 2015 1.4 347 6.1 42.2
Additions - 3.2 0.8 4.0
Disposals (1.4) 4.8) (5.6) {11.8)
At 31 December 2015 - 331 13 4.4
At 1 January 2016 - 33.1 13 34.4
Additions - 16.5 3.1 19.6
Disposals - (2.9} - (8.9}
At 31 December 2016 - 39.7 4.4 44.1
Accumulated depreciation
At | Janary 2015 - 284 5.3 343
Charge for the ycar - 2.2 0.3 2.5
Eliminated on disposal - {4.8) {5.6) {10.4)
At 31 December 2015 - 25.8 0.6 264
At January 2016 - 25.8 0.6 26.4
Charge for the year - 3.5 0.9 4.4
Eliminated on disposal - {9.8) - {9.8)
At 31 December 2016 - 19.5 1.5 21.0
Net book value
At 1 January 2015 1.4 6.3 0.2 7.9
At 31 December 2015 - 7.3 07 3.0
At 31 December 2016 - 20.2 2.9 23.1
Amortisation period (estimated useful lifc) 5years 3years
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10. INVESTMENTS, INVESTMENT PROPERTY AND CASH
Net assets held to cover unit liabilities

Included within the statement of financial position are the following assets and liabilities comprising the net asscts held to cover unit liabilities.

31 December  31December
2016 2015
£’ Million £'Million
Assets
[nvestment property 1,462.4 1,344.9
Equitics 46,598.7 37,960.8
Fixed income securities 12,397.8 8,850.9
Investment in Collective [nvestment Schemes 2,997.4 2,736.9
Derivative financial instruments
Currency forwards 86.5 33.8
Interest rate swaps 40.0 13.5
Collaterised mortgage obligations 510.2 2387
— Index options 17.7 20.3
— Centracts for differences 8.2 10.7
Equity rate swaps 26,2 16.1
— Foreign currcncy options 18.7 22.8
Total return swaps 18.7 6.6
Other derivatives 2.9 1.6
Cash and cash Cquivalcnts 7,067.2 5,091.6
Other receivables 187.2 603.9
Total assets 71,439.8 56,9531
Liabilities
Derivative financial instruments
Currency forwards 176.4 168.6
Interest rate swaps 38.3 5.9
- Fixed Income options - 6.1
- Index options 5.9 EX:)
Contracts for differences 2.9 4.3
— Equity ratc swaps 30.2 5.8
- Foreign currency options 10.1 19.6
- Total return swaps 8.1 0.2
- Other derivatives 10.0 7.0
Other payables 383.5 585.2
Total liabilities 665.4 806.3
Net assets held to cover linked liabilities 70,774.4 56,146.8
Investment contract benefits 53,307.1 43,159.8
Net asset value attributable te unit halders 17,032.0 12,5564
Unit linked insurance contract Habilitics 435.3 376.5
Consolidation adjustments - 54.1
Net unit Iinked liabilities 70,774.4 56,146.8

Net assets held to cover linked liabilitics, and third party holdings in unit trusts, are considered to have a maturity of up to one year since they are

actively traded and managed to facilitate immediate settlement.

See accounting policy (ae) for further information on current and non-current disclosure.
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continued

10. INVESTMENTS, INVESTMENT PROPERTY AND CASH continued
Investment property

31December 21 December

2016 2015

£'Million £'Miltion

Balance at 1 January 1,344.9 1,031.4
Additions 131.6 247.9
Capitalised expenditure on existing propertics 9.3 5.3
Disposals - {14.3)
Changes in fair value (23.4) 74.0
Balance at 31 December 1,462.4 1,3449

Investment property is held within unit linked funds and is considered current.

Investment property is valued monthly by external chartered surveyors in accordance with the guidancc issued by The Royal Institution of Chartered
Surveyors. The investment property valuation has been prepared using the ‘market approach’ valuation technigue — using prices and ather relevant
information generated by market transactions involving identical or comparable {i.e. similar) assets.

The rental income and direct operating expenscs rccognised in the statcment of comprchcnsivc income in respect of investment propcrtics are set out
below. All expenses relate to property generating rental income.

Year Ended Year Ended
31December 31December

2016 2015

£'Millien £'Million

Rental income 72.4 60.4
Direct opcrating expenses 6.3 5.8

At the year end, contractual obligations to purchase, construct or develop investment property amounted to £4.5 million (2015: £9.0 million) and to
dispose of investment property amounted to £nil (2015: £nil). '

Cash and cash equivalents

31 December 31 December

2016 2015

£'Million £'Millien

Cash at bank 341.1 2335
Cash held by third parties 4.8 -
Cash and cash equivalents not held to cover unit liabilities 345.9 233.5
Balances held ta cover unit liabilities 7,067.2 5,091.6
Total cash and cash equivalents 1,413.1 5,325.1

All Cash and cash equivalents are considered current.
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11. MOVEMENT IN INVESTMENT CONTRACT BENEFITS

31 December 31 December

2016 2015

£°Million £'Milllon

Balance at 1 January 43,159.8 38,851.2
Deposits 7,346.5 6,039.1
Withdrawals (2,536.0) (2,704.3)
Movement in unit-linked investment contract benefits 7,447.3 1,545.7
Less: fees and other adjustments for reasscssment of unit lability {1,110.5) {571.9}
Balance at 31 December 53,307.1 43,159.8
Current 3,305.0 3,237.0
Non-current 50,002.1 39,922.8

53,307.1 43,159.8
Movement in unit labilities

Unit-linked investment contract benefits 7,447.3 1,545.7
Third party unit trust haldings 2,094.5 216.8
Movement in investment contract benefits in consolidated statement of comprehensive income 9,541.8 1,762.5

See accounting policy (ae) for further information on the current and non-current disclosure.

12, OTHER RECEIVABLES
31 December 31 December
2016 2015
£’Million £'Million
Receivables in relation to unit liabilities 834.1 478.4
Other receivables in relation to insurance and unit trust business 147.3 111.7"
Operational readiness prepayment 121.1 76.5
Advanced payments to Partners 31.2 27.9
Other prepayments 45.1 377
St. James's Place Partnership loans 212.2 1787
Renewal income assets 58.9 26.8
Miscellaneaus 23.1 29.5
Total other receivables 1,473.0 967.2
Current 1,137.9 726.6
Non-current 335.1 240.6
1,473.0 967.2

*  Balance includes £76.2 million of insurance and investment contract receivables previously disclased as separate line items on the face of the consolidated statement of financial position in 2015, This

reclassification has heen made w0 order to simplify the presentation of the consolulated statement of financial positien.
All items within Other reccivables meet the definition of financial asscts with the exception of Other prepayments and Advanced payments to Partners.

Receivables in net assets held to cover unit liabilities and in relation to insurarce and unit trust business are short term settlement receivables, typically
scttled within three da}'s.

The operational readiness prepayment relates to the new administration platform being developed by our key outsourced back-office administration
provider. Management has assessed the recoverability of this prepayment against the expected cost saving benelit of lower future tariff costs arising
Irom the new platform, It is believed that any rcasonably possible change in the assumptions applied within this assessment, such as levels of future
business, the anticipated future scrvice tarilfs and the discount rate, would have no impact on the carrying value of the assct.

St. James’s Place Partnership loans are interest bearing (linked to Bank of England basc ratc plus a margin), repayable on demand and securcd against
the future renewal inceme streams of the Partner, The St, James’s Place Partnership loans are shown net of a £3.3 million provision (2015: £3.0
million). During the year £0.4 million of the provision was utilised (2015: £1.2 million utilised) whilst new provisions and adjustments to existing

provisions increased the total by £0.7 million (2015: £1.3 million increase).

The fair value of Ioans and reccivables included in other receivables is not materially different from amortised cost,
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continued

12. OTHER RECEIVABLES continued
Movement in renewal income assets;

2016 2015

£'Million £'Million

At} january 26.8 281
Additions 38.2 1.4
Revaluation {6.1) (3.7}
Total renewal income at 31 December 58.9 26.8

The key assumptions used for the asscssment of the fair value of the rencwal income ave as follows:

31December 31December

2018 2015
Lapse rate — SJP Partner renewal income* 6% - 10% 6% - 10%
Lapse ratc — Non §]P renewal income® 15% - 25% 9% - 32%
Discount rate 5.0% - 7.5% 5.0%

*  Future income streacs are projected making use of persistency assumptions derived from the Group's experience of the business or, where insufficient dats e xists, from external industry experence.

These assumptions are reviewed on an annual basis.

These assumptions have been used for the analysis of each business combination classified within renewal income.

13. OTHER PAYABLES
31December  31December
2016 2015
£'Miltion £'Mittion
Payables in relation to unit liabilities 558.7 311.0
Other payables in relation te insurance and unit trust business 300.0 134.0*
Accruals 146.9 112.4
Accruals for furare payments to Partners 4.2 66.3
Miscellancous 93.8 83.0
Total other payables 1,173.6 706.7
Current 1,123.7 68517
Non-current 49.9 55.0
1,173.% 067

¥ Balance includes £45.9 milhon of insurance and invrstment contract payables and 1108.3 millivn of claims cutstanding previously disclosed as separate line items on the face of the consohidated
statement of financizl positlon in 2015, This reclassification has been made in order to simplify the presentation of the consolidated statement of financial position.

Included within miscellanecus is a Contract Payment of £49.8 million (2015: £48.3 miliion} which is non-interest bearing and repayable on a straight
line basis over the lifc of a twelve year service agreement commencing in 2017.

The fair value of financial instruments held at amortised cost within other payables is not materially different from amortised cost.
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14. INSURANCE LIABILITIES AND REINSURANCE ASSETS
Risk

Insurance risk ariscs from inhcrent uncertainties as to the occurrence, amount and timing of insurance liahilitics. The Group assumes insurance risk
by issuing insurance contracts under which the Group agrees to compensate the client (or other beneficiary) if a specified future event (the insured
event) occurs. The Group insures mortality and morbidity risks but has ne longevity risk as we have never written any annuity business. The Group

has a medium appetite for insurance risk, only actively pursuing it where financially bencficial, or in support of strategic objectives.

Risk Description

Management

Underwriting Failure to price appropriately for a risk, or the
impact of anti-selection.

The Group ceased writing new protection business in April 2011. Experience
is monitored regularly. For most business the premium or deduction rates can
be re-set. The Group has fully reinsured the UK insurance risk.

Epidemic/disaster An unusually large number of claims arising
{rom a single incident or event.

Pratection is provided through reinsurance, The Group has fully reinsured
the UK insurance risk.

Expense . Administration costs exceed expense allowance.  Administration is outsourced and a tariff of costs is agreed. The contracr is
monitored regularly to rationalise costs incurred. [nternal overhead
expenses are monitored and closely managed.

Retention Unexpected movement in future profit due to Retention of insurance contracts is closely monitored and unexpected

more (ot less) clients than anticipated
withdrawing their funds.

cxpericnce is investigatcd. Retention experience has continued in line
with assumptions.

Insurance contract liabilities

2016 2015
£'Million £'Million
Balancc at 1 January 463.5 474.4
Movement in unit linked liabilities 58.9 (7.8)
Movement in liabilities
- New business - 0.2
Existing busincss {0.4) (1.3)
— Other assumption changes 3.2 (1.2)
— Experience variance [7.0) (0.8)
Total movement in liabilities (2.2) (3.1)
Balance at 31 December 518.2 463.5
Unit linked 435.4 376.5
Non-unit linked 82.8 87.0
518.2 463.5
Current 81.0 102.5
Non-current 437.2 361.0
518.2 463.5

See accounting policy (ae) for further information on the current and non-current disclosure.
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continued

14. INSURANCE LIABILITIES AND REINSURANCE ASSETS continued

Reinsurance assets

2016 2015
£'Million £'Million

Reconciliation of the movement in the net reinsurance balance:
Reinsurance assets at 1 January 85.0 85.5
Reinsurance compaenent of change in insurance liabilitics (4.5) (0.5)
Reinsurance assets at 31 December 80.5 85.0
Current 12.6 24.2
Non-currcot 67.9 60.8
80.5 85.0

The averall impact of reinsurance on the profit for the year was a net charge of £5.7 million (2015 charge of £4.6 millicn).

Assumptions used in the calculation of Insurance liabilities and reassurance assets
The principal assumptions used in the calculation of the liabilities are:

Assumption

Descripticn

Interest rate

Mortality

Morbidity
- Critical Iliness

MOrbidity
— Permanent Health Insurance

The valuation interest rate is calculated by reference to the tong-term gilt yield at 31 December 2016, The
specific rates used are between 1.0% and 1.4% depending on the tax regime {1.7% and 2.2% at
31 December 2015).

Mortality is based on Company experience and is set at 72% of the TM/F32 tables with an additional loading
for smokers. There has been no change since 2006.

Morbidity is based on Company experience. There has been no change during 2016, Sample annual rates
per £ for a male non-smoker are:

Rate
Age 2016 2015
25 0.000760 0.000760
35 0.001334 0.001334
45 0.00318%9 0.003189

Marbidity is based on Company experience. Sample annual rates per £ income benefit p.a. for amale
non-smoker are:

Rate
Age 2016 2015
25 ' 0.00366 0.00548
35 0.00965 0.01447
45 0.02092 0.03138

Expenscs Contract liabilities are calculated allowing for the actual costs of administration of the business. The
assumption fras been amended to allow for changes to the underlying administration costs,
Annual Cost
Product 2016 2015
Protection business £36.75 £36.01
Persistency Allowance is made for a prudent level of lapses within the calculation of the liabilities, The rates have not
changed in 2016. Sample annuzl lapse rates are:
) Lapses
2015 and 2016 Yearl Year5 Year 10
Protection business 7% 5% 8%
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Sensitivity analysis

The table below sets out the sensitivity of the profit on insurance business and net assets to changes in key assumptions. The levels of sensitivity tested
are consistent with those proposed in the EEV principles and reflect reasanably possible levels of change in the assumptions. The analysis reflects the
change in the variable/assumption shown while all other variables/assumptiens are left unchanged. In practice variables/assumptions may change at
the same time, as some may be correlated (for example, an increase in interest rates may also result in an increase in expenses if the increase reflects
higher inflation). It should also be noted that in some instances sensitivitics arc non-linear. The sensitivity % has becn applicd to proportion the
assumnption e.g. application of a 10% sensitivity to a withdrawal assumption of 8% will reduce it to 7.2%.

Changein Changein
profit/(loss) profit/{loss) Changein Changein
Change in hefore tax before tax net assets netassets
Sensitivity analysis assumption 2016 2015 2016 2015
% £'Million £'Million £’Million £'Miilion
Withdrawal rates -10% (1.0} 1.4 {0.9) (0.9)
Expense assumptions -10% 0.3 0.3 0.2 0.3
Mortality/morbidity -5% 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
A change in interest rates will have no material impact on insurance profit or net assets.
15. OTHER PROYISIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Total
previsions
£'Million
At 1 January 2016 15.4
Utilised during the year {8.8)
Additional provisions 10.5
At 31 December 2016 ' 17.1
Current 1.5
Non-current 9.6
17.1

Total provisions relate to the cost of redress for complaints and clawback of indemnity commission. The provision for the cost of redress for
complaints is based on estimates of the total number of complaints expected to be upheld, the estimated cost of redress and the expected timing of
settlement. The clawback provision is bascd on estimates of the indemnity commission that may be repaid.

As more fully set out in the summary of principal risks and uncertainties on pages 51 to 53, the Group could in the course of its business be subject to
legal proceedings and/or regulatory activity. Should such an eventarise, the Board would consider their best estimate of the amount required to settle
the obligation and, where appropriate and material, establish a provision. While there can be no assurances that circumstances will not change, based
upon information currently available to them, the Dircctors do not believe there is any possible activity or event that could have a material adverse
eflfect on the Group's linancial position.

During the normal course of business, the Group may from time to time provide guarantecs to Partners, clients or other third parties. However,

based upon the information currently available to them, the Dircctors do not belicve there are any guarantecs which would have a material adverse
cffect on the Group's financial position, and so the fair value of any guarantees has beer assessed as £nil (2015: £nil}.
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continued

16. BORROWINGS AND FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS

Borrowings
31December 3iDecember
2016 2015
£'Million £'Millicn
Bank borrowings 231.3 132.0
Loan notes 5G.1 498
Total borrowings 281.4 181.8
Current 1.3 1.0
Nen-current 280.1 180.8
281.4 181.8

In the prior year a £250 million revolving credit facility (repayable over five years with a variable intcrest rate) was entcred into with a group of
UK banks. The Group initially drew down £125 millior under the fully-committed facility, with an additional £100 million being drawn in the

current year.

In addition, during the prior year, the Group entered into a US Dollar §160 million private shelf facility. The Group authorised the issue of
£50 million of loan notes during the prior ycar in relation to the aforementioned facility. The notes were issued in Sterling, eliminating any Group
currency risk. The notes arc repayabie over ten years with a variable interest rate.

The Group alse guarantees loans provided by third partics to Partners. In the event of default of any individual Partner loan, the Group guarantecs to
repay the full amount of the loan, with the exception of Metro Bank plc, where 50% of the loan is guaranteed. These loans are sceured against the
future renewal income streams of the Partner, The value of the loans guaranteed is as follows:

Loans Drawn Facility
31December 31December 31December  31December
2016 2015 2016 2015
£’Million £'Million £'Million £'Million
Bank of Scotland 54.0 772 80.0 90.0
Metro Bank ple 35.6 44.8 95.0 50.0
Santander ple 47.2 19.4 50.0 25.0
Total loans 136.8 1414 225.0 165.0

The fair value of the outstanding borrowings and guarantccs is not materially different from amortised cost.
Interest expense on borrowings is recogniscd within expenses in the statement of comprehensive income.

Financial commitments
The Group has commitments under non-cancellable aperating leases in connection with the rental of office buildings and office equipment with
varying lcase end dates ranging from 2017 to 2041. The following table represents the future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases:

31December 31 December

2016 2015

£*Miilion E'Million

Not later than one year 15.6 149
Later than onc year and not later than five ycars 53.8 50.1
Later than five years 65.0 674
Total financial commitments 134.4 132.4

As at 31 December 2016, there was £0.2 million (2015: £0.1 million) of future minimum sublease payments expected to be received under

non-cancellable subleascs.
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17. FINANCIAL RISK

Risk management objectives and risk policies

The Group's financial risk can usefully be considered in two categories ol assets:
1. Assets backing unit liabilitics (sce Note 109; and

2. Shareholder assets.

In general, the policyholder bears the financial risk on assets backing the unitised business, and risk from sharcholder assets is minimised through
investment in liquid assets with a strong credit rating.

Exposure to the following risks for the two categories of assets is analysed separately in the fonowing sections, in line with the requirements of IFRS 7:
*  Credit risk

= Liquidity risk

+  Marker risk

* Currency risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss due to a debtor’s non-payment of a loan or other line of credit. Credit risk also arises from holdings of cash and cash
equivalents, deposits and formal loans with banks and financial institutions. The Group has adopted a risk averse approach to such risk and has a stated
policy of not actively pursuing or accepting credit risk except when necessary to support other objectives.

Risk Description Management

Shareholders’ assets  Loss of'assets or reduction in value  Sharcholder funds arc predominantly invested in AA A rated unitised money market funds
and deposits with approved banks, but may be invested in sovereign fixed interest sccurities
such as UK gilts where regulatory constraints on other assets apply. Maximum
counterparty limits arc sct for cach company within the Group and aggregate limits are also
set at a Group level.

Reinsurance Failure of counterparty or Credit ratings of potential reinsurers must meet or exceed minimum specified ievels.
counterparty unable to Consideration is also given to size, risk concentrations/exposures and ownership in the
meet liabilities selection of reinsurers. The Group also seeks to diversifly its reinsurance credit risk through

the use of a spread of reinsurers.

Partner loans and Inability of Partners to repay loans  Loans and advances are managed in line with the Group’s secured lending policy. Loans are

advances or advances from St. James’s Place  secured on the futurc renewal income stream Cxpcctc:d from a Partner’s portfolio and loan

advances vary in relation to the projected [uture income of the relevant Partner. Qutstanding
balances arc regularly reviewed and assessed on a conservative basis. Support is provided to
help Partners manage their business appropriately. Appropriate provision is made where there
is objective evidence Dfimpairmam.

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group, alt}mugh solvent, either does not have available sufficient financial resources to enable it to meet its
obligations as they fall due, or can secure such resources only at excessive cost. The Group is averse to liquidity risk and seeks to minimise this risk by
not activcly pursuing it except where necessary to support other objectives.

Risk Description Management

Cash or expense A significant cash or expense The majority of free assets arc invested in cash or cash equivalents and the cash position and

reguircment requirement needs to be metat  forecast are monitored on a monthly basis. The Group also maintains a margin of free assets
short notice. in excess of the minimum required solvency capital within its regulated entities. Further,

the Group has established committed borrowing facilities (see Note 16) intended to further
mitigate liquidity risk.

Market risk is the impact a fall in the value of equity or other asset markets may have on the business. The Group adopts a risk averse approach to
market risk, with a stated solvency policy of not actively pursuing or accepting market risk except where necessary to support other objectives.
However, the Group accepts the risk that the fall in equity or other asset markets will reduce the level of annual management charge income derived

from policyholder assets 2nd the risk of lower future profits.
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continued

17. FINANCIAL RISK continued
The table below summarises the main market risks that the business is exposed to and the methods by which the Group secks to mitigate them.

Risk Description Management

Client liabilitics Asaresult of a reduction in This risk is substantially mitigated by the Group’s strategic facus on unitised business, by not
equity values, the Group may he  providing guarantecs to clients on policy values and by the matching of assets and liabitities.
unable to meet client liabilities.

Tax In adverse market conditions, The tax position is monitored closely, in particular the size and sources of relevant
when the Group is realising income streams,
investment losses rather than
gains, the working of the -5 tax
regime can lead to short-term
capital incfficiencies, including the
deferral of the cash bencfit arising
from tax relief on cxpenses.

Retention Lass of future profit on Retention of investrment contracts is closely monitored and uncxpected expericnce
investment contracts due to variances are investigated. Retention has remained consistently strong throughout 2016,
more clients than anticipated despite volatile market conditions,

withdrawing their funds,
particular}y as aresult of poor
investment performance.

New business Poor performance in the The benefit to clients of longer term equity investment as part of a diversitied portfolio of
{inancial markets in absolute assets is fundamental to our philosophy. Adsice and markctingbccome even move
terms, and relative to inflation,  important when market values [all, and greater attention is required to support and give
leads to existing and future confidence to existing and future clients in such circumstances. This is taken account of hy
clients rejecting investment in the Group in its activities.

1Unger term assels.

Currency risk

The Group is not subject to any significant dircet currency risk, since all material sharcholder financial asscts and financial Habilitics are derominated
in Sterling. However, since future profits are dependent on charges based on FUM, changes in FUM as aresult of currency movements will impact
future profits.
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Shareholder Assets
Categories of financial assets and financial liabilities

The categorics and carrying values of the financial assets and financial liabilities held in the Group’s statement of financial position are summarised in

the table below:

Financial
assets at Financial
fair value liabilities
through measured at
profit and Loans and amortised
31 December 2016 loss¥  receivables cost Total
£’Million £'Million £°Million £'Million
Financial Assets
Fixed income securities 41.7 47,7
[nvestment in Collective Investment Schemes™ 867.4 867.4
Other reccivablest?
St. James's Place Partnership loans 212.2 212.2
— Renewal income assets 58.9 58.9
— Other 756.9 756.9
Total cther receivables 58.9 969.1 - 1,028.0
Cash and cash equivalents 345.9 345.9
Total financial assets 9740 1,315.0 - 2,289.0
Financial Liabilities
Borrowings 281.4 281.4
Other payables 790.1 790.1
Total financial liabilities - - 1,07T1.5 1,071.5
Financial
assets at Financial
fairvalue liabilities
through measured at
profitand Loans and amortised
31 December 2015 loss™ receivables cost Total
£'Milllan E’Miilfon £'Million £'Million
Financial Assets
Fixed income securities 83.1 83.1
Investment in Collective Investment Schemes® 531.0 531.0
Other receivables™
— St. James’s Place Partnership loans 178.7 178.7
Renewal income assets 26.8 26.8
Other 294.8 294.8
Total other receivables 26.8 473.5 - 500.3
Cash and cash cquivalents 2335 2335
Total financial assets 640.9 707.0 - 1,347.9
Financial Liabilities
Borrowings 181.8 181.8
Other payables 323.2 3232
Total financial liabilities - - 505.0 505.0

(13 All hinancial assets at faiv value through profit or loss are designated as such upon initial recognition.

(2) Allassets included as shareholder Invesiment in Collective Tnvestment Schemes are holdings of high quality, highly bquid Money Market funds, containing assets which are cash and cash equinatents,

{3) Other receivables exclutles prepayments and uncaraed commission, which are not considered financial assets
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17. FINANCIAL RISK continued
Income, expense, gains and losses arising from financial assets and financigl liabilities
The income, expense, gains and losscs arising from financial assets and financial liabilitics are summarised in the table below:

Financial
assets at Financizl
fair value liabilities
through measured at
profit and Loans and amortised
Year Ended 31 December 2016 losst recefvables cost Total
£'Miltion £'Miltion £'Miltion £'Miltion
Financial Assets
Fixed incomc securities 2.3 2.3
Investment in Collective Investment Schemcs 2.9 2.9
Other reccivables
— St. James’s Place Partnership loans 6.3 6.3
— Rencwal income assets (6.1} (6.1}
Total other receivables (6.1) 6.3 0.2
Cash and cash equivalents 1.2 1,2
Total financial assets {0.9) 7.5 - 6.6
Financial Liabilities
Borrowings (#.,9) {4.9)
Other payables {0.5) {0.5)
Total financial liabilities - - {5.4) {5.4)
Financial
assets at Financial
fairvaiue liabilities
through measured at
profitand Loans and amortised
Year Ended 31 December 2015 lossi recefvables cost Total
£'Million £'Million £'Million £'Million
Financial Assets
Fixed income securitics (1.1) 1.1
Investment in Collective Investment Schernes 3.0 3.0
Other receivables
8t. James's Place Partnership loans 5.9 5.9
Renewal income assets 3.7 (3.7)
Total other receivables (3.7) 5.9 - 2.2
Cash and cash equivalents 1.4 1.4
Total financial assets (1.8) 73 - 5.5
Financial Liabilities
Borrowings 4.4) (4.4)
Other payables 0.7) 0.7)
Total financial liabilities - - (5.1) (5.1)

(1} Allfinancial sssets and liabilities at fasr value through profit or loss are designated as such upon initial recognition.

Losses have been recognised within the investment return line in the statement of‘comprchcnsive income.
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Fair value estimation

Financial asscts and liabilities, which are held at fair valuc in the financial statements, are required to have disclesed their fair value measurcments by

level of the following fair value measurement hicrarchy:

*  Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or lizbilities (Level 1);
* Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that arc cbscrvable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly

{that is, derived from prices) (Level 2); and

* Inputs for the asset or liability that arc not based on ohservable market data (that is, uncbservable inputs) (Level 3).

The following table presents the Group's assets and liabilities measured at fair value:

31 December 2016 Levell Level 2 Level3 Total balance
£’Million £’Million £'Million £'Million
Financial Assets
Fixed income securitics 47.7 417
[nvestment in Collective Investment Schemes!” 867.4 867.4
Renewal income assets 58.9 58.9
Total financial assets 867.4 47.7 58.9 974.0
Financial Liabilities
Total financial liabilities - - - -
3] December 2015 Level1l Level2 Level3 Totalbalance
£'Mitlion £'Million £ Million £'Million
Financial Assets
Fixed income securitics 83.1 83.1
[nvestment in Collective Investment Schemes' 531.0 5310
Renewal incomc asscts 26.8 26.8
Total financial assets 531.0 83.1 26.8 640.9

Financial Liabilities

Total Minancial liabilities

(1) Allassets included as shareholder Investnent in Callective Investment Schemes are haldings of high cuality, highly liquid unitised money market funds, containing assets w hich are cash and cash equvalents.

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted bid prices at the reporting date, as described in the accounting

policy (n). Thesc instruments are included in Level 1,

Level 2 financial assets and liabilities arc valued using observable prices for identical current arm’s length transactions,

The Renewal income assets are Level 3 and are valued using a discounted cash fiow technique and the assumptions outlined in Note 12. The effect of
applying rcasonabl)’ possiblc alternative assumptions of a movement of ]00bps on the discount rate and a 10% movement in the lap:ie rate would result

in an unfavourable change in valuation of £5.4 million and a favourable change in valuation of £7.0 million, respectively.

There were no transfers between Level | and Level 2 during the year, nor inte or out of Level 3.
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17. FINANCIAL RISK continued
Movement in Level 3 portfolios

31 December 31 December

Renewal income assets 2016 2015
£'Mitlion £'Million
Opening balance 26.8 29.1
Additions during the year 382 1.4
Losses recognised in the statement of comprehensive income (6.1) (3.7}
Closing balance 58.9 26.8
Unrealised losses (6.1) (3.7
Losses recognised in the statement of comprehensive income {6.1) {3.7)
Credit risk
The following table sets out the maxiraum credit risk cxpesure and ratings of financial and other asscts which are susceptible to credit risk:
31 December 2016 AAA AA & BEBEB Unrated Tatal
£’Million £ Million £'Million £'Million £'Million £'Million
Fixed income securitics 4.8 42,9 1T1.7
Investment in Collective Investment Schemes™® B867.4 867.4
Other receivables 86.8 941.2 1,028.0
Cash and cash equivalents 68.3 207.6 42.3 27.7 345.9
Total 872.2 198.0 207.6 42.3 968.9 2,289.0

(1} Imestment of sharcholder assets in Collective Investment Schemes refers to insestment 10 unitised money market funds, <ontaining assets which are cash and cash equivalents.

31December 2015 AAA AA A BBB Unrated Total

£'Million £'Million £'Milllon £'Million £'Million £'Million
Fixed income securitics 3.9 79.2 83.1
Investment in Collective [nvestment Schemes'" 531.0 531.0
Other receivables 85.0 415.3 500.3
Cash and cash equivalents 22.1 177.8 254 8.2 2335
Total 534.9 186.3 1778 254 423.5 1,3479

Other receivables includes £212.2 million {2015: £178.7 million) of loans to St. James's Place Partners, which are interest bearing (linked to Bank of
Engiand hasc rate plus 2 marginy, repayable on demand and secured against the future rencwal income streams of the Partner,

Impairment of these loans is determined taking inte account a range of factors including default history, the nature or type of the Partner loan,

exposure levels to individual Partners and whether the individual Partner is active or has left.

The loan balance is presented net of a £3.3 million provision (2015: £3.0 million). (See also Nate 12,) The movement in the impairment provision will

reflect utilisation of the existing provision during the year, but the overall cost of impaired loans (including new provisions) recognised within
administration expenscs in the statement of comprehensive income during the year was a charge of £1.8 million (2015: £1,4 million).

The value of the loans that arc past due but not impaired is not considered to be material and has therefore not heen aged.

There arc no other financial asscts that are impaired, would originally have been past due or impaired but whose terms have been renegotiated, or are

past due but not impaired.
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Contractual maturity and liquidity analysis
The following table scts out the contractual maturity analysis of the Group’s financial asscts and financial liabilities as at 31 Decernber 2016:

Uptol 1-5 Over5
31 December 2016 year years years Tatal
£’Million £'Million £'Million £'Million

Financial Assets
Fixed income securities 47.7 47.7
Investment in Collective Investment Schemcs 867.4 867.4
Other reccivables
— St. James’s Place Partnership loans 62.5 114.2 35.5 212.2
— Renewal income 10.1 26.1 22.7T 53.9

Other 756.9 756.9
Total other reccivables 829.5 140.3 58.2 1,028.0
Cash and cash equivalents 345.9 345.9
Total financial assets 2,090.5 140.3 58.2 2,289.0
Financial Liabilities
Bormwings 1.2 228.0 53.4 282.7
Other payables 740.2 25.1 24.8 790.1
Total financial liabilities 741.5 253.1 78.2 1,072.8

Uptol 1-5 Over5
31 December 2015 year years years Total
£’Million £'Million £'Million £'Million

Financial Assets
Fixed income securities 40.7 42.4 83.1
Investment in Collective Investment Schemes 5327 532.7
Other receivables

St. James's Place Partnership loans 62.2 105.1 114 178.7
— Renewal income 26.8 26.8
— Other 294.8 294.8
Total other receivables 383.8 105.1 11.4 500.3
Cash and cash Cquivalcnts 2335 233.5
Total financial assets 1,190.7 105.1 53.8 1,349.6
Financial Liabilities
Borrowings 1.0 126.7 54.1 181.8
Other payables . 7697 52 48.3 323.2
Total financial liabilities 270.7 131.% 102.4 505.0

Sensitivity analysis to market risks

Financial asscts and liabilitics held outside unitised funds primarily consist of fixed interest securities, units in money market funds, cash and cash
equivalents, and other accounting assets and liabilities. The fixed interest securities are short term and are held as an alternative to cash. 8imilarly cash

held in unitised money market funds and at bank is valucd at par and is unaffected by movement in interest rates. Other asscts and liabilities are

similar]y U.ﬂﬂ.fTCCLCd b) markct movements.

As a result of these combined factors, the Group's financial assets and liabilities held outside unitised funds are not materially subject to marker risk,
and movements at the reporting date in interest rates and cquity values have an immaterial impact on the Group’s prefit after tax and equity. Future

proﬁts from annual management chargcs may be aflected by movements in interest rates and equity values.
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17. FINANCIAL RiSK continued

Unit liabilities and associated assets

Categories of financial assets and financial liabilities

Assets held to cover unit liabilities are surmmarised in Note 10, and all arc held at fair value through profit or loss, They are designated as such upon

initial recognition,

The carrying value of the unit liabilities may differ from the amount contractually required to pay at maturity. Maturity values of the financial
liabilities vary with future client itwestment and withdrawals as well as investment return. Future value alzo derives from credit for notional capital
losses in some life insurance (BLAGAB) funds. The contractual value required to be paid to unit holders as at 31 December 2016 would be

£17.1 million lower than the liability reflected in the statement of financial position (2015: £2.6 million lower).

income, expense, gains and losses arising from financial assets and financial liabilities
The income, expense, gains and losses arising from financial assets and linancial liabilitics are summarised in the table below:

31December  3lDecember

2016 2015
£'Million £'Million
Financial Assets and Investment Properties
Investment properties 42.8 128.6
Other assets backing unit lizbilities T,456.7 1,396.0
Total financial assets and investment properties 7,499.5 1,524.6
Financial Liabilities®
Unit liabilities €,336.8 973.8
Total financial liabilities 6,336.8 9738

(1) Allfinancial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are designated as such upon mitial recognition.
(2) Noneof the change in the fair value of financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss is ateributable to changes in their credit risk-

Losses have been recognised within the investment return line in the statcment of comprehensive income.,

Fair value estimation

Financial assets and [iabilitics, which are held at fair value in the tinancial statements, are required to have disclosed their fair value measurements by

level of the following fair value measurcment hicrarchy:

»  Quoted prices tunadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1);

* Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that arc observable for the asset or liability, cither directly (that is, as prices} or indirectly
(thatis, derived from prices) (Level 2); or

*  [nputs for the asset or liability that are not based an abservable martket data (that is, unobservable inputs) (Level 3).

The following table presents the Group's assets and liabilitics measured at fair value:

Total
31 December 2016 Levell Level2 Level3 balance
£’Million £'Million £Million £’Million
Financial Assets and Investment Properties
Investment property 1,462.4 1,462.4
Equities 46,598.7 46,598.7
Fixed income securitics 12,397.8 12,397.3
[nvestment in Collective Investment Schemes 2,996.0 1.4 2,997.4
Drerivative financial instruments 729.1 729.1
Cash and cash cquivalents 7,067,2 7,067.2
Total financial assets and investment properties 56,661.9 13,126.9 1,463.8 71,252.6
Financial Liabilities
Investment contract benefits 53,307.1 53,307.1
Drerivative financial instruments 281.9 281.9
Net agset value attributable to unit holders 17,032.0 17,032.0
Total financial liabilities 17,032.0 53,589.0 - 70,621.0
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Total

31 December 2015 Levell Level 2 Level3 balance
£'Million £'Millien £’Million £'Million
Financial Assets and Investment Properties
Investrment property 1,344, 1,344.5
Equities 37,960.8 37,950.8
Fixed income securitics 8,850.9 8,850.9
Investment in Collective Investment Schemes 2,735.9 2.7 2,738.6
Derivative financial instruments 3641 364.1
Cash and cash equivalents 5,091.6 5,091.6
Total financial assets and investment properties 45,788.3 9,215.0 1,347.6 56,350.9
Financial Liabilities
Investment contract benefits 43,159.8 43,159.8
Derivative financial instruments 2211 221.1
Net assct value attributable to unit holders 12,556.4 12,556.4
Total financial liabilities 12,556.4 43,380.9 - 55,937.3

In respect of the derivative financial liabilities, £171.1 million of collateral has becn posted at 31 December 2016, comprising cash and treasury bills
(2015: £97.4 million), in accordance with the terms and conditions of the derivative contracts.

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is bascd on quoted bid prices at the reporting date, as described in the accounting
policy (n}. These instruments are included in Level 1,

The Group closely monitors the valuation of assets in markets that have become less liquid. Determining whether a market is active requires the
exercise of judgement and is determined based upon the facts and circumstances of the market for the instrument bcing measured. Where it is
determined that there is no active market, fair value is established using a valuation tccl‘mique. The techniques applied incorporate relevant
infermation available and reflect appropriate adjustments for credit and liquidity risks, These valuation techniques maximise the use of observable
market data where it is available and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates. The relative weightings given to differing sources of
infermation and the determination of non-observable inputs to valuation models can require the exercise of significant judgement.

If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are obscrvable, the instrument is included in Level 2. If one or more of the significant
inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included in Level 3.

Nete that all of the resulting fair value estimates are included in Level 2, except for certain equities and investments in Collective Investment Schemes
(CI1Sy and investment properties as detailed below,

Specific valuation techniques used to value Level 2 financial assets and liabilities include:
= The use of ohservable prices for identical current arm’s length transactions, specifically:
— The fair value of unit linked liabilities is assessed by reference to the valuc of the undcrlying net asset value of the Group’s unitised investment
funds, determined on a bid value, at the reporting date; and
~ The Group's derivative financial instruments are valued using valuation techniques commeonly used by market participants. These consist of
discounted cash flow and cpticns pricing models, which typically incorporate observable market data, principally interest rates, basis spreads,
forcign cxchangc rates, equity prices and counterparty credit,
Specilic valuation techniques used to value Level 3 financial assets and liabilities include:
*  The use of unobservable inputs, such as expected rental values and cquivalent yiclds; and

*  Other techniques, such as discounted cash flow and historic lapse rates, are used to determine fair value for the remaining financial instruments.

There were no transfers between Level | and Level 2 during the year.
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17. FINANCIAL RISK continued

Transfers into and out of Level 3 portfolios

Transfers out of Level 3 portfolios arisc when inputs that could have a significant impact on the instrument’s valuation become market observable;
converscly, transfers into the portfolios arise when consistent sources of data ceasc ta be available.

Transfers in of certain equitics and investments in Collective Investment Schemes (CIS) eccur when asset valuations can no longer be obtained from an
observable market price L.e, become illiquid, in liquidation, suspended, etc. The converse is true if an observable market price becomes available,

The following table presents the changes in Level 3 financial assets and liabilities at fair value through the profit and loss:

Investment

Year Ended 31 Decetnber 2016 property cis

£'Million £'Million-
Opening balance 1,344.9 2.7
Transfer into Level 3 - 0.4
Additions during che year 1409 -
Disposed during the ycar - -
Gains/(lusses) recognised in the income statement (23.4) (1.7}
Closing balance 1,462.4 1.4
Realised losscs - -
Unrealised gains (23.4) (1.7)
Gains/(losses) recognised in the income statement (23.4) (1.7}

Investment

Year Ended 31 December 2015 property cis

£'Million £'Million
Opening balance 1,031.4 29.9
Transfer inta Level 3 - 0.3
Additions during the year 253.8 -
Disposed during the year {14.3) (27.4)
Gains recognised in the income statement 4.0 .0
Closing balance 1,3449 2.7
Realised losses (5.8) -
Unrealised gains 79.8 0.1)
Gains/(losses) recognised in the income statement 74.0 (0.1)

Gains/(losscs) recognised in the statement of comprehensive income are included within investment return for certain equities and investments in
Collective investment Schemes and investment property.
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Leve! 3 valuations

The principal asscts classificd as Level 3 are investment properties amounting to £1,462.4 million (2015; £1,344.9 million}. lovestment property is
initially measured at cost including related acquisition costs and subsequently valued monthly by professional external valuers at their respective fair
values at each reporting date. The fair values derived are based on anticipated market values for the properties in accordance with the guidance issucd
by The Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors, being the estimated amount that would be received from a sale of the assets in an orderly transaction
between market participants. The valuation of investment property is inherently subjective as it requires, among other factors, assumptions to be
made regarding the ability of existing tenants to meet their rental obligations over the entire life of their leases, the estimation of the expected rental
income in to the future, an asscssment of a property’s ability to remain as an attractive technical configuration to existing and prospective tenantsina
changing market and a judgement to be reached on the attractiveness of a building, its location and the surrounding environment.

Investment property classification

31 December 2016 Office Industrial Retail & leisure All
Gross ERV (per sq ft)*

Range £14.66 - £96.50 £3.50 - £15.75 £4.50- £427.84 £3,50-£427.84
Weighted average £31.63 £6.94 £15.05 £13.74
True equivalent yield

Range 3.9% - 8.4% 5.3%-7.3% 4.8%-13.6% 3.9% -13.6%
Weighted average 5.4% 6.1% 5.9% 5.8%
31 December 2015

Gross ERV (per sq fty*

Range £14.75 - £90.01 £3.00 - £15.00 £5.00 - £365.46 £3.00- £365.46
Weighted average £30.18 £6.59 £14.73 £13.22
True equivalent yield

Range 3.7% - 8.0% 5.4% - 7.1% 4.7% -13.1% 3.7%-13.1%
Weighted average 5.4% 6.1% 6.0% 5.8%

+  Equivalent rental value (per square foot)

Sensitivity of Level 3 valuations

The valuation of certain equities and investments in Collective Investment Schemes (CI8) are bascd on the latest observable price available. Whilst
such valuations are sensitive to estimates, it is believed that changing the price applicd to a reasonably possible alternative would not change the fair
value significantly.

Investment property is initially measured at cost including related acquisition costs and subsequently valued monthly by professional external valucrs
at their respective fair values at cach reporting date. The fair values derived are based on anticipated market values for the properties in accordance
with the guidance issued by The Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors, being the estimated amount that would be received from a sale of the assets
in an orderly transaction between market participants. The following table sets out the effect of applying reasonably possible alternative assumptions
to the valuation of the investment properties. Any change in the value of investment property is matched by the associated movement in the
policyholder liability and therefore would not impact on the sharcholder net asscts.

Effect of reasonable possible
alternative assumptions

Investment property Carrying Favourable Unfavourable

significant unobservable inputs value changes changes

£'Million £'Million £'Million

31 December 2016 Expected rental value/Relative yield 1,462.4 1,598.3 1,341.9
31 December 2015 Expected rental value/Relative yield 1,344.9 1,469.3 1,235.2

Credit risk

Credit risk relating to unit liabilities is borne by the unit halders.

Contractual maturity and liquidity analysis

Unit liabilities (and the associated assets) arc deemed to have a maturity of up te vne year since they are repayable and transferable on demand. In
practice the contractual maturities ol the assets may be longer than one year, but the majority of assets held within the unit linked and unit trust funds
arc highly liquid and the Group also actively monitors fund liquidity.

Sensitivity analysis to market risks

The majority of the Group’s business is unitised and the direct associated market risk is thereforc borne by policyholders. (For completeness, we note
that there is an indirect risk associated with market performance as future shareholder income is dependent upon markets, however the direct risk has
been mitigated through the Group's approach to matching asscts and liabilities).
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18. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT AND ALLOCATION

It is the Group's policy to maintain a strong capital base in order to:

*  Protect clients’ intercsts;

*  Meert regulatary requirements;

*  Protect creditors’ interests; and

* Creatc sharcholder value t]‘lrnugh support for business development.

Within the Group, cach subsidiar)a manages its own capital in the context of a Group capital plan. Any capital in excess of planned requircments is
returned to the Group’s Parent, St. James's Place ple, normally by way of dividends. The Group capital position is monitored by the Finance Executive
Committee on behalf of the St. james’s Place plc Board.

The Group’s policy is for each subsidiary 1o hold the higher of:
*  The capital required by any rclevant supervisory body uplifted by a specified margin to absorb changes; or

»  The capital required based on the Company’s internal assessment.

For our insurance companies, we hold capital based on our own internal assessment, albeit recognising the regulatory requirement. For other
regulated companies we gencerally hold capital based on the regulatory requirement uplifted by a specified margin.

The following entities are subject to regulatory supervision and have to maintain a minimum level of regulatery capital:

Entity Regulatory Body and Jurisdiction

St. James's Place UK plc PRA and FCA: Long-term insurance business

St. James's Place International ple Central Bank of Ireland: Life insurance business

St. James's Place Unit Trust Group Limited FCA: UCITS Management Company

St. James's Place Investment Administration Limited FCA; Investroent Firm

St. James’s Place Wealth Management (PCIS) Limited FCA: Securities and Futures Firm

St. James’s Placc Wealth Management ple FCA: Personal Investment Firm

BFS Financial Services Limnited FCA: Personal Investment Firm

LP Financial Management Limited FCA.: Personal [nyestment Firm

St. James’s Place (Hong Kong) Limited Securities and Futurcs Commission (Hong Kong): A Member of The Hong
Kong Confederation of Insurance Brokers

St. James’s Place (Singapore) Private Limited Monetary Authority Singapore:
A Member of the Association of Financial Advisers

Rowan Darrington & Co Limited FCA: [nvestment Firm

In addition, the 8t. James’s Place Group is regulated as an Insurance Group under Solvency 11, with the PRA as the iead regulator.

As an insurance group, St. James's Place is subject to the Solvency Il regulations, which were implemented on 1 January 2016. More information about
the impact of the implementation of Solvency ITis included in the Financial Review on page 43 and in the separate Sclvency and Financial Condition
Report document. The overall capital position for the Group at 31 December 2016, assessed on the Standard Formula basis, is presented in the
following table:

31December 2016 Group
E'Mitlion
IFRS total assets 75,022.1
Less Solvency 11 valuation adjustments and unit linked liabilitics {73,952.1)
Solvency Il net assets 1,070.0
Management Solvency Buffer (MSB) 527.0
Excess of free assets over M58 543.0
Solvency Il VIF 2,707.9
Risk margin (779.2)
Standard formula SCR (A) (2,046.5)
Sub-total {117.8}
Solvency II Free Assets (B} 952.2
Solvency Il ratio (A +B)/A) 147%

An overall interna] capital assessment is required for insurance groups, This is known as an ORSA {Own Risk and Solvency Assessment) and is
deseribed in more detail in the section on Risk and Risk Management on page 49.
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The capital requirement and the associated solvency of the Group are assessed and monitared by the Finance Executive Committee, 2 Committee of
the St. James's Place plc Board. The regulatory requirements for the remaining companies within the Group are assessed and monitored by the

relevant subsidiary boards.

Although there has been a significant change in the approach to assessing ‘required capital’ during the year (as a result of Solvency 11, therc has been
no material change in the level of capital required, or in the Group’s management of capital, All regulated entities exceeded the minimum selvency

requirements at the reporting date and during the year.

Capital composition
The principal forms of capital are included in the following balances on the consclidated statement of financial position:

31December  31December

2016 2015

£'Million £'Million

Sharc capital 79.1 8.7
Share premium 164.5 158.3
Shares in trust reserve {20.9) (18.5)
Miscellancous reserves 2.5 2.3
Retained earnings 851.2 874.6
Sharcholders’ equity . 1,076.4 1,095.4
Non-controlling interests (0.8) (0.3}
Total equity 1,075.6 1,095.1

The above asscts do not all qualify as regulatory capital. The required minimum regulatory capital and analysis of the asscts that qualify as regulatory
capital are outlined in Section 4 of the Financial Review on page 39, which demonstrates that the Group has met its internal capital objectives. The
Group and its individually regulated operations have complied with all externally and internally imposed capital requirements throughout the year,
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19. SHARE CAPITAL, EARNINGS PER SHARE AND DIVIDENDS

Share Capital
Number of

Ordinary Called up
Shares Share Capital
£'Million
At l January 2015 519,447,391 719
— Issue of share capital 206,366 -
— Exercise of options 5,011,455 0.8
At 31 December 2015 524,665,212 78.7
— Issuc of share capital 108,819 -
- Exercisc of options 2,708,317 0.4
At 31 December 2016 527,482,348 79.1

The tatal authorised number of ordinary shares is 605 million (2015: 605 million), with a par valuc of 15 pence per share (20H5: 15 pence per sharc).
Allissued shares are fully paid.

Incladed in the issued share capital are 3,954,525 (2015: 3,605,740) shares held in the Shares in Trust Reserve with a nominal value of £0.6 million
(2015: £0.5 million}. The shares are held by the SJPC Empleycc Share Trust and the St. James’s Place 2010 SIP Trust to satisfy certain sharc-based
payment schemes. The trustees of the SJPC Employee Share Trust retain the right to dividends on the shares held by the Trust but have chosen to
waive their entitlement to the dividends on 1,330,156 shares during 2016 and 1,727,510 shares during 2615. No dividends have been waived on shares
held in the St. James's Place 2010 SIP Trust in 2016 or 2015,

The number of shares reserved for issue under options and contracts for sale of shares, including terms and conditions, is included within Note 20.

Earnings per Share
Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 31December
2016 2015
£'Million £*Milfion
Earnings
Profit aftcr tax attributable to equity shareholders (for both basic and diluced EPS) 112.2 2020
Million Million
Weighted average number of shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue { for basic EPS) . 522.6 51%.1
Adjustments for outstanding share options 3.3 5.2
Weighted average number of ordinary shares ( for diluted EPS) 525.9 524.3
Pence Pence
Earnings per share (EPS)
Basic earnings per share 21.5 38.9
Diluted carnings per share 21.3 38.5

Dividends
The fo]luwing dividends have been paid by the Group:

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended YearEnded
31December 31December 31December 31December

2016 2015 2016 2015
Pence per Pence per £'Mitlion E'Million

Share Share
Final dividend in respect of previous financial year 17.24 14.37 90.4 74.8
Interim dividend in respect of current financial year 12,33 10,72 4.8 56.0
Total dividends 29,57 25.09 155.2 130.8

The Dircctors have recommended a final dividend of 20,67 penee per share (2015: 17.24 pence). This amounts to £109 million (2015: £90.4 million) and
will, subject to sharcholder approval at the Annual General Meeting, be paid on 12 May 2017 to those sharcholders on the register as at 7 Aprii 2017.
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20. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group operated a number of different equity and cash scttled share-based payment arrangements,
which are aggregated as follows:

SAYE plan - this is a standard HMRC approved scheme that is available te all employees where individuals may contribute up to £250 per month
over three ycars to purchase shares at a price not less than 80% of the market price at the date of the invitation to participate;

Share incentive plan (SIP)  this is an HMRC approved scheme which is available to all employees where individuals may invest up to an annual
Himit of £1,500 of pre-tax salary in §JP sharcs, to which the Company will add a further 10%. If the shares are held for five years, then they may be
sold free of income tax or CGT;

Exccutive deferred bonus schemes — under these plans the deferred element of the anrual bonus is used to purchase shares at market value in the
Company. The shares are held by the Company until vesting after three years and, in addition to the performance targets, which apply prior to any
entitlement being granted, further performance conditions may also apply on vesting;

Executive performance share plan — the Remuneration Committec of the Group Board may make awards of performance shares to the Executive
Dircctors and other senior managers. Two-thirds of shares awarded to Directors are subject to an carnings grow th condition of the Group and one-third
of shares awarded to Dircctors are subject to a comparative total shareholder return { TSR) condition, both measured over a three-year period. Further
information regarding the vesting conditions of the carnings growth and total shareholder return dependent portions of the award is given in the
Remuneration Report on page 98. Awards made to senjor managers are largely only subject to the carnings growth condition of the Group;

Partner share option schemes  these were offered teo the Partners of the St. James’s Place Partnership and vest over three to six years subject to
satisfying personal new business related performance criteria. The last award under these schemes was made in 2007,

Partner performance share plan - under this plan Partners are entitled to purchase shares in the future at nominal value (15 pence). The number of
shares the Partners are entitled to purchase will depend on their personal business volumes in the year of the award and validation over the
following three years. The last award under this scheme was made in 2010;

Partner and Adviser chartered plan - a new schemce was launched during 2015 as part of the Partner performance share plan whereby Partners and
Advisers are entitied to purchase shares in the future at nominal value (15 pence). The number of shares the Partners are entitled to purchase will
depend upen achieving specific professional qualifications and new business levels in a specified twelve month period and validation over the
following three years. The first award under these schemes was made in 2016; and

Restricted share plan — upon acquisitior: of the Rowan Dartington Group a new scheme was launched for eligible employees. Employees were
granted shares, 50% of which vest after 18 months, and the remaining 50% vest after three years providing the individual remains in employment
within the SJP Group and maintains any applicable professional qualifications.

Share options outstanding under the various share option schemes, together with shares due under the deferred bonus schemes at 31 December 2018,
amount to 11,5 million shares (2015: 7.1 million). Of these, 5.4 million (2015: i.1 million) are under option to Partners of the St. James’s Place
Partnership, 4.7 million (2015: 4.7 million) are under option to executives and senior management (including 1.3 million (2015: 1.5 million) under
option to Directors as disclosed in the Remuneration Report, on pages 108 to 1(0), 0.3 million (2015: nil} are under option to employees who became
employees of the Group en acquisition of the Rowan Dartington Group and 1.1 million (2015: 1.2 million} are under cption through the SAYE and
SIP schemes. These are exercisable on a range of future dates,
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20, SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS continued
The table below summarises the share-based payment awards made in 2015 and 2016:

Executive Executive Partner
Share Deferred Performance and Adviser Restricted
SAYE Incentive Plan Bonus Share Plan  Chartered Plan Share Plan
Awards in 2015:

Date of grant 25 March and 26 March 26 March 26 March and - -

25 September 15 September
Number granted 637,327 5,245 675,007 729,506 - -
Contractual life 3.5years 3years 3years 3.5-6years - -
Vesting conditions 3Iyearsaving  3yearsaving 3years’ service 3years’ service - -

period period and achievement and achievement

of personal of earnings and

targets in some TSR targets

instances
Awards in 2016:

Date of grant 24 March 24 March 24 March 24 March and 29 July 29 July

26 September
Number granted 460,065 5,591 613,382 857,125 5,374,449 323,300
Contractual iife 3.5years 3years dyears 3.5-6years 3.5years 3.5years
Vesting conditions 3 year saving 3yearsaving 3 years’ sefvice 3years service  3yearsaving 3 yearsaving
period period  and achievement and achievement period period

of personal
targets in some
instances

of earnings and
TSR targets

Financial assumptions underlying the calculation of fair value
The fair value cxpense has been bascd on the fair value of the instruments granted, as calculated using appropriate derivative pricing models. The table
below shows the weighted average assumptions and models used to calculate the grant date fair value of each award:

Executive Executive Partner
Share Deferred Performance and Adviser Restricted
SAYE  Incentive Plan Bonus Share Plan  Chartered Plan Share Plan
Valuation model Black Black Black Monte Black Black
Scholes Scholes Scholes Carlo Scholes Scholes
Awards in 2015
Fair value {pence) 263.3/161.4% 975.0 979.0/982.5 §79.0" - -
Share price (pence) 990.0/836.6 579.0 879.0 979.0 - -
Exereise price {pence) 738.0/724.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 - -
Expected volatility (% pay" 25/25 N/A N/A 25 - -
Expected dividends (%o pa) 2.4/30 N/~ H/AR A - -
Rigk-free interest rate (% pa) 0.7/0.9 N/A N/A N/A - -
Volatility of compctitors (% pa) N/A N/A N/A 18to 48 - -
Correlation with competitors (%) N/& N/A N 20 - -
Awards in 2016
Fair value {pencc) 2507 935.5 935.5 493.9/935.5 822.0 894.0
Share price (pence) 935.5 935.5 935.5 935.5 920.0 894.0
Exercise price {pence) 687.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 15.0 0.0
Expected volatility (% pa)*” 270 N/A N/A 27.0 29.0 N/A
Expected dividends (% pay 3.0 N/A NJA N/A 3.2 N/A
Risk-free interest rate (% pa) 08 MSA N/ N/A d.1 MN/A
Volatility of competitors (% pa) N/A N/A N/A 17 to 44 N/A N/A
Corrclation with competitors (%) N/A N/A N/A 20.0 N/A N/A

Notes:

(1) Expocted volatlity is hased on an apalysis of the Company’s historic share price volatility over a period (typically three or (ive years) which is communsurate with the expected term of Lhe options or
the awards.

(2} In 2015and 2016, the vesting period for ¢he SAYE plan was three years. The vesting period may be eceended by up tu siv monthy in order to catch up on missed contributions,

(3) Dividends payable on the shares during the restricted period are paid out during the restricted period for the executive delerred bonus schemes and no dhvidend yield assumpuion is therefore required.

(4} Theawards made under the cxccutive performance share plan are dependent upon carnings growth in the Company (two-thirds of the award) and a teta! shareholder return of'a comparator group of
compaies (one-third of the award). This results in having two Frir values for each of the awards made in the 1able above, the frst being in relation to the comparator total sharcholder return and the
second relating 1o the Company’s earnings growth.

5

Awards were made under the executive performance share plan on two separate oceasions during 2016 (2015: two).
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Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
31December 3lDecember 3iCecember 31 December

2016 2016 2015 2015
Number of Weighted Number of Wefghted
options average options average
exercise price exercise price
SAYE
Outstanding at start of year 1,162,588 £6.15 1,458,774 £3.86
Granted 460,065 £7.48 637,327 £7.30
Forfeited {272,877) £7.19 (88,461} £5.52
Exercised {319,073) £3.53 (845,052) £2.82
OGutstanding at end of)'ear 1,030,703 £7.28 1,162,588 £6.15
Exercisablc at end ofycar 186 £4.04 108,103 £2.75
Executive Share Options
Outstanding at start Ufycar - - 54,270 £2.43
Exercised - - (54,270} £2.43
Outstanding at end of ycar - - - -
Partner Share Options
Outstanding at start of year 1,146,226 £3.35 3,407,365 £2.91
Granted - - : - -
Forfeited - - - -
Exercised (1,127,126) £3,33 {2,261,139) £2.69
Outstanding at end of year 19,100 £4.55 1,146,226 £3.35
Exercisable at end of year 19,100 £4.55 1,146,226 £3.35

The average share price during the year was 914.6 pence (2015: 921.5 pence),

The SAYE plan options outstanding at 31 December 2016 had exercise prices of 404 pence (786 options), 676 pence (207,521 options), 792 pence
(197,458 options), 669 pence (181,693), 748 pence (436,624) and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 2.1 years,

The options outstanding under the Partner share option schemes at 31 December 2016 had exercise prices ranging from 438 pence to 465 pence and a
weighted average remaining contractual life of 0.2 years,
Share Incentive Plan (nil cost option - no proceeds on exercise)

Year Ended Year Ended
31December 31 December

2016 2015
Number of Number of
options options

Outstanding at start of year 24,892 23,069
Granted 5,591 5,245
Forleited (825) {879)
Exercised (2,402) (2,543)
Outstanding at end of)'car 27,256 24,892
Exercisable at end of year 13,134 3,711

Executive Performance Share Plan {nil cost option - no proceeds on exercise)

Year Ended Year Ended
31December  31December

2016 2015
Number of Number of
options optians
Outstanding at start of ycar 3,187,940 5,212,411
Granted 857,125 725,506
Forfeited (98,535)  (245,272)
Exercised (993,261) (2,508,705}
Qutstanding at end of year 2,953,269 3,187,940
Exercisable at end of year 514,297 310,188
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20. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS continued
Partner Performance Share Plan (15 pence per share on exercise)

Year Ended YearEnded
31December 31December

2016 2015

Number of Number of

options options

Outstanding at start of year 15,000 $5,500
Granted - -
Forfeited - -
Exercised {15,000) {80,500)
Outstanding at end of year - 15,000
Excrcisable at end of year - 15,000

Partner and Adviser Chartered Plan (15 pence per share on exercise)

Year Ended Year Ended
3iDecember 31Cecember

2016 2015

Number of Number of

options oplicns

Qutstanding at start of year - _
Granted 5,374,449 -
Forfeited (7,512) -
Lxercised -
Outstanding at end of year 5,366,937 -

Exercisable at end of year - _

Executive Deferred Bonus (nil cost option —no proceeds on exercise)

Year Ended Year Ended
31December 31December

2016 2015

Number of Number of

shares shares

Qutstarcling at start of year 1,658,301 1,676,958
Granted 613,382 675,097
Forfeited (12,789) (26,339)
Excrciscd (425,458)  (567,415)
Qutstanding at end of year 1,833,436 1,658,301

Exercisable at end of year - -

Restricted Share Plan (nil cost eption - no proceeds on exercise)

Year Ended Year Ended
31December 31December

2016 2015

Number of Number of

shares shares

Outstanding at start of ycar - _
Granted 323,300 -
Forfeited (1,440) -
Exercised - -
Outstanding at cnd of year 321,860 -

Excrcisable at end of year - -
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Early exercise assumptions

The following allowance has been made for the impact of early exercise once options have vested:

I. SAYEplan all option holders are assumed to exercise halfway through the six month exercise window.

2. Executive, sales management and partner share option schemes it is assumed that 10% of option holders exercise their options each year
irrespective of the level of the share price. For the remainder it is assumed that one-half will exercise their options cach year if the share price is at
least 33% above the exercise price.,

Allowance for perfermance conditions

The executive performance share plan includes a market based performance condition based on the Company’s total sharcholder return relative to an
index of comparator companies. The impact of this performance condition has been modelled using Monte Carlo simulation techniques, which involve
running many thousands of simulations of futurc share price movements for both the Company and the comparator index. For the purpose of thesc
simulations it is assumed that the share price of the Company and the comparator index are 20% (2015: 20%) correlated and that the comparator
index has volatilities ranging between 17% p.a, to 44% p.a, {2015: 18% p.a. to 48% p.a.).

The performance condition is based on the Company's performance relative to the comparator index over a three-year period commencing on
1 January each year. The fair value calculations for the awards that were made in 2016 therefore include an allowance for the actual performance of the
Company’s sharc price relative to the index ever the period between 1 January 2016 and the various award dates.

Charge to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
The table below sets out the Chargc to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in respect of the share-based payment awards:

Year Ended Year Ended
31December 31December

2016 2015

£'Million £'Milllon

Equity settled share-based payment expense 22.7 147
Cash settled share-based payment expense 1.2 1.0
Total share-based payment expense 23.9 15.7

Liability recognised in the statement of financial pasition

The liability rccognised in the statement of financial position in respect of the cash settled share-based payment awards is as follows. This liability is
included within other payables on the face of the statement of financial position. None of the liability at 31 December 2016 or 31 December 2015 is in
respect of vested cash settled share-based payments:

Year Ended Year Ended
31December 31December

2016 2015
£’Million £'Million
Liability for cash settled share-based payments 3.1 1.6
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21. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND DISPOSALS
Business combinations

During the ycar the Group acquired the following subsidiaries in line with the Group's strategic objective of broadening the business model,
expanding the client proposition and growing the Partnership:

% Dateof
Subsidiary undertaking Principal activity Sharehaoiding acquisition
Rowan Dartington Group
Rowan Dartington Ho]dings Limited Hulding Company 100%  08/03/2016
Rowan Dartington & Ca Limited Stockbroker and Investment Manager 100%  08/03/2016
Stafford House Investments Limited Independent Financial Adviser 100%  08/03/2016
Ardan Intcrnational Limited Investment Platform 92.5%  (08/03/2016
Dartington Portfolio Nominees Limited Non-trading ’ 100%  08/03/2016
Rowan Dartington Trustecs Limited Non-trading 100%  08/03/2016
RID Portfolio Nominecs Limited Non-trading 100%  08/03/2016
Colston Portfolio Nominees Limited Non-trading 100%  08/03/2016
Cabot Portfolio Nominees Limited Non-trading 100%  08/03/2016
Ardan Nominees Limited Nen-trading 100%  08/03/2016
Others
Technical Connection Limited Tax and Advisory Services 100%  18/04/2016
Now Financial Solutions Limited* Independent Financial Adviser 100%  29/04/2016

*  Post acquisition, Now Financial Selutions Limited changed 1ts name to Hale Financial Solutions Limited,

Acquisition-related costs of £0.2 million have been charged to administration expenses in the consolidated income statcment for the year cnded
31 December 2016.

Rowan Dartington Group

The Rowan Dartington Group acquisition contributed £9.8 million to revenuc and a £3.9 million loss before income tax for the period between the
acquisition date and the statement of financial position date. Had the above acquisitions been consolidated from 1 January 2016, they would have
contributed £11.4 million to revenue and a £4.8 million loss before income tax to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the period.

The net asscts, fair value adjustments and consideration for these acquisitions are summarised below (all values shown as at their acquisition dates):

Fairvalue

Book value adjustment Total

£'Million £'Hillion £'Million

Financial asscts 7.8 38.1 46.%

Cash and cash cquivalents 1.2 - 1.2

Financial liabilitics (7.6) (6.6) (14.2)

Total 14 32,5 33.9
Consideration

Cash consideration 19.9

Dcferred consideration 7.2

Contingent consideration 6.8

Total consideration 339

It is cxpected that the contingent consideration will be paid in full with no changes to the amount initially recognised; however, should the target
number of Investment Exccutives not be met, the contingent consideration will decrease on a pro-rata basis down to a value of £nil. Of the remaining
balance to be settied at acquisition, a further £2.4 million was settled on 6 September 2016 and the Group expects that £2.4 million will be settled by
9 March 2017, £5.7 million by 6 September 2017 and £3.5 million by § March 2019,
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Other acquisitions
The nct asscts, fair value adjustments and consideration for these acquisitions are summarised below (all values shown as at their acquisition dates):

Fair value

Bookvalue  adjustment Total

£'Million £'Million £'Million

Financial assets 0.3 2.2 2.5

Cash and cash equivalents 0.9 - 09

Financial liabilities {0.5) (0.4) {0.9)

Total 07 1.8 2.5
Consideration

Cash consideration 3.8

Deferred consideration 0.3

Contingcnt consideration 2.1

Total consideration 6.2

Goodwill 37

Goodwill comprises the value placed on the experience and expertisc of the Technical Connection Limited management team within the tax and
advisory sector.

Of the £2.1 million contingent consideration, £1.2 million is in rclation to the acquisition of Technical Connection Limited. It is expected that the
£1.2 million contingent consideration will be paid in full with no changes to the amount initially recognised; however, should the target number of
consultancy hours provided to $]P Partners and the level of Techlink subscriptions not be mect, the contingent consideration will decrease ona
pro-rata basis down to a value of £nil.

The remaining £0,9 million contingent consideration is in relation to the acquisition of Now Financial Solutions Limited (now Hale Financial
Solutions Limited) and is payable if certain performance targets are met, being based on the individual Partner performance. Itis cxpected that the
£0.9 million contingent consideration will be paid in full with no changes to the amount initially recognised; however, should the performance
targets not be met, the contingent consideration will decreasc on a pro-rata basis down to a value of £nil,

Of the total remaining balance to be settled, the Group expects that £0.4 million will be scttled by 29 April 2017, £0.8 million will be settled by
18 April 2018, £0.4 million will be settled by 2% April 2018 and £0.8 million will be settled by 18 April 2019.

Disposals
During the year the Group sold 100% cf its investments in the following subsidiaries in line with the Group’s objective to simplify the Group
structure and TCMGVE non-core OpCTatiOnS:

Net assets
Date of ondateof  Profitf{loss)
Subsidiary undertaking Principal activity disposal disposal ondisposal
£'Million £'Million
Ardan Intcrnational Limited [nvestment Platform 30/12/2016 4.0 nil
Ardan Nominees Limited Nonftrading 30/12/2016 - nil
St. Jamcs's Place Trust Company Jersey Limited  Trustee Services 21/06/2016 0.1 0.1)

In line with IERS 3, no gain or loss arase on the sale of Ardan [nternational Limited and its subsidiary as it was seld within the twelve month
adjustment period following acquisition, resulting in a fair valuc adjustment being processed in the business combination note resulting in the reduction

ol goodwill.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
UNDER INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

continued

22. INTERESTS IN UNCONSOLIDATED ENTITIES

Unconsolidated structured entities

The Group operates investment vehicles, such as unit trusts, primarily to match unit holder liabilitics. The investinent vehicles are primarily financed
by investments from unit holders. Note 2 sets oot the judgements inherent in determining when the Group controls, and therefore consclidates, the
relevant investment vehicles.

The majority of the risk from a change in the value of the Group’s investment in unconsolidated unit trusts is matched by a change in policyholder
liabilities. However, the maximum exposure to loss is equal to the carrying value of the investment, with the balance being included within
investments in Collective Investment Schemes, At 31 December 2016, the total net asset value of unconsolidated unit trusts in which the Group held a
beneficial intercst was £2,857.5 million (2015: £2,702.4 million).

The following unit trusts arc not consolidated within the Group financial statemcnts; howevar, the Group does act as the manager of thesc unit trusts.

Net asset value as at

% of ownership interest Nature of Measurement 31 December

Name of entity 2016 2015  relationship method 2018 2015

£'Million £'Millien

St. Jarnes’s Place Property Unit Trust .00 000 Managerof NIA 1,005.0 859.2

. unit trust

St. James’s Place UK High Income Unit Trust 10.72 9.64 Manager of Fairvalue 1,852.5 1,843.2
unit trust through
profitarloss

2,857.5 2,702.4

Asat 31 December 2016 the value of the Group's interests in the individual unconsalidated unit trusts were £nil (2015: £nil) in St. James’s Place
Property Unit Trust and £198.6 million (2015: £177.7 million) in St. James’s Place UK High Income Unit Trust.

Associates
The following unit trust, registercd in England and Weles, is not consolidated within the Group financial statements; however it does meet the criteria

of an associate.

HNetassetvalueasat
% of ownership interest Nature of M ement 31 December

Name of entity 2006 2015  relationship method 2016 2015

£’Million £'Million

St. James’s Place UK High Income Unit Trust 10.72 9.64 Managerof Fair value 1,852.5 1,843.2
unit frust through
profitorloss

1,852.5 1,843.2
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23. SUBSIDIARY UNDERTAKINGS
Principal subsidiaries:

Investment Holding Companies

Life Assurance

Unit Trust Management

Unit Trust Administration and ISA Management
Distribution

Management Services

IFA Acquisitions

Asia Distribution

Discretionary Fund Management

St. James’s Place Investments ple*

St. James’s Place Wealth Management Group ple*
St. James’s Place DFM Holdings Limited*

St. James’s Place UK plc

St. James’s Place International plc (incorperated in freland)#
St. James’s Place Unit Trust Group Limited

St, James’s Place Investment Administration Limited
5t. James’s Place Wealth Management plc

St. James’s Place Management Services Limited**
St. James's Place Acquisition Services Limited

St. James's Place International Distribution Limited
Rowan Dartington & Co Limited

*  Directly held by St. James's Place ple.
** The Company also operates z branch in the Republic of [reland.

# The Company also operates s branch in Singapore.

ThélCOmpany owns either directly or indircctly 100% of the voting ordinary cquity share capital of the above-named subsidiaries, as such they have

been appropriately consolidated.

Ongoing solvency requirements within the life assurance, unit trust and financial services companies of the Group restrict their ability to distribute all

their distributable reserves.
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NOTESTO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

UNDER INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

continued

23, SUBSIDIARY UNDERTAKINGS continued
[ncluded below and on the following page is a full list of the entities within the St. fames’s Place plc Group at 31 December 2016:

Company Country of Audit
Entity number Registered office incorporation Principal activity exemption
Australian Expatriate Services Limited 01954254 Ist Fingr, Henley Building, Hong Kong Overseas Distribution  No
5 QQueen’s Road Central,
Hong Kong
BFS Financial Scrvices Limited 04609753 * England and Wales  Financial Advice Yes
Cabot Portlolio Nominecs Limited 03636010 * England and Wales  Nomince Company Yes
Chapman Associates Limited 03047530 * Eagland and Wales  Financial Advice Yes
Chapman Hunter Group Limited 06034452 * England and Wales  Holding Company Yes
Colsten Portfolio Neminees Limited 02763967 * England and Wales  Nominee Company Yes
Dartington Portfolio Nominces Limited 01489542 * England and Wales  Nominee Company Yes
G.M.B. Financial Services Limited 04074782 ® England and Wales  Non-trading Yes
Hale Financial Solutions Limited 04373946 * England and Wales  Financial Advice Yes
Lansdown Place Group 06390547 2 Oakficld Road, Clifton, England and Wales  Holding Company Yes
Haldings Limited Bristol, England, BS8 2AL,
United Kingdom
LP Auto Enrolment Solutions Limited 08257531 2 Oakfield Road, Clifton, England and Wales  Pension Auto- Yes
Bristol, England, BS§ 2AL, cnrolment
United Kingdom
L.P Financial Management Limited 02195886 2 Oakficld Road, Clifton, England and Wales  Financial Advice Yes
Bristol, England, BS8 2AL,
United Kingdom
LP Holdeco Limited 08323278 2 Oakfield Road, Clifton, England and Wales  Holding Company No
Bristol, England, B58 2AL,
United Kingdom
Lansdown Place Wealth 05458948 2 Oaklield Read, Clifton, England and Wales  Financial Advice Yes
Managcement Limited Bristol, England, BS8 2AL,
United Kingdom
t.H.S. (Holdings) Lirited 0555995 * England and Wales  Non-trading Yes
PFPTime Limited Q4047197 * England and Wales  Financial Advice Yes
RID} Portfolio Nominees Limited 02752124 * England and Wales  Nominec Company Yes
Rowan Dartington & Co. Limited 02752304 * England and Wales  Stockbroker and No
Investment Manager
Rowan Dartington Holdings Limited 07470226 * England and Wales  Holding Company Yes
Rowan Dartington Trustees Limited 05224173 * England and Wales  Nomince Company Yes
5]P AESOP Trustecs Limited 04089795 * England and Wales  Nomince Company Yes
$JPC Corporate Investments Limited 01476292 * England and Wales  Holding Company Yoy
Stafford Housc Investments Limited 03866935 * Eng]and and Wales  Financial Advice Yes
St. James's Place (Hong Kong) Limited 0275275 {st Floor, Henley Building, Hong Kong Overseas Distribution  No
5 Queen’s Road Central,
Hong Kong
St. James's Place (PCP) Limited 02706684 * England and Wales  Transacts and Services  No
SIP Income Streams
St. James’s Place (Properties) Limited 06890166 * England and Wales  Non-trading Yo
St. fames’s Place (Shanghai) Limited 310600400640051 Unit 2006-2007, Tower | China Overseas Distribution  No
{North), 1515 West
Nanjing Road, fing'an,
China
St. fames’s Place (Singaporc) 200406398R 80 Raffles Place, #26-01 Singapore Financial Advice No
Private Limited LIOB Plaza, Singapore
048624, Singapore
Si. James's Place Acquisition Q7730835 * England and Wales  [FA Acquisitions Yes
Services Limited
St. James's Place Client 05487108 * England and Wales ~ Policy Administration  Yes
Solutions Limited
St. James's Place Corporate 09131866 * England and Wales  Corporate Secrctary Yes
Secretary Limited
St. James's Place DFM Holdings Limited 09687687 * England and Wales  Non-trading Yes
St. James's Placce EIS Limited 10110255 * England and Wales  Non-trading Yes
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Company Country of Audit
Entity number Registered office incorporation Principal activity exemption
St. James's Place [nternational 2207694 1/F Henley Building, 5 Hong Kong Life Assurance No
(Hong Kong) Limited Queen’s Road Central,
Hong Kong
St. James's Place International Assurance 02727326 * England and Wales  Haolding Company No
Group Limited
St. James’s Place International 08798683 * England and Wales  Holding Company Yes
Distribution Limited
St. James's Place International plc 185345 Flcming Court, F]ernings Ireland Life Assurance No
) Place, Dublin 4, Ireland
5t. James’s Place Investment 08764231 * England and Wales  Unit Trust No
Administration Limited Administration and
ISA Manager
St. James’s Place Investments ple 01773177 * England and Wales  Holding Company Yes
St. James’s Place Management Services 02293151 1st Floor, Henley Building, Hong Kong Management Services  No
{Asia) Limited 5 Queen’s Road Central,
Hong Kong
St. James’s Place Management 2661044 ¥ England and Wales  Management Services No
Services Limited
St. James’s Place Nominees Limited 08764214 * England and Wales Nominee Company Yes
St. James’s Place Partnership 08201211 * England and Walcs ~ Treasury Company No
Services Limited
St. James's Place S.A. B17089 c/o Vistra (Luxembourg)  Luxembourg Non-trading Yes
Sarl, 15 Rue Edward
Stcichen, 4th Floor,
Luxemhourg, L-2540
St. James’s Place UK ple 02628062 * England and Wales  Life Assurance No
St. James's Place Unit Trust 0947644 * England and Wales  Unit Trust No
Group Limited Management
St. James’s Place Wealth 06604824 * England and Wales  Securities and Futures  Ne
Management (PCIS) Limited Firm
St. Jamnes's Place Wealth 1511517 1st Floor, Henley Building, Hong Kong Owerseas Distribution  No
Management (Shanghai) Limited 5 Queen'’s Road Central,
Hong Kong
St. James's Place Wealth 02627518 * England and Wales  Holding Company No
Management Group plc
St. James's Place Wealth 201323453N 80 Raffles Place, #26-01 Singapore Holding Company No
Management [nternational Pte. Ltd UOB Plaza, Singapore
048624, Singapore
St. James's Place Wealth 04113955 * England and Wales UK Distribution No
Management ple
Technical Connection Limited 03178474 * England and Wales  Taxand Advisory Yes

Services

*  Indicates that the Registered Office is St. James's Place House, 1 Tetbury Road, Cirencester, Gloucestershire GL7 IFP

Where indicated above, the subsidiaries of St. James’s Place ple have taken advantage of the exemption from statutory audit granted by section 479A of

the Companies Act 2004. In accordance with section 479C, St, James's Place ple has thercfore guaranteed all the outstanding liabilities as at

31 December 2016.

All Greup companies have an accounting reference date of 31 December. Unless otherwise stated, the tax residency of cach subsidiary is the same as

the country of incorporation.

100% of the ordinary share capital is held lor the above subsidiarics with the exception of LP Holdco Limited (08323278), where 43.32% of ordinary share

capital is held {comprising 100% of the nominal value of the Class A ordinary shares and 64% of the nominal valuc of the Class C ordinary shares, which

together confer 60% of voting rights), and Lansdown Place Group Holdings Limited (06390547), where 92.4% of the ordinary share capital is held by
LP Holdeo Limited comprising 95% of the nominal value of the Class A ordinary shares, 100% of the nominal value of the Class B and D ordinary shares,

and 71% of the nominal valuc of the Class C shares).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
UNDER INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

continued

23. SUBSIDIARY UNDERTAKINGS continued

In addition, the Group financial statements consolidate the following unit trusts, all of which are registered in England and Wales:

St. James's Place Allshare Income Unit Trust

5t. James's Place Alternative Assets Unit Trust

St. James’s Place Asia Pacific Unit Trust

St James's Place Balanced Managed Unit Trust

St. James's Place Continental European Unit Trust

§t. James's Place Corporate Bond Unit Trust

St. James’s Place Diiversified Bond Unit Trust

§t. James's Place Emerging Markets Equity Unit Trust
St. James's Place Equity [ncome Unit Trust

$t. James's Place Ethical Unit Trust

St. James's Place Gilts Unit Trust

St. James's Place Global Emerging Markets Unit Trust
St. James's Place Global Equity Income Unit Trust

St. James's Place Global Equity Uinit Trust

St. James's Place Global Smaller Companies Unit Trust
5t. James’s Place Globa! Unit Trust

§t. James's Place Greater European Progressive Unit Trust
St. James’s Place {ndex Linked Giits Unit Trust

St. James's Place International Corporate Bond Unit Trust
8t. James’s Place International Equity Unit Trust

St. James's Place Investment Grade Corporate Bond Unit Trust
St. James’s Place Managed Growth Unit Trust

$t. James's Place Money Market Unit Trust

St. James's Place Multi Asset Unit Trust

St. James's Place North American Unit Trust

St. Jamcs's Place Strategic Income Unit Trust

St. James’s Place Strategic Managed Unit Trust

St. James’s Place UK & General Progressive Unit Trust
St. James's Place UK & International Income Unit Trust
St. James’s Place UK Absolute Return Unit Trust

St. James’s Placc UK Growth Unit Trust

St. James’s Place UK Income Unit Trust

St. James’s Place Worldwide Income Unit Trust

St. James’s Place Worldwide Opportunitics Unit Trust
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24, RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Transactions with 5t. James’s Place unit trusts

In respect of the non-consolidated St. James’s Place managed unit trusts that are held as investments in the St. James's Place life and pension funds,
there was a charge recognised of £0.3 million (2015: £10.1 million income) and the total value of transactions with those non-consolidated unit trusts
was £53.0 million (2015: £43.0 million). Net management fees receivable from these unit trusts amounted to £17 million (2015: £22.3 million). The
value of the investment into the non-consclidated unit trusts at 31 December 2016 was £198.6 million (2015: £176.5 million), These transactions are
ali with the Group’s associate as set out in Note 22.

Transacticns with key management personnel
Key management pcrsonnel have been defined as the Board of Lirectors and members of the Executive Board. The remuneration paid to the Board of
Dircctors of St. James’s Place is set out in the Remuneration Report on page 103, in addition te the disclosure below,

The Remuneration Report alsc sets out transactions with the Directors under the Deferred Bonus Scheme, the Performance Skare Plan, the Executive
Share Option Scheme and the SAYE Share Option Schemes, together with details of the Directors’ interests in the share capital of the Company.

The remuneration paid to key management personnel is as follows:

Year Ended Year Ended
31December 31 December

2016 2015

£'Million £'Million

Short term cmploycc benelits - 3.5 3.2
Post-cmployment benefits 0.4 0.4
Other long-term benefits 1.9 1.6
Share-based payment 1.9 1.6
Total nr7 6.8

The charge to the statement of comprehensive income in respect of the share-based payment awards made to the key management personnel of
St. James's Placc was £3.4 million (2015; £3.7 million).

The total valuc of §t. James's Place funds under management held by related parties of the Group as at 31 December 2016 was £26.5 million
(2015: £20.4 million). The total value of St. James's Place ple dividends paid to related parties of the Group during the year was £1.4 millien
(2015: £1.3 million).

Commission, advice fees and remuneration of £2.9 million (2015; £1,7 million) was paid, under normal commercial terms, to St. James’s Place
Partners and employees who were related parties by virtue of being connected persons with key management personnel. The outstanding amount
payable at 31 December 2016 was £0.3 million (2015: £0.1 million),

Cutstanding at the year cnd were Partner loans of £1.6 million (2015: £0.4 million} due from St. James’s Place Partners who were rclated parties by
virtue of being connected persons with key management personnel. During the year £0.7 million (2015: £0.1 million) was advanced and £0.3 million
(2015: £0.1 million) was repaid by Partners who were velated parties. St. James's Place Partnership loans arc interest bearing (linked to Bank of
England basc ratc plus a margin}, repayable or. demand and secured against the future renewal income streams of that Partner.

At the start of the year, related parties of key management personnel held nil (2015: 176,740) shares and options under various $t. James's Place ple

share option schemes. During the year 28,273 (2015: 23,413) shares and options were granted, nil (2015: 1,235) options lapsed and nil
(2015: 113,568) options were exercised.
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In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the
Annual Report to identify material inconsistencies with the audited
financial statements and te identify any information that is apparently
materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the
knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If we
become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we
consider the implications for our report. With respect to the Strategic
Report, Dircctors’ Report and Corporate Governance Statement, we
consider whether those reports include the disclosures required b)’
applicable legal requirements.

OTHER MATTER
We have reported separately on the group financial statements of St. James's
Place plc for the year ended 31 December 2016,

Jeremy Jensen (Senior Statutory Auditor)
\for and on beha{'fngricewa[erhuuseCooper: LLp
Chartered Accountants and Statutery Auditers

London

27 February 2017
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PARENT COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at Asat
31December  31December
Note 2016 2015
£’Million £'Million
Investment in subsidiaries 2 375.5 352.8
Current assets
Amounts owed by Group undertakings 6 484.9 242.1
Current liabilities
Corporation tax liabilities (0.7) (0.7}
Amounts owed to Group undertakings 6 (191.4) -
Net current assets 292.8 241.4
Net assets 668.3 594.2
Equity
Share capital 3 792.1 787
Share premium 164.5 158.3
Share option reserve 130.0 107.3
Miscellaneous reserves 0.1 0.1
Retained earnings 294.6 249.8
Total shareholders’ funds 668.3 594.2

The financial statcments on pages 188 to 194 were approved by the Board of Directors on 27 February 2017 and signed on its behalf by:

N\ Co

Chief Financral Officer

e
Yos,

David Bellamy
Chr'ngxeculive

The notes and information on pages 190 to 194 form part of thesc financial statements,
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PARENT COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Total
Share Share Share Option Miscellaneous Retained Shareholders’
Note Capital Premium Reserve Reserves Earnings Funds
£'Million £'Million £'Million £'Million £'Million £'Million
At | January 2015 77.9 1474 92.6 0.1 190.4 508.4
Profit and total comprchcnsivc
income for the year 130.2 190.2
Dividends 5 (130.8) {130.8)
Issue of sharc capital 3 0.3 1.9 2.2
Exercise of options 0.5 9.0 9.5
Cost of share options expensed in
subsidiary 14.7 147
At 31 December 2015 78.7 158.3 107.3 0.1 2498 594.2
Profit and total comprehensive
income for the year 200.0 200.0
Dividends 5 {155.2} (155.2)
Issue of share capital 3 0.9 0.9
Exercise of options 0.4 5.3 5.7
Cost of sharc Uptions cxpcnscd
in subsidiary 22.7 22,7
At 31 December 2016 79.1 164.5 130.0 0.1 294.6 668.3

Asat 31 December 2016 the total distributable reserves of the Company were £294.6 million (2015; £249.8 million), Informaticon on the

Company’s dividend policy can be found within Note 5 on page 192.

The notes and information on pages 190 to 194 form part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE PARENT COMPANY

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. ACCOUNTING PQLICIES

Basis of preparation

St. james’s Place ple (‘the Company’) is a limited liability Company
incorporated in England and Wales, domiciled in the United Kingtdom
and whose shares are publicly traded. The Company offers a range of
insurance, investment and other wealth management scrvices through its
subsidiaries, which are incorporated in the UK, Ireland and Asia.

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical costs
convention, on a going concern basis and it accordance with Financial
Reporting Standard 101 (FRS 101) ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework’
and the Companies Act 2006 as applicable to companics vsing FRS 101.

The preparation of financial staternents in compliance with FRS 101
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
menagement to exercise judgement in applying the Company’s
accounting policicsA No signiﬁcam accounting judgements have

been made.

FRS 101 - Reduced disclosure exemptions

The Company has taken advantage of the following disclosure

cxempticns under FRS 101:

*  the requirements of IFRS 7 Financial Inszruments: Dasclosures;

*  the requiremcats of paragraphs 91 ta 99 of [FRS 13 Fair Value
Measurement;

* the requirement in paragraph 38 of IAS 1 Presentation (_)meancia]
Starements to present comparative information in respect of paragraph
79(a)iv) of 1AS 1;

*  the requirements of paragraphs 10(d), 10(t), 16, 38A, 388, 38C,
38D, 404, 408, 40C, 40D, 111 and 134-136 of IAS | Presentation of
Fmancial Statements;

» the requirements of IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows;

*  the requirements of paragraph 17 and 18A of TAS 24 Related Party
Disclasures;

* the requirements in IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures to disclose related
party transactions entered into between two or more members of a
group, provided that any subsidiary which is a party to the
transaction is wholly awned by such a member; and

* the requirements of paragraphs 130(f)(ii), 130(N)(iii), 134(d) to
134¢(f) and 135(c) to 135(c) of IAS 36 Impairment of Assets, provided
that equivalent disclosures are included in the consolidated financial
statements of the group in which the entity is consolidated.

In pub[ishing the Parent Company financial statements, the Company
has taken advantage of the exemption in Section 408 of the Companics
Act 2006 not Lo present its individual income statement and related
notes that form part of these financial statements. The Company is not
required to present a statement of comprehensive income. The
Company’s profit after tax for the financial year was £200.0 million
(2015: £190.2 millicn) which can be seen in the statement of changes in
tquity on page 189,

Going concern

The Company is ton-trading and has positive nct assets, therefore the
Company continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing thesc
financial statements.
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Significant accounting policies
The following principal accounting policies have been applicd
consistently to all the years prescnted,

{a) Investment return
Investment return comprises dividends from subsidiaries, which are
accounted for when received.

{b) Taxation

Taxation is based on profits and inceme for the year as detormined in
accordance with the relevant tax legislation, together with adjustments
to provisions for prior years.

{c} investment in subsidiaries

lavestments in subsidiarics are carried at cost stated attrer any
impairment losses, plus the C0§t of equity settled share awards granted
by the Company of its own shares.

{d} Receivables
Receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently held at
amortised cost less impairment losses.

fe} Amounts owed to Group undertakings
Amounts awed to Group undertakings initially are recognised at fair
velue and subsequently held at amortised cost.

(f} Impairment losses

Non-financial assets not ready to use are not subject to amortisation and
are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to
amortisation are revicwed for impairment when circumstances or events
indicate there may be uncertainty over this value. An impairment loss is
recognised Tor the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount cxceeds
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
assct’s fair vaiue less costs to sell and value in use,
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2. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES

Share Awards  Impairment Net Book
Cost Granted Provision Value
£’Million £'Million £’Million £'Million
Atl January 2015 3114 92.6 (1.9) 402.1
Movements in the year
Impairment expense - - (64.0) (64.0}
Share awards granted - 147 - 14.7
At 31 December 2015 311.4 1073 {65.9} 3528
Movements in the year
Eliminated on derecognition of subsidiaries dissolved in the year (42.0) - 42.0 -
Share awards granted - 22.7 - 22.7
At 31 December 2016 269.4 130.0 {23.9) 375.5

The Dircctors believe that the carrying value of the investments is supported by their underlying net assets.

During the year St. James’s Place Partnership Limited, a subsidiary of the Company, was dissolved. The investment in this subsidiary was carried
at nil nct book at 31 December 2015, with the cost of £42.0 million having been [ully provided for in previcus years.

Principal Subsidiary Undertakings at 31 December 2016

Investment Holding Companies

Life Assurance

Unit Trust Management

Unit Trust Administration and ISA Management
Distribution

Management Services

IFA Acquisitions

Asia Distribution

Discretionary Fund Management

St. James's Place Investments ple

St. James’s Place Wealth Management Group plc

St. James’s Place DFM Holdings Limited

St. James’s Place UK ple

St. James’s Place International ple (1ncorporated 1n freland y*
St. James’s Place Unit Trust Group Limited

St. James’s Place Investment Administration Limited
St. James’s Place Wealth Management plc

$t. James’s Place Management Services Limited##
St. James's Place Acquisition Services Limited

St. James’s Place International Distribution Limited
Rowan Dartington & Co. Limited

*  The Company operates a branch in Singapore.

*#* The Company operates a branch in the Republic of Ireland .

The Company vwas, either dircectly or indirectly, 100% of the voting ordinary equity share capital of the above-named subsidiaries. A full list of
the St. James’s Place Group subsidiary undertakings can be found on pages 180 and 181 of the St. James's Place Annual Report and Accounts.

All of these companices arc rcgistcrcd in England and Walcs and operatc principally in the United Kingdom except where otherwise stared,
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NOTES TO THE PARENT COMPANY
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

3. SHARE CAPITAL
Number of

Ordinary Called wp
Shares Share Capital
E£'Milltan
At | January 2015 519,447,391 779
~ Issue of shares 206,366 0.3
- Exercise of options 5,011,455 0.5
At 31 December 2015 524,665,212 78.7
Issue of shares 108,815 -
- Exercise of options 2,708,317 0.4
At 31 December 2016 527,482,348 79.1

The total authorised number of ordinary shares is 605 million (2015: 605 miliien), with a par value of 15 pence per share (2015: 15 pence per
share). All issued shares are fuily paid.

2,817,136 shares (2015: 5,217,821) werc issucd in the ysar at a nominal value of £0.4 million (2015: £0.8 million), for which the Company
reccived consideration of £6.6 million (2015: £11.7 milljon).

4. AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION
The toral audit fee in respect of the Group is set out in Note 5 on page 141 of the consolidated financial statements. The audit fee charged to the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2016 is £1,000 (2015: £1,000).

5. DIVIDENDS
The following dividends have been paid by the Group:

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended Year ended
31 December 31 (0ecember 31December 21 December

2015 015 1016 W15
Pence per Pence per £’ Million £'Million

share share
Final dividend in respcct of previous financial year 17.24 14.37 90.4 748
Interim dividend in respect of current financial year 12.33 10.72 64.8 56.0
Total 29,57 25.09 155.2 130.8

The Dircctors have recommended a final dividend of 20.67 pence per share (2015: 17,24 pence). This amounts ta £109 millien (2015: £90 4
million) and will, subject to sharcholder approval at the Annual General Mccting, be paid on 12 May 2017 to those sharehelders on the register as
at'7 April 2017,

Dividend resources

The Company’s policy is to increase the dividend in line with the underlying performance of the business, measured with reference to the cash and
underlying cash result, The capacity ol the Company to make dividend payments to sharcholders is determined by the availability of distributable
r¢serves ﬂnd Cash resources,

Distributable reserves

The Company is a non-trading investment holding Company which derives its distributable rescrves from dividends paid by its subsidiarics. The
primary subsidiary which pays dividends to the Company is 8t. James’s Place Wealth Management Group ple, an intermediate helding Company
which in turn receives dividends primarily from St. fames’s Place UK ple, St. James's Place Unit Trust Group Limited and $t. James's Place
Investment Administration Limited. Qageing solvency requirements within the life assurance, unit trust and financial services companies of the
Group limit their shility to distribute all their distributable reserves. (Analysis of solvency requirements is included in the Solvency section of the
Financial Review on page 43 and Turther information about regulation and capital requirements is included in Note 18 on page 168.)

The Directors review the distributable reserves of the Company ahead of ¢ach interim and final dividend being proposed to ensure the Company

has sufficient distributable reserves to allow a law{ul dividend 1o be paid. As at 31 December 2016, the total distributable reserves of the Company
were £294.6 million (2015: £249.8 million). The Dircetors are satisficd that this is sulficient to support the proposed dividend of £109 million.
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Cash resources

The shareholder cash resources within the Group at 31 December 2016 were £345.9 million (2015: £233.5 million) as set cut in Note 10 to the
consolidated financial statements, These cash rescurces are held by the operating entities within the Group. The cash generated by the Group during
the year attributable to shareholders was £199.5 million on an underlying cash basis (2015: £182.1 millior), and £175.4 million on a cash hasis (2015:
£171.5 million} as sct out in the Financial Review on page 41. Under both bases the cash gcncratcd during the year is sufficient to cover the total

proposed dividend for 2816 of £109 million.

The cash and underlying cash bases should not be confused with the IFRS Statement of Cash Flows, which is presented in accordance with [AS 7

on page 130.

6. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

At the year cnd the following related party balanees existed. All related parties in the tables below are subsidiaries of the Company, whether directly

or indirectly held:

31 December

31 December

2016 2015

£'Million £’Million
Investments in Group companies
St. James’s Place Wealth Management Group ple 216.6 194.9
St. James’s Place Investments plc 157.9 157.9
St. James's Place DFM Holdings Limited 1.0 -
Total 375.5 352.8
Intra group debtors
St. James's Place Wealth Management Group ple 423.2 -
St, James's Place Partncrship Services Limited 60.7 -
St. James's Place DFM Holdings Limited 1.0 -
St. James's Place Investments plc - 238.8
St. James’s Placc Management Services Limited - 1.4
St. James's Place International Distribution Limited - 1.9
Total 484.9 2421
Intra HIUUP Crﬂdj[ors
St. James’s Place Management Services Limited 0.7 -
St. James's Place Investments ple 190.7 -
Total 191.4 -

During the year, the Company received £200.7 million (2015: £254.9 million) dividends from subsidiary undertakings.

The total valuc of 8t. James’s Place funds under management held by related partics of the Company as at 31 December 2016 was £26.5 million (2015;
£20.4 million}. The total value of dividends paid to related parties of the Company during the year was £1.4 million (2015: £1.3 million).
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NOTESTO THE PARENT COMPANY
FINANCIAIL STATEMENTS continued

6. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES
continued

The following wholly-owned subsidiaries of 5t. James’s Place plic have
taken advantage of the exemption from statutory audit granted by
section 4794 of the Companies Act 2006, In accordance with section
479C, St. James's Place ple has therefore guaranteed all the outstanding
liahilities as at 31 December 2016 of;

BFS Financial Services Limited 04609753
Cahot Portfolio Nominees Limited 03636010
Chapman Associates Limited 03047530
Chapman Hunter Group Limited 06034452
Colston Portlolio Nominees Limited 02763967
Dartington Portfolio Nominees Limited 1489542
{.M.B. Financial Services Limited 04074782
Hale Financial Solutions Lirnited 04373946
Lansdown Place Group Holdings Limited 06390547
LP Auto Enrolment Solutions Limited 08257531

LP Financial Management Limited 02195886
Lansdown Place Wealth Management Limited 05458948
M.H.S. (Holdings) Limited 00559995
PFPTime Limited 04047157
RD Portfolio Nominces Limited 02752124
Rowan Dartington Holdings Limited 07470226
Rowan Dartington Trustees Limited 05224173

SJP AESOP Trustees Limited 04089795
$JPC Corporate lavestments Limited Q1476292
Staftord House Investments Limited 03866935
St. James's Place {Properties) Limited 06890166
St. James's Place Acquisition Services Limited 07730835
St. James's Place Client Solutions Limited 05487108
St. James's Place Corporate Secretary Limited 09131866
St. James's Place DFM Holdings Limited 09487687
St, James’s Place EIS Limited 10110255

St. James's Place Internatioral Distribution Limited 08798683
St. James's Place [nvestments ple 01773177
St. James’s Place Nominees Limited 03764214
Technical Connection Limited 03178474

7. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

The Dircctors’ responsibilities relate primarily 1o the trading companics
of the Group and accordingly their costs are charged to these companices
and none are met by the Parent Company. Disclosure of the Directors’
cmoluments is made within the Remuneration Report on page 103.

8. COMPANY INFORMATION
In the opinion of the Directors there is not considered to be any ultimate
controlling party,

Copics of the consolidated financial statements of St. James’s Place ple
may be obtained from the Company Secretary, St. James’s Place ple,
St. James's Place House, 1 Tetbury Road, Cirencester, Gloucestershire,
GL7 1EP
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

ANALYSIS OF NUMBER OF SHAREHOLDERS

Analysis by Number of Shares Holders %  Shares Held %
1 999 2,401 44,38 892,083 0.17
1,000 9,999 2,105 38.91 6,231,838 1.18
10,000 99,999 572 10.57 18,108,979 343
100,000 and above 332 6.14 502,249,448 95.22

5,410 100.00 527,482,348 100.00

2017 FINANCIAL CALENDAR

Ex-dividend date for final dividend Thursday, & April 2017
Record date for {inal dividend Friday, 7 April 2017
Announcement of {irst quarter new business Tuesday, 25 April 2017
Annual General Meeting Thursday, 4 May 2017
Payment date for final dividend Friday, 12 May 2017
Announcernent of Interim Results and second quarter new business Thursday, 27 July 2017
Ex-dividend date for interim dividend Thursday, 31 August 2017
Record date for interim dividend Friday, | Septcmber 2017
Payment date for interim dividend Friday, 29 September 2017
Announcement of third quarter new business Tuesday, 24 October 2017

The above dates arc subject to change and further information on the 2017 financial calendar can be found on the Company's website, www.sjp.co.uk.

DIVIDEND REINVESTMENT PLAN .
If you would prefer to receive new shares instead of cash dividends, please complete a Dividend Reimbursement Plan (DRIP) Form, which is available
from our Registrars, Computershare Investor Services PLC. Their contact details are on page 197.

SHARE DEALING
A telephone share dealing service has been established with the Registrars, Computershare Investor Scrvices PLC, which provides sharcholders with a
simple way of buying or selling St. fames’s Place plc shares on the London Stock Exchange. If you are interested in this service, telephone 0370 703 0084.

An internet sharc dealing service is also available. Further information about share dealing services can be obtained by logging on to:
www.computersharc.com/dcaling/ul(_

ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATIONS
If you would like to have access to sharcholder communications such as the Annual Report and the Notice of General Meeting through the internet
rather than receive them by post, please register at www.investorcentre.co.uk /ecomms.
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HOW TO CONTACT US AND ADVISERS

HOW TO CONTACT US

Registered Office
St. James’s Place House
1 Tetbury Road
Cirencester
Gloucestershire

GL7 1FP

Tel: 01285 640302
www.sjp.CO.uk

Chair
Sarah Bates
email c/o: liz kelly@sjp.co.uk

Chtef Executive
David Bellamy
cmail: david.bellamy(@sijp.co.uk

Chief Financial Officer
Andrew Croft
email: andrew.croft@sjp.co.uk

Company Secretary
Elizabeth KC“}'
email: liz.kelly@sjp.co.uk

Customer Service

Caroline Hallat

Tel: 01285 878140

email: caroline.hallat{@sjp.co.uk

Analyst Enquiries

Tony Dunk

Tel: 0207514 1963

email: tony.dunk(@sjp.co.uk

Media Enquiries

Bell Pottinger

Tel: 020 3772 2566

email; SJP{@BellPottinger.com

ADVISERS
Bankers

Bank of Scotland
150 Fountainbridge
Edinburgh

EH3 SPE

Barclays Bank PLC
1 Churchill Place
London

El4 SHP

Metro Bank plc

One Southampton Row
London

WCIB5SHA

Santander UK plc
2 Triton Square
Regents Place
Londan

The Royal Bank of Scotland
135 Bishopsgate

London

ECZM 3UR

Brokers

JPMorgan Cazenove Limited
25 Bank Street

London

El4 5]P

Bank of America Merrill Lynch
2 King Edward Strect

London

EC1A THQ

Independent Auditors

PricewaterhcuseCoopers LLP

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
7 Morc London Riverside ’

Londen

SEl 2RT

Registrars & Transfer Office

Computershare Investor Services PLC
The Pavilions

Bristal

Bridgwater Road

BS13 8AE

cmail: webquerics@compuLcrshare.ru.uk
Tel: 0370 702 0197

www.investorcentre.co.uk /contactus
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ST. JAMES’S PLACE PARTNERSHIP LOCATIONS

UNITED KINGDOM

1 ABERDEEN
Mark Wyllie
mark.wyllic@sjp.co.uk
Tel: 0122 420 2400

12 NEWBURY

Chris Faerber
Chris,[éerbcr@sjp.co.uk
Tel: 01635 582424

2 GLASGOW 13 BRISTOL
Ross Cameron George Hills
ross.cameron{@sjp.co.uk george. hills@sjp.co.uk
Tel: 0141 304 1700 Tel: 01454 618700
3 EDINBURGH 14 CANARY WHARF
Steve Herkes Paclo Payne
steve.herkes(@sjp.co.uk paola.payne @sjp.co.uk
Tel: 0131 455 9200 Tel: D20 7516 5700
4 NEWCASTLE CITY
Philip Pringle Roger McKibbin
philip.pringle@sjp.co.uk roger.mekibbin(@sjp.co.uk
Tel: 0191 260 5373 Tel: 020 7638 2400
5 BELFAST ELSTREE
Keith Willett Mark Newman
keithwillett@sjp.co.uk mark.newman(@sjp.co.uk
Tel: 028 9072 6500 Tel: 020 8207 4000
6 LEEDS HAMILTON PLACE
Tim Willis Nick Brett
tim.willis@sjp.co.uk nick.brett@sjp.co.uk
Tel: 0113 244 4054 Tel: 020 7495 1771
7 MANCHESTER KINGSWAY
Frank Gorrie Ryan McDonald
frank.gorrie(@sjp.co.uk ryan,medonald@sjp.co.uk
Tel: 0161 834 9480 Tel: 020 7744 1600
8 LIVERPOOL PICCADILLY
John Ronan Damien Bradbury
john.ronan(@sjp.co.uk damien bradbury(@sjp.co.uk
Tel: 0151 224 8700 Tcl: 020 7399 6889
9 NOTTINGHAM 15 WESTERHAM
Andy Marks David Mclntosh
andy.marks(@sjp.co.uk david.mcintosh(@sjp.co.uk
Tcl: 0115 924 2899 Tel: 01959 561 606
10 SOLIHULL 11 WITHAM 16 SOLENT
Sean McKillop Daniel Giacomelli fan Grant
sean.mckillop@sjp.co.uk danicf.giacnmelli@sjp.co.uk ian.grant@sjp.co.uk
Tel; 3121 733 6733 Tel: 01376 501947 Tel: 01489 881400
17 SHANGHAI 19 SINGAPORE
ASIA Oliver Wickham Nigel Preston
Email: Shﬂnghai.info@sjp.asia Email: Singapure.info@sjp.asia
Tel: +86 21 6045 2688 Tel: +65 6536 0121
18 HONG KONG
Ian Burns
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GLOSSARY OF ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE MEASURES

Within the Annual Report and Accounts various alternative performance measures {APMs) arc disclosed. An APM is a measure of financial
pcrformancc, financial position or cash flows which is not defined by the relevant financial reporting framework, which for the Group is International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union. APMs are used to provide greater insight into the performance of the Group

and the way it is managed by the Directors. The table below defines each APM, explains why it is used and, if applicable, where the APM has been

reconciled to [FRS:

APM

Definition

Why is this measure used?

Reconciliation to the
financial statements

Solvency Il net assets

Based on [FRS Net Assets, bur with the
following adjustments:

L. Refllection of the recognition requirements of
the Solvency Il regulations for asscts and
liabilitics. In particular this removes, DAC,
DIR, PVIF, other intangibles and some other
small items which are treated as inadmissible
from a regulatory perspective; and

2, Adjustment to remove the matching client
assets and the liabilitics as these do not represent
shareholder assets.

No adjustmcnt is madc to deferred tax as this is
treated as an allowable asset in the Solvency 11
regulation,

Our ability to satisfy our liabilitics to clients,
and conscquently our solvency, is central to cur
business. By removing the liabilities which are
fully matched by asscts, this presentation allows
the reader to focus on the business operation.

[t also provides a simpler comparison with other
wealth management companies.

Refer to page 39.

Cash reults,
Operating cash result
and Undcrlying cash
result.

The Cash result is defined as the movement
between the opening and closing Solvency 11 net
asscts adjusted for the following items:

1. The movement in deferred tax is removed to
reflect just the cash realisation [rom the deferred
tax position;

2. The moveraents in goodwill and other
intangibles are included; and

3. Other changes in equity, such as dividends
paid in the ycar and share option costs, arc
excluded.

The Operating cash result reflects the regular
emergence of cash from the business operations.
The Underlying cash results additionally reflects
the cash impact of the strategic investments we
are making,

Finally, the Cash result reflects all other cash
items, including those whose emergence is
volatile, varying over time and often influcnced
by markets, together with the short term costs
associated with the back-office infrastructure

project.

Neither the cash result nor the underlying cash
result should be confused with the [FRS
consolidated statement of cash flows which is
prepared in accordance with [AS 7.

IFRS methodelogy recogniscs non-cash items
such as deferred tax and share options, By
contrast, dividends can only be paid to
sharehclders from appropriately fungible asscts.
The Board therefore uses the cash results to
monitor the level of cash generated by the
busincss.

While the Cash result gives an absolute measure
of the cash generated in the year, the
Underlying and Operating cash results arc
particularly uscful for monitoring the expected
long-term rate of cash emergence, whichis
particularly useful in considcring the
supportability of dividends and sustainable
dividend growth.

Refer to page 34 and
also see Note 3 -
Segment Profit.
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GLOSSARY OF ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE MEASURES

continued

Reconciliation to the

APM Definitien Why is this measure used? financial statements
Underlying cash basic These EPS measures are calculated as As Underlying cash is the best reflection ol the  Not applicable.
and diluted earnings  Underlying cash divided by the number of shares  cash generated by the business, Underlying cash
per share (EPS) used in the calculation of IFRS basic and EPS mcasures allow analysis of the sharcholder
diluted EPS. cash generated by the business by share.
Total embedded value A discounted cash flow valuation methodology, — Life business and wealth management business  Not applicable.
assessing the long—tcrrn cconomic value of the differ from most other businesses, in that the
business. expected shareholder income from the sale of a
product emerges over a long period in the
Our embedded value is determined in line with  future. We therefore complement the IFRS and
the EEV principles, originally sct out by the cash results by providing additional disclosure
Chief Financial Officers (CFO) Forum in 2004, onan Embedded Value basis, which brings inte
and amended for subscquent changes to the account the net present value of expected future
principles, including those published in April cash flows, as we believe that a mcasurc of total
2016, following the implementation of economic value of the Group is useful to
Solvency IL. investors.
EEV profit Derived as the movement in the Total EEV Both the IFRS and Cash results reflect only the  See Note 3 Scgment

during the year.

cash flows in the year. However, our business is
long-term, and activity in the ycar can generate
business with a long-term value. We therefore
believe it is helpful to understand the full
economic impact ef activity in the year, which
is the aim of the EEV methodology.

Profit.

EEV operating profit

A discounted cash flaw valuation mcthodoiog}’,
assessing the long-term economic value of the
business.

Our embedded value is determined in line with
the EEV principles, originally sct out by the
Chicf Financial Officers (CFQ) Forum in 2004,
and amended for subsequent changes to the
principles, including those published in April
2016, following the implementaticn of

The EEV operating profit reflects the total EEV
result with an adjustment to strip out the impact
of stock market and other economic cflects
during the year.

Both the IFRS and cash results reflect only the
cash flows in the year. However, our business is
long-term, and activity in the year can generate
business with a long-term value. We therefore
believe it is helpful to understand the full
econcemic impact of activity in the year, which is
the aim of the EEV methodology.

Within the EEV, many of the future cash flows
derive from fund charges, which change with
movements in stock markets. Since the impact
of these changes is typically unrelated to the
performance of the business, we believe that the
ELV operating profit (reflecting the EEV profit,
adjusted to reflect only the expected investment
perfbrmancc and no change in economic basis)
provides the most useful measure of embedded
value performance in the year.

Sce Note 3 Scgment
Profit.

EEV operating profit
basic and diluted
carnings per share
(EPS)

These EPS measures are calculated as EEV
operating profit after tax divided by the number of
shares used in the calculation of IFRS basic and
diluted EPS.

As EEV operating profit is the best reflection
of the EEV gencrated by the business, EEY
operating profit EPS measures allow analysis off
the long-term valuc generated by the business
by share.

Not applicable.

Net asset value per
share (EEV)

EEV net asset value per share is calculated as the
EEV nct assets divided by the year end number of
ordinary shares.

Tota] embedded value provides a measure
of total economic value of the Group, and
assessing the NAV per share allows analysis
of the overall value of the Group by share.

Not applicable.
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APM Definition

Why is this measure used?

Reconciliation to the
financialstatements

Policyhclder and

shareholder tax

Sharcholder tax is estimared by making an
assessment of the effective rate of tax that is
applicable to the shareholders on the profits
attributable to the sharcholders. This is
calculated by applying the appropriate effective
corporate tax rates to the shareholder profits,

In effect the sharchelder tax is assessed by
calculating the expected level of tax implied by
the post-tax result, but with explicit adjustment
in the calculation for any significant onc-off tax
adjustments.

The remainder of the tax charge represents rax
on policyholder’s investment returns.

This calculation method is consistent with the
legislation relating to the calculation of the tax
on sharchalder’s profits.

The UK tax regime facilitates the collection of
tax from life insurance policyholders by making
an equivalent charge within the corporate tax of
the Company. The total tax charge for the
insurance companies therefore comprises both
this element and an element morc closc])’
related to normal corporation tax.

Life insurance business impacted by this tax
typically includes policy charges which align
with the tax liability, to mitigate the impact on
the corporate. As a result when policyholder
tax increases, the charges also increase. Given
these offsetting items can be large, and typically
don’t perform in line with the business, it is
beneficial to be able to identily the two
elements scparatcly. We thereflore refer to that
part of the overall tax charge, which is deemed
attributable to policyholders, as pelicyholder
tax, and the rest as shareholder tax.

Disclosed as separate
line items in the
statement of
comprchensivc
income on page 127.

A profit measure which reflects the [FRS result
adjusted for policyholder tax, but before
deducticn of sharcholder tax. Within the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income
the full title of this measure is ‘Profit before tax
attributable to sharcholders’ returns.’

Profit before
shareholder tax

The IFRS methodology requires that the tax
recognised in the financial statements should
include the tax incurred on behalf of
policyholders in our UK life assurance
Company. Since the policyholder rax charge is
unrelated to the performance of the business,
we belicve it is uscful to separately identify the
profit before shareholder tax, which reflects the
IFRS profit before tax, adjusted for tax paid on
behalf of policyholders,

Disclosed as a separate
line item in the
statement of
comprehensive
income on page 127.

A profit measure which reflects the IFRS result
adjusted to remove the DAC, DIR and PYIF
adjustments.

Underlying profit

The IFRS mcthoclology promotes recognition of
profits in line with the provision of services and
so, for long-term business, some of the initial cash
flows are spread over the life of the contract
through the use of intangible assets and liabilitics
(known as DAC - Deferred Acquisition Costs and
DIR Deferred Income). Due to the retail
distribution review (RIJR} regulation change in
2013, there was a step changc: in the progression
of these items in our financial statements, which
resulted in significant accounting presentation
changes despite the fundamentals of our
vertically-integrated business remaining
unchanged. We therefore believe it is uscful to
consider the IFRS result having removed away the
impact of movements in these intangibles as it
better reflects the underlying performance of

the business,

Refer to page 34,

IFRS net asset value per share is calculated as the
IFRS net assets divided by the year end number
of ordinary sharces.

Net asset value per
share {IERS)

Total IFRS net assets provides a measure of
value of the Group, and asscssing the NAY per
share allows analysis of the overall value of the

Group by share.

Not applicable.
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS

Adviser or Financial Adviser

An individual who is autherised by an appropriate regulatory authority to
provide financial advice, In the UK our adviscrs are autherised by

the FCA.

Administration Platform, also Bluedoor
A new client-centric administration system, being developed in
conjunction with our third party outsourced administration

provider, IFDS.

Capita

A provider of business process outsourcing and integrated professional
support service solutions, which is our third party cutsourced provider,
responsible for the administration of vur Dublin-based life insurance
company, 5]PI.

Chief Operating Decision Maker

The Exccutive Committee of the Board (Executive Board) which iy
responsible for allUCating resources and assessing the performance of the
operating segments.

Client Advocacy

The Company requests feedback from clients each year through a survey
distributed with the annual Wealth Account. Advocacy is measured by
the response to the question “Would you recommend S§P services to
others?”, The potential responses distinguish between *“Yes, and have
donc so a)ready', *Yes, but have yet todo su’ and ‘No'.

Client Numbers
The number of individuals whe have reccived advice from a
St. James's Place Partner and own a $t. James's Place wrapper.

Client Retention

Client retention is assessed by calculating the proportion of clients at

1 January in the year who remain as a client throughout the year and arc
still a client on 31 December of the same year.

Company

The Company refers to St. James's Place ple, which is also relerred to as
‘St. James’s Place’, *5t. James’s Place plc” and *SJP" throughout the
Annual Repert and Accounts.

Deferred Acquisition Costs (DAC)

An intangible asset required to be established through the application of
LFRS to our long-term business. The value of the asset is cqual to the
amount of all costs which accrue in line with now business soluracs, The
asset is amortised over the expected litetime of the business.

Deferred Income (DIR)

Deferred income which arises from the requirement in [FRS that initial
charges on long-term financial instruments should only be recognised
over the lifetime of the business. The initial amount of the balance is
cqual to the charge taken.
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Discretionary Fund Management {DFM})

A generic term for a form of investment management in which buy and
sell decisions are made (or assisted) by a portlolic manager for a client’s
account, Within St, James’s Place, the scrvices provided by Rowan
Dartington (including investment management, advisory stockbroking
and wealth planning) are collectively referred to as Discretionary Fund
Management, distinguishing them from the services provided by our
Partners and from the IMA.

Field Management Team
The team of managers within St. James’s Place with day to day
responsibility for support and supervision of the Partnership.

Financial Conduct Authority (FCA}

The FCA is a company limited by guarantee and is independent of the
Bank of England. It is responsible for the conduct of business regulation
of all firms (including those firms subjcct to prudential regulation by the
PRA) and the prudential regulation of all firms not regulated by the
PRA, The FCA has three statutory objectives: securing an appropriate
degrec of protection for consumers, protecting and enhancing the
intcgrity of the UK financial system, and promoting cffective
competition in the interests of consumers.

Financial Services Compensation Scheme (FSCS)

The FSCSis the UK’s statutory compensation scheme for customers of
authorised financial scrvices firms. This means that the FSCS can pay
compensation if a firm is upable, or is likely to be unable, to pay claims
against it. The FSCS is an independent body, set up under the Financial
Services and Markets Act 2000 (FSMA), and funded by a levy on
‘authorised financial services firms’, The scheme covers deposits,
insurance policies, insurance brokering, investments, mortgages and
mortgage arrangement,

Funds under Management {FUM}

Represents all asscts actively managed or administered by or on behalf of
the Group, including all life insurance and unit trust assets, but not assets
managed by third parties where we have only introduced or advised on
the business. Asscts managed by Rowan Dartington count as funds under
management from the date of acquisition.

Gross Inflows

Total new funds under management accepted in the period. New funds
accepted by Rowan Dartington count for Gross Inflows from the date of
acjuisition.

Group
The Group relers to the Company together with its subsidiaries as listed
in Note 23,

International Financial Data Services (IFDS)

A provider of invester and palicyholder, administration and technology
services. IFDS is our third party outsourced provider, rcsponsible. for the
administration of our UK life insurance company, SJPUK, our unit trust
manager, SPUTG, and our investment administration company, SJPIA.

Registered N, 03184415



International Financial Reporting Standards {IFRS)

These arc accounting regulations designed to ensure comparable
preparation and disclosure of statements of financial position, and arc the
standards that all publicly listed companies in the European Union are
required to usc.

Investment Management Approach (IMA)

The IMA is how St. James's Place manages clients’ investments. Itis
managed by the St. James's Place [nvestment Committee, which in turn
is advised by respected independent investment research cansultancics,
including Stamford Associates, Redington and AON Consulting. The
Investment Committee is responsible for identifying fund managers for
our funds, selecting from fund management firms all around the world.
They are also responsible for monitoring the performance of our fund
managers, and, if circumstances should changc and it becomes necessary,
then they arc responsible for changing the fund manager as well.

Net Inflows

Gross inflows less the amount of funds under management withdrawn by
clients during the same period. The net inflows is the growth in funds
under management not attributable to investment pcrformance.

Policyholder and Shareholder tax

The UK tax regime facilitates the collection of tax from life insurance
policyholders by making an equivalent charge within the corporate tax of
the Company. This part of the overall tax charge, which is attributable to
policyholders, is called policyholder tax. The rest is shareholder tax.

Prudential Regulatory Authority (PRA)

The PRA is a part of the Bank of England and is responsible for the
prudential regulation of deposit taking institutions, insurers and major
investment firms. The PRA has two statutory objectives: to promote the
safety and soundness of these firms and, specifically for insurcrs, to
contribute to the securing of an appropriate degree of protection for
pelicyholders.

Purchased Value of In-force {PVIF)

An intangible assct established on takeover or acquisition, reflecting the
present value of the expected emergence of profits from a portfolio of
long-term business. The assct is amortised in line with the emergence of

profits.

Registered Individuals (R1}

An individual who is registered by the FCA, particularly an individual
who is registered to providc financial advice. See also Adviser and

St. James's Place Partner.

Rowan Dartington

A wealth management busincss prnviding investment management,
advisory stockbroking and wealth planning services acquired by

St. James's Place during 2016.

Solvency il .

New insurance regulations designed to harmonise EU insurance
regulation which became effective on 1 January 2016. The key concerns
of the regulation arc to ensure robust risk management in insurance
companics and to use that understanding of risk to help determine the
right amount of capital for European insurancc companies to hcld to
ensure their ongoing viability in all but the most severe stressed
sCEnarios.

St. James's Place Foundation

The independent grant making charity established at the samc time as the
Company in 1992, More information about the Foundation can be found
on page 61 or on the website Www.sjpfoundation.Co.uk.

St. fames’s Place Partner

A member of the $t. James’s Place Partnership. Specilically, the
individual or business that is registcred asan Appointed Representative of
St. James’s Piace on the FCA wcbsitc. St. Jamces’s Place Partner
businesses vary in sizc and structure. Many are scle traders but there are
also a growing number of businesses employing many adviscrs.

St. James’s Place Partnership
The collective name for all of our adviscrs, who are Appointed
Representatives of $t. James’s Place.

State Street

State Strect is a global financial services holding company offering
custodian services, investment management serviccs, ard investment
rescarch and trading services. State Street is responsible for the custody
of the majority of the St. James’s Place asscts, and also provides ather
investment management services.
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